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" Noteto:the Readers

We are pleased to present the participants of the conference “Stalin and the Cold-War,
1945-1953” (Yale University, 23-26 Septémber 1999).with the following collection of
documents. The documents were gathered as a multi-year, multi-niational éffort, the
“Stalin Project,” which was launched by the Cold"War International History Project
(CWIHP) in 1997. The “Stalin Project” included confarences in Budapest (Otctober
1997), Beijing (October 1997), and Moscow (March 1998).

CWIHP is planning to publish many of these and other dogcuments in a forthicoming
special issue of the CWIHP Bulletin (Winter 2000). The translations included in this
document reader should be considered as draft translations, which will‘be! farther edited
and finalized for publication. Nevertheless, even at this stage they inay add some
additional “documentary impetus” to the discussions at the conferenee and:the final
conference papers.

Generous and crucial support for the translation and publication of these documents has
been provided by the John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation (Chicago) and the
Smith Richardson Foundation (Westport, CT). We would also like to thank our co-
sponsors, Yale University’s Council of European Studies and the Woodrow-Wilson
International Center’s Kennan Institute for Advanced Russian Studies, as well as the co-
organizers, the Institute of World History of the Russian Federation Academy of
Sciences, the Cold War Studies Center (Moscow), and the Stalin Era Archive and
Research Project of the University of Toronto.

As always, an undertaking of this sort requires the time and creative energies of many
people. The CWIHP team, which included Mike Thurman, Nancy Meyers, and interns
Nathan Converse, Antonio Kourchencko-Raab, Scott Smith, and Greg Domber, spent
countless and often late-night hours scanning, retyping, editing, translating, and
formatting these documents. We gratefully recognize the various contributions made by
Galina Murashko, Csaba Bekes, Chen Jian, Ruud van Dijk, Jordan Baev, John:Lewis
Gaddis, Ilya, Gaiduk, Leonid Gibiansky, Jonathan Haslam, Jim Hershberg, Jochen
Laufer, Rob Litwak, Eduard Mark, Vojtech Mastny, Krzysztof Persak, Karin Mueller,
Silvio Pons, Janos Rainer, David Reynolds, Svetlana Savranskaya, William Taubman,
Robert Tucker, Kathryn Weathersby, David Wolff, Vladislav Zubok, and ‘Fan‘Chowaniec
to the production of this compilation.

For the Cold War International History Project team,

Christian F. Ostermann
Director, Cold war International History Project




Conversations With Stalin

Documents in the reader are indicated with an “X” in the right column.

Date Name Country Source Document
in Reader
2 Feb Harriman USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1944, vol. 4, pp.
1944 Stevens 942-44; Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill
Kerr Great and Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 296-99, 323-24.
Britain ‘
2 Feb Kerr Great
1944 Burns Britain
28 Feb Kerr Great
1944 Birse Britain
3 Mar Harriman USA Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin,
1944 Stevens 1941-1946, pp. 315-16, 324-25.
3 Mar Erkoli (Togliatti) Italy
1944
13 Mar Berling Poland
1944
16 Mar Berling and Command | Poland Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
1944 of Polish Army Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, Janugg 1.
1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 58
22(24) Spychalski Poland W. Gomulka, Pamietniki, vol. 2, pp. 418-19.
Apr 1944 | Rola-Zymierski
25 Apr Berling Poland
1944
28 April | Orlemanski Poland/ “Record of Conversation between 1. V. Stalin and Roman X
1944 USA Catholic Priest St. Orlemanski about the Feelings of the
Polish Nationals in the United States toward the USSR,”
Vostochnaia Evropa, vol. 1, edited by G.P. Murashko, et al,
pp- 36-42 (AVPRE, f. 6, op. 6, p. 42, d. 548, 1. 9-15);
“Statement by Rev. Stanislaw Orlemanski at a Press
Conference,” in Soviet Foreign Policy During the Patriotic
War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1, 1944 -
December 31, 1944, pp. 78-80.
17 May Lange Poland/ “Record of the Conversation of Comrade 1.V. Stalin and X
1944 USA Comrade V.M. Molotov with the Polish Professor Lange,”
AVPREF, £.6, op. 6, p. 42, d. 546, 1. 53-70; “Statement by
Professor Oscar Lange,” in Soviet Foreign Policy During
the Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January
1, 1944 - December 31, 1944, pp. 82-83.
17 May Wasilewska Poland
1944
19 May | Tersic Yugoslavia | Djilas, M., Conversations with Stalin, pp. 13-15, 56-66; |
1944 Djilas Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the

Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1,




1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 82.

July 1944

Kotek-Agroszewski
Haneman

Turski

Minc

Berman

Drobner

Grubski

19 May Berling Poland
1944
| 22 May Turski Poland W. Gomulka, Pamietniki, vol. 2, pp. 415-17; Press
1944 Sidor communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the Patriotic
Osobka-Morawski War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1, 1944 -
Wasilewski December 31, 1944, p. 83.
23 May Wasilewska Poland Spychalski, M., Poczatek walki, pp. 206-215.
1944 Spychalski
10 June Harriman USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1944, vol. 4, pp.
1944 Page 965-67; idem, 1944, vol. 3, pp. 1282-83; Harriman and
Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin, 1941-1946,
pp- 314, 329-30.
10 June Turski Poland
1944 Hanecki
Osobka-Morawski
Hardy
22 June Wasilewska Poland
1944 Osobka-Morawski
Turski
Hanecki
Hardy
23 June Polish Delegation Poland “Notes of Stalin’s Speech during a Reception at the Kremlin
1944 on 23 June 1944 to Celebrate the Achievement of the
Agreement to Create the Polish Provisional Government of
National Unity,” in W. Géra and A. Kocharski, “Rozmowy
polityczne w sprawie utworzenia Tymczasowego Rzadu
Jednosci Narodowej (czerwiec 1945),” Archiwum Ruchu
Robotniczego, vol. 9 (1984), pp. 133-134.
24 June Berling Poland
1944 Zawadzki
26 June Johnston USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1944, vol. 4, p. 972;
1944 Harriman idem, 1945, vol. 5, pp. 994-96: “Presentation to J.V. Stalin
Page by Mr. W.A. Harriman, U.S. Ambassador, of Addresses of
‘ Honour from President Roosevelt for Stalingrad and
Leningrad,” in Soviet Foreign Policy During the Patriotic
War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1, 1944 -
: December 31, 1944, pp. 90-91.
15 July Wasilewska Poland
1944 Rola-Zymieski
19 (18?) | Rola-Zymierski Poland W. Gomulka, Pamietniki, vol. 2, pp. 412-23.
Osobka-Morawski
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Radkiewich
Sommerstein
Witos

21 July
1944

Morawski
Rola-Zymierski
Witos
Trubetskoy
Radkiewicz
Berman

Minc
Sommerstein
Werblowski
Sksheshevskii
Zhemovskii
Prestiger
Boreisha
Sztachelski
Hanecki
Turski
Spychalski
Kotek

Poland

26 July
1944

Rola-Zymierski
Witos

Drobner
Trubetskoy

Minc
Osobka-Morawski

Poland

Spychalski, M., Poczatek walki, pp. 230-37.

3 Aug
1944

Mikolajczyk
Grabski
Romer
Mniszek
Wasilewska

Poland

Mikolajczyk, S., The Rape of Poland, pp. 72-74; Harriman
and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin, 1941-
1946, pp. 338-39; Press communique in Soviet Foreign
Policy During the Patriotic War: Documents and Materials,
vol. 2, January 1, 1944 - December 31, 1944, p 97.

5 Aug
1944

Bierut
Osobka-Morawski
Rola-Zymierski
Witos

Spychalski
Berman
Wasilewska

Poland

7 Aug
1944

Bierut
Osobka-Morawski
Rola-Zymierski
Witos
Wasilewska

Poland

Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1,

1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 99.

9 Aug
1944

Mikolajczyk
Romer
Grabski
Mniszek

Poland

Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin, -
1941-1946, pp. 338-39; Press communique in Soviet

Foreign Policy During the Patriotic War: Documents and
Materials, vol. 2, January 1, 1944 - December 31, 1944, p.
99.

27 Aug
1944

Wasilewska
Bierut
Minc

Poland

Antony Polonsky, The Beginning of Communist Rule in
Poland, p. 268.
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Berman

Weslaw
Sept Tito Yugoslavia | V. Dedijer, Dokumenti 1948, pp. 27-28.
1944
Sept Tito Yugoslavia | V. Dedijer, Dokumenti 1948, pp. 28-30; idem, Novi Prilozi
1944 za Biografiju Josipa Broza Tita, pp. 382-86.
23 Sept Harriman USA Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin,
1944 Page 1941-1946, pp. 347-53; Press communique in Soviet
Kerr Great Foreign Policy During the Patriotic War: Documents and
Burns Britain Materials, vol. 2, January 1, 1944 - December 31, 1944, p.
139.
29 Sept Bierut Poland Polonsky, The Beginning of Communist Rule in Poland,
1944 Morawskii pp- 298-99; W. Gomulka, Pamietniki, vol. 2, pp. 471- 74;
Witos Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
Rola-Zymierski Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1,
Jedrzychowski 1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 141.
Rzymowski
Minc
29 Sept Wasilewska Poland Polonsky, The Beginning of Communist Rule in Poland,
1944 pp. 298-99.
1 Oct Wasilewska Poland
1944 Bierut
Osobka-Morawski
Rola-Zymierski
4 Oct Churchill Great V. Dedijer, Dokumenti 1948, pp. 31-64.
1944 Britain
*
4 Oct Harriman USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1944, vol. 4, p.
1944 Page 1003-07, 1012-15; Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to
Churchill and Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 355-56; M. Diilas,
Conversations with Stalin; Press communique in Soviet
Foreign Policy During the Patriotic War: Documents and
Materials, vol. 2, January 1, 1944 - December 31, 1944, p.
143,
9 Oct Churchill Great “Record of Meeting at the Kremlin, Moscow, 9th October,
1944 Britain 1944 at 10 p.m.,” Public Record Office, pp. 4-9; Harriman
* and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin, 1941-
1946, pp. 356-57; Berezhkov, At Stalin's Side, pp. 303-06;
Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1,
1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 145.
10 Oct Kerr Great “Record of Meeting at the Kremlin, Moscow on 10th
1944 Harvey Britain October, 1944 at 7 p.m.,” Public Record Office, pp. 10-15.
* Birse
(Molotov conducted
the meeting; Stalin
was not present)
10 Oct Churchill Great Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
1944 Eden Britain }it_riotic War; Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1|,
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Brooke 1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 145.
Harriman USA
Deane
Wilgress Canada
Maloney Australia
Boswell New
Zealand
11 Oct Churchill Great Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
1944 Eden Britain Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1,
Brooke 1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 155.
Harriman USA ‘
Deane
Wilgress Canada
Maloney Australia
Boswell New
Zealand
13 Oct Mikolajczyk Poland “Record of Meeting Held at Spiridonovka House on the
1944 Grabski 13th October at 5 p.m.,” Public Record Office, pp. 20-26;
Tabor “Record of Meeting Held at Spiridonovka House on the
Romer 13th October at 10 p.m.,” Public Record Office, pp. 27-31;
Churchill Great Birse, Memoirs of an Interpreter, pp. 171-75; Mikoslajczyk,
Eden Britain S., The Rape of Poland, pp. 93-101.
Birse
Harriman USA
14 Oct Churchill Great
1944 Britain
16 Oct Churchill Great
1944 Britain
17 Oct Churchill Great “Record of Meeting Held at the Kremlin on the 17th of
1944 Eden Britain October, 1944, at 10 p.m.” Public Record Office, pp. 38-42.
Kerr
Page
USA
18 Oct Churchill Great Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
1944 Eden Britain Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1,
Brooke 1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 159.
Harriman USA
Deane
Wilgress Canada
Maloney Australia
Boswell New
Zealand
18 Oct Mikolajczyk Poland “Minutes of the PWP CC Meetings on 22 October 1944;
1944 Mniszek Bierut's Account of the Conference with Stalin and
Churchill Held on 13 October 1944, and of a Conversation
with Stalin on 18 October 1944,” in Protokoly posiedzeri
Biura Politycznego KC PPR 1944-1945, edited by A.
Kochanski, pp. 30-37.
19 Nov Thorez France “Record of the Conversation of Comrade 1.V, Stalin With
1944 the General Secretary of the CC French Communist Party,

Comrade Thorez,” in “Anglichanine i Amerikantsy khotiat
vezde sozdat’ reaktsionnye pravitel’stva,” Istochnik, 1995,




no. 4, pp. 152-58.

22 Nov Subasic Yugoslavia | Kardelj, Borba za priznanje nezavisnost nove Jugoslavie
1944 Kardelj 1944-1947, pp. 65-73; Press communique in Soviet Foreign
Simic Policy During the Patriotic War; Documents and Materials
vol. 2, January 1, 1944 - December 31, 1944, pp. 183-84.
2 Dec De Gaulle France “Meeting between General De Gaulle and Stalin,”
1944 Garreau Documents Diplomatiques Francais, 1944, vol. 2, pp. 351-
53;1 Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and
Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 375-78; Press communique in Soviet
Foreign Policy During the Patriotic War: Documents and
Materials, vol. 2, January 1, 1944 - December 31, 1944, pp.
186-87.
3 Dec De Gaulle France Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin,
1944 Garreau 1941-1946, pp. 378-80; Press communique in Soviet
Bidault Foreign Policy During the Patriotic War: Documents and
Dejean Materials, vol. 2, January 1, 1944 - December 31, 1944, p
Juin 187.
Petit
6 Dec De Gaulle France “Meeting between General De Gaulle and Stalin,”
1944 Garreau Documents Diplomatigues Francais, 1944, vol. 2, pp. 387-
Bidauklt 94; Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
Dejean Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1,
1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 188.
6 Dec Bierut Poland “Bierut’s Account of Three Conversations with Stalin Held
1944 between 6 and 14 December 1944; Minutes from a Meeting
of the Military Division of the CC PPR Relating to
Information Provided by Gen. Rola-Zymierski from his
Talks with Stalin on Personnel Policy in the Military,” in
Protokoty posiedzen Biura Politycznego KC PPR 1944-
1945, edited by A. Kochanski, pp. 71-77.
8 Dec De Gaulle France “Meeting between General De Gaulle and Stalin,”
1944 Bidault Documents Diplomatiques Francais, 1944, vol. 2, pp. 419-
Garreau 22; Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1.
1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 188.
9 Dec DeGaulle France Press communique in Soviet Foreign Policy During the
1944 Bidault Patriotic War: Documents and Materials, vol. 2, January 1,
Dejean 1944 - December 31, 1944, p. 189; Press communique in
Petit Soviet Foreign Policy During the Patriotic War: Documents
Juin and Materials, vol. 2, January 1, 1944 - December 31,
Harriman USA 1944, p. 192.
Deane
Balfour Great
Archer Britain
14 Dec Harriman USA Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin,
1944 Page 1941-1946, pp. 378-80.
14 Dec Bierut Poland “Bierut’s Account of Three Conversations with Stalin Held
1944 between 6 and 14 December 1944; Minutes from a Meeting

of the Military Division of the CC PPR Relating to
Information Provided by Gen. Rola-Zymierski from his
Talks with Stalin on Personnel Policy in the Military,” in
Protokoty posiedzen Biura Politycznego KC PPR 1944-




1945, edited by A. Kochanski, pp. 71-77.

6 Jan Kintanija (Mexican Mexico
1945 Ambassador)
9 Jan Dmitrov (phone call Bulgaria “Notes of G. Dimitrov on a phone call from Stalin,” CDA,
1945 from Stalin) Fond 146 B, op. 2, ae. 15.
9 Jan Hebrang Yugolslavi | “Record of I. V. Stalin’s Conversation with Head
1945 a of the Delegation of the National Liberation Committee of
Yugosiavia A. Hebrang About Building Armed Forces in
Yugoslavia, Its Territorial Problems, and Its Relations with
Bulgaria and Albania,” in Vostochnaia Evropa, vol. 1,
edited by G.P. Murashko, et al, pp. 118-33 (AVPRF, f. 06,
op.7,p.53.d. 872, 1. 8-28).
15 Jan Tedder Great Harriman and Abel, Sgezial Envoy to Churchill and Stalin,
1945 Ball Britain 1941-1946, pp. 380-81; Birse, Memoirs of an Interpreter,
Archer pp. 176-77.
Deane
Betts USA
Birse
24 Jan Georgiev Bulgaria
1945 Yugov
Piade Yugoslavia
Hebrang
28 Jan Dimitrov Bulgaria “Notes of V. Kolarov from a meeting with J. Stalin,” CDA,
1945 Kolarov f. 147 B, op. 2, ae. 1025, 1. 1-6.
Kostov
Georgiev
Yugov
Mihalchev
Piade Yugoslavia
Hebrang
Popovich
18 Feb Bierut Poland
1945 Osobka-Morawski
Rola-Zymierski
23 Feb Ibarruri Spain
1945 Galego
Uribe
17 Mar Dimitrov Bulgaria
1945
19 Mar Benesh Czecho-
1945 Shramek slovakia
Fierlinger
31 Mar Harriman USA
1945 Deane
Kerr Great
Archer Britain
Birse
6 Apr Tito Yugoslavia
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1945

7 Apr Churchill (Mrs.?) Great
1945 Johnson (Mrs.?) Britain
12 Apr Dimitrov Bulgaria
1945 Tito Yugoslavia
Djilas
11-13 Tito Yugoslavia | Djilas, Conversations with Stalin, pp. 97-99, 102-17; V.
Apr 1945 | Dijilas Dedijer, Dokumenti 1948, p. 72.
Subasic
Andrejev
Petrovich
13 Apr Harriman Usa Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945, vol. §, pp.
1945 Page 826-29, 839-42; Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to
Churchill and Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 441-42.
15 Apr Harriman USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945, vol. 5, pp.
1945 Hurley 223-24.
Page
19 Apr Bierut Poland
1945 Osobka-Morawski
Rola-Zymierski
Medzelevski
21 Apr Bierut Poland
1945 Osobka-Morawski
Gomulka
Rola-Zymierski
Minc
Modzelski
Kowalski
Berman
Wasilewska
Spychalski
Olszewski
26 May Hopkins USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945, vol. 5, p. 299;
1945 Harriman idem, Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945,
Bohien Conference of Berlin (Potsdam), vol. 1, pp. 24-31;
Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin,
1941-1946, pp. 463-75; Bohlen, Witness to History, pp.
218-21.
27 May Harriman USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945, Conference of
1945 Harriman Berlin (Potsdam), vol. 1, pp. 31-41; Harriman and Abel,
Bohien Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 463-
75.
28 May Harriman USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945, vol. 5, p. 300;
1945 Hopkins idem, 1945, Conference of Berlin (Potsdam), vol. 1, pp. 41-
Hopkins (Mrs.) 52; Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to Churchill and
Bohlen Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 463-75.
30 May Hopkins USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945, vol. 5, pp.
1945 Harriman 301-07; idem, 1945, Conference of Berlin (Potsdam), vol.
Bohlen 1, pp. 53-57; Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to
Churchill and Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 463-75.
31 May Harriman USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945, vol. 5, pp.
1945 Hopkins 307-13; idem, 1945, Conference of Berlin (Potsdam), vol. ‘
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Bohlen 1, pp. 57-59; Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to
Churchill and Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 463-75.
4 June Ulbricht Germany “Consultation on 6.4.1945 at 6 o’clock with Stalin,
1945 Ackermann Molotov, Zhdanov,” in Wilhelm Pieck: Aufzeichnungen
Sobottka zur Deutschlandpolitik 1945-1953, edited by Rolf
Badstibner and Wilfried Loth, pp. 50-52 (ZPA [Central
Party Archive] NL 36/ 629, pp. 62-66).
6 June Harriman USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945, vol. 5, pp.
1945 Hopkins 328-31; idem, 1945, Conference of Berlin (Potsdam), vol.
Bohlen 1, pp. 60-62; Paraphrase of Cable by A. Harriman, W.A.
Harriman Papers, Library of Congress; Harriman and Abel,
Special Envoy to Churchill and Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 463-
75.
7 June Dimitrov Bulgaria
1945 Pieck Germany
Ulbricht
Ackermann
Sobotka
13 June Bierut Poland
1945 Osobka-Morawski
Gomulka
17 June Bierut Poland
1945 Osobka-Morawski
Gomulka
Modzelski
21 June Bierut Poland
1945 Osobka-Morawski
Gomulka
Rozhomovskii
Modzelski
Shwalbe
26 June Bierut Poland
1945 Osobka-Morawski
Gomulka
28 June Fierlinger Czecho- “Record of I. V. Stalin’s Conversation with The Prime
1945 Clementis slovakia Minister of Czechoslovakia Z. Fierlinger and Deputy
Foreign Minister V. Clementis on the Issues of the
Transcarpathian Ukraine, the Teshin Region, and the
Trophy Property,” in Vostochnaia Evropa, vol. 1, edited by
G.P. Murashko, et al, pp. 229-33 (APREF, f. 45, op. 1, d.
393, 1. 65-69).
29 June Velchev Bulgaria
1945 Kinov
Berginer
29 June Rascanu Romania
1945 Ionescu
Cambria
30 June Soong China Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin, Hoover
1945 Hoo Institution Archives, Folder 6-9; Cable by W.A. Harriman
Bin Chan Fu (July 1, 1945), W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
2 July Soong China Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin, Hoover

ix




1945 Hoo Institution Archives, Folder 6-9; Memcon A. Harriman - T.
Bin Chan Fu Soong, July 3, 1945, W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of
Chiang Chin Kuo Congress.
S July Modzelski Poland T
1945
S July Choibalsan Mongolia
1945
6 July Johnson
1945
7 July Soong China Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin, Hoover
1945 Hoo Institution Archives, Folder 6-9; Cable by A. Harriman,
Bin Chan Fu W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
Chiang Chin Kuo
9 July Soong China Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin, Hoover
1945 Hoo Institution Archives, Folder 6-9.
Bin Chan Fu
Chiang Chin Kuo
11 July Soong China Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin, Hogver
1945 Hoo Institution Archives, Folder 6-9; Paraphrase of Cable by A.
Bin Chan Fu Harriman, W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
Chiang Chin Kuo
12-13 Soong China Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin, Hoover
July 1945 | Hoo Institution Archives, Folder 6-9; Memcon A. Harriman - T.
Bin Chan Fu Soong, W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress;
Chiang Chin Kuo Paraphrase of Cable by A. Harriman, W.A. Harriman
Papers, Library of Congress.
7 Aug Soong China Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin, Hoover
1945 Hoo Institution Archives, Folder 6-9
Bin Chan Fu
Shih Chieh
Chiang Chin Kuo
8 Aug Harriman USA Memorandum of Conversation Between W.A. Harriman
1945 Kennan and Stalin, W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
9 Aug Bierut Poland
1945 Osobka-Morawski
10 Aug Soong China Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin, Hoover
1945 Hoo Institution Archives, Folder 6-9; Paraphrase of Navy Cable,
Bin Chan Fu W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
Chiang Chin Kuo
Van Bin Tse
12 Aug Bierut, Poland Mikoslajczyk, S., The Rape of Poland, pp. 142-144
1945 Osobka-Morawski,
13 Aug Soong China Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin, Hoover
1945 Hoo Institution Archives, Folder 6-9; Paraphrase of Cable by A.
Bin Chan Fu Harriman, W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress;
Chiang Chin Kuo Cable to Harriman Concerning the Stalin-Soong Talks.
Van Bin Tse
14 Aug Bierut Poland
1945 Modzelewski
Minc
27 Aug Harriman USA




1945

Page

20 Aug
1945

Dimitrov
Kolarov
Kostov
Chervenkov

Bulgaria

“Notes on Stalin's Statement from a Meeting with a
Bulgarian Delegation,” CDA, f. 146B, op. 4, ae. 639, 1. 20-
28. Note: It is possible that this is a description of the
August 30 meeting.

30 Aug
1945

Dimitrov
Kostov
Chervenkov
Kolarov

Bulgaria

30 Aug
1945

Delegation of
Czechoslovakians
from auto-factory
“Tatra” bringing a gift
to Stalin:

Czecho-
slovakia

30 Aug
1945

Dobr

Kraus
Vyganskii
Shtepanek
Ulrich

Dana
Vermirovskii
Golechek
Strochek

Czecho-
slovakia

30 Aug
1945

Dimitrov
Kostov

Bulgaria

4 Sept
1945

Groza
Tatarescu
Voitec
Gelmenjanu
Gheorghiu-Dej
Iorad

Shkoda

Romania

1st half
Sept
1945

Berman

Poland

“Jakub Berman’s Handwritten Notes of a Conversation
with Stalin or a Letter to Stalin: a Report on the Situation in
Poland and Request for Advice and Help, 1945 September
(first half),” AAA, Jakub Berman Collection, 325/33, pp.
22-26. ‘

14 Sept
1945

Colmer
Hope
LeFevre
Simpson
Walcott
Walverton
Zimmerman
Adelsoerg
Smith
Kennan
Pepper
Page

USA

Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945, vol. 5, pp.
881-4, 1039.
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8 Oct Helo, 1. Finland
1945 Helo, L.
Riuemia
Vuilikki
Kuusinen
Vilianen
Khelman
Pessi
Kalima
Suomela
Tulianne
Saaristo
24-25 Harriman (at Stalin’s USA Memorandum of Conversation Between W.A. Harriman
Oct 1945 | vacation home in the and Stalin, W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress;
Crimea) Memorandum of Conversation Between W.A. Harriman
and Stalin, idem; Harriman and Abel, Special Envoy to
Churchill and Stalin, 1941-1946, pp. 511-16.
14 Nov Gomulka Poland “LV. Stalin’s Conversation with W. Gomulka and G. Minc
1945 Minc about the Situation in Poland,” in Vostochnaia Evropa, vol.
1, edited by G.P. Murashko, et al, pp. 301-03 (APREF, {. 45,
op. 1, d. 355, 1. 8-11); Andrzej Werblan, “New Evidence on
Poland in the Early Cold War,” Cold War International
History Project Bulletin, no. 11 (Winter 1998), pp. 134-40.
19 Dec Bums USA
1945 Harriman
Bohlen
19 Dec Bevin Great
1945 Kerr Britain
Cadogan
Makkasaffa
23 Dec Harriman USA
1945 Bohlen
Burns
24 Dec Bevin Great
1945 Kerr Britain
Cadogan
Makkasaffa
30 Dec Chiang Chin Kuo China
1945 Bin Chan Fu
3 Jan Krzhitskii USA
1946
3 Jan Chiang Chin Kuo China
1946 Bin Chan Fu
7 Jan Georgiev Bulgaria “Record of I.V. Stalin’s Conversation with Chairman of the
1946 Stainov Council of Ministers of Bulgaria K. Georgiev, Ministers P.
Yugov Stainov, A. Yugov, and Envoy to the USSR D. Mihalchev
Mihalchev about Implementation of the Decisions of the Moscow
Conference of Three Foreign Ministers on Bulgaria,” in
Vostochnaia Evropa, vol. 1, edited by G.P. Murashko, et al,
pp. 355-61 (APREF, {. 45, op. 1, d. 252, 1. 28-29).
8 Jan Georgiev Bulgaria
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1946 Stainov
Yugov
Mihalchev
23 Jan Harriman USA Foreign Relations of the United States, 1946, vol. 6, pp.
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Record of a Conversation between 1. V. Stalin
and the Roman Catholic Priest St. Orlemanski
about the Feelings of the Polish Nationals in the United States
toward the USSR

Moscow April 28, 1944
22 hours 00 minutes
SECRET

Comrade V. M. Molotov was present.

Greeting Comrade Stalin, Orlemanski says that first of all he would like to pass a small gift
from his sister to Comrade Stalin. He opens his briefcase, takes out two book weights shaped
as American eagles, and gives them to Comrade Stalin.

Comrade Stalin thanks him and notes that the eagles do not look like eagles. They do not
look like the Polish eagles. They look rather like doves.

Orlemanski says that these are real American eagles.

Orlemanski states that he would like to tell Comrade Stalin about the situation with the
Polish nationals in the United States of America. He will give Comrade Stalin the real
picture. At the present time, the situation is rather difficult. Polish organizations and clergy
are inclined against the Soviet Union. The goal of Orlemanski's visit to the Soviet Union is
to find out how to split them. He was working on this issue successfully in America. He was
in Canada where he spoke to the representatives of all the Polish circles. They supported his
actions. There are many Poles in America. For example, there are 330 thousand Polish
nationals in Detroit. After he returns from Moscow, he could go there, make a speech and
win them to his side. The Poles in America represent a major force; there are about 5 million
Poles in America. There are half a million Polish nationals in Chicago alone. The Poles play
a significant role in the election of the President of the Unites States. Therefore, Roosevelt
has to be very careful in terms of open speeches on the Polish issue. He, Orlemanski, would
like to win the American Poles to his side and to prepare the ground for Roosevelt's open
speeches on the Polish issue. The Poles in America often discuss the rumors that the Polish
children and adult Polish nationals who live in the Soviet Union are treated badly. He,
Orlemanski, came here and he has already seen the Polish children and the adults. He thinks
that the Polish people should be thankful to Russia and to Stalin for everything that Russia
has already given and is now giving to the Poles.

Comrade Stalin says that we are not cannibals.
Orlemanski laughs and says that he saw everything he wanted to see. He had a conversation

with Molotov', and he is satisfied with everything that Molotov told him. He agrees with
Molotov. But the strongest argument that the Polish Catholics in America have against the

! Orlemansky is speaking about the conversation of April 26, 1944 in which they touched upon the issues of Polish
post-war borders, Soviet-polish relations and others. (Foreign Policy Archive of the Russian Federation, Fond 06, Finding
aid6.11.41. File 545, pp. 12-16).



Soviet Union is that Russia allegedly is planning to destroy the Catholic church in Poland.

He, Orlemanski, knows that this is not correct and when he returns to the United States he ‘
will inform the Poles correctly about the true state of affairs. If he, Orlemanski, wins the

Polish priests in America over to his side, it would be a big help for us because it will affect

the mood of the Polish clergy in Poland proper, and they will cooperate with the Soviet

people when the latter enter Poland. He wants to know how to do that. He thinks that he can

do it, even though it is quite a difficult task.

Comrade Stalin responds that there are all kinds of stories about the Soviet people. They say
that they want to destroy the religion. These rumors originate from the fact that during the
initial period of the existence of the Soviet government we experienced a cruel struggle
between the representatives of the Orthodox church and the representatives of the Soviet
government in Russia. When the new government, which was led by Lenin, emerged in
Russia after the revolution in October 1917, the leaders of the Orthodox church and of other
religious groups declared that the Soviet government was anathema, and called for the
population to disobey its orders.

Orlemanski mentions that separation of church from the government is a very good thing.

Comrade Stalin continues to say that we, Bolsheviks, have a point in our program that
guaranties the freedom of religious expression. From the first days of the existence of the
Soviet state, we set ourselves a goal to implement that point in our life. But the rebellious
actions of the activists of the Orthodox church eliminated the possibility to implement that
point in real life, and the government was forced to accept the confrontation after the church
condemned the Soviet government. The misunderstandings and problems between the
representatives of the religion and of the Soviet government emerged precisely on these
grounds. This was before the war with the Germans. After the beginning of the war with the
Germans, people and things have changed. The war eliminated the contradictions between
the church and the state. The believers abandoned their positions of rebellion, and the Soviet
government abandoned its own militant position toward the religion.

Orlemanski notes that he completely understands it.

Comrade Stalin says that as far as Poland is concerned, the Soviet government has no
intentions to interfere in its internal affairs, let alone interfere in religious affairs. The kind of
political, social or religious order that will exist in Poland is the business of the Poles
themselves. What would we, the Soviet people, like to have in Poland? We would like
Poland to have a government that would understand and value good relations with its Eastern
neighbor and that would be willing to preserve these relations in the interests of the struggle
with our common enemy, Germany, which regardless of how we defeat it, will renew itself
again. This is our main goal.

It is interesting to point out that the first German attack on France happened in 1870.
Germany won the war because during that time there were many neutral countries. Germany
attacked France for the second time in 1914. Germany lost the First World War because
many states did not stay on the positions on neutrality to the end of the war, and because they
turned against Germany. Therefore, the breaks between the acts of German aggression were ‘




becoming shorter and shorter. The first period lasted for 40 - 42 years, second period lasted
for 21 years, counting from 1918 to 1939. He, Comrade Stalin, thinks that Germany will be
able to renew itself in some 15 years. That is why we must think not only about how to end
this war, which we will most probably end with a victory, but also about what would happen
in 20 years, when Germany revives itself. This is why an alliance between Russia and
Poland is absolutely necessary in order not to let the Germans become an aggressor once
again. During the last 140 - 150 years, since the time of Napoleon, Russia was invaded three
times. Napoleon's invasion was the first one. During the last World War the Germans
invaded Russia, and, finally, they did it once again. All these invasions happened through
Poland, which was turned into some kind of a corridor for foreign invaders. Regardless of
whether the aggressors were defeated or successful, the Poles had to suffer. He, Comrade
Stalin, thinks that the Poles are tired of serving as a corridor, and the Russians are tired of the
fact that troops of aggressors come to Russia through Poland. Therefore, he, Comrade Stalin,
thinks that if Poland and Russia have an alliance, only the Poles and the Russians would be
the winners and the German aggressors would be the losers. He, Comrade Stalin, could give
Orlemanski the example of Grunwald battle, during which the Slavic peoples united against
the members of the German order of Knights of the Sword. The united Poles, Russians,
Lithuanians, Ukrainians, and Belorussians then defeated the Germans. He, Comrade Stalin,
thinks that we should revive the policy of Grunwald on a broad basis. This is his dream. He,
Comrade Stalin, would like to know what doubts Orlemanski has regarding the Soviet
government's position on the Polish issue. He, Comrade Stalin, could give him explanations
on this issue.

Orlemanski responds that he personally has no doubts.

Comrade Stalin says that the question of borders between Poland and the Soviet Union and
between Poland and Germany creates some doubts. He, Comrade Stalin, thinks that an
alliance between Russia and Poland, Poland and Ukraine, and Poland and Byelorussia will
work only under the condition that none of the countries mentioned above will take over
lands of another country. It seems to Comrade Stalin that after these countries abandoned
their claims toward each other, they would be able to improve friendship between them. This
is what the Soviet government had in mind when it proposed the Curzon line. He, Comrade
Stalin, has to say that the Curzon line was initially proposed against the will of the Soviet
government, and without its agreement. This line was developed during the Paris Peace
Conference. The work on it began in 1918 and was completed in 1919 when it was
announced. The Polish delegation in Versailles did not agree with this line; neither did the
Soviet government. It would be impossible to rein in the German aggressor in the future
without a serious, large, and independent Poland. It is important that Poland is not isolated,
but rather has connections with Russia and with the Western allies. As far as the Western
borders of Poland are concerned, first of all we need to talk about it with the Polish
representatives. Roosevelt and Churchill asked Stalin in Teheran about the Western borders
of Poland. He, Comrade Stalin, together with Molotov, said that in their opinion the Western
border of Poland should go along Oder and even to the west of Oder. It would be advisable
to include Stettin in the Polish territory, it is a good port, and maybe Breslau. Roosevelt was
asking how they could achieve that. He, Comrade Stalin, responded that they would have to
defeat Germany, and then they would help Poland do it. That was our position. What he,




Comrade Stalin, just presented is not simply our platonic desire. We will be fighting for
Poland to get those territories. ‘

Orlemanski expresses his approval of what Comrade Stalin has just said, and adds that they
would truly need to fight for it. If there is friendship between Russia and Poland, then the
Germans would not be moving eastward. They would be moving to the West.

Comrade Stalin notes, that we would not let the Germans move to the West either, because
Russia and Poland would be also allied with the Western countries - Britain and France.

Orlemanski says that if we want to achieve that, then we should not let the Polish nobility
and rich people who abandoned Poland and who live now in luxurious mansions in London
and New York return to Poland. If they come back to Poland, they will turn everything there
upside down. They will incite the Polish people to hostile actions against the Soviet Union.
The trouble is that Poland always had bad leaders. They always live in the past, looking back
to their traditions.

Comrade Stalin responds that the Polish people is a good people. The Poles are courageous
soldiers. Regarding the Polish aristocrats and the rich people whom Orlemanski has just
mentioned, it seems to him, Comrade Stalin, that the Polish peasants, workers and the
intelligentsia would not let them return to the country. The Polish peasants, workers and the
intelligentsia had to suffer too much during the entire German occupation. It is just a miracle
how they survived all the nightmares of their existence, after all that they have lived through.
Of course, they will not let these people back who brought all the present suffering to Poland.
Such are the feelings of the Polish people as far as he, Comrade Stalin, knows about them.

Orlemanski says that he is full of willingness to work in order to split the Polish émigré
clique. He was very happy to meet with Stalin. Once he returns to America, he will get to
work and he will inform Stalin about everything. However, as he has already said to
Molotov, he would like his visit here not to be widely publicized.

Comrade Molotov mentions that the American press is already writing about Orlemanski's
visit to Moscow. For example, The New York Herald Tribune.

Orlemanski states that he would like his trip to Moscow be publicized only after his work
achieves certain results, after he gets back to America. At that time it would be appropriate
to publish his picture with Stalin. He, Orlemanski, would like to know if he could count on
being photographed together with Stalin.

Comrade Stalin responds positively and calls the photographer. He asks Orlemanski if he
would agree to a statement being published tomorrow in our newspapers about today's
reception.

Orlemanski states that now, because the American press is writing about his trip to the Soviet
Union, we could published the proposed statement.




Comrade Molotov drafts a statement, and Orlemanski agrees with the text of the draft.

Orlemanski asks whether Comrade Stalin views it as more desirable that he, Orlemanski, not
visit the Polish Army in the Soviet Union, but instead leave and return to the United States in
order to take part in the Polish Congress. He, Orlemanski, thinks that the trip to the Polish
Army would take 10 days and he would be late for the opening of the Congress.

Comrade Stalin responds that Orlemanski could make a visit to the Polish Army to see it and
maybe to give his blessing. He would have a special train to do it. The trip to the Polish
Army and his return to Moscow would take no more than five or six days. Orlemanski could
leave Moscow tomorrow at noon on the special train.

Orlemanski says that he will follow Stalin's advice and visit the Polish Army.
Orlemanski asks to call a representative of the Associated Press to meet with him at 8 a.m. so
that he could make a statement about his trip to Moscow.

Comrade Molotov responds that it will be done.

Orlemanski asks if he could visit Stalingrad, because when he returns to America, people will
ask him whether he visited Stalingrad.

Comrade Stalin responds that his trip to Stalingrad could be organized.

Orlemanski states that when he returns to America he will inform the Soviet General
Consulate in New York or the Soviet Embassy in Washington about his work. In turn, he
would like to ask for a permission to call the Embassy and the General Consulate for
information that interests him.

Comrade Stalin expresses his appreciation to Orlemanski, and says that of course he can call
on our Embassy and the General Consulate for information that interests him.

Upon leaving, Orlemanski states that Comrade Stalin is doing miracles for his country and
for his people, and that he will live through ages. He, Orlemanski, is very happy that he had
an opportunity to meet with Stalin.

Comrade Stalin thanks Orlemanski for the present and asks him to pass his thanks to
Orlemanski's sister for that present.

Orlemanski says, that the present is not very valuable as such, but Orlemanski’s sister gave it
to Stalin from all her heart. After the war, he, Orlemanski, would like to come here with his
two sisters, and he would like to ask Stalin to give him a promise that he would receive them.
Comrade Stalin responds in the affirmative.

The conversation lasted for two hours.
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Record of the Conversation of Comrade L1.V. Stalin and Comrade V.M. Molotov
with the Polish Professor Lange

Top Secret

May 17, 1944
Lange thanks Comrade Stalin for receiving him and for the fact that he, Lange, has been able
to familiarize himself with the Polish army in the USSR and the activities of the Union of
Polish Patriots. He, Lange, now has a concrete idea of what constitutes the Polish army and
Union of Polish Patriots. He, Lange, spoke with the soldiers, and now knows this is of the
people, as well as what they are thinking.
Comrade Stalin asks whether or not Lange saw Berling.
Lange answers that Berling accompanied him on his trip to see the Polish army units.
Comrade Stalin notes that in America they have begun to slander Orlemanski. Orlemanski
has been hurt by the fact that he is a very effusive and militant (boyevoy) man. But he is a
honest man and loves Poland. That is our impression. Now Orlemanski is reassuring us,
declaring that this is only the beginning of the struggle.
Lange says that he, Lange, is afraid that Orlemanski could break with the church.

Comrade Stalin remarks “What of the crocodiles? Why are they attacking Orlemanski?”

Lange says that this is mainly the Irish, the more reactionary group of the Catholics. The
bishop O’Leary, to whom Orlemanski is subordinate, is also Irish.

Comrade Stalin asks whether or not the Poles are the majority in Orlemanski’s parish.

Lange answers in the affirmative.

Comrade Molotov says that there are reports that they have remitted Orlemanski’s
punishment.

Comrade Stalin remarks “What a lot of crocodiles! There’s democracy for you! They didn’t
even call Orlemanski in for an explanation and they imposed a punishment on him.”

Lange answers that the Polish army in the USSR has made a good impression on him.

Comrade Stalin answers that the Poles are good military material. History has proven this.
We will give the Poles better weaponry [lit. “technology™].

Lange says that the Polish army is a major political force. It will grow.




Comrade Stalin answers that the Polish army might grow to one million men.

Lange agrees with this and says that he held conversations with the soldiers in order to get an
idea of their political outlook. All of them desire the creation of a new democratic Poland.
No one wants to return to the pre-war Poland. They want agrarian reform, but with [lit.
“under conditions of’] the retention of individual property, and not on the basis of
collectivization.

Comrade Stalin remarks that there is no initiative for collectivization in Poland.

Lange answers that the soldiers are talking about cooperative associations in Poland.
Comrade Stalin answers that this is a good thought.

Lange declares that the Polish soldiers would like it if there were stations organized in
Poland from which agricultural machinery and equipment could be purchased. In general, he
must say that the Polish soldiers go further on some questions than the Union of Polish
Patriots. The Polish soldiers speak of the desirability of nationalizing large-scale industry
and banks in Poland. In this respect there is almost complete unanimity.

Comrade Stalin remarks that this is not bad.

Lange says that when the Polish army arrives in Poland its attitude will be even more radical.

Comrade Stalin says that if the London government arrives in Poland, the mood in Poland
will be more radical. If another government, a democratic government, arrives in Poland,
radical over-indulgence will diminish [lit. “drop off”].

Lange says that at present kulaks and [illegible] are prevalent in the Polish army in the
USSR. But they will meet the industrial proletariat in Poland and will dissolve into the wider
strata of the Polish population.

Comrade Stalin answers that the German yoke has placed the kulaks and the impoverished
together [lit. “in the same row”]. There will be no conflict between these strata [of the
population]. There will be conflict with the large landowners.

Lange remarks that among certain members of the Union of Polish Patriots and especially
among Communists, there is an underestimation of the possibility of more radical
development of events in Poland.

Comrade Stalin answers that this is possible. We are holding them back from radicalism.

Lange says that all of the soldiers in the Polish army are asking about the situation of their
families in the USSR. They are very anxious about this matter.




Comrade Stalin answers that now we can improve the situation of the families of Polish
military personnel, we can help them. It would be nice if we had as much material as we had
families. Maybe it would be worthwhile for them to move closer to the Dnepr [River, in the
Urals], so that the Polish soldiers can see their relatives.

Lange announces that this makes them uneasy. The Polish soldiers spoke about this in the
presence of Berling. There is another matter. When the Polish soldiers move into Poland,
they will influence the opinion of the Polish population concerning the USSR.

Comrade Stalin answers that Kot and his group provoked the Soviet Government on certain
steps concerning the Poles in the USSR. We constrained them. But let them tell the whole
truth in Poland.

Lange says that war overshadows these attitudes. After returning to America he will think of
how to organize aid to the Polish population after the Red Army frees Polish territory. The
affair is complicated by the fact that the London Polish government is represented in the
__NMRA [illegible].

Comrade Stalin says that it is necessary to have a provisional government or committee that
will be recognized by the Americans and the English.

Lange answers that this would be possible if the London government could overcome the
schism. He thinks that the English government either cannot or does not want to overcome
the split.

Comrade Molotov remarks that the English are rallying the Poles in London.

Comrade Stalin says that some circles in England are doing everything so that the conflict
between the Russians and the Poles will not be eliminated. They desire a fight between the
Poles and the Russians. They desire a weakening of Poland and Russia.

Lange says that this is not the attitude of the American government.

Comrade Stalin says that the American government is not of that disposition.

Lange asks if Comrade Stalin thinks that it would be possible to turn to Mikolajczyk as a
private individual.

Comrade Stalin answers that he is not against that, but that one must know what Mikolajczyk
is. He is apparently a weak-willed man. Sosnkowski plays the main role. He has spies and
his own agents in Polish embassies and in Poland. Sosnkowski is a man with character. But
he has the wrong orientation (No on ne tuda smotrit). Mikolajczyk is in his hands. The
members of the Polish government in London are compromised in Poland.

Lange says that he nevertheless believes that [Mikolajczyk] has influence in Poland.




Comrade Stalin declares that Soviet power has existed here for 26 years, yet he still cannot \
say that 90 percent of the population is behind Soviet power. How do the London Poles ‘
know that all of the population of Poland is behind them? It is very difficult know this,

considering that the German vampires are surrounding Poland. Sikorski was stronger than
Mikolajczyk, and more experienced and authoritative. It was better doing business with him.

Lange says that it is too bad that now there aren’t authoritative people among the Poles.

Comrade Stalin says that they will appear again. Sosnkowski and others—they are people of
the past. They don’t believe in the alliance of Russia and Poland. They think that modern
Russia, like Tsarist Russia, will try to eat up Poland, for example, by way of sovietization.
They don’t understand the changes that have taken place. Everything that they think of
sovietization is stupidity. Lenin prepared the soviets for 14 years and didn’t resolve to
implement them even during the period of the Provisional Government. The whole time he
sought out comprise[s]. As regards collectivization, we began [it] only in 1930. Before then,
we continually checked up on what the peasantry thought of it. The foundation for
collectivization was the joint tilling of land (supryaga), which existed earlier among the
Slavs. Collective farms must grow on their own.

Lange, agreeing with this, declares that in Poland there is a possibility of creating cooperative
associations like those that exist in Denmark.

Comrade Stalin remarks that it would be good to transfer certain sectors of industry to the
state. If the state doesn’t have industry, then, as the present war has shown, it will become
the object of intrigue [lit. “games™] for the internal capitalist forces.

Lange says that nationalization of large-scale industry in Poland is also necessary from the
point of view of international relations.

Comrade Stalin says that this is correct. But he, Comrade Stalin, is interested in the internal
problem. If the state wishes to be strong, then it must have must have at its disposal a land
fund so that it can sell land to the peasants. The state must also have certain major
enterprises in its hands. If a part of the enterprises in Poland are transferred to the state, for
example, those that went to serve the Germans, and if the state has at its disposal a land fund,
then it can be powerful. It would also be good if the state held part of the railroads as its

property.

Lange says that in Poland there never were private railroads, with exception of small branch
[lines].

Comrade Stalin says that the Poles in the USSR want to create a State Committee. Once they
even passed a resolution concerning this. But we withheld this resolution, in consideration of
Lange’s telegram. Now among the Polish military there are conversations to the effect that
there is a [Polish] government in London, but not in the USSR. It is necessary to try to form
a unified government of Poles living in England, America, and Russia. Such a government
would be recognized by England and America. We and the Poles are interested in there
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being a strong Poland. It is difficult for us to take on the weight of the aggressor all by
ourselves. We can take on this burden once, but cannot withstand it a second time.
Therefore we are interested in creating a strong Poland with an army. This is not a game.
This is our purpose (ustanovka). Somehow Kerr talks about how Mikolajczyk can stand at
the head of the new Polish government. But this will not work out. We and the Americans
do not want this.

Lange says that the people in the London government represent nothing. These are people of
the past; these are weak people. They have historical connections with pre-war Poland, and
this makes an impression on England and America. If certain ones of these people are
invited into the new Polish government, then this will make it easier to resolve the entire
Polish question. He, Lange, doesn’t know if it is possible to do this. Perhaps it would be
possible if the English government talked about this with Mikolajczyk. But he, Lange, has
doubts if the English government will agree to do it.

Comrade Molotov remarks that as of yet there are no indications of this.

Comrade Stalin says that in this case, if the Soviet, English, and American governments
begin to dictate to the Poles, then it would create an unpleasant [lit. “not entirely pleasant”]
situation. The best [scenario] would be the creation of a provisional government like a
National Committee in the region of Poland, which would force England and America to
recognize it.

Lange says that he has exactly the same idea. He also thinks that in its first manifesto the
National Committee must declare that it is a provisional organ of power and that in order to
be a fully representative organ it is inviting other Poles to participate in it.

Comrade Stalin says that, at present, the conditions do not exist for the creation of a Polish
government. When people who work in Poland enter [the government], then it can invite
other Poles who live outside the borders of Poland.

As regards the Premier of the Polish government, [they] point to Mikolajczyk. But he cannot
be Premier. He represents the Polish peasantry, and has ties with them. Such a man could,
of course, be useful to in the government. Moreover, [people] point out Stanczyk. Who else
can Lange name?

Lange answers that they spoke about Banaczyk. However, this Banaczyk is another version
of Mikolajczyk. He does not know what kind of an impression Romer makes.

Comrade Stalin answers that that Romer did not make a bad impression on him.

Lange answers that there is also General Zeligowski.

Comrade Stalin says that at present Zeligowski leads the struggle in the National Council.
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Lange says that Zeligowski has a name. No one says that he is Moscow’s man [lit. “from
Moscow”]. Of course, he is already an old man.

Comrade Stalin answers that, against the Germans, even an old man could prove useful to a
democratic Poland.

Lange says that he hopes that someone among the Poles who presently live in Poland enters
the Polish government. For example, Witos lives there. Although his stance [on the issues] is
unknown.

Comrade Stalin says that apparently Witos has been arrested by the Germans.

Lange says that the Germans could kill him.

Comrade Stalin declares that it would be necessary to free Witos. The partisans could do
this.

Comrade Stalin says that the other day it was said that Sosnkowski has two partisan divisions
in Poland, the leaders of which are trying to establish contact with Soviet troops. In fact, our
troops met a one of Sosnowski’s partisan divisions on one of the sections of our front. The
fighters of this division go about in full dress German uniforms and, because of this, our
troops, taking them for Germans, fired at them. The Poles let us know that they weren’t
Germans. A meeting took place between the leader of Sosnkowski's division and the
command of the Red Army. The Poles declared that they were under Sosnkowski and asked
what would be done with them. Our command answered that in war one cannot have two
bosses and, promising them weapons, proposed that the Poles participate in operations
together with the Red Army. After the conversation, these partisans, arriving from Bug, left
for there. Apparently, they did not agree with the conditions of the Soviet command. Lately
the divisions of Sosnkowski have started to fall apart and people have gone over to the Soviet
side in the tens. A part of these deserters are now in the army of Berling. This is the type of
underground organization that Sosnkowski has. There were two divisions, and now there
isn’t even one. As regards the relations of the Polish population with the Red Army, they are
meeting the Red Army and the Ukrainian partisans well. The Poles are asking when the
Russians will come and free them from the Germans. Mikolajczyk is mistaken when asserts
that 90 percent of the Polish population is behind the Polish government in London.

Lange says that Mikolajczyk is misleading [people].

Comrade Stalin says that therefore we need a National Committee from a purely military
point of view. We will not act in Poland the same way as AMGOT in Italy. Some sort of
organ of power must exist in Poland. The Union of Polish Patriots is a cultural-educational
and military organization, which cannot fulfill administrative functions in Poland. We also
cannot burden the Polish army with the duties of civil government. There must be an organ
of power that would have a dialog with the Polish peasantry, intelligentsia, and workers.
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Lange says that this organ of power must not carry out agrarian reform immediately. As
regards the nationalization of large scale industry, it can be postponed until the creation of a
constitutional government.

Comrade Stalin says that the Polish government must have a material base. If the state had
certain trade organizations under its purview, then this would be highly beneficial. For
example, if we have a state fulfilling trade functions, it can regulate prices. And raising
them, for example, by the kopeck, we can obtain greater funds [lit. “means”] than any state
could obtain with taxes. The opening of commercial food shops at the present time
influenced prices in the collective farm markets and forced the collective farmers put goods
of a higher quality on the market. Now we have even fewer goods [on the market]. But in
time we will lower prices. There is another example of how our state influences market
prices. When the Red Army entered Lithuania in 1940, bread prices in Lithuania were very
high. We imported grain into Lithuania and prices dropped by 30 percent. It would be good
if the state in Poland controlled certain industrial and trade enterprises.

Comrade Stalin asks if Lange has been in London.

Lange answers that he had not been to London. But he would like to ask what goal he might
have for a trip to London.

Comrade Stalin says that Lange is a private [non-governmental] figure who might be able to
talk with Mikolajczyk and other Poles in London and tell them what he saw in the Soviet
Union. It would be beneficial to do this if Lange has a suitable opportunity.

Lange says that, evidently, this would require making some changes in his passport.

Comrade Stalin asks if it wouldn’t be a feigned maneuver if Lange goes from here to the
USA, and then to London.

Lange says that it would be easier in the USA to get a visa for a trip to London. In any case,
he will ask the American government about this.

Comrade Stalin says that in London Lange could tell the Poles that we are not entirely
against beginning negotiations with the London government.

Lange asks if he must say that he had a discussion with V. Stalin.

Comrade Stalin says that Lange can declare to the Poles in London that he, Comrade Stalin,
told him that a new Polish government must be created that includes people from the Polish
emigres in America, Russia, and England. Until now, when the Soviet government wanted to
find out something or other from the Polish government, either Churchill or Eden appeared
as a mediator. It would be good to negotiate directly with someone or other from among the
Poles. He, Comrade Stalin, does not discount the possibility Sosnkowski will change [lit.
“does not entirely consider that Sosnkowski cannot change”]. He, Comrade Stalin, with
certain reservations, considers Sosnkowski and other Poles in London to be Polish patriots.
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Lange could tell the Poles in London that we do not have a pre-conceived opinion that it is

impossible to converse with them. But we want to talk with live Poles and not with Churchill ‘
or Eden. Lange can explain to them that we do not desire a conflict with them. We, under

certain conditions, are prepared to agree with them that they were not with Hitler against us.

Lange remarks that the Poles in London seem to [lit. “must”] have the same policy as
Benesh.

Comrade Stalin remarks that Benesh is more flexible than the London Poles.
Comrade Molotov declares that, in Benesh’s opinion, the Polish aristocracy is always looking
backward. However, one can find people among them who are moving to the side of the

Russians. The Germans taught them a good lesson.

Comrade Stalin asks where Kozlowski is, adding that Kozlowski, like Sikorski, deceived the
Soviet government.

Lange answers that he only knows that Kozlowski is in Germany.

He, Lange, would like to ask if I.V. Stalin wouldn’t think it more appropriate if someone-
from the Union of Polish Patriots went, let’s say, to Sweden for negotiations with the Poles.

Comrade Stalin answers that Lange is in a better position to negotiate with the Poles, since he
stands outside the fray.

Lange answers that he will ask the American government. He doesn’t believe [lit. “see”] that
the American government will impede his journey to London.

Comrade Stalin says that Lange might still find Stanczyk in America.

He, Comrade Stalin, also thinks that the American government will not hold up Lange’s trip
to London. The English government will hardly hinder this journey.

Lange answers that he could ask Kerr about this now.

Comrade Stalin declares that he does not advise this at present. He thinks that it would be
good for Lange to go to America first and discuss [the matter] with Stanczyk, who might be
able to invite him to London. On his arrival in London, Lange might be able to set up a
discussion and say that in Russia they don’t consider the London Poles to be enemies of
Poland.

Lange says that the London Poles have an incorrect perception [of affairs]. They don’t
understand the present alignment of forces.

Comrade Stalin says that already three times Poland has served as a corridor through which
an aggressor passed to attack Russia. The Poles must be sick of being a transit corridor. .
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They must understand that in alliance with Russia, England, and America they can defend
themselves. Zeligowski is correct when he says that the Germans are trying to cause a
quarrel between Poland and Russia.

Lange says that he has yet another question. He would like to know whether 1.V. Stalin
considers that the ambition of the members of the Union of Polish Patriots to include Silesia
and German territory up to the Oder into Poland is too great. He also [would like to know] if
this ambition can be realized, since it is linked with the resolution of the problem of
Germany, and with its inclusion into the European system.

Comrade Stalin says that this question was discussed in Tehran. A formal resolution was
not adopted. He, Comrade Stalin, noted that Stettin and Breslau could be included into
Poland. Churchill said that it would be better for the Polish state and asked if the Soviet
Union would help create such a Poland. He, Comrade Stalin, answered that the Soviet Union
would help Poland obtain these territories. This topic was discussed as part of the general
question of weakening Germany.

Lange asks wouldn’t the reduction of German territory complicate the internal problems of
Germany. At present, American public opinion is uneasy over whether reduction of German
territory will lead to the development of German nationalism.

Comrade Stalin answers that Roosevelt presented a plan to break Germany up into five
states, proposing to simultaneously occupy outlets to the sea - Hamburg and other ports - and
eliminate Germany as a unified state. Churchill wavered [on this question]. He, Comrade
Stalin, agreed with the opinion of Roosevelt.

Lange says that the breakup of Germany is possible in the event that there is no conflict
between the United States, England, and Russia.

Comrade Stalin says that with regard to Germany it was necessary to conclude [lit. “enter
into”’] a half-hearted peace in the form of the Versailles Treaty. Versailles became a half-
hearted peace when they began to give privileges to Germany. Such a peace not only
stimulated [lit. “promoted the conception of’] the idea of revenge, but also made this revenge
possible. It would be possible to conclude a different peace, leaving Germany with its
territories, Sudetenland to Czechoslovakia, and Alsace-Lorraine to the French. But this is a
very dangerous combination. A third combination is to weaken Germany - take away its
industry, disarm its army and thus weaken Germany by 50 years. He, Comrade Stalin,
believes that [it is] exactly this combination [that] must be adopted.

In 1871, Germany attacked France. Other states of Europe were neutral then. Forty years
later, in 1914, Germany attacked again. After the last World War, Germany restored its
strength and began to wage war in 1939. Germany possesses an immense regenerative
capability. Therefore he, Comrade Stalin, thinks that if a half-hearted decision is made
regarding Germany, we will have a new war in 15 years.
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Lange says that if Germany is broken up, German nationalism will develop, but that German
nationalists will be denied the possibilities to engage in any sort of action. The latter,
however, is possible only under condition of agreement among England, America, and
Russia.

Comrade Stalin answers that we observe our agreements. Our partners, however, hold to
another opinion in this regard. We, probably, were immature and gullible [lit. “did not live
up to this” - ne dorosli do etogo]. However he, Comrade Stalin, hardly thinks that England
will violate its agreements. America is interested in destroying the industry of Germany and
Japan. Germany and Japan have cheap labor. It is difficult to compete with Japan. Japan
quickly copies the technical achievements [of others] and has a force of cheap labor. The
only way to eliminate Germany and Japan as competitors is to destroy their industry. This is
beneficial even to us. Only when we break the Hitlerite government and state, will we, that
is the United States, England, and Russia, be in the same camp. He, Comrade Stalin,
considers that this is in our general interests. This is his Bolshevik view of this question.

Lange says that under these circumstances [the matter of] Poland is entirely clear. He,
Lange, would like to ask the opinion of I.V. Stalin on what to do with the Germans in Poland.
The Polish soldiers say that it is necessary to resettle the Germans outside of Poland.

Comrade Stalin says that we will hire part of the Germans as workers. Part of the Germans
can be dispatched to South America. Let the Germans make room [for others]. After all,
they compelled the entire world to make room [for them].

Lange asks whether Stalin considers that the influence of Marxism has entirely disappeared
in Germany.

Comrade Stalin answers that there were 180,000 to 200,000 Marxist cadres in Germany, but
these people were beaten down (perebiti) and the masses that followed them came undone,
since the were fair weather socialists [lit. - “lived by their moods™].

Lange asks whether a socialist or non-socialist system is possible in Germany.
Comrade Stalin remarks that socialism will not come quickly in Germany.
Lange asks if Stalin considers that a change is possible in the Curzon Line.

Comrade Stalin says that he considers a change is possible within the limits of three to four
kilometers in either direction.

Lange declares that the Polish soldiers say that the further the western boundary of Poland is
extended, the better. They are unanimous in this opinion. When the topic of discussion is
the eastern border of Poland, the soldiers give various answers. Some say that first of all it is
necessary to defeat Germany. Others say that they trust the USSR and hope that the USSR
will not harm Poland. Other declare that it is necessary to come to an agreement with the
Byelorussians and the Ukrainians. But many soldiers speak for the old borders of Poland.
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Certain ones agree with the Curzon Line under the conditions that Vilnius and Lwow remain
in Poland. One soldier said that the Poles must own Galician oil. But not all of this is said
seriously. At the same time, he had to say that at while Vilnius did not provoke especial
interest, the question of Lwow was greatly emphasized.

Comrade Stalin answers that the Ukrainians had become horrible nationalists. They are very
suspicious. We had to fight with the Ukrainians because of Lwow.

Lange declares that Professor Zawacki, who lives in the United States, considers that it is
impossible to resolve the question of Lwow without simultaneously insulting the Ukrainians
and Poles. But he believes that the loss of Lwow will be greater for the Poles than the
Ukrainians. On the other hand, according to his very approximate statistical research, it turns
out that between 600,000 and 700,000 Ukrainians remain west of the Curzon Line. Finally,
he sets forth a third consideration, that excluding Lwow from Poland might complicate the
internal political affairs of the Polish government. Zawacki is afraid that this could serve as a
source of anti-Soviet intrigue in Poland.

Comrade Stalin answers that this is a very complicated problem, and that it must be studied.
The point is that one million Ukrainians are fighting very well in our army.

Lange says that the Poles are suspicious about the western border of Poland.

Comrade Stalin answers that there was no disagreement between Roosevelt, Churchill, and
Comrade Stalin concerning the western border of Poland.

Lange answers that they don’t know about this in America.

Lange asks if Stalin thinks that the government of Beck cooperated with the Germans in
order to wage war with them against Russia.

Comrade Stalin answers that we do not have information [lit. “materials™] proving that Beck
cooperated with the Germans in the matter of a joint attack on the Soviet Union. But the
Beck government incited the Germans against the Soviet Union. The Poles had a plan to
expand Poland to the Dnepr [River]. Evidently, they were counting upon accomplishing this
under circumstances of an English and American fight with Russia. But this was an illusion.
They do not understand that it is no accident that England and American are united with
Russia. They do not understand that this alliance was not caused by opportunism, but is
long-term.

Lange asks whether Stalin considers that France will quickly become a great power.

Comrade Stalin answers that this will not happen quickly. In France economic and military
cadres are corrupted. There is little patriotism there. Several years ago the French novelist
Sel’e [Celine?] wrote a novel in which he sang the praises of a hero who declared that it is
all the same to the French if a German or _alats’e [illegible] stands at the head of the French
government. In the opinion of the hero, it would be better if a German headed the
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government. It was necessary to banish the author to New Caledonia. However, this novel
was purchased extensively in France. If you take the English intelligentsia, they are patriotic. .
The French [intelligentsia], on the contrary is unpatriotic.

Petain submitted to the Germans. If Hitler did not presently have France, things would be
entirely bad for him. He presently obtains livestock and labor from France, and forms his
divisions there. It will take decades for France to be able to revive itself as great power.
Presently De Gaulle is in France. But he is surrounded by Vichy deserters. He, Comrade
Stalin, doesn’t know if these deserters are reliable or not. Now De Gaulle is setting up courts
for traitors of France, but he, Comrade Stalin, doesn’t know if this will help De Gaulle.

Lange answers that, under these circumstances, England, the United States, and Russia will
remain as the great powers.

Comrade Stalin answers that for the time being it will be like this. He, Comrade Stalin,
would thank his lucky stars if France rises earlier than he anticipates. However, he thinks
that France will need 12 years for this. It is necessary that a new generation grow up in
France. Previously France considered that the French had to be allied with their enemy in the
past World War, the Germans. In France, they expected to win from this. In fact, Petain was
made out to be a fool. Nevertheless, the French still dream about a German victory. Such
was the attitude of older cadres in France. It is impossible to teach these old cadres again. It
is necessary that a new generation grow up.

Lange answers that in the Soviet Union they did this very well.

Comrade Stalin answers that we unleashed the strength of the people. He, Comrade Stalin,
thinks that nowhere else do scientists {lit. “people of science”] enjoy such attention as in the
Soviet Union. In France, whoever is rich is honored. If they find a clever person, they hire
him. There is no honor in society for a clever person. Among us, on the other hand, we
foster [lit. “create”] respect for scientists within society. Such is our policy. Every state
must pay attention to scientists. The tragedy of France consists of the fact that there people
have been debauched by an alliance with the Germans. The Germans are masters of breaking
people down. Their policy consist of awakening inhuman feelings in people and destroying
all that is human. The Germans do not believe in human feelings. These masters of the
degradation of humans have already ruled in France for three years.

Lange declares that there are elements of revival in the French underground.

Comrade Stalin answers that De Gaulle is playing his role, but he has few cadres and cannot
do anything quickly. The Americans and English are [also] hindering him a little.

Lange says that now he would like to pose a technical question to Comrade Stalin. Should
he, Lange, announce to foreign correspondents, who he will receive before his departure
from Moscow, that he, Lange, met with I.V. Stalin?
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Comrade Stalin says that there is nothing to hide, and it will become known all the same.
Lange can tell the correspondents that he, Lange, spoke with him, Comrade Stalin,
concerning the Polish army; that the Soviet government wants to increase [the ranks of] the
Polish army; that he, Lange spoke about the Poles at the home front in Russia; that the Soviet
government will improve the conditions for these Poles as much as possible, and that this
would have [already] been done if it were not for the war. Lange can speak about his
impressions concerning whether the Soviet government desires good or ill for the Poles. He
can also talk about the “sovietization” of Poland.

Lange says that he will speak about this. He will begin with the fact that the Soviet leaders
made a declaration concerning Poland. He, Lange, wanted to convince himself whether or
not to believe this declaration. Concerning sovietization, he will say that if the Soviet
government was intending to sovietize Poland, then this would be impossible with the Polish
army that is presently in the Soviet Union. This would require a different Polish army. In
his, Lange’s, opinion, this will serve as the best proof of the sincere intentions of the Soviet
government, and as proof that the creation of a Polish army in the Soviet Union is not any
sort of maneuver. He, Lange, could also say that in his opinion the Soviet leaders of Poland
must play an important role in the post-war world.

Comrade Stalin remarks that Poland must play an important role not only after the war, but
also during the war.

Lange answers that intends to take a flight [from Russia] on approximately May 30, and that
he doesn’t need a special plane.

Comrade Molotov answers that at this time, of course, there will be planes [available].

Comrade Stalin asks if Lange will see Orlemanski.

Lange says that there has been information that Orlemanski must go to a monastery.

Comrade Molotov says that there have been reports that this decision has been abrogated.

Comrade Stalin says that apparently in America some circles are offended that Orlemanski,
and not a more senior [lit. “higher up”] individual, proposed to begin improved relations.
“There’s [a bunch of] crocodiles for you!” remarks Comrade Stalin.

Comrade Stalin asks Lange to extend his greetings to Orlemanski.

Lange thanks him for the discussion.

The discussion lasted two hours and 15 minutes.

Source: AVPRF, f.6, op. 6, p. 42, d. 546, 1. 53-70.
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Contributed by Anna Cienciala and translated by Michael Thurman.
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Notes of Stalin’s Speech during a Reception at the Kremlin on 23 June 1944
to Celebrate the Achievement of the Agreement
to Create the Polish Provisional Government of National Unity

(A sketch recorded from memory)

Mr. Zulawski is right saying that between the Polish and Russian people there lies blood.
Poland and Russia have been fighting wars with one another throughout the centuries, from which
only Germany was profiting. The Poles had been capturing Moscow twice - the Russians were giving
them tit for tat. In the past the Poles had many reasons to hate Russia. Greater guilt for the
relationship between Poland and Russia, that had been shaped over the centuries was that of Russia’s,
as she was stronger than Poland. The old Tsarist Russia and its people were conducting repressive
policies towards the Poles. It took new people to be found in Russia to change the policy practiced by
Tsarist Russia. It was, first of all, Lenin, who during World War I conceded Poland’s right to exist as
an independent state. Beginning with the November Revolution, Poland did not have a reason to hate
Russia. In Russia new people were already in power. But in Poland at that time people who would
want an understanding with a new Russia could not be found. Poland had paid for it dearly. Not till
World War II new people were found in Poland, who were willing to seek an understanding with
Russia. Such a person is Os6bka-Morawski. He is not a communist, he is a socialist and a symbol of
new people who have been found in Poland and reached an understanding with new people in Russia.
A symbol of the old people, harmful to Poland and Russia is Arciszewski.

We do not want to be belied by word. Nobody should believe in word. Let the facts and deeds
prove about relations of Russia to Poland. And our mutual relations should be governed by them.
Poland will be a great and strong state. For Poland it won’t be enough to have an alliance only with
one state. She must have alliances with several great states. Poland needs alliances with the Western
states, with Great Britain, France and friendly relations with America. History teaches us that one
must not wait long for recovery of the German power. It’s enough twenty years and Germany may
regain its power and threaten with a new war. That is why Poland needs to conclude new alliances.
There is a need for an agreement of four states: Poland - the Soviet Union - England - America®.

Source: W. Goéra and A. Kochanski, “Rozmowy polityczne w sprawie utworzenia Tymczasowego
Rzadu Jednosci Narodowej (czerwiec 1945),” Archiwum Ruchu Robotniczego, vol. 9 (1984), pp.
133-134.

Translated by Jan Chowaniec.

2 To the record made by the same, unknown person, there was also attached a text of Stalin’s statement, most
likely from June 27, 1945, on S. Mikolajczyk’s position regarding Poland’s western borders:
“.....Check him once again. Adopt a resolution to the effect that you have come to a preliminary agreement with us regarding
the eastern borders and at the same time a resolution on your territorial claims in the West. An official resolution in the
presence of Mikolajczyk. Let the Government approach us with an official letter on this matter. Let's see if Mikolajczyk
won't withdraw due to England’s position”.
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Who are these Men who Sleep so well?
(Excerpt from a Memorandum by George Kennan)

Joseph Vissarionovich Stalin, now in the sixty-fifth year of his life
and the twentieth year of his power in Russia, is the most powerful and the
least known of the world’s rulers. Only a handful of foreigners have ever
seen him. None have ever had any intimate contact with him. No one knows
exactly where, or with whom, he lives. His personal life remains a mystery
which not even the curiosity of the American press has been able to
penetrate. Only his political figure is apparent; and that figure is
revealed at best in a series of brief and enigmatic glimpses.

From the standpoint of one who would understand Russia today, there
are certain points about Stalin which it is important to remember.

First - that he is a Georgian. That strange law of psychology which
has more than once caused great peoples to accept the rule of obscure and
untypical persons from their own peripheries has brought Stalin from the
barren hills of Georgia to the seclusion of the Kremlin. He does not now
consider himself much of a Georgian; and history will have to admit that he
has become one of the greatest of Russian national figures. But he has not
lost the characteristics of his native environment. Courageous but wary;
quick to anger and suspicion but patient and persistent in the execution of
his purposes; capable of acting with great decision or of waiting and
dissembling, as circumstances may require; outwardly modest and simple, but
jealous of the prestige and dignity of the state which he heads; not
learned, yet shrewd and pitilessly realistic; exacting in his demands for
loyalty, respect and obedience; a keen and unsentimental student of men -
he can be, like a true Georgian hero, a great and good friend or an
implacable, dangerous enemy. It is difficult for him to be anything in
between.

Second - his ignorance of the western world. Stalin’s youth is
shrouded in the mists of underworld revolutionary activity - largely in his
native Caucasus. From that he graduated into the Dostoyevskian atmosphere
of revolutionary conspiracy in European Russia. His life has known only
what Lenin called ™ the incredibly swift transition from wild violence to
the most delicate deceit” . A brief glimpse of Stockholm, in his younger
days, left little or no impression on his fevered imagination. Of western
life in general, he could not possibly understand very much. The placid
give and take of Anglo-Saxon life, in particular: the tempering of all
enmity and all intimacy, the balancing function of personal self-respect,
the free play of opposing interests - these things would remain
incomprehensible, implausible, to him.

Third - his seclusion. Foreign representatives, fretting over their
isolation in Moscow’s diplomatic ghetto, should bear in mind that of all
the people in Moscow Stalin himself is probably the most isolated. It is
doubtful if in the course of the past fifteen years he has ever had the
sensation of being alone or of mingling unobserved with other people.
During all this time, he has probably never known what it is to walk down a
street by the light of day, like anybody else, and to see life as others
see it. 1If not even the humble diplomatic secretary can visit a Russian '
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provincial town quietly and normally, on his own, without swarms of guides
and escorts, without elaborate preparations for his reception, without
vodka and caviar and speeches, think what it must be for Stalin to try to
catch his countrymen off guard. His bent from his Kremlin office to his
datcha is no more revealing than the well-worn cowpaths of the Moscow
diplomatic corps; and the precautions taken for his safety must make it
nearly as hard for him to survey Moscow as it is for Moscow to survey him.
The Moscow police, they say, are instructed to view with suspicion
diplomats found to be anywhere except in an automobile, in a museum, or at
the “ Swan Lake” ballet. Stalin’s life is even poorer. His visits to the
ballet are few. And the whole Kremlin, when closely observed, bears a
depressing resemblance to a vast and chilly museum.

Why do I single out for attention these three aspects of Stalin’s
life and character? I single them out because they all point to the same
thing: namely, to his extreme dependence on his own friends and advisors.
In every authoritarian state, political life too readily becomes a struggle
for access to the ruler and for the control of his sources of information.
In Russia, with its passion for secrecy and conspiracy, this has been
particularly pronounced. In the case of Stalin’s relations to the western
world the role of his political intimates— in view of his own ignorance,
his extreme seclusion, and his suspicious Georgian nature— be little short
of decisive. In the conviction of the writer it is here, in the relations
between Stalin and his advisors, that we must seek the explanations for the
puzzling, often contradictory, manifestations of the Soviet attitude toward
western nations.

* ok ok ok ok ok

The most indisputable, and perhaps the most important, point about
Stalin’s advisors is that for the past six years there has been practically
no change among them. After a period of turn-over in high government
positions unprecedented except in the most wildly revolutionary eras,
Russian political life suddenly froze, about 1938, into an equally
unprecedented immobility. There were not even any noteworthy deaths. The
Kremlin, having successfully defied so many other rules of human behavior,
seemed now to have defied even the laws of human frailty. The deductions
of those cynical wits among the foreign observers who insisted that no one
could survive the purges who was not endowed with the gift of immortality
now seem to be finding confirmation. For years there have been, as far as
the outside world is aware, no changes of note in the composition of the
Politbureau, the Central Committee of the Party, or even the leading
provincial party positions. This is extraordinary enough for a country
that has been through two major reorientations of foreign policy and a
military ordeal which rocked the state to its foundations. It is even more
extraordinary for a political system which has never before failed to
produce a few sacrificial political victims for every major reverse in the
fortunes of the country. At best, it is an unhealthy situation, and one
which will take on added importance when the war is over. The danger, in
Russian circumstances, is that if changes are not made gradually and in
good time, they may come all at once and start another landslide of panic,
intrigue and denunciation similar to that which took place at the time of
the purges.
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What strikes the western observer most strongly about this state of
affairs is that it means there is not a single person in a prominent
position in Russia who is in any way personally identified with the present
policy of collaboration with the western democracies. There is not a
person who was not doing business pretty much at the same old stand back in
the days when policies - and let us hope convictions - were entirely
different.

To those who have come to Russia recently for the first time there is
nothing unusual in the association of such men as Molotov, Vyshinski,
Lozovski, and Manuilski with the policies of Moscow and Teheran. But in
the minds of those whose memories of Russia are longer these names arouse
strange images.

One can see the figure of Molotov at the Ceremonial Meeting of the
Moscow Soviet in the Great Theatre, on November 6, 1939, denouncing England
and France (™ who are constantly dragging into war not only their own
population but also the populations of the dominions and colonies” ) for
opposing Hitler in this “ criminal” war. They recall that only a few days
earlier, at the Session of the Supreme Soviet, he had called England and
France “ the instigators of the second imperialist war” and had accused
them of portraying themselves deceitfully ™ as fighters for the democratic
rights of the peoples” .

One sees before him once again the figure of Vyshinski in the
Prosecutor’s box in the Hall of Columns. It is the trial of Bukharin; and
Vyshinski is sounding the cry of suspicious, secretive Russia against the
fancied hostility of the outside world. It is not only Germany he talks
about. ™ Here in this dock” , he thunders, pointing an accusing finger at
the last of the great names of the Revolution, ™ is not just one anti-
Soviet group, the agents of just one foreign intelligence service. Here in
the dock are a number of anti-Soviet groups, the agents of the intelligence
services of a number of foreign powers hostile to the U.S.S.R. ....
Implicated in the case are . . . . at least . . . . four foreign
intelligence services, the Japanese, German, Polish, and British and - it
goes without saying, all the other foreign intelligence services which
maintain friendly, so-called operative contact with the above-mentioned
intelligence services” . ™ This trial” , one can hear him conclude, " has
reminded us again that two worlds face each other as irreconcilable and
deadly enemies - the world of capitalism and the world of socialism” .

Memories shift to Lozovski the old operative head of the Red
International of Labor Unions, now - like Vyshinski, - Assistant People’s
Commissar for Foreign Affairs. For years on end he harangued despairing
foreign workers of the Profintern, gathered together in Moscow for the
improvement of their morals. He pleaded with them above all things to
understand that apparent Soviet departures from the quest of world
revolution did not mean that the goal had been lost sight of. The
situation has changed, he would cry, and the tactics change. If any
particular slogan has outlived its usefulness or any particular formula
needs to be changed for a new one, that doesn’t mean that everything that
there was in the past was wrong. Could he say that today, one wonders?
And would he still maintain, as he was maintaining in 1935, that no force
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in the world will prevent the collapse of capitalism and the victory of the
working class over the bourgeoisie.

And Manuilski, the old work-horse of the Comintern, now People’s
Commissar for Foreign Affairs of the Ukraine. At the recent armistice
negotiations with the Rumanians, which he attended as the foreign minister
of a neighboring state to Rumania, he was friendly, agreeable, concerned
for the condition of his liberated Ukraine, anxious that the British and
American Ambassadors should come to Kiev and view the destruction wrought
by the Germans there. Did he really want their sympathy? Had he forgotten
that in 1939 he was saying: The years will pass. Not a stone will remain
unturned of the cursed capitalistic structure, of its wars, its reaction,
its vileness, its bestiality and its progressive savagery. People will
think back on the days of capitalism as on a bad dream. Poor Manuilski.
The years have passed. The upturned stones are to be found everywhere: in
socialism and in capitalism alike - in Kiev as well as in London. The bad
dreams of this age are of war and occupation, not of capitalism. Does he
know that his analysis was unsound? Does he regret the words of 19397

The men I have mentioned are all men prominently connected with
Russia’s formal diplomatic relations with the western world. They are men
who have contact with foreigners in their work and presumably access to the
foreign press and foreign literature. Possibly this has indeed widened
their horizons to some extent. But what about those other leading figures
of the regime whose voice in the inner councils of state is obviously
greater than the voice of any of these four, except possibly Molotov? What
about such men as Beriya, Zhdanov, Shcherbakov, Andreyev, Kaganovich, etc.?
What advice do these men give to Stalin about foreign policy?

These prominent Soviet leaders know little of the outside world.
They have no personal knowledge of foreign statesmen. To them, the vast
pattern of international life, political and economic, can provide no
associations, can hold no significance, except in what they conceive to be
its bearing on the problems of Russian security and Russian internal life.
It is possible that the conceptions of these men might occasionally achieve
a rough approximation to reality, and their judgments a similar
approximation to fairness; but it is not likely. Independence of judgment
has never been a strong quality of leading Communist figures. There is
evidence that they are as often as not the victims of their own slogans,
the slaves of their own propaganda. To keep a level head in the welter of
propaganda and auto-suggestion with which Russia has faced the world for
the past twenty years would tax the best efforts of a cosmopolitan scholar
and philosopher. These men are anything but that. God knows what strange
images and impressions are created in their minds by what they hear of life
beyond Russia’s borders. God knows what conclusions they draw from all
this, and what recommendations they make on the basis of those conclusions.

There is serious evidence for the hypothesis that there are
influences in the Kremlin which place the preservation of a rigid police
regime in Russia far ahead of the [ILLEGIBLE] development of Russia’s
foreign relations, and which are therefore strongly opposed to any
association of Russia with foreign powers except on Russia’s own terms.
These terms would include the rigid preservation of the conspiratorial
nature of the Communist party, of the secrecy of the working of the Soviet
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state, of the isolation of the population from external influences, of
feelings of mistrust of the outside world and dependence on the Soviet
regime among the population, of the extreme restriction of all activities
of foreigners in the Soviet Union, and the use of every means to conceal
Soviet reality from world opinion.

There is reason to believe that these influences have a certain
measure of control over the information and advice that reach Stalin.
Certainly there has been an appreciable relaxation, as compared with seven
years ago, in the restrictions on association between foreigners and
Russians; and representatives of Russia’s allies continue to be treated
today with no less suspicion than was shown to German representatives in
the days of the most violent anti-Fascist press polemics, prior to the
conclusion of the Non-Aggression Pact. Fortunately, however, there is as
yet no reason to conclude that this issue is finally decided and that the
isolationists have entirely won the day. The overwhelming sentiment of the
country is against them, so much so that this may become a serious internal
issue in the aftermath of the war. So is the pressure of events in
international life. They are undoubtedly balanced off by many men who have
a healthier, a saner, and a more worthy conception of Russia’s mission in
the world. But that this xenophobian group exists and that it speaks with
a powerful voice in the secret councils of the Kremlin is evident. And
that it is in no way accessible to the pleas or arguments of responsible
people in the outside world is no less clear.

As long as this situation endures, the great nations of the west will
unavoidably be in a precarious position in their relations with Russia.
They will never be able to be sure when, unbeknownst to them, people of
whom they have no knowledge, acting on motives utterly obscure, will go to
Stalin with misleading information and with arguments to be used to their
disadvantage - information which they cannot correct and arguments which
they have no opportunity to rebut. As long as this possibility exists, as
long as it is not corrected by a freer atmosphere for the forming of
acquaintances and the exchange of views, it is questionable whether ever
the friendliest of relations could be considered sound and dependable.

Those men of good will, among the foreign representatives in Moscow,
for whom the relations of Russia with the world at large have become one of
the great experiences and hopes of contemporary life, may go on with their
patient work of unraveling the never-ending tangle of misunderstanding and
difficulties which lie across the path of Russia’s foreign relations. They
will continue to be borne up in this trial of patience by their unanimous
faith in the greatness of the Russian people and by their knowledge of the
need of the world for Russia’s talents. But at heart they all know that
until the Chinese wall of the spirit has been broken down, as the actual
Chinese wall of Moscow’s business district was recently broken - until new
avenues of contact and of vision are opened up between the Kremlin and the
world around it - they can have no guarantee that their efforts will meet
with success and that the vast creative abilities of Russia will not lead
to the tragedy, rather than to the rescue, of western civilization.

Source: George Kennan, memo, "Russia - Seven Years Later," Sept. 1944, pp.
20-26: copy given to British Embassy, Moscow, and retained in FO 800/302
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RECORD OF MEETING AT THE KREMLIN, MOSCOW,
9th OCTOBER, 1944, AT 10 p.m.

Present:
The Prime Minister. Marshal Stalin.
The Secretary of State. M. Molotov.
Sir A. Clark Kerr. M. Pavlov.

Mr. A Birse.

THE PRIME MINISTER gave Marshal Stalin a signed photograph of himself in
return for the one sent him some weeks ago by the Marshal.

THE PRIME MINISTER hoped they might clear away many questions about which
they had been writing to each other for a long time. As time had passed many things had
arisen, but they were out of all proportion to the greatness of the common struggle. By
talking to each other he and Stalin could avoid innumerable telegrams and letters - and they
could give the Ambassador a holiday.

MARSHAL STALIN replied that he was ready to discuss anything.

THE PRIME MINISTER suggested beginning with the most tiresome question -
Poland. He said that they should have a common policy in regard to Poland. At present each
had a game cock in his hand.

MARSHAL STALIN said (with a laugh) that it was difficult to do without cocks.
They gave the morning signal.

THE PRIME MINISTER remarked that the question of the frontier was settled as
agreed. He would like presently to check up on the frontier with a map.

MARSHAL STALIN remarked that if the frontier was agreed on the Curzon Line it
would help their discussion.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he wanted to explain what was in his and the Secretary
of State's mind as they understood the situation. The time would come when they would
meet at the armistice table, and that might also be the peace table. The Americans would
find it easier to settle at an armistice table, because there the President could decide, whereas
at a peace table the Senate would have to be consulted. At the armistice table the Prime
Minister would support the frontier line as fixed at Tehran and he thought it likely that the
United States would do the same. That decision had been endorsed by the British War
Cabinet, and he felt it would be approved by his country. He would say it was right, fair and
necessary for the safety and future of Russia. If some General Sosnkowski objected it would
not matter, because Britain and United States thought it right and fair. He and Mr. Eden had
for months been trying to get Sosnkowski sacked. He had now been sacked and as for
General Bor, the Germans were looking after him.
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MARSHAL STALIN remarked that the Poles were now without a
Commander-in-Chief.

THE PRIME MINISTER thought that some colourless man had been left. He could
not remember his name. The Prime Minister went on to ask Marshal Stalin a question.
Would he think it worth while to bring Mikolajczyk and Romer to Moscow? He had them
tied up in an aircraft and it would only take 36 hours to Moscow.

MARSHAL STALIN asked whether they had the authority to settle questions with
the Polish Committee for National Liberation.

THE PRIME MINISTER was not sure, but he thought they would not be anxious to
go to bed with the Committee. If, however, they were in Moscow they could, with British
and Russian agreement, be forced to settle.

MARSHAL STALIN had no objection to making another attempt, but Mikolajczyk
would have to make contact with the Committee. The latter now had an army at its disposal
and represented a force.

THE PRIME MINISTER pointed out that the other side also thought they had an
army, and part of which had held out in Warsaw. They also had a brave army corps in Italy,
where they lost seven or eight thousand men. Then there was the armoured division, one
brigade of which was in France. A Polish division which had gone to Switzerland when
France fell was coming out in driblets. They were well equipped and they had many friends
in England. They were good and brave men. The difficulty about the Poles was that they
had unwise political leaders. Where there were two Poles there was one quarrel.

MARSHAL STALIN added that where there was one Pole he would begin to quarrel
with himself through sheer boredom.

THE PRIME MINISTER thought that Marshal Stalin and he himself as well as M.
Molotov and Mr. Eden between them had more chance of bringing the Poles together. The
British would bring pressure to bear on their Poles, while the Poles in the East were already
in agreement with the Soviet Government.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed to try.

THE PRIME MINISTER asked if there was any objection to M. Grabski's coming to
Moscow.

MARSHAL STALIN had no objection.
THE PRIME MINISTER then referred to the armistice terms for the satellites who

had been coerced by Germany and had not distinguished themselves in the war. If Marshal
Stalin agreed, the Prime Minister thought that M. Molotov or Mr. Eden might discuss these
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terms. The terms for Hungary were important. He hoped the Russians would soon be in
Budapest.

MARSHAL STALIN said it was possible.

THE PRIME MINISTER pointed out that there were two countries in which the
British had particular interest, one was Greece. He was not worrying much about Roumania.
That was very much a Russian affair and the treaty the Soviet Government had proposed was
reasonable and showed much statecraft in the interests of general peace in the future. But in
Greece it was different. Britain must be the leading Mediterranean Power and he hoped
Marshal Stalin would let him have the first say about Greece in the same way as Marshal
Stalin about Roumania. Of course, the British Government would keep in touch with the
Soviet Government.

MARSHAL STALIN understood that Britain had suffered very much owing to her
communications in the Mediterranean having been cut by the Germans. It was a serious
matter for Britain when the Mediterranean route was not in her hands. In that respect Greece
was very important. He agreed with the Prime Minister that Britain should have the first say
in Greece.

THE PRIME MINISTER said it was better to express these things in diplomatic
terms and not to use the phrase “dividing into spheres,” because the Americans might be
shocked. But as long as he and Marshal understood each other he could explain matters to
the President.

MARSHAL STALIN interrupted to say that he had received a message from
President Roosevelt. The President wanted Mr. Harriman to attend their talks as an observer
and that the decisions reached between them should be of a preliminary nature.

THE PRIME MINISTER agreed. He had told the President - he and the President
had no secrets - that he would welcome Mr. Harriman to a good number of their talks, but he
did not want this to prevent intimate talk between Marshal Stalin and himself. He would
keep the President informed. Mr. Harriman might come in for any formal talks as an
observer. Mr. Harriman was not quite in the same position as they were.

MARSHAL STALIN said he had only sent a reply to the effect that he did not know
what questions would be discussed, but as soon as he did know he would tell the President.
He had noticed some signs of alarm in the President's message about their talks and on the
whole did not like the message. It seemed to demand too many rights for the United States
leaving too little for the Soviet Union and Great Britain, who, after all, had a treaty of
common assistance.

MARSHAL STALIN went on to say that he had no objection to Mr. Harriman’s
attending the formal talks.
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THE PRIME MINISTER referred to the Conference at Dumbarton Oaks. The
President had not wanted this to be discussed in Moscow but only when the three heads got
together. The President had not said so, but he must have had in mind the coming election.
The President would be more free to talk in about a month's time. It was fair to say that
while at first His Majesty's Government had inclined to the American view they now saw a
great deal of force in the other point of view. Supposing China asked Britain to give up
Hong Kong, China and Britain would have to leave the room while Russia and the United
States settled the question. Or, if the Argentine and the United States had a quarrel they
would object if England, China and Russia had to settle it. The Prime Minister pointed out
that all this was off the record. The wise thing was not to refer in Moscow to this question,
but to wait until the meeting of the three heads, when it could be settled.

THE PRIME MINISTER then raised the question of the interests of the two
governments in the various Balkan countries and the need to work in harmony in each of
them. After some discussion it was agreed that as regards Hungary and Yugoslavia each of
the two Governments was equally interested, that Russia had a major interest in Roumania
and that Britain was in the same position with regard to Greece. The Prime Minister
suggested that where Bulgaria was concerned the British interest was greater than it was in
Roumania. This led to some discussion about the crimes committed by Bulgaria.

MARSHAL STALIN recalled the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk, where the Bulgarians had
been on the German side and three divisions had fought against the Russians in the last war.

THE PRIME MINISTER declared that Bulgaria owed more to Russia than to any
other country. He said that in Roumania Britain had been a spectator. In Bulgaria she had to
be a little more than a spectator.

M. MOLOTOYV asked whether the Turkish question related to this matter.

THE PRIME MINISTER replied that he had not touched upon Turkey. He was only
saying what was in his mind. He was glad to see how near it was to the Russian mind.

M. MOLOTOYV remarked that the Convention of Montreux still remained.
THE PRIME MINISTER said that was a Turkish question and not a Bulgarian.

MARSHAL STALIN replied that Turkey was also a Balkan country. According to
the Convention of Montreux Japan had as much right as Russia. Everything had been
adjusted to the League of Nations and the League of Nations no longer existed. If Turkey
were threatened she could close the Straits and Turkey herself had to decide when she was
faced with a real threat. All the paragraphs in the Montreux Convention were controlled by
Turkey. This was an anachronism. Marshal Stalin had put this question in Tehran and the
Prime Minister had expressed his sympathy. Now that they were discussing the Balkan
question and Turkey was a Balkan country, did the Prime Minister think it appropriate to
discuss it?

31



THE PRIME MINISTER agreed.

MARSHAL STALIN pointed out that if Britain were interested in the Mediterranean
then Russia was equally interested in the Black Sea.

THE PRIME MINISTER thought that Turkey had missed her chance after the Tehran
conference. The reason she was frightened was because she had no modern weapons, she
thought she had a good army, whereas nowadays an army was not everything. Turkey was
not clever.

MARSHAL STALIN remarked that Turkey had 26 divisions in Thrace and asked
against whom they were directed.

THE PRIME MINISTER replied they were directed against Bulgaria, because
Bulgaria was armed with French weapons taken by the Germans. The Prime Minister went
on to say that, taking a long view of the future of the world it was no part of British policy to
grudge Soviet Russia access to warm-water ports and to the great oceans and seas of the
world. On the contrary, it was part of their friendship to help the Soviet Union. They no
longer followed the policy of Disraeli or Lord Curzon. They were not going to stop Russia.
They wished to help. What did Marshal Stalin think about the kind of changes required in
the Montreux Convention?

MARSHAL STALIN could not say what point required amendment, but he felt the
convention was unsuitable in present circumstances and the spearhead was directed against
Russia. It should be dropped. If the Prime Minister agreed in principle with that point of
view it might be possible to discuss the required changes. It was quite impossible for Russia
to remain subject to Turkey, who could close the Straits and hamper Russian imports and
exports and even her defences. What would Britain do if Spain or Egypt were given this
right to close the Suez Canal, or what would the United States Government say if some South
American Republic had the right to close the Panama Canal? Russia was in a worse
situation. Marshal Stalin did not want to restrict Turkey's sovereignty. But at the same time
he did not want Turkey to abuse her sovereignty and to grip Russian trade by the throat.

THE PRIME MINISTER replied that in principle he shared that point of view. He
suggested that the Russians should let us know in due course what was required. Otherwise
Turkey might be frightened that Istanbul was to be taken. When the three heads met later on
there would not be the same difficulty. He was in favour of Russia's having free access to the
Mediterranean for her merchant ships and ships of war. Britain hoped to work in a friendly
way with the Soviet Union, but wanted to bring Turkey along by gentle steps, not to frighten
her.

MARSHAL STALIN said he understood.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that, if they were sitting at the armistice table and
Marshal Stalin asked him for free passage through the Straits for merchant ships and
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warships, he personally would say that Britain had no objection. Britain had no ties with
Turkey except the Montreux Convention, which was inadmissible to-day and obsolete.

MARSHAL STALIN said he did not want to hurry the Prime Minister, but only to
point out that the question existed in their minds and he was anxious that it should be
admitted that their claim was justified.

THE PRIME MINISTER thought Marshal Stalin should take the initiative and tell the
United States what was in his mind. The Prime Minister thought Russia had a right and
moral claim. Looking at the Balkans he thought they should do something to prevent the risk
of civil war between the political ideologies in those countries. They could not allow a lot of
little wars after the Great World War. They should be stopped by the authority of the three
Great Powers.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he wanted to talk about Kings. In no case would
Britain try to force a King on Italy, Greece or Yugoslavia. At the same time the people ought
to be left to decide matters by a free plebiscite in time of tranquillity. They could then say
whether they wanted a republic or a monarchy. The people should have a fair chance of
freedom of expression. Northern Italy was in the power of the Anglo-American armies.
Britain did not care for the Italian King, but above all they did not want civil war after the
troops had been withdrawn or before their withdrawal. Britain would like the Soviet Union
to soft-pedal the Communists in Italy and not to stir them up. Pure democracy would settle
what the people wanted, but he did not want to have disturbances in Turin or Milan and
clashes between the troops and the people. The Italians were in a miserable condition. He
did not think much of them as a people, but they had a good many votes in New York State.
This was off the record.

The Prime Minister went on to say that he did not want to have trouble in Italy before
the United States left it. The President was their best friend. They would never have such a
good one. That was why he petted the Italians, though he did not like them much. He had
not meant that the Soviet Union should influence the Communist vote in New York. He was
referring to the Communists in Italy.

MARSHAL STALIN remarked that it was difficult to influence Italian Communists.
The position of Communists differed in different countries. It depended upon their national
situation. If Ercoli were in Moscow Marshal Stalin might influence him. But he was in Italy,
where the circumstances were different. He could send Marshal Stalin to the devil. Ercoli
could say he was an Italian and tell Marshal Stalin to mind his own business. When the Red
Army entered Bulgaria, Bulgarian Communists proceeded to form Soviets. The Red Army
stopped it. The Communists arrested the Bulgarian police and the Red Army freed the
police. However, Ercoli was a wise man, not an extremist, and would not start an adventure
in Italy.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he was only asking that they should not be stirred up.
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MARSHAL STALIN expressed his fear that the Communists would send him to the
devil. As regards the King, Ercoli had his own views. He had said he would collaborate
with the King if the King stood by the people. Ercoli had referred to Germany, where there
was no King, but where there was a man who was worse than the greatest despot.

THE PRIME MINISTER agreed. He then said that he had been talking the whole
time and that it was now Marshal Stalin's turn.

MARSHAL STALIN reverted to the Balkans and suggested that our interest in
Bulgaria was not, in fact, as great as the Prime Minister had claimed.

MR. EDEN remarked that Britain wanted more in Bulgaria than in Roumania.

MARSHAL STALIN claimed that Bulgaria was a Black Sea country. Was Britain
afraid of anything? Was she afraid of a Soviet campaign against Turkey? The Soviet Union
had no such intention.

MR. EDEN said Britain was not afraid of anything.

MARSHAL STALIN asked whether the Prime Minister thought Bulgaria was being
punished less than she deserved. Bulgaria should be punished for her two wars on the side of
Germany.

MR. EDEN reminded Marshal Stalin that Britain had been at war with Bulgaria for
three years and wanted a small share in the control of that country after Germany's defeat.

THE PRIME MINISTER suggested that M. Molotov and Mr. Eden should go into
details. This was agreed.

THE PRIME MINISTER suggested that in the presence of Mr. Harriman they might
have a talk about the future of Germany. He suggested that for about a month or so they
should not say anything publicly because it would make the Germans fight harder. He had
been shy of breathing fire and slaughter, but they might discuss it quietly among themselves.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he was all for hard terms. Opinions were divided in
the United States. The best thing would be to beat the Germans into unconditional surrender
and then tell them what to do. He wanted to hear Marshal Stalin’s opinion about the régime
to be applied and how Germany was to be divided, what was to be done with Prussia, the
Saar and the Ruhr, and with German weapons. Russian factories had been destroyed as well
as Belgian and Dutch and the machines taken away would have to be replaced. Perhaps the
Foreign Secretaries could discuss this matter with M. Molotov and Mr. Harriman.

The President was for hard terms. Others were for soft. The problem was how to
prevent Germany getting on her feet in the lifetime of our grandchildren.
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MARSHAL STALIN thought the Versailles peace was inadequate. It had not
removed the possibility of revenge. Hard measures would stir a desire for revenge. The
problem was to create such a peace that the possibility of revenge would be denied to
Germany. Her heavy industry would have to be destroyed. The State would have to be split
up. How that was to be done would have to be discussed. Her heavy industry would have to
be reduced to a minimum.

THE PRIME MINISTER suggested it should apply to the electrical and chemical
industries also.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed that it should apply to all industry producing war
material. Germany should be deprived of the possibility of revenge. Otherwise every
twenty-five or thirty years there would be a new world war which would exterminate the
young generation. If approached from that angle the harshest measures would prove to be
the most humane. Eight to ten million Germans had been lost after every war. Reprisals in
Germany might not affect only one and a half million Germans. As regards concrete
proposals, Mr. Eden and M. Molotov should get together.

M. MOLOTOV asked what was the Prime Minister’s opinion of the Morgenthau
plan.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that the President and Mr. Morgenthau were not very
happy about its reception. The Prime Minister went on to say that as he had declared in
Tehran, Britain would not agree to mass executions of Germans, because one day British
public opinion would cry out. But it was necessary to kill as many as possible in the field.
The others should be made to work to repair the damage done to other countries. They might
use the Gestapo on such work and the Hitler Youth should be re-educated to learn that it was
more diffcult to build than to destroy.

MARSHAL STALIN thought that a long occupation of Germany would be necessary.

THE PRIME MINISTER did not think that the Americans would stay very long.

MARSHAL STALIN said France should provide some forces.

THE PRIME MINISTER agreed.

MARSHAL STALIN suggested the use of the small countries.

THE PRIME MINISTER thought United Poland could be employed.

MARSHAL STALIN said Silesia would go to the Poles and part of East Prussia. The

Soviet Union would take Koenigsberg and the Poles would be very interested in the
occupation of Germany.
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THE PRIME MINISTER thought the population might be moved from Silesia and
East Prussia to Germany. If seven million had been killed in the war there would be plenty
of room for them. He suggested that M. Molotov and Mr. Eden, with Mr. Harriman, should
talk this over and get a picture of the general proposals for Marshal Stalin and himself to
think about, and thus when the end came they would not be without something unprobed.
They should also decide what part the European Advisory Commission should play.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed.

THE PRIME MINISTER turned to the Anglo-American war against Japan. He
pointed out that here again the utmost secrecy was required. He remarked how wonderfully
well secrecy had been maintained considering the declaration made by Marshal Stalin at
Tehran about Japan. The Prime Minister had asked the President to give a statement for use
as an outline of the American plan for 1945 in the Pacific. Plans were moving quickly and
the position was changing very much as island after island was taken, but the President had
given Mr. Harriman and General Deane an outline of the plan which he (the Prime Minister)
was to be shown and it was to he discussed with the Soviet Generals. He suggested that
conversations should begin with Mr. Harriman and his General and that afterwards they
might go away and talk separately, technically.

MARSHAL STALIN said that the Soviet military leaders had been informed of the
existence of the President's plan and General Deane was to have had a talk with the Soviet
High Command, but the latter were awaiting information from the Far East about Japanese
strength. Marshal Stalin did not know details of the plan just as the Prime Minister did not
know them, but he was prepared to acquaint himself with it. If they could all meet and
examine the plan that would be better.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that he thought that Mr. Harriman and General Deane
had been authorised to tell Marshal Stalin in broad outline about the plan, but he thought it
should be discussed with General Brooke, who was also a member of the Suvorov Order.
General Brooke was going to take a ride in a tram as he was entitled to do, but he could not
spare the time for a visit to the seaside. These were his privileges as a member of the Order
of Suvorov. General Brooke was also ready to give an account of the operations in the West,
in France and Italy and to tell how affairs stood. He would like Marshal Stalin to know that
the British had as many divisions fighting against Germany in Italy and France as the United
States and we had nearly as many as the United States fighting against Japan. Altogether 60
divisions of 40,000 men including a heavy backing of commissariat, artillery, &c.

Source: Public Record Office.
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RECORD OF MEETING AT THE KREMLIN, MOSCOW.
ON 10th OCTOBER, 1944, AT 7 p.m.

Present:
Secretary of State. M. Molotov.
Sir Archibald Clark Kerr. M. Vyshinski.
Mr. Oliver Harvey. M. Gusev.
Mr. A. Birse. M. Paviov.

Mr. EDEN suggested they should talk about Bulgaria and the Balkans in general.

M. MOLOTOV suggested that they should first discuss Hungary in connexion with
what Marshal Stalin had said to the Prime Minister. Marshal Stalin thought that after
learning of the considerable losses sustained by the Red Army in Hungary, the army would
not understand it if a principle of 50/50 were allotted. M. Molotov had been instructed by the
Marshal to raise this question and to give his opinion.

Mr. EDEN said he would be glad to hear M. Molotov's opinion.

M MOLOTOV began by saying that the 75/25 principle was what the Soviet
Government proposed, for the reason that Hungary bordered on the Soviet Union and the
Red Amy was operating in that country and suffering losses. Hungary had been and always
would be a bordering country. Russia’s interest was therefore comprehensible. Russia did
not want Hungary to be on the side of the aggressor in the future. At the same time, Russia
had no territorial claims in Hungary.

Mr. EDEN remarked that His Majesty's Government would certainly consider the
question of Hungary but he would prefer to have a chance of thinking it over.

Mr. Eden went on to say that he would speak frankly. His Majesty's Government
were unhappy over the whole situation in the Balkans. They were being presented with faits
accomplis. Some months ago when Tito was in difficulties the British had given him refuge
on the island of Vis under the protection of the Royal Navy and R.A.F., and it was only
through British action that he was saved from complete extinction. The British had armed
him and supported him and now, without a word or information from himself or from the
Soviet Ally, he had left Vis and come to Moscow and was making an agreement about the
Bulgarians in Yugoslavia which was quite unacceptable to the British. The Bulgarians
treated the British as if Bulgaria had won the war and Britain had lost it. British Officers in
Northern Greece had, by order of the Bulgarian authorities, been confined to their houses.
His Majesty’s Government must ask the Soviet Union for support and for this to be brought
to an end. Mr. Eden was ready to discuss armistice terms for Bulgaria and he felt he was
entitled to ask that instructions be sent through the Soviet Marshal in Sofia to the Bulgarians
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in Greece to treat British officers with proper respect pending the withdrawal of the
Bulgarians from Greece.

M. MOLOTOV readily agreed that the matter should be put in order and that the
Bulgarians must be made to feel they were not the victors. They had done enough damage to
the Soviet Union and to the Allies and though Bulgaria had a new Government she should be
held responsible for her past misdeeds. It was necessary to take practical measures to
regulate these questions, and for Bulgaria to be taught to show respect to the Allies in
Bulgaria. The Soviet Government appreciated the British claim.

Mr. EDEN did not know whether he had made himself clear. The trouble had
occurred not where the Russians were stationed in Bulgaria but in Northern Greece. Orders
had been given to British officers to keep to their houses and he would like M. Molotov to
telegraph to the Soviet Marshal in Sofia to tell the Bulgarians to instruct their authorities in
Northern Greece to treat British representatives with proper respect. In that connection His
Majesty's Government were sending, in conjunction with the Greek Government, some
further British Officers to Northern Greece. He did not want them to be put in prison.

M. MOLOTOV pointed out that at the outset it had been agreed to make some
preliminary conditions in the case of Bulgaria for the withdrawal of her troops from Greece
and Yugoslavia. So far the Soviet Government had not interfered in affairs beyond the
borders of Bulgaria.

Mr. EDEN remarked that he understood and suggested, without asking for Soviet
interference outside of Bulgaria, that British officers while in Greece should receive fair
treatment and this the Bulgarians would do if they received instructions from the Soviet
Government.

M. MOLOTOV thought they could reach an agreement on this point, but repeated
that they had not interfered in affairs outside of Bulgaria and, in particular, in Greece. The
question was how agreement could be reached. He would speak to Marshal Stalin.

Mr. EDEN said he would be ready to discuss the armistice terms but the above
question would have to be settled. He thought that if the Soviet Government sent a telegram
to their representative in Sofia to the effect that they understood some British officers in
Northern Greece had been put under arrest by the Bulgarians and instructing the Soviet
representative to request the Bulgarians immediately to put an end to this state of affairs, this
would be enough to make the Bulgarians behave in Northern Greece until they withdrew. He
hoped it would be soon.

M. MOLOTOYV repeated that he would speak to Marshal Stalin.

Mr. EDEN then turned to the armistice terms. He suggested they should first discuss
the difficult points. These would have to be finally settled and passed through the European
Advisory Commission and agreed with their American friends. He thought that if they could
agree on the general lines in Moscow they could telegraph to their representatives and then
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matters could be quickly arranged. The first question in dispute was where the negotiations
were to be held.

M. MOLOTOV asked if this was important.
Mr. EDEN replied by asking the same question of M. Molotov.

M. MOLOTOV did not think it was important. They should take place where a
speedy settlement could be made. That could be done in Moscow, where they had the
experienced Moscow Commission.

Mr. EDEN said that the point was important. He was prepared to make concessions
and he would suggest Moscow. The London Commission would have to agree certain terms
and then the Allied representatives would meet the Bulgarians. The question was: Where?
M. Molotov had suggested Moscow and Mr. Eden agreed.

M. MOLOTOV said they preferred Moscow, where they could have the help of Sir
Archibald Clark Kerr.

Mr. EDEN said that the difficulty was the following, and he could not give way on it:
His Majesty's Government insisted on some share in the Control Commission after the war
with Germany was over. The Americans were also not prepared to give way on this point.
He asked M. Molotov to understand that Britain had been at war with Bulgaria for three
years and it simply would not be understood by the British people if Britain had no part in the
Control Commission after the war with Germany was over. In other words, he would have to
insist upon the amendment as proposed by the Americans about the future of the Control
Commission.

M. MOLOTOV suggested that, before discussing that amendment, he would like to
make one concession in return for Mr. Eden's concession about the place for negotiations. It
was about the signature. He did not know whether Mr. Eden attached importance to the
danger which lay in the wish to have two signatures, namely, Marshal Tolbukhin and General
Wilson. Marshal Tolbukhin was not a naval man, but in so far as the Red Army had anything
to do with the sea it was with the Black Sea. The signature of General Wilson meant that a
general was signing who had something to do with Mediterranean affairs. If there was a
Mediterranean General, and a Black Sea General, then Bulgaria might claim that she was not
only a Black Sea Power but also a Mediterranean Power.

Mr. EDEN replied that there was no question of Bulgaria being a Mediterranean
Power.

M. MOLOTOV said he understood and that Bulgaria should be punished for the help
she had given to Germany. However, if this danger did not appear so great then the Soviet
Government agreed to two signatures. This was a concession to British public opinion if
they felt that they must have a greater share in Bulgarian affairs. The concession was greater
than that made by Mr. Eden.
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Mr. EDEN said he was grateful for the gesture. It would have a good effect, and the
Americans would also appreciate it. He could promise that the Royal Navy would keep the
Bulgarians out of the Mediterranean.

M. MOLOTOV claimed that he could not understand the American amendment. In
the case of the Control Commission in Italy and Roumania all was clear. It was clear who
was responsible for the activities of the Control Commission. Experience had shown that the
procedure was satisfactory. But what would happen if a new method were adopted for
Bulgaria after the German surrender? Three people would be responsible for the activities of
the Commission. There might be confusion which would lead to friction.

Mr. EDEN said that he did not mind so much about the machinery, but he was
anxious to make plain that we had some share in the Control Commission. Roumania was
quite different. The American proposal was possibly a way out because it was the same as in
the case of Germany. However, he was ready to look at any proposal the Soviet Government
might make provided the British and Americans were not observers as in Roumania but
played a part in the Control Commission.

M. MOLOTOV pointed out that in Germany there would be three zones of
occupation and the comparison with Germany was not clear. He had not heard of zones in
Bulgaria. Marshal Stalin had said with regard to Bulgaria that it would be right for Russia to
have 90 per cent interest in Bulgaria. If they could agree on a proportion of 90/10 then
agreement could easily be reached on all the rest.

Mr. EDEN pointed out that this would put Britain in the same position as in
Roumania.

M. MOLOTOYV agreed it would be so as regards the principle, but as regards the form
of procedure a way could be found. It might be possible to think out a way to meet American
and British wishes. For instance the conditions might be discussed in London. The
machinery of the Control Commission might be made more favourable for Britain.

Mr. EDEN said the American formula if accepted by the Soviet Government attracted
him, but he was quite ready to consider anything the Russians proposed provided Britain had
a little more in Bulgaria. It was necessary to act with speed. Delay was bad.

M. MOLOTOV agreed about the necessity for speed, but said he could not
understand the American proposal. How would three representatives act in Bulgaria where
there were no zones? Did the Americans and British contemplate stationing troops in
Bulgaria. How could there be proper management in Bulgaria after the end of the war with
Germany? It was obscure and might mean friction. He considered that 90/10 as proposed by
Marshal Stalin was fair.

MR. EDEN replied that there was no intention to station troops in Bulgaria. He
suggested there might be a permanent Soviet chairman on the Control Commission.
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M. MOLOTOV refused to consider this as the three representatives would decide
affairs which would mean that the British and Americans would have 33 per cent each and
the Soviet Union 1 per cent more than they because the President was a Soviet citizen. They
would have 34 percent instead of 90 percent. He asked what was the object of the proposal.

Mr. EDEN pointed out that in Roumania the British and American officers were
observers. For the period of hostilities with Germany they accepted that position also in
Bulgaria. But after the surrender of Germany they would like to be more than observers and
have active participation. He had no views as to how to express this. Britain’s share was less
than the Russian because Russia had troops and administration in Bulgaria.

M. MOLOTOV thought it would be a strange kind of management where no
indication was given of who was responsible.

Mr. EDEN said the main responsibility would lie with the Soviet Union.

M. MOLOTOV declared that despite this responsibility the Soviet Union was asking
for 90 percent and not 100 percent.

Mr. EDEN said he did not know much about these percentages. All he wanted was a
greater share than we already had in Roumania. In Roumania we had 10 percent which was
almost nothing.

M. MOLOTOV pointed out that the idea of percentages arose from the meeting on
the previous day, and it was worthy of consideration. Could they not agree on the following:
Bulgaria, Hungary and Yugoslavia 75/25 per cent each?

Mr. EDEN said that would be worse than on the previous day.

M. MOLOTOV then suggested 90/10 for Bulgaria, 50/50 for Yugoslavia and
Hungary subject to an amendment.

Mr. EDEN pointed out that they had not agreed about Bulgaria.

M. MOLOTOYV remarked that he thought 90/10 was an ultimatum and meant the
unconditional surrender of Moscow. However something would have to be done which
would be acceptable to all three.

Mr. EDEN said he was ready to meet M. Molotov’s wishes with regard to Hungary,
but he asked for M. Molotov’s help to get some participation in Bulgaria after the Germans
had been beaten. Possibly some other formula would be accepted. For instance we and the
Americans might each have an officer on the Control Commission who would not be as
important as the Soviet representative.

M. MOLOTOY then suggested 75/25 for Hungary.
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M. MOLOTOV continued that they had not finished with Bulgaria. If Hungary was
75/25, then Bulgaria should be 75/25 and Yugoslavia 60/40. This was the limit to which he
could go.

Mr. EDEN said he could not make this suggestion to the Prime Minister who was
greatly interested in Yugoslavia. He had been at pains to champion Tito and to furnish arms.
Any change in Yugoslavian percentages would upset him. Mr. Eden then suggested Hungary
75/25; Bulgaria 80/20; Yugoslavia 50/50.

M. MOLOTOV was ready to agree to 50/50 for Yugoslavia if Bulgaria were 90/10.
If the figure for Bulgaria had to be amended then Yugoslavia would also have to be changed.

Mr. EDEN pointed out that with regard to Hungary we had made a concession.

M. MOLOTOV repeated that Hungary bordered on Russia and not on Britain. The
Russians had suffered losses in Hungary. Marshal Stalin had mentioned this to the Prime
Minister. What did 60/40 for Yugoslavia mean? It meant the coast where Russia would
have less interest and would not interfere, but they were to have a greater influence in the
centre.

Mr. EDEN repeated that Britain had been at war with Bulgaria for three years. The
Bulgarians had treated us badly. They had beaten British and American prisoners. Russia
had been at war with Bulgaria for 48 hours, and then Britain had been warned off Bulgaria
who had received favorable treatment.

M. MOLOTOV did not agree. Russia had suffered more than Britain from the
Bulgarians, to say nothing of the last war, but the Soviet Union did not want to increase its
number of enemies. It had had the intention several times to declare war on Bulgaria. The
harm done by Bulgaria to the Soviet Union was many times greater than that done to anyone
else. Roumania and Bulgaria were Black Sea Powers. Neither of them had access to the
Mediterranean so that Britain should have little interest in those countries. M. Molotov was
not speaking of Greece. The Soviet Union was prepared to help Britain to be strong in the
Mediterranean, but hoped that Britain would help the Soviet Union in the Black Sea. That
was why they were interested in Bulgaria. Bulgaria was not Greece, Italy, Spain or even
Yugoslavia.

Mr. EDEN said that they had little interest in Bulgaria and they were therefore asking
for very little. But we had been at war with her and the question should be looked at through
British eyes. Tito happened to have been accessible and Britain had helped him with arms.
He had now come to Moscow but Britain had been kept in ignorance. When the British
public found this out there would be criticism and rightly so. He was making an arrangement
for Bulgarian troops to stay in Yugoslavia, an arrangement between Bulgaria, Yugoslavia
and Russia. A bad impression would be created and suspicion aroused as to Russian
intentions.
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M. MOLOTOV said he thought Marshal Stalin would agree to the following: 75/25
for Bulgaria, but 60/40 for Yugoslavia. He did not think that British sailors would call the
Black Sea a “sea,” but only a lake.

Mr. EDEN said it was the Soviet Union’s lake.

M. MOLOTOV remarked that he had in mind the British point of view. The Black
Sea was a lake. After such a war and the sacrifices of the Soviet Union anyone would
understand that they had to make sure of their safety. As regards Marshal Tito, he had seen
him for the first time now in Moscow and Marshal Stalin had not seen him before. His
impression was that Tito was an honest man and friendly to the Allies. There was no doubt
of it. Mr. Churchill's son had met him and would be able to speak of Tito's influence. He
would confirm what M. Molotov had said about his honesty and friendliness. Tito had not
told the British and Americans about his visit to Moscow. That was a double mistake and he
was spoiling with the British and Americans to his own detriment. In the second place he
was treating his meeting with Stalin as an advertisement to increase his prestige. In Italy he
had met the Prime Minister. M. Molotov thought he was rather provincial. He had spent too
much time in the mountains. He liked mystery, but he had no ill will.

Mr. EDEN said he was sorry that His Majesty’s Government had not been informed.
For some time Tito could not be found. But he was not in the hills. He was on the island of
Vis.

M. MOLOTOV thought he would soon be in Belgrade and his provincialism would
fade away.

Mr. EDEN pointed out that meanwhile he was making an agreement with the
Bulgarians.

M. MOLOTOV thought that if they told him what he was to do he could remedy his
mistakes. He thought they could reach agreement on that point. As regards Bulgaria M.
Molotov had proposed two alternatives. He would speak to Marshal Stalin. He asked Mr.
Eden which alternative he preferred.

Mr. EDEN said he did not care so much about the figures. He understood Russia’s
interest in Bulgaria and Britain accepted it. But Britain asked for something more there than
in Roumania. If M. Molotov did not like the American formula, any other proposed by the
Russians would be considered. For example, instead of calling it the Allied Control
Commission it might be called the Soviet Control Commission, with an American and British
representative.

M. MOLOTOV asked whether they could reach agreement in regard to Yugoslavia.
Mr. EDEN asked what they had to decide.

M. MOLOTOV claimed more weight for the Soviet Union. The Soviet Union had
nothing to do with regard to affairs on the coast. They were ready to stay on their “lake.”
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Mr. EDEN preferred to have a common policy. There were various questions to
decide. When Yugoslavia was free there was the question of the relations between Tito and
the Government in London. Were they to come together? Was there to be joint
administration? It was desirable that the Allies should pursue the same ideas.

M. MOLOTOV agreed that the question required attention. He asked Sir Archibald
Clark Kerr for his advice how to proceed.

SIR ARCHIBALD CLARK KERR thought the best way was to bring Tito and
Subasi¢ together if the Soviet Government and His Majesty’'s Government used their
influence in that direction and then they could decide what form of government they
wanted—monarchy, or republic or anything else.

M. MOLOTOYV said he would report to Marshal Stalin and thought they could find a
way out. He thanked Sir Archibald for his help.

Mr. EDEN, summing up, said the one question outstanding about Bulgaria was the
Control Commission after the war with Germany was over. They had agreed that the
discussions should take place in Moscow, and about the joint signature.

M. MOLOTOV claimed that this was bound up with Yugoslavia.

Mr. EDEN disagreed. He appealed for a settlement of the Bulgarian question within
24 hours as the delay was embarrassing in all reports.

M. MOLOTOYV said that he would do his best for a settlement in 24 hours.

Source: Public Record Office.
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RECORD OF MEETING HELD AT SPIRIDONOVKA HOUSE ON
THE 13th OCTOBER AT 5 p.m.

Present:
Prime Minister. Marshal Stalin. M. Mikolajcyk.
Secretary of State. M. Molotov. M. Romer.
Sir Archibald Clark Kerr. M. Gusev. M. Grabski.
Mr. Allen. M. Pavlov. M. Minishek.

Mr. A. Birse.

M. MOLOTOV opened the meeting by stating that there were present the
representatives of the Soviet Union, the British and American Governments and their guests
M. Mikolajczyk, M. Grabski and M. Romer. He thought it best if M. Mikolajczyk were to
begin as the meeting had been called on his initiative.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK thanked Marshal Stalin and M. Molotov for their invitation and
the Prime Minister for not having forgotten them. He referred to the memorandum of the
Polish Government which he thought would be the best basis for the solution of the Polish
problem. During his last visit to Moscow the Soviet Government had signed an agreement
with the Polish Committee for National Liberation. He took into consideration the prestige
of the Soviet Union who signed that document. On his return to London he had decided to
write the memorandum which would be a basis for re-establishing good relations with the
Soviet Union. The memorandum spoke of the relations between the two Governments and of
a plan about Polish internal affairs.

MARSHAL STALIN asked when the memorandum had been written.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK replied that it was his memorandum of the 29th August. All
the Polish people wanted to have friendly relations with the Soviet Union. The memorandum
spoke of the reconstruction of the Polish Government after the liberation of Warsaw, the
capital of Poland. The basis of the Polish Government was the five political parties:
peasants, national democratic, socialists, Christian democratic and Workers. The next
paragraph spoke of those who could not form part of the Government, namely the followers
of Pilsudski and the Fascist party. He thought that was the wisest basis which might unite all
the democratic parties. Such a government had to be nominated by the President of the
Republic. If such a government were recognized by all the Allied Powers it would establish
diplomatic relations with the Soviet Union. There would be agreement about administration
in liberated territory and after the defeat of Germany there would be a treaty regarding the
relation between the Polish forces and the Red Army. After the end of hostilities the Red
Amy would have to leave Polish territory which was self-explanatory.

THE PRIME MINISTER asked whether M. Mikolajczyk had thought of the
communications of the Red Army.
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M. MIKOLAJCZYK replied that he had. He went on to say that the next paragraph .
dealt with internal affairs. As he had declared in Paris in 1939 the Polish Government
intended to hold elections as soon as possible which would be based on a democratic vote.
Parliament would make a new Constitution and elect a new President. The memorandum
then dealt with social matters and the appointment of a National Council formed of five
parties which would act as a sort of parliament until the elections were over. It then dealt
with an alliance between the Soviet Union and Poland both for the duration of the war and in
the post-war period. The alliance would be based on cooperation in the political and
economic fields. It would respect the sovereignty of both countries and would be based on
non-interference of either of them. An important point was to exclude German interference
with Central Europe. It spoke of alliances with Great Britain, Czechoslovakia and close
friendship with the United States. Polish co-operation would act as a guarantee of peace.
Poland would participate in the occupation of Germany. The memorandum then dealt with
the frontier question. The Polish Government hoped that Poland would come out of this war
undiminished. They would like the chief centres of cultural life in the East of Poland and
raw material centres to be left to Poland. As to German territory which Poland was to
receive, they would want to move the German population from that territory. The
memorandum discussed the question of nationality and the return of all Poles deported to the
Soviet Union and arrested there. With regard to the treaty about the frontier there would
have to be an exchange of populations. Poles would have to return to Poland while
Ukrainians would return to the Soviet Union. This would be subject to the wishes of the
population. The last paragraph dealt with Military matters. They did not want a military
government in Poland and therefore did not contemplate appointing a Commander-in-Chief. .
They wanted the army subjected to the Government. The military part of the Cabinet would
deal with war questions. Their aims were as follows:—

First, the continuation of the war;

Secondly, mutual co-operation; with all Poles, with Great Britain and other countries.
An important point was that all Polish forces on any front were to continue the war against
Germany.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK explained that the memorandum had been sent to Poland and
had been approved by Polish parties.

MARSHAL STALIN asked which parties.

M. MIKOLAJCZYX said it had been approved by the four parties which formed the
basis of the present Govérnment.

MARSHAL STALIN asked whether they existed.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK replied that they did and that they formed the basis of the
Government, namely the peasants’ party, the national-democrats, the socialists and the
workers.
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MARSHAL STALIN asked whether the memorandum had been published and
whether it had been stated that the parties approved of it. Some special Party Congress might
have approved of it.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK said that the memorandum had been sent to their representatives
in Warsaw during the heavy fighting there. Without publishing details of the memorandum
he had announced that it had been approved in Poland.

MARSHAL STALIN remarked that that was not the proper way of giving approval.
It was the first time that a party had approved of anything without holding a conference.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK said that he knew that Marshal Stalin before becoming the
leader of the great Soviet nation had worked underground and understood how to speak to his
friends. This memorandum had been communicated in the same manner during the German
occupation of Warsaw and the whole of Poland had approved.

MARSHAL STALIN said that in those times when in Russia political parties were
forbidden, his party had held six congresses and twelve conferences and twenty or twenty-
five meetings of the Central Committee of the Communist Party. That was his “illegal”
experience.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK replied that he respected that way of fighting underground, but
he also respected his colleagues who had for five years of German occupation found means
to communicate with each other. He emphasised his deepest conviction that this
memorandum was the best way of uniting all forces of the Polish nation for friendly co-
operation with the Soviet Union.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that there were points in the memorandum which he
liked.

MARSHAL STALIN remarked that he had not noticed them.

M. GRABSKI said that when the memorandum had been made he went to M.
Lebedev, the Soviet Ambassador, to hand it to him and to give any necessary explanations.
It appeared to him that the Soviet Ambassador gave the matter some attention because he
called a stenographer, who made some notes. He had called the attention of M. Lebedev to
the fact that the memorandum had been approved in Poland. It did not mean that in principle
the Government had held that the Constitution of 1935 was sacred. They had criticised that
Constitution. But the Constitution of 1921 and that of 1935 provided for the appointment of
a President. While the greater part of Poland was still occupied by the Germans there was no
legal means of changing the Constitution and electing a President. They had looked upon
this as a temporary period. M. Grabski drew attention to the fact that he had defended the
Constitution of 1921 and had fought against that of 1935. He had then told the President that
if the five parties agreed to form a new Government and a new national Council in place of
Parliament, personalities would not be important.
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THE PRIME MINISTER said he had read a note on this conversation. It did not
seem to be on the same footing as the memorandum. He had understood that the
memorandum was intended to be a basis for further discussion in order to reach a
compromise between the Polish Government and the Polish Committee. For instance, it was
proposed that the five-party basis was not intended to reduce the participation of the
Committee to 20 per cent. He hoped there would be a more even balance. Was that so?

M. MIKOLAJCZYK said he was a realist and that unity between the Polish
Government and the Polish Committee was impossible. He wanted to go deeper. The basis
of the Polish Government was the four parties: the peasant party, the national-democratics,
the socialists and the workers. The Committee was based on one party although it
maintained that it had the support of others. It was best not to argue about this but to go
deeper and to base the new Polish Government on five parties; each party would have a
participation of one fifth.

THE PRIME MINISTER thought the idea had been to work out an arrangement with
the Polish Committee and to discuss the matter here. It was a matter for discussion. He
understood that M. Mikolajcyk and his colleagues were prepared to discuss it and to agree
about the Constitution with the Committee and the Soviet Government. He was making
these points because he was anxious that it should be realised that the memorandum was a
basis for discussion, a give-and-take by all parties. It was important that this should be
affirmed. He asked whether he had misrepresented M. Mikolajczyk in saying this.

M. MIKOLA.JCZYK explained that the facts were as follows: The Soviet
Government had made an agreement with the Committee. The Polish Government had been
recognised by the British and American Governments. A Polish Government would have to
be formed which would be recognised by all the United Nations.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he thought this memorandum was a basis for
discussion.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK thought it was the best proposal made so far.

MARSHAL STALIN declared that the memorandum suffered from two defects
which might prevent agreement. In the first place it ignored the existence of the Polish
Committee. How could it be ignored? One could not shut one's eyes to the facts. M.
Mikolajczyk knew that in liberated territory much work was going on. A short time ago
there had been a Congress of socialists and peasants and various questions had been
discussed. The Congress had declared itself to be in favour of the Polish Committee. The
Polish Committee have a large army. Whoever ignores these facts was an opponent of a
compromise. If one analysed the situation in Poland one would conclude that Poland had no
Government or had two Governments, which was equal to no Government. A Government
should be formed on a compromise of the two groups which called themselves Governments.
The chief defect was that the memorandum ignored the Polish Committee. In the second
place, the memorandum made no mention of the Curzon Line. If the Poles wanted good
relations with the Soviet Union, then without recognition of the Curzon Line, there could be
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no good relations. He asked, what were the advantages in the memorandum? It was a plan
for establishing relations between the Soviet Union and Poland after the war. That could
certainly find favour with anyone who wished to have good relations between Poland and
Russia, but that was a question for the future. But they had to think of the present, and in that
respect the memorandum was weak. He thought the Constitution of 1921 was better than
that of 1935. But that question could not be a stumbling-block for establishing relations
between the Soviet Union and Poland. The question of the Constitution must be left to the
Poles to decide for themselves.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that it seemed to him from Marshal Stalin's words that
a hopeful note had been struck. He understood that it was the intention of the Polish
Government to seek to reach a friendly agreement with the Polish National Council. It was
their wish. The memorandum was no obstacle to that. If agreed, it met Marshal Stalin's
criticisms. As regards the frontier he would like to make a statement explaining the point of
view of the British Government. The British Government considered that Russia had
suffered severely from the German invasion and the Russian armies were the only means by
which Polish liberation could be achieved. The British Government considered that the
Curzon Line was the only line in the East to form the boundaries of Poland. He had told this
to the Poles all through the past year. He understood, of course, that the Allies would pursue
the war against Germany to make sure that Poland received other territory in the West and in
the North—East Prussia and Silesia—other territory which, in his judgment, would be a full
balance for the changes made in the East. It would be a great seaboard, they would have the
splendid port of Danzig and valuable territory in Silesia. On this basis there could be a great
Poland. Not exactly the same as after the Versailles Treaty but nevertheless a home for the
Polish race to which Britain attached great importance—a solid home where they might live
in safety, freedom and prosperity. There was no doubt about the position of the British
Government. If they were at the peace table he would use the same arguments provided he
had the confidence of the House of Commons and the British Government.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK remarked that Marshal Stalin had said that the memorandum
ignored the Polish Committee. In certain respects it did, but not in others. It should not be
overlooked that the Polish Government had devoted all its efforts for five years to organise a
large army, air force and navy, which were now fighting on various fronts.

MARSHAL STALIN said he understood and recognised this fact.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK said that the Polish Government had organised the underground
struggle in Poland. He pointed out that the Soviet Government now recognised the Polish
Committee and not the Polish Government.

MARSHAL STALIN admitted that he did not recongise the Polish Government.
Nevertheless, he wished a compromise between them and the Polish Committee.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK said that the Polish Government did not ignore the Polish
Committee. It recognised the support of the five parties.
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MARSHAL STALIN remarked that there was not a single word in the memorandum
about the Committee.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK repeated that it went deeper, namely, to the supporters of a new
Government. If they spoke of the Congress of Parties in Poland he would like to mention
something which had not appeared in the press. The Lublin broadcast had quoted certain
names but not the names of the leaders of the parties. It had mentioned the name of
Bartnicki, who had only just become a member of this party, and the name of a certain
Antonio, who was quite unknown. Telegrams had been sent welcoming the Red Army and
expressing the wish to live in a free and independent Poland.

MARSHAL STALIN asked whether M. Mikolajcyk denied the fact that a Congress
of the Socialist party had been held.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK did not deny it and said the Congress had sent these telegrams,
and they emphasised the recognition of the Polish Government in London.

MARSHAL STALIN said that this had afterwards been refuted in the press.

THE PRIME MINISTER pointed out that they were wasting time on details and that
there were more important matters for discussion.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK agreed, but remarked that on liberated territory there were good
things and bad things. It were well if they got information about the arrests which were
being made in liberated territory.

M. Mikolajczyk went on to deal with the question of the Curzon Line. He was not in
a position to argue with Marshal Stalin or Mr. Churchill. The frontier question was not one
with which he could deal. It was for the Polish nation to decide. Marshal Stalin and Mr.
Churchill would have a wrong impression of him if he agreed to give away 40 percent of
Polish territory and 5 million Polish inhabitants.

MARSHAL STALIN remarked that it was not Polish but Ukrainian and White Russian
territory.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK asserted that there were 11 million people in those territories.

Polish soldiers abroad who were fighting against the Germans thought that they were
fighting in the hope of returning to that territory. It would be said that, while the Polish
soldiers fought, the Polish politician was giving up this territory.

MARSHAL STALIN retaliated by saying that 14 million Ukrainians and White
Russians were fighting for their land, but M. Mikolajczyk perhaps did not know of it. They
had suffered much more than all the Poles put together.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK said that he recognized the sacrifices of Ukrainian and White

Russian soldiers, but Poland, since 1939, had lost 5 million people, who had been killed by
the Germans in the war and during the occupation.
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THE PRIME MINISTER intervened to say that they all knew of Poland's sufferings.
That was why they wanted a united Polish Government to end the sufferings. If they could
not unite there would be more trouble.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK thought the solution lay in the good will of the three Great
Powers and in their making a broad gesture. If he had to voluntarily give up territory and
remove Polish forces, what guarantee would there be of freedom?

MARSHAL STALIN asked who threatened Poland's freedom? Was it the Soviet
Union?

M. MIKOLAJCZYK said he wanted freedom for all Poles.

THE PRIME MINISTER thought that arrangements were being made to transfer
those people who wished to go to Poland and vice versa.

MARSHAL STALIN said that it was already being done.

THE PRIME MINISTER pointed out that they were there to make the best possible
arrangement. Great battles were still being fought and still greater battles might have to be
fought. He hoped M. Mikolajczyk would be able to say that he recognised the fact that the
British Government supported the Soviet Government in the proposed new frontier in the
East, and that whatever regrets he might have he recognised the fact, for it was a fact, a
powerful fact. He was not asked to say what he wished, but they were thinking of the future
of Europe and the territorial arrangements produced would give Poland a natural home. He
wished to say that Marshal Stalin was just as resolute as the British and American Allies in
the wish to see Poland as a free sovereign and independent State, with the power to lead its
own life. They would expect Poland to be friendly to the Soviet Union. Of course, not every
individual would be friendly. There were always differences of opinion. But one could not
expect the Soviet Government to tolerate an unfriendly Poland after all the blood that had
been shed. The British Government supported the proposed frontier because they felt it their
duty. Not because Russia was strong but because Russia was right in this matter.

The Prime Minister went on to suggest that the following declaration might be
acceptable to the Soviet Government: M. Mikolajczyk might say that the Polish Government
accepted the decision as to the frontier for practical purposes subject to the fact that they
were not debarred from pleading at the peace conference.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK said the Polish Government had suggested a demarcation line.
He did not know that they now had to divide Poland before dealing with other questions.

MARSHAL STALIN pointed out that M. Mikolajczyk had suggested dividing the

Ukraine and White Russia. He, Marshal Stalin. was against the division of Poland but he
also opposed the division of the Ukraine and White Russia.
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M. MIKOLAJCZYK said that he had heard in public a declaration about the division
of Poland but not about the division of Germany.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that the details had not been defined but they could be
settled here. On the other hand if they made a furore about it they might stimulate German
resistance. He then appealed to M. Mikolajczyk to help the British Government in this
matter. Britain went to war because of the attack on Poland although she was ill-prepared.
She went to war to prevent the Polish people being trampled on. She would have fulfilled
her pledge if at the end of the war there existed a sovereign independent Poland enabling all
Poles to have a home. That was her position and it implied the Curzon Line and
improvements in the North and South. They could go into further details if they liked. At
this stage it was unwise for the Polish Government to separate themselves from Britain. At
the time when Britain declared war she stood alone and was nearly destroyed. It all hung
upon a hair. He therefore had a claim to ask the Polish Government to make a beau gesture
to enable them to find a road to the peace of Europe.

M. MOLOTOYV reminded the meeting about what was said in Tehran upon the Polish
question. All the participants of the Tehran Conference were present except President
Roosevelt. The President had said that he arrived to the Curzon Line but he did not wish it
published for the moment. M. Molotov considered they could conclude that the points of
view of the Soviet Union, Britain and America were the same. He had thought it necessary
to refer to this point because M. Mikolajcyk had appealed to the good will of the Three
Powers.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK asked whether the Polish frontier in the West had been
mentioned at the Tehran Conference.

M. MOLOTOV replied that the line of the Oder had been suggested and no one had
objected.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that Britain had supported it.

Mr. EDEN pointed out that it had been in their minds to allow Poland to go as far
West as she wanted up to that line.

THE PRIME MINISTER added that they would have East Prussia west of
Konigsberg.

MARSHAL STALIN added—South of K6nigsberg as well.
THE PRIME MINISTER then asked the Polish representative to consider the
following: The united Polish Government or what emerged from these discussions, in other

words, a new Polish Government, accepted the Curzon line as the de facto eastern boundary
of Poland subject to the right to discuss particular rights at the Peace Conference.
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M. MIKOLAJCZYK said that he was not authorised to make such a declaration.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that he did not want M. Mikolajczyk to say anything
that would be repudiated by his supporters, but this would be the best chance of bringing into
being a united Polish State.

M. MIKOLAJCZYCK repeated that he could not agree. He had heard that the Polish
Committee had hopes of getting Lwow.

MARSHAL STALIN remarked that the Soviet Union did not sell land. There was no
foundation for the rumour. They would not have Lwow.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that as he looked at it he thought Danzig was a
possession of equal importance. He asked Marshal Stalin whether they could not postpone
the meeting and allow their Polish friends to consider the matter a little more.

MARSHAL STALIN remarked that the Russians had in mind not the question of
Danzig but also of Stettin. They would support that.

THE PRIME MINISTER said there were two things for consideration: (1) de facto
acceptance of the Curzon Line with interchange of population; (2) a friendly discussion with
the Polish Committee so that a united Poland might be established. Changes would take
place in the future, but if it were done now that would be best for the future of Poland,
especially at this closing period of the war. He asked the Poles carefully to consider the
matter that night. He and Mr. Eden would be at their disposal. It was essential for them to
make contact with the Polish Committee and to accept the Curzon Line as a working
arrangement subject to discussion at the Peace Conference on a de facto basis.

MARSHAL STALIN wished to make it clear that the Soviet Government could not
agree. They could only accept that formula with an amendment. The Curzon Line could
only be a basis for the future frontier. They could not have one frontier to-day and another
to-morrow. The political systems of Poland and the Soviet Union were different. As the Red
Army advanced the population was restoring Soviet authority and the collective farms. To
leave the frontier question undecided would mean great hardship. The population had to be
considered. For that reason they wanted a definite frontier like they had with Roumania and
Finland. This might surprise their allies, but there was no other way out owing to the
difference in the system of government. In other respects he agreed with the formula.

M. MIKOLAJCZYK asked whether this meant that the frontier of 1939 would be
restored.

MARSHAL STALIN said it would be the Curzon Line which was well known. It
gave Poland places like Bialystok, Lonza, Przemysl, &c.

THE PRIME MINISTER remarked that no doubt Mr. Harriman would report this
overture to the President.
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RECORD OF MEETING AT THE SPIRIDONOVKA HOUSE,
ON 13th OCTOBER, 1944, AT 10 p.m.

Present:
Prime Minister. Mr. Harriman. Marshal Stalin.
Secretary of State. Mr. Stevenson. M. Molotov
Sir Archibald Clark Kerr. Mr. Gusev.
Mr. Allen. Mr. Pavlov.
Mr. Birse. Mr. Potrubach.
Mr. Potserob.

M. Berut.

M. Osobka-Morawski.

General Rola-Zymierski.

M. MOLOTOV opened the meeting by asking what would be the programme. He
introduced the Polish delegates present. At 5 p.m. that day they had had their first meeting
with M. Mikolajczyk, M. Grabski and M. Romer. M. Mikolajczyk had communicated the
contents of his memorandum of the 29th August and had suggested it as a basis for
discussion.

MARSHAL STALIN intervened to say he did not think it was necessary to go over
the ground again. The question of a compromise had been discussed between the National
Council and the Polish Government in London. That was the question.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he was glad to have the opportunity of meeting the
Lublin Committee. British aims were well known. They were to unite all Poles in the fight
against the Nazis and to create a decent country for them to live in. He was glad to see the
other Poles who had the same desire to give their people a chance of existence and freedom
to govern themselves and to put Poland in the ranks of the States of Europe. He had been
upset by the differences between the Poles. All Poles seemed to be against each other. It
was painful to see such bitter divergencies among men who had lost nearly everything, to see
differences at this moment when, instead of being comrades, they had hatred against each
other. The world would get tired of it, of these Polish quarrels. He had said so to his Polish
friends that afternoon. He was there to try and create unity, an entity of Poland as a living
thing the possibility of which had been created by the Red Army's victories. He wanted to
save suffering and to end the war. But if all the Poles made nothing of each other, the world
would get tired of it. Many men were tired of it already. The British government wanted
unity and compromise. The British Government stood by their Soviet Ally on the basis of
the Curzon Line. He hoped the Polish Committee realised the position of the British
Government. Britain had gone to war with Germany because Poland had been invaded. It
was not the cause, but one of the occasions. Britain rallied and helped the Poles with
equipment, those Poles who came out
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of the French debacle, and Marshal Stalin had sent some 80,000 Poles to Persia whom
Britain had equipped. Those men had been fighting bravely in Italy and now in France. The
British Government had received in Britain the Polish Government who had followed
Sikorski. Britain had worked with them and had abided by the ties formed in those days.
Everywhere the Poles had been in England they had won a good reputation and people liked
them. There was a warm feeling for the Poles in England. Britain, of course, recognised the
Polish Government that came to England five years ago. He thought it was also the position
of the United States Government. They could not desert the people with whom they had
worked. Britain tried to make loyalties endure to the end of the struggle. As he said to their
compatriots, Britain was nearly destroyed, it depended on the toss of a coin. Britain took
pride in adhering faithfully to her friendships and he hoped Marshal Stalin would say that
Britain deserved credit for adhering to the friendship as far as his country was concerned.
The friendship with Britain would be all the stronger because of the unity of a Poland
friendly with the Soviet Union.

M. BERUT replied that he was grateful to Mr. Churchill for his kind words. On
behalf of the Polish State which was being restored he wanted to thank the Prime Minister for
his friendly feelings towards the Polish people. The Polish people connected all their hopes
with the victory of the three Allies and wanted to do all they could to help in that victory.
The unity among Poles was the basic need for Poland. It was the slogan of the National
Council of which he was President. During their five years’ struggle with the Germans it had
been their main idea. It was not only a condition of victory but a condition for the future of
Poland. The Polish people connected their future with democratic principles which united all
the nations fighting against Germany.

In Poland, before the war, those principles of democracy had been departed from. In
1933 Poland's neighbouring State had declared against democracy and the influence of those
tendencies had had a strong influence in Poland. This had been expressed by the introduction
by the Polish Government of the new Constitution of 1935. That Constitution had been
forced upon the Polish people. The nation had not approved it and had struggled against it
because it was deprived of all its rights. The Polish Government had departed from
democratic principles.

THE PRIME MINISTER remarked that Sikorski and Mikolajczyk and their
supporters had opposed the 1935 Constitution and had been thrown out.

M. BERUT agreed but claimed that the Polish émigré Government was based on the
1935 constitution.

MARSHAL STALIN asked whether Sikorski and Mikolajczyk were against it.

M. BERUT said they had been but they had been under the influence of those circles
which governed until 1939. If it were not for the anti-national principles of the 1935
Constitution, there would have been no division between the Poles. Division had come about
owing to Mikolajczvk's Government being based on that Constitution. The first condition if
sincere unity is desired is the abandonment by Mikolajczyk and his supporters of the anti-
national Constitution of 1935. That was the wish of very many Poles.
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THE PRIME MINISTER said he understood that that was a matter for discussion.
The British did not want to interfere in a purely Polish question. He had gathered from
Marshal Stalin that he too thought it was a matter for the Poles to settle for themselves.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that Mikolajczyk had publicly declared that he was
against the 1935 Constitution. He hoped it would be removed.

M. BERUT admitted that Mikolajczyk had said this and that the 1921 Constitution
met the interests of the Polish nation. Yet all the juridical and political relations on which the
programme of Mikolajczyk’s Government was based were founded on the 1935 Constitution.

THE PRIME MINISTER said the first thing was to drive out the Germans. The
Constitution of 1921 might be improved if all the Poles worked together.

M. BERUT said that in this question they had fundamental differences with
Mikolajczyk because of the policy of the émigré government, which failed to help in the
struggle against the Germans. The policy was to sow discord between the Allies and to
spread the belief that the enemy was not only Germany but also the Soviet Union, the most
active participant in the struggle against Germany. Within the country the groups fighting
against the Nazis were now united under the National Council and were fighting as partisans:
this was contrary to Mikolajczyk's policy.

THE PRIME MINISTER hoped M. Berut appreciated that he, the Prime Minister,
was trying to remove the obstacles. Anyone could make obstacles, especially in a country
which had been devastated, but he did not think that the Constitution was not susceptible to
reasonable argument. If that was the only trouble, it would be easy.

M. BERUT admitted it was not the only obstacle, but it was a big one. The second
obstacle was Mikolajczyk's attitude to the Soviet Union. The Poles thought they could and
wished to have friendly relations with their neighbours, especially with the Soviet Union.

MARSHAL STALIN suggested the two parties might work out a joint programme of
certain basic principles taken from the Constitution and other documents.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he was convinced that the future of Poland depended
on that State being friendly with the Soviet Union. The policy of His Majesty's Government
was to help in that direction.

M. BERUT said he would draw his conclusions. The question of the Eastern frontier
should be decided with the Soviet Union not by war, but a friendly Treaty. Poland could not
claim the Ukraine and White Russian land which, by its national status, had been the cause of
disputes within Poland for the past 20 years. As Poland wanted independence, so they
wanted the Ukraine and White Russia to be independent. The Poles wanted to settle the
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question by recognising the Curzon Line as the true frontier between basic Poland and the
Ukraine or White Russia, but they asked the Great Powers to help Poland to get back the
territory which in historic times Germany had taken away. They asked for support of this
just claim.

THE PRIME MNISTER said that M. Berut was trying to break through an open door,
as this had already been agreed, although the Polish Government, or as they preferred to call
them, the Poles in London had not yet been able to accept the proposal. He associated
himself with the Soviet Government. That was another obstacle removed.

M. BERUT accepted this with gratitude. Two months ago he had had talks with M.
Mikolajczyk about the unity of the Polish nation and a compromise between the Polish
Committee of National Liberation and the Polish Government. During those talks he had put
before Mikolajczyk the conditions under which they might combine the two parts of Polish
political life. These conditions were: (1) Recognition of the 1921 Constitution and (2)
Recognition of the principles set out in the Manifesto of the Polish Committee, including
foreign policy and necessary reforms, especially the land reform for which the people had
been waiting for 200 years.

THE PRIME MINISTER suggested that if they had waited so long, they might wait
another few months until the war was over. M. Mikolajczyk had made a statement with full
proposals about land reform, but, of course, before you reform land the enemy has to be
driven from it.

M. BERUT agreed. First the enemy had to be driven out. However, land reform had
been promised by various Governments but had never been realised. The nation was now
asking whether it was realisable. Mikolajczyk two months ago had agreed to the principles
discussed and had promised to influence his supporters within the country in order to unite
them in the struggle against the Germans. He said he was returning to London to obtain
agreement on the questions discussed and promised to take decisions on them. But two
months had passed and Mikolajczyk had not carried out his promises.

Mr. EDEN observed that Land Reform had been on Mikolajczyk's programme.

M. BERUT said that many parties had had Land Reform in their programme, but the
question did not lie in the promise, but in the deed. The Polish Committee would agree with
Mikolajczyk if he agreed that the reform was to be put through at once as the country was
being liberated.

THE PRIME MINISTER said it was very hard to make a change in the system while
the armies were still there. He thought a few months would be a reasonable period to make a
Bill of such a magnitude. But he thought there could be no difference in principle about the
reform. What form it would take he could not say.

Mr. EDEN observed that it was not a big point of difference between them. The
question was whether it be done now or when Poland had been liberated.
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M. BERUT said they had in mind Land Reform in the liberated territories and as
territory was being liberated. The question was not such a difficulty—the differences were
small. In general, during the talks with Mikolajczyk, he had recognised the slogans about
democracy and admitted the questions which had been put up. But while recognising them
he seemed to hope for something else. He had agreed in principle two months ago, but had
not carried out his promises. Now he appeared ready to talk. But would he be sincere with
his promises? Mikolajczyk agreed in words, but he hesitated to put them into effect. He had
not recognised the Committee. He claimed that the only Government was that which was
based on the Constitution of 1935. He had meanwhile organised his supporters for a struggle
against the Polish Committee. He had the support of officers of the National Army (Krajowa
Armija). These were fighting cruelly against the Committee. Mikolajczyk hesitated because
he hoped by subversive ways to achieve success. That was the main difference between them
and made unity between them very difficult. There was a difference between words and
deeds.

THE PRIME MINISTER declared that if there was civil war he would be against
anyone who started it. It was the last thing he wanted. He would do everything to prevent it.

M. BERUT said the people wanted unity, but it did not appear to be Mikolajczyk's
policy. If he had agreed to a compromise two months ago, then agreement would have been
possible.

THE PRIME MINISTER emphasised that M. Berut must see that it was bad for
Poland and the larger interests of the United Nations if Britain recognised one Government
and her sworn Allies and Treaty-bound friends another. The advantage would go to the
Germans and it would be vexatious for the Allies. They were sick of the Polish problem. He
hoped they would arrange to meet Mikolajczyk with a view to finding common ground to
work together. A united Polish Government would be supported by the three Great Powers.
He felt sure Marshal Stalin would be glad to have this settled.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed. He wanted the rear of the Red Army in Poland to be
secure, for which unity was necessary. There must be no civil war.

As regards Land Reform, it was not quite so simple. If they waited a few months and
passed the reform after the liberation of Poland, it would be unacceptable to the Polish
peasants. What do the Polish politicians know about the peasants? They think the Red Army
drove the Germans to the Vistula and, in some parts, beyond. Some of the landowners had
gone with the Germans. Some had remained. Those owners who had remained were afraid
of cultivating their land because they feared that the harvest might be taken away. In
addition, they had no labour for tilling the soil. The peasants were not going to the
landowners to work, because they expected the land for themselves. As a result a good part
of the land of the landowners had remained uncultivated. The peasants were asking: "Why
wait? Give us the land. You promised it.” Because of this situation the question of Land
Reform was a practical problem. Strife might break out. The peasants would seize the land.
The authorities should issue a decree giving it to them in a legal way.
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THE PRIME MINISTER agreed that the greatest possible amount of food should be
grown. He asked whether the peasants were pressing for land of the Collective Farms or of
the landowners.

MARSHAL STALIN explained that there were no Collective Farms in those parts.
The peasants wanted to take the land and divide it among themselves.

THE PRIME MINISTER admitted it was a difficult question for the Poles as a
general issue, but for the purposes of the war all arrangements should be made to cultivate
the land, if necessary, by means of instructions from the military authorities. Of course it
would be better if the Government did this. But food had to be produced. However, he did
not think it was a matter which should divide the Poles. The Poles should settle it
themselves. This was not an obstacle, provided there was agreement on other matters.

MARSHAL STALIN observed that agents of the London Government had threatened
to introduce "terror" and had actually killed many people who had tried to put through this
reform. It disturbed him deeply. '

THE PRIME MINISTER said there was all the more reason for the two parties to get
together. He would do his best to press the Polish Government to reach agreement with the
Polish Committee, and soon, on a temporary basis if necessary pending the appearance of a
new Constitution.

M. MORAWSKI wished to explain the reasons for lack of unity. The Polish
Committee wanted unity - Mikolajczyk did not. The Committee had stated the principles for
reaching agreement - Mikolajczyk had not replied. The Committee wanted friendly relations
with the Soviet Union and so did Mikolajczyk, but while the Committee maintained those
relations, officers of the National Army were shooting soldiers of the Red Army and of the
Polish forces. The Committee wanted a strong army and had given orders for mobilisation.
Mikolajczyk had boycotted the mobilisation.

MARSHAL STALIN asked if that was true.
M. MORAWSKI said it was.

THE PRIME MINISTER pointed out that M. Morawski was being very unkind to
the Poles who were dying in various theatres of war.

M. MORAWSKI went on to say that the Committee wanted to have an army to fight
for Poland's freedom, and had organised the equipment of that army. Mikolajczyk had tried
to prevent it. The Committee wanted to rebuild the factories and workshops, but
Mikolajczyk was putting obstacles in the way. The Committee wanted to rebuild the schools,
but Mikolajczyk thought they were unnecessary.

THE PRIME MINISTER interjected that the Committee had all the virtues and
Mikolajczyk all the crimes.
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M. MORAWSKI said he could produce documents showing how the London
Government's agents were organising a struggle between Poles in Poland.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that each side had a hard case against the other. He
was not there to encourage the quarrel. He had to hear words of peace. When a country was
trampled down, all sorts of diseases appeared. It did not help the world or them. They had all
these questions in the British Parliament. People called some of his friends "Tory Landlords
" and his friends had called the other side similar names.

M. MORAWSKI claimed that to explain the need for peace it had been necessary to
explain the differences between them so that they could be overcome. In the eyes of
Mikolajczyk, Bor, who had caused so many sacrifices in Warsaw, unnecessary sacrifices,
was a hero. With the Committee he was a criminal.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he had won the admiration of millions not by his
wisdom but by his courage.

MARSHAL STALIN said he disagreed with the Prime Minister.

THE PRIME MINISTER said it had been a mistake to appoint Bor in place of
Sosnkowski.

M. MORAWSKI said the Committee admired the people who fought in Warsaw, but
Bor had different aims.

He went on to say that Mikolajczyk claimed to have the support of four Polish parties.
The Congress of those parties had voted for the Committee and against Mikolajczyk.
Mikolajczyk said he was against the "Sanneja" (followers of Pilsudski), justas  the
Committee was against it, but the difference was that the London authorities contained names
like Raczkiewicz, Bor and others. Land reform was necessary immediately, otherwise the
peasants would seize the land. The Committee wanted to do it in a legal way.

M. MORAWSKI concluded by saying the Committee wanted unity and if
Mikolajczyk wanted it he could have it but so far he had not shown any willingness.

MARSHAL STALIN asked whéther M. Berut thought unity was possible if an effort
were made to achieve it.

M. BERUT said it was possible but only on condition that the democratic
Constitution of 1921 is adopted and the introduction of immediate reforms of which they had
spoken. If Mikolajczyk’s supporters in Poland acted in favour of Polish unity the struggle
between them would stop.

MARSHAL STALIN said that there should be no civil war. He asked whether they
could meet Mikolajczyk and whether they thought it desirable.
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M. BERUT said it was desirable.

A meeting was decided upon for the following day, M. Molotov and Mr. Eden to
preside in turn. Mr. Harriman to be present.

Source: Public Record Office.
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RECORD OF MEETING HELD AT THE KREMLIN ON THE
17th OCTOBER 1944, AT 10 p.m.

Present:
Prime Minister. Marshal Stalin.
Secretary of State. M. Molotov.
Sir Archibald Clark Kerr. M. Pavlov.

Mr. Birse.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he had some notes before him on the dismemberment
of Germany.

MARSHAL STALIN interrupted to refer to the Hungarian Question. Horthy had
been arrested by the Germans.

Marshal Stalin did not propose to make public that the Hungarian Mission was in
Moscow as it might do Horthy harm. Horthy had denied that the Mission had been sent to
Moscow. The Hungarian army was disobeying the new Hungarian authorities and there was
trouble going on within the country.

THE PRIME MINISTER asked whether the army was trying to save Horthy.

MARSHAL STALIN replied that it was not: because it was too weak in Budapest.
He thought some divisions would fight hard against the Russians but some would certainly
side with the Red Army.

THE PRIME MINISTER suggested that this was not so bad.

MARSHAL STALIN replied that the situation was not good but it might have been
worse.

Mr. EDEN remarked that it was bad for the Germans internally because they would
have to tell their people that they had arrested their old Ally.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed but pointed out that the Germans did not care much for
public opinion. The situation for the Germans in Hungary would become worse because they
had no sympathisers.

THE PRIME MINISTER asked about the situation of the troops surrounded by the
Red Army.

MARSHAL STALIN replied that part had broken through, namely most of the
Germans. This referred to two armoured and three infantry divisions of which one was
Hungarian. The Red Army had been trying to close the gap and might succeed in capturing a
few divisions. This was near Debrecin. In Transylvania the enemy troops had not been
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surrounded but were in danger of encirclement (in Eastern Transylvania) Austrian garrisons
had been transferred to Hungary.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he hoped we could push forward to Lublyana Gap, as
fast as possible. The Americans were sending troops from the Italian front. The weather was
in favour of the defenders. We had 28 divisions in Italy. He did not think the war would be
over before the Spring on military grounds.

MARSHAL STALIN suggested that it would not be over before the Spring or early
Summer.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he hoped the Marshal understood what powerful blows
were being delivered by our Air forces in the West. We were destroying cities on the
ground: they were advance bases for the Army. 10,000 tons had been dropped in twelve
hours on Duisburg.

MARSHAL STALIN said that was good.

THE PRIME MINISTER said it would go on. The war had never been so cruel as
now. This war was the most cruel since the Stone Age.

MARSHAL STALIN remarked that in the Stone Age prisoners of war were eaten up.

THE PRIME MINISTER said we had made some progress since then. Talking of
eating, Britain had managed to arrange for the despatch of 45,000 tons of corned beef to the
Soviet Union to meet Marshal Stalin's request. We were also sending 11,000 Soviet
ex-prisoners of war to eat the beef.

MARSHAL STALIN said he would not like to eat Hitler. With regard to the Soviet
prisoners a great many had been made to fight for the Germans while others had done so
willingly.

THE PRIME MINISTER pointed out that that was our difficulty in separating the
two. As they had surrendered to us we had the right to speak for them and he hoped that all
would be sent back to Russia.

Dismemberment of Germany
MARSHAL STALIN asked what they were to do with Germany.
THE PRIME MINISTER asked Mr. Eden to make his suggestions.
Mr. EDEN explained that we had come to no conclusion but there were three

alternative courses :—

(1) Dismemberment, without any relation to the old German States.
(2) To use some of the old States as a basis.
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(3) To impose a permanent international control on the chief industrial area, the
Rhine, the Ruhr, the Saar and Westfalia, after Russia and the other Allies had
taken what they needed in material. This area would be separated from Germany.

MARSHAL STALIN asked: Who would exercise control over the industrial area?
MR. EDEN replied: The Allies.

MARSHAL STALIN asked if it would only be economic control.

MR. EDEN replied that it would be a general control.

THE PRIME MINISTER thought that Prussia was the root of the evil and the
Prussian military caste.

MARSHAL STALIN said that Prussia contributed the man-power.

THE PRIME MINISTER suggested the isolation of Prussia and control over the Ruhr
and the Saar. How this was to he done could be discussed later. First, it was necessary to
take away all the machinery and machine tools that Russia, Belgium, Holland and France
needed. He would support Marshal Stalin in repairing the damage to Russia’s Western
provinces which had suffered so much. It was only fair. The same applied to the
smaller Allies. This was the policy which Mr. Morgenthau had laid before the President—to
put the Ruhr and Saar out of action. Mr. Morgenthau's hatred of the Germans was
indescribable.

MARSHAL STALIN said he must be a second Vansittart,

THE PRIME MINISTER said that the President had liked what Morgenthau had said.

Continuing, he asked why the British should not make the things needed by Europe in
fair competition with other countries. After this war Britain would be the only great debtor
nation. Their foreign securities, amounting to £400,000,000 had been sold. Britain’s sterling
debts now amounted to £3,000 million. She would have to make every effort to increase her
exports to buy food. Russia's intention to take away German machinery was in harmony
with Britain's interests of filling in the gap in the place of Germany. This was only justice.

MARSHAL STALIN said he we would support any steps taken by Britain to receive
compensation for the losses she had suffered.

THE PRIME MINISTER said he would support Russia in getting the machine tools
required by the Ukraine and other ravaged regions.

The Prime Minister went on to say that they had not been thinking of Germany up to
that point. They must now devote their minds to that problem. He would not trust Germany
with the development of her metallurgy, chemical or electrical industries. He would stop
those altogether for as long as he had a word to say, and he hoped for a generation at least.
He had not thought about the division of Prussia, but only of its isolation and of cutting off
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those two centres, the Ruhr and the Saar, from Prussia. They were centres of war production
and machine building.

MARSHAL STALIN asked if he was to understand that Mr. Churchill's suggestion
provided for an independent State of Prussia after the cession of territory to Poland.

THE PRIME MINISTER replied that Poland would get a slice of East Prussia and
Silesia. The Kiel Canal would be neutralized. The Ruhr and the Saar would be put
permanently out of action.

MARSHAL STALIN asked whether the Ruhr and the Saar would be separate States.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that he had only been thinking of destroying industry.
He had a vivid memory of the last war. We had stopped Germany from having an army,
navy and air force. We had destroyed her weapons.

MARSHAL STALIN interrupted to say that it was unwise to destroy Germany's
weapons. The navy should not be sunk and artillery should not be blown up. They might be
useful against Japan.

THE PRIME MINISTER suggested that Russia could take what she wanted.
MARSHAL STALIN thought Britain could use some of Germany's ships.

THE PRIME MINISTER replied that Russia could do the same, but in the future air
would be stronger than the fleet.

MARSHAL STALIN said that Great Powers could not be without navies. Germany's
mistake was that she had wanted to conquer Europe although she had no fleet. The point was
she had no fuel in Europe and was short of food, and a fleet was necessary to carry fuel and
food. Germany had not understood this.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that Britain intended to maintain a strong fleet and a
strong air component. She would welcome the appearance of a strong Russian fleet on all
the seas. She would create no obstacles to Russia's having a fleet.

THE PRIME MINISTER went on to say that after the last war Rathenau had told the
Germans after they had been deprived of their army and navy that it would not matter. He
would arrange factories and make new weapons. If factories were arranged Germany would
become a great Power quicker than any of the others. Briining carried on with this policy,
but no one dared go into production until Hitler appeared. Hitler did not invent this theme.
Rathenau and Briining had thought of it. Hitler only pulled the lever. It should not happen
again. Industrial disarmament was the important thing. To begin with, the machine tools
must be taken away.
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MARSHAL STALIN agreed and added that all metallurgical works should be
destroyed. They were difficult to restore. Germany produced four times more pig iron than
England.

A map of Germany was then produced.

Marshal Stalin asked whether France wanted access to the Rhine.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that France wanted the West bank of the Rhine
internationalised. Czechoslovakia was ready to give up a small area near Eger, but wanted
some readjustment of the frontier in the North for strategic reasons.

The Prime Minister suggested that Bavaria and Austria should go together with
Vienna as the capital and form a separate State with Wiirtemberg and Baden. There would
be three States in Germany: Bavaria and Austria - soft treatment. Prussia - hard treatment.
The industrial area on the Rhine - under international control. Saxony, when stripped, might
go to Prussia.

Mr. EDEN pointed out that if in the future Bavaria again wanted to combine with
Prussia she might draw Austria after her.

MARSHAL STALIN said that Hungary would have to remain a separate State.
Neither the Hungarians nor the Slavs should ever form part of any German State. They were
too weak and Germany was too. cultured. Germany would quickly dominate them. Marshal
Stalin said that the small nations in Europe should be made to police Germany. The Poles
would be glad to take a hand in the occupation. The Poles deserved to get territory on their
Western borders. They had suffered much for over a century.

THE PRIME MINISTER asked what the Marshal thought of Poland, Czechoslovakia
and Hungary forming a separate grouping.

MARSHAL STALIN asked whether it would be an entente.

THE PRIME MINISTER explained that it would be more than an entente, it would be
a Zollverein. The evil in Europe was that travelling across it one used many different
currencies, passed a dozen frontiers, many customs barriers, and all this was a great obstacle
to trade. He wanted to see Europe prosperous and some of the old glory return to her. In this
way perhaps hatred would die. He thought this might be achieved by groupings for
commercial and trade purposes.

MARSHAL STALIN suggested that this question might crop up somewhat later but
the immediate point was that after this war all States would be very nationalistic. The
Hungarians, Czechs and Poles would first want to build up their national life and not restrict
their own rights by combining with others. The feeling to live independently would be the
strongest. Later, economic feelings would prevail, but in the first period they would be
purely nationalistic and therefore groupings would be unwelcome. The fact that Hitler’s
régime had developed nationalism could be seen in the example of Yugoslavia where Croats,
Montenegrins, Slovenes, &c., all wanted something of their own. It was a symptom.
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M. MOLOTOV said that after the last war many new small States had been formed.
Many of them had failed. It would be dangerous to go to the other extreme after this war and
to force States to form groups. It would be impossible for Czechs and Hungarians to unite
and to find a common language immediately after his war. Nor could the Czech and Poles do
so. They all had a great desire for an independent life. The fact was that their independence
had been of short duration.

THE PRIME MINISTER hoped that some of the young men present would see it.

MARSHAL STALIN thought that Mr. Churchill's suggestion would be possible in
the future but not just yet.

THE PRIME MINISTER suggested that Germany should he deprived of all her
aviation.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed and suggested that neither civil nor military flying
should be allowed. All training schools for pilots should be forbidden.

THE PRIME MINISTER said that Mr. Morgenthau had suggested that Germany
should have no merchant shipping. She should be made to hire ships from other countries to
carry her goods.

MARSHAL STALIN agreed and said that a merchant fleet provided manpower for
the navy. The absence of a merchant fleet prevented the creation of a navy.

THE PRIME MINISTER thought that there was very little divergence of opinion
between them. It was a pity that when God created the world he had not consulted them.

. MARSHAL STALIN said it was God's first mistake.

Mr. EDEN suggested that M. Gusev should get on with the preparatory work in the
E.A.C.

MARSHAL STALIN said that the principles should be laid down by the three
governments and that the E.A.C. should be given some guidance.

THE PRIME MINISTER hoped that there would be no difficulty in convincing the
Chinese.

M. MOLOTOV remarked that they were rather difficult and could not settle their own
affairs.

MARSHAL STALIN said he thought they were careless. The Russians had offered
to build a factory for them. The Chinese said they would report to their government and for
ten years they have been reporting and nothing had been done.




THE PRIME MINISTER suggested that they should now shape their views and tell
the United States what progress had been made in focusing their points of view.

MARSHAL STALIN said he had one more question to discuss and that was about the
Straits. He wanted the Prime Minister to remember this subject. ’

THE PRIME MINISTER asked Marshal Stalin to state secretly what improvement he
suggested. In principle he was of opinion that the Montreux Convention ought not to remain
in force.

MARSHAL STALIN said he only wanted Mr. Churchill to bear the matter in mind as
the Soviet Government would raise it. There would be no great divergence between them
and no extravagant demands. The Marshal to send in his requirements. Moreover, under the
Convention Japan had the same right as Russia.

THE PRIME MINISTER remarked that the Suez Canal was open to warships to pass
in peace and war.

MARHAL STALIN said it was intolerable that Turkey if threatened was entitled to
close the Straits. Someone else should decide. As regards constructive proposals Marshal
Stalin would make them in due course.

M. MOLOTOV raised the question of reparations from Hungary.

MARSHAL STALIN said that if we found £400 million too much would we agree to
200,000,000 dollars to Russia and 100,000,000 dollars for the other countries concerned?
THE PRIME MINISTER and Mr. EDEN thought that was acceptable.

Source: Public Record Office.
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Minutes of the PWP CC Meetings on 22 October 1944;
Bierut's Account of the Conference
with Stalin and Churchill Held on 13 October 1944,
and of a Conversation with Stalin on 18 October 1944

Minutes of a CC Meeting, Held on October 22, 1944

Present: Wiestaw, Tomasz, Jakub, Franek, Zawadzki, Radkiewicz, Marek. In the latter part
of the meeting took part comrades Ochab and Romkowski.

The agenda:

1) Information on a visit of the PKWN delegation in Moscow’

2) Military matters

3) Questions relating to Puchata®, Gabara® and Stariczyk®, or about the morale of party
members in the state apparatus.

An account of point 1 is being given by com. Tomasz [Bierut]: Contrary to what the
international press was reporting the Polish question has been a secondary matter at the
Moscow meetings and served Churchill merely as a supporting argument in Anglo-Soviet
talks’. The fact that there have been no official talks between the PK WN and Mikotajczyk’s
delegations testifies to this®. The main purpose of Churchill’s visit to Moscow was a Balkan
question. Due to certain moves by Turkey at the border with Bulgaria (concentration of
troops) and an escape of German troops to Bulgaria, which didn’t intern them, the USSR
declared war on Bulgaria’ without any consultations with Britain. The latter one had been
frightened about Greece, the Mediterranean and the Adriatic, about a possible bolshevization
of the Balkans and that is why he came to see Stalin.

Stalin ordered the arrival of the PK WN delegation on Churchill’s request.

} The delegation of KRN and PKWN (respectively National Domestic Council and the Polish Committee for
National Liberation) was in Moscow from October 11-19, 1944. It was composed of: B. Bierut, E. Osébka-Morawski and
general M. Rola-Zymierski).

“ No information is available.

° Bronistaw Gabara (1891-1956) - at the time a prison chief in Lublin. Charged by the chief of Public Security
Division of PKWN on October 3, 1944 with misuse of power, acts unworthy of a public security employee (drinking sprees,
sex with volksdeutsch women prisoners), put before a military tribunal and then sent to a penalty company.

¢ No definite data have been established.

7 Winston Churchill was in Moscow from 9 to 19 October 1944.

¥ The delegation of the Polish Government in Exile, which stayed in Moscow from October 12-21, 1944, was
composed, besides S. Mikolajczyk, of minister of foreign affairs Tadeusz Romer and chairman of the National Council

Stanistaw Grabski.

? It took place on September 5, 1944.
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At the Stalin-Churchill-Mikolajczyk conference, with the participation of Eden,
Molotov and a plethora of interpreters;'® whose objective was to get acquainted both England
and the Soviets with the position of the Mikotajczyk government about the possibility of
reaching an understanding with the PKWN with Stalin’s and Churchill’s assistance -
Mikolajczyk, according to the accounts of com. Stalin, put forward a thesis that the basis for
such an agreement should be a memorandum directed by him to the Soviet government
shortly after his last meeting with Stalin."’

Stalin responded to Mikolajczyk, that in that memorandum the PKWN had not been
mentioned. Which means that mister Mikolajczyk tries to close his eyes to the reality. In
talks with the Soviet Union this memorandum cannot be a subject for discussion. He
suggested to Mikotlajczyk to reach an understanding with the PKWN. However, the Soviet
Union is interested mostly in Mr. Mikolajczyk’s position regarding Poland’s eastern borders.

On this question Mikolajczyk has taken a challenging position, dissenting to the
Curzon line.

In that case Churchill intervened and told Mikotajczyk that the question of eastern
borders had been agreed upon between England and the USSR, and thus, it could not be a
subject for negotiations by Mikolajczyk.

After that statement by Churchill, Mikotajczyk came down a peg or two, put forward
a proposal to leave with Poland Lwéw and Borystaw. Stalin rejected that proposal.

At the Stalin-Churchill conference, in the presence of Molotov, Eden, Kerr,12
Harriman,'® and the whole plethora of interpreters and officials,* Molotov introduced Bierut
to Churchill. The latter one was dragging his feet in greeting him, but after a few second
came up and shook Bierut’s hand, saying he had heard a lot of good things about him and is
delighted to have an opportunity to meet him.

Churchill took the floor at the opening of the meeting. He is appealing for mutual
understanding among the Poles, which lies both in the interests of the Poles, as well as those

"9 That conference was held on October 13, 1944,

! Reference is made to a memorandum of the Polish Government in Exile of August 29, 1944 on the conditions of
resuming Polish-Soviet diplomatic relations. The memorandum was handed over by S. Mikolajczyk to the USSR's
Ambassador to the émigré governments in London, Victor Z. Lebiedev on August 30, 1944, following Mikotajczyk’s visit in
Moscow on August 6-9, 1944. For the text see: Sprawa polska w czasie Il wojny swiatowej na arenie migdzynarodowe;.
Warszawa 1965, pp. 575-577.

12 Archibald Clark-Kerr (1882-1951), British Ambassador in Moscow.

¥ William Averrel Harriman (1891-1986) - U.S. Ambassador in Moscow. He participated in the Soviet-British
talks as an observer.

' That conference was held on October 13, 1944 towards the evening. W. Churchill in his account of that

conference evaluated very critically the “Lublin Poles”. See: W. Churchill: The Second World War. Vol. V1, London, 1954,
p- 205.
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of the alliance bloc. He is glorifying Poland and emphasizes great appreciation of England
for Poland.

Bierut thanked for recognition for the Polish people. The Polish nation has heroically
fought and is still fighting for a democratic Poland and doesn’t want a return to the pre-war
relations in Poland. The people reject the Constitution of 1935 and put it as one of the
conditions for reaching an understanding with Mr. Mikolajczyk.

Churchill: Mikolajczyk is also for a democratic constitution, but first one needs to
expel the Germans.

Bierut: We also want to expel the Germans and part of Poland is already free. Thus,
Poland needs to be built on the new foundations. The second condition is agricultural reform.
The Polish people have been waiting three hundred years for this moment, which has allowed
them to possess the land on which they are toiling.

Churchill: If they have been waiting for three hundred years, then they can wait till
the war is over. Now is not the time for reforms.

Stalin responded to this observation, saying he doesn’t agree with Churchill on this
issue. Some part of the landowners has escaped from Poland, part is sabotaging land
cultivation, causing unrest and this has to be terminated so that the country will have bread
and there will be peace in the back-up of the military front-line. The matter has already
become ripe for consideration.

Churchill: Perhaps the military should order land cultivation, because once the
peasants are given the land, it will be difficult to change owners.

Stalin: Nobody is going to take back the land from the peasants.

Bierut: The third condition is the question of a fratricidal warfare, initiated by a
reactionary group, which wants to spread disorder in the country. He demands from
Mikotajczyk to oppose this action. The fourth condition is the question of Poland’s eastern
borders. Mutual harmony with Poland’s neighbors, particularly with the Soviet Union, as
well as the interests of Poland demand the recognition of the Curzon line.

Churchill says that he will influence Mikotajczyk and hopes that he will succeed in
persuading him to accept that border.

The second speaker was Osdbka-Morawski, who sums up Bierut’s arguments and
shows what the PK WN wants and what Mikolajczyk wants. At one point Churchill interrupts
Osobka-Morawski, arguing that he (Osébka) also didn’t behave as he should have. Osobka
asks not to be interrupted, as he will come up to those matters. Churchill demonstratively
gets up and leaves the table to drink a glass of water. Drinking water he hesitates some time
and then returns back to the table. Os6bka, who interrupted his speech, is resuming it,
encouraged by Molotov. Churchill interrupts it again when talk is about Bér [Komorowski]
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and states that the whole world considers Bér a hero. Os6bka-Morawski: and the Polish
people consider him a traitor.

Stalin doesn’t agree that Bor is a hero, as he caused huge, unnecessary losses to the
Polish people by the Warsaw uprising.

Churchill retreats, saying that the Mikolajczyk government made thoughtless step in
nominating Boér to the position of supreme commander.

Stalin, summing up the conferences’ results, states that from the PKWN side there has
been shown a willingness to reach an understanding with Mr. Mikolajczyk, therefore he
suggests to hold a meeting of the PKWN delegation with that of Mikoljczyk’s to reach an
understanding, with the participation of Eden to exercise pressure on Mikolajczyk, and
Molotov to exercise pressure on the PKWN, and Harriman as a mediator. This was agreed
upon. The conference was then ended.

The next day the scheduled meeting didn’t materialize, as Churchill allegedly was not
feeling well. In the evening there was a festive performance in a theater, which was attended
by Churchill with the British and American envoys, as well as Stalin with other members of
the Soviet government, all sitting in special galleries. Our delegation took its place below.
Mikolajczyk didn’t get a ticket. When the public at some point realized that Stalin was in the
theater, it made him a huge ovation. Stalin left his lodge, leaving Churchill alone. The
ovation continued and Molotov leaned out clapping hands, what even more intensified the
ovation. Churchill was entranced, thinking that it was all for him. At the break, Bierut and
Rola-Zymierski left the performance hall. When Zymierski spotted some French general and
walked toward him, leaving Bierut alone, the journalists approached Bierut for an interview.
Bierut refused, saying that it’s not customary to give interviews before negotiations are
concluded. Nevertheless, journalists were asking various questions. They forced him to agree
to give to the press a statement that he is an “optimist”, that “considering the fact that the
matter of an agreement between the PKWN and Mr. Mikotajczyk have taken in their hands
such people like Stalin and Mikolajczyk, one can be an optimist”.

There were no results on Sunday and Monday.'® The scheduled meeting didn’t take
place. Apparently Mikolajczyk had been waiting for the news about the uprising in the
country. On Tuesday Mikotajczyk’s secretary came to Bierut’s hotel with a proposal to hold a
private meeting. A discussion aroused regarding the place of such a meeting. It was agreed
that the meeting will be held at 5 p.m. in a café. Bierut and Mikoltajczyk met in the hall and
set down at the table. Mniszek,'® Mikolajczyk’s secretary and a major, Bierut’s adjutant,'” set
down separately.

'S It means the 15" and 16" of October 1944,

18 Aleksander Mniszek (born 1904) - a diplomat, was, among other, counselor of the Polish Embassy in the USSR
in 1941-1943,

17 Quite possibly. reference is made to major Ignacy Wrzos, who in October 1944 was named chief of the Military
Cabinet of chairman of the KRN (National Domestic Council).
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Conversation of Bierut with Mikotajczyk. Bierut: How to explain the delay of the
meeting?

Mikotajczyk: By the fact that Stalin presented the question of borders in a way that he
couldn’t personally decide on it. He had to get in touch with London and only then continue
the talks.

Bierut: Thus, should we be waiting till he comes back from London?
Mikotajczyk: No, it may take place very soon.
Bierut: Even so, you couldn’t have been surprised by the Curzon line.

Mikotajczyk: The Curzon line had two variants: A and B. Variant B had provided
leaving Lwoéw and Borystaw with Poland. Since Churchill supported Stalin with variant B, so
he is surprised and has to communicate with colleagues. He thinks that the situation for
Poland is tragic, though one has to acknowledge it. One has to prepare the American Polonia
for this and take into consideration its opinion. He shows his great influence among the
Polonia.

Bierut: I propose to put the matter clearly: there are two trends in Europe: a
democratic one and reactionary. Societies are divided likewise inside their countries. In
Poland the mainstay of the reactionary camp is the London government, based on the
Constitution of 1935. Everything that goes with that government, like it or not, has to be
included into the reactionary camp. He, Mikolajczyk, is right now himself a banner for the
Polish reaction, independent of what he himself thinks. He [Bierut] reminds him that at their
first meeting'® he essentially recognized the PKWN manifesto, but didn’t draw from it any
consequences. He suggests to him to cut off himself from the reaction, cut off from its camp
and come over to the democratic camp, i.e. reach an understanding with the PKWN,
independently of the position of other members of his government.

Mikotajczyk defends members of his government as democrats. All of them are
honest, he even has in his desk a letter from Raczkiewicz, who is expressing willingness to
depart any time. He has removed Sosnkowski.

Bierut: But you have nominated Bor.

Mikolajczyk: He is a military, honest man. He doesn’t understand why we are still
talking about the Warsaw Uprising. They had submitted plans for the uprising already several
months before to the general staff of the alliance. And it was not their fault that the Soviet
Union had not been notified about it. Besides, he asks who in his cabinet is a reactionist?

'* 5. Mikolajczyk met with the PKWN representatives in Moscow on 6 and 7 August 1944,
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Bierut: How about Kukiel'® and rev. Kaczynski®®.

Mikolajczyk: Kukiel had this misfortune that he had let himself get involved in the
Katyn affair.2! Rev. Kaczynski is a red mason. Apart from that, there are strong intellects in
his cabinet, while on our side, except for Bierut, Wasilewska and Jed.rychowski22 - these are
people who do not qualify for the government. He has high praise for Komarnicki® as an
outstanding intellectual, and also for Seyda®* and others.

Bierut: You are also supported by Bielecki.”’
Mikotajczyk - It's not true.

Bierut: The whole reactionary camp is marching under your banner to the fight
against democracy.

Mikotajczyk: It’s not my fault. He speaks of KwapiriskiZ® as a fool. Anyway, he
thinks that as far as people are concerned, we could reach an understanding. From among the
peasant leaders he has such people as Domaniski,?’ Bieri’ 2 and Mierzwa,?’ who arrived now

1% Marian Kukiel (1885-1971) - a historian, brigadier general, at that time minister of national defense in the Polish
Government in Exile.

20 Rev. Zygmunt Kaczyniski (1894-1953) - a leading figure in the Labor Party, at that time minister for religious
affairs and public education in the Polish Government in Exile.

21 M. Kukiel as minister of national defense issued a communiqué regarding the missing Polish soldiers in the
USSR. See “Dziennik Polski” of April 16, 1943, No. 851, p.1.

%2 Stefan Jedrychowski (born 1910) - then a PPR activist, chief of the Information and Propaganda Division of
PKWN, and at the same time representative of PKWN in Moscow.

B Waclaw Komarnicki (1891-1954) - a leading figure in the National Party (SN), then a minister of justice in the
Polish Government in Exile.

24 Marian Seyda (1879-1967) - an activist of SN, at the time minister for parliamentary affairs in the Government
in Exile.

2 Tomasz Bielecki (1901-1982) - the chairman of Foreign Affairs Committee of the National Camp.

% Jan Kwapiriski (1885-1966) - then chairman of the Foreign Affairs Committee of PPS (Polish Socialist Party),
vice premier and minister of industry, trade and shipping in the Government in Exile.

27 Jan Domanski (1898-1978) - a member of the Central Leadership of the Peasant Movement. On may 30, 1944
sent to the West as a political emissary of the peasant movement by a British plane which landed near Tarméw. Returned to

Poland in the summer of 1945.

28 Adam Biesi (born 1899) - then member of the Central Leadership of the Peasant Movement and of the National
Council of Ministers.

2 Then member of the Central Leadership of the Peasant Movement and the Council of National Unity.

Both Bieni and Mierzwa remained in Poland during World War I1. Apparently the transcript of Mikolajczyk’s
description was not precise.
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from the homeland to London. He has also many good peasant leaders in the country.
Regarding the Constitution of 1935: he is not supporting it. As if to prove it, he is talking of a
democratic electoral law, which thay have just worked out in London. He promises to send it
to Bierut. He supports agricultural reform similar tp the one the PK WN supports, but he
doesn’t agree on the price of land, which, in his opinion is set too high by the PKWN?’. He is
proposing a 30-year lease rate as a price of land.

Bierut is proving to him that it would be more expensive than what the PKWN has
set. He asks him why doesn’t he want to bring himself to such a political step which would
cut him off from the reactionaries.

Mikolajczyk: Asks what should he do?

Bierut: Two months ago we proposed you to take over the position of prime minister
of PKWN and to cut yourself off from the reactionaries.

Mikotajczyk: You are giving me only four ministerial portfolios. We are standing on
the position of our memorandum.

Bierut: Thus, you do not recognize the PK WN.

Mikolajczyk: It’s not true, it's wrong interpretation, we recognize all parties making
up the PKWN.

Bierut: The memorandum cannot be a basis for negotiations, as PKWN exists,
governs, and only on this basis—recognition of PKWN—can we talk.

Mikolajczyk: But you are giving us too few seats.

Bierut: And what do you want?

Mikolajczyk: Half of the seats.

Bierut: If you cut off from the reactionaries and come to the PKWN, then you can
gain the whole party and have not just four mandates but a majority in PKWN. If you

approve the total PK WN Manifesto, you will have the whole government behind you.

Mikolajczyk is squabbling about his influence in the country, thinking that he enjoys
a majority and cannot agree to having just one-fifth of the ministerial seats.

Bierut: You cannot prove this now. Only in the country at party congresses one will
be able to assess that. I am proposing you one-fourth of the seats in the government.

3% A decree by PKWN from September 6, 1944 provided the price for the land granted equivalent to the value of
one year’s crop from that land. It was assumed that on the lands of category I1I this will be 15 quintals of rye (=6000 zl.).




Mikotajczyk regrets that he won’t be able to arrive in London with something more
consoling for his colleagues.

Bierut: Till you stop traveling to London for authority it will be difficult to reach an
agreement. Shell we thus be parting for good?

Mikolajczyk: I don’t think so.

After this conversation Mikolajczyk had another talk with Stalin. He was complaining
about the small number of ministerial seats that we had offered. On the question of borders
he was conciliatory. He asked Stalin to allow Kwapinski to return to Poland. Stalin referred
him on this matter to the PKWN.

A communiqué has been agreed upon with Molotov>'. It refers to the Mikolajczyk-
Bierut conversation, as Mikotajczyk had not reserved himself the right to secrecy.

Besides there were two meetings of the delegation with Stalin. One was right after
our arrival, the second one later. Stalin was asking if we want to talk with Mikotajczyk.

Bierut: We would like to reach an understanding, but we would prefer to have it later.

It was agreed with Stalin to give 1/3 of ministerial positions to the London people,
with Mikotajczyk taking the position of prime minister. In addition create two deputies, i.e.
[Os6bka]-Morawski from the PPS and....from the PPR. Stalin liked such idea of a presidium.
There was an extensive discussion about what other positions should be given to the
Londoners. Since it was proposed that all important positions should be held in our hands,
Molotov observed that also more important positions should be given to them.

It was agreed to give them: 1) premiership, 2) reconstruction of the country, 3) war
compensations, 4) finance, 5) culture and arts, 6) social welfare.

Stalin thought that we should take into consideration that they might propose
Zeligowski.*? It might be acceptable, provided that Zymierski would be his deputy, situated
in the country and a political chief, while Zeligowski would be staying for some time abroad.
Besides, he is an old man and one can cope with him. It was agreed that if Mikotajczyk
doesn’t come up with such proposal, then our delegation will.

With regard to a president, Stalin suggests that Bierut should become a non-party
man. At an attempt of protest Stalin said it was necessary to do so for the sake of the nation
and it must be done. Stalin referred to a conversation that he had had with Churchill about
Bierut. Churchill had asked Stalin if he knew Bierut well. Stalin responded that he had

3! For the communiqué see “Rzeczpospolita” of October 21, 1944, No. 79, p. 1.

32 Lucjan Zeligowski (1865-1947) - Lieutenant-General, then member of the National Council of the Republic of
Poland in London.
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known him from meetings as chairman of the KRN. Churchill noticed that according to his
information Bierut had been a political prisoner and as such had been deported to the Soviet
Union.» Thus, he cannot be president of Poland, as he doesn’t give a guarantee of
objectivity, being in debt toward the Soviet Union. Stalin replied that he knew nothing about
it, whereas he knows that as late as in 1939 Bierut parted with the Communist Party, as he
didn’t feel comfortable with it ideologically. Since that time Bierut had not been a party
member. This being so, Stalin states to Bierut to notify his party that he is resigning, taking it
on his conscience.

Stalin was somewhat irritated by the news of desertion of the 31% regiment.?* He is
reproaching us that we wanted to put aside the Red Army, that we are treating it as a foreign
army, etc. He immediately gave an order by telephone to Rokossowski>® and the NKVD in
connection with the situation in Poland. At one point he said that we had misled ourselves
and him in appraising the adversary’s strength. Now we have to take the adversary by the
head and not defend the AK, like once Gorki fell out with Lenin on the question of
repression. Nevertheless, he was of the opinion, recalling Marx, that it also has good sides, as
counter-revolution stimulates revolution. Without it revolution is losing action. We will also
be stimulated by counter-revolution.

In connection with the news on preparations of the AK to actions, he agreed that
Bulganin should go to Lublin. He didn’t consent to Zymierski’s trip.

Generally Stalin was trying to create a very friendly atmosphere, which was also true
of the evening spent in wine drinking. At one moment Stalin corrects Beria’s toast,*® saying
the toast should sound as follows: “Long live the Slavs, headed by a democratic Poland, that
should unite them in a great Slav union”.

Talking of the current personnel composition of the PKWN, Stalin suggests that now
is the time to get rid of unreliable people and introduce a good element. Speaking of Witos he
said it was good that we got rid of him. He knows very well that Witos is a reactionary agent.

% Bolestaw Bierut, served time several times for his communist activity, arrested last time in 1933 was not
covered by an exchange of political prisoners between Poland and the USSR in the years 1921-1932.

3 A massive desertion of soldiers of the 31* regiment of infantry took place on October 12, 1944, at a time when
the PKWN delegation was in Moscow. Already on October 16" commander-in-chief of the Polish Army issued order to
dismantle the regiment. On October 24 an order was issued on behalf of the commander-in-chief (signed by general Karol
Swierczewski) in connection with a verdict of the Mititary Court of the 2" Army against the officers of that regiment (6
death sentences, but ultimately not executed). That order recommender to use in the future severe punishment for desertion
and to upgrade political education (“to use all necessary measures to protect a sound soul of the Polish soldier from
influences of the hitlerite-AK agentura”). See also 1. Blum: Sprawa 31 Pufku Piechoty. “Wojskowy Przeglad Historyczny”,
1965, No. 3, pp. 40-73.

35 Soviet marshal Konstanty Rokossowski (1896-1968) at that time was in command of the I Belorussian Front of
the Red Army.

3 Lavrenti P. Baria (1899-1953) - at the time associate member of Politburo of the VKP(b), deputy chairman of
the Council of People’s Commissars, member of the Committee of State Defense of the USSR.
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Asked if the present talks would not weaken the inter-Atlantic alliance, he said no, on
the contrary, they will strengthen the alliance.

Churchill was frightened by advances of Soviet forces in the Balkans. He reassured
him by saying the Soviet Union had no intention to enter to Greece, or push through to the
Adriatic. We don’t need the Adriatic. We have a plan to strike at Germany from the South.
We have a Hungarian delegation here, asking for peace. We will strike at Germany through
the Moravian Gate. We will also strike at Prussia. In this way we will liberate Poland. There
is a need for time, time to prepare such operation. He says Roosevelt is not happy about
Churchill’s trip to Moscow, he doesn‘t have time to come here personally, as he is afraid of
elections and has to take care of it.>” He would not like to see England influencing the course
of events without him and therefore he is dissatisfied with the Churchill visit.

Regarding the question of reconstruction of industry in Poland, and particularly if
there is a need for reconstruction of armaments industry, he sais that armaments industry is
the best school for cadres. It should be reconstructed with a view of educating cadres and
independence of Poland.

To a question on the organization of a planned economy in Poland he said it is the
most difficult task. Even in the Soviet Union the planned economy has made mistakes.

Kuropatkin38 lost the war with Japan because he didn’t have transportation. He asked
the tsar to increase the number of trains on the Eastern Line from 4 to 7. The tsar could not
do it. The Soviet Union built a new, second track, designed for 35 pairs of trains round the
clock, but it turned out that the plan had been worked out so poorly that only 17 pairs can
pass. Other chains of transportation connected with it had not been satisfactorily taken into
account and therefore the works provided for in the plan had not been realized. That is how
difficult it is to plan.

He was interested in our economy, what do we have for exports, etc. He was making
plans for coal exports and strongly supported the idea of developing river shipping. He was
asking about professional skills of intelligentsia. He recommended to take over all people
from behind the front line, as they don’t already have any significance there.

Stalin also suggested to include PKWN representatives to every Soviet mission going
abroad to Soviet diplomatic missions, what should facilitate our work.

Discussion

37 Reference is here to the U.S. elections set for November 7, 1944. Franklin Delano Roosevelt was elected then
for the fourth time.

38 Alexei N. Kuropatkin (1848-1925) - adjunct-general, commander of the Manchurian Army, later commander-
in-chief of the Russian Army in the Russian-Japanese war of 1904-1905.
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Com. Berman informs that Wilanowski*® communicates that a crisis among the
emigres is growing. A new PPS is being formed.*® There are also possibilities to form a .
Peasant Party, corresponding to the Peasant Party belonging to the PK WN.

Sommerstein®! said that there are 5 people in the PKWN who will go with
Mikolajczyk.

Com. Tomasz: Janusz said to me that Kotek [-Agroszewski] demands his (Janusz’s)
resignation. Presidium of the Peasant Party (SL) demanded that Bertold and Janusz leave the
PKWN. Janusz demanded a resolution in writing. Bertold is undecided. Kotek refused.

Source: Protokoty posiedzen Biura Politycznego KC PPR 1944-1945, edited by A.
Kochanski, pp. 30-37.

Translated by Jan Chowaniec.

3% Stefan Wilanowski (1900-1978) - an attorney, activist of the peasant movement, at that time president of the
Polish Slavic Committee in London, representative of PKWN in London from October 7, 1944.

40 Reference is made to a group headed by Tadeusz Cwik, Julian Hochfeld and Bogustaw Kozusznik.

4! Emil Sommerstein (1883-1957) - a Zionist activist, at that time head of the War Reparations Department of
PKWN, chairman of the Central Committee of Jews in Poland.
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Record of the Conversation of Comrade 1.V. Stalin with
the General Secretary of the CC French Communist Party, Comrade Thorez

19 November 1944, 8:00 pm

Present at the conversation were Comrades Molotov and Beria.

After an exchange of mutual greetings com. Stalin asks when com. Thorez intends to travel
to France.

Com. Thorez responds that he expects to fly from Moscow tomorrow with his wife and a
member of the French Communist Party CC Ramet.

Com. Stalin asks on which plane Com. Thorez will fly.

Com. Thorez responds that to Teheran he takes a Soviet plane, and then a British one, and, if
possible, then a French one.

Com. Stalin says that perhaps one should arrange the trip of Thorez on a Soviet plane to
Paris. The British might be up to something (zateiat chego nebut)...

Com. Molotov says that it is possible to arrange the flight of Com. Thorez on our plane to
Paris.

Com. Stalin asks what questions Com. Thorez wants to ask.

Com. Thorez responds that the most important issue for the French communists is a question
about how to pass through the current difficult period when the communists are not the
masters of France, when they have there both friends and enemies. What they must do to
collect their forces and to thwart the reaction’s effort to collect its forces.

Com. Stalin asks what kind of person is Bidault (chto iz sebia predstaviiaet).

Com. Thorez says that before the war Bidault allied with the party of popular democrats. He
is a catholic. Before the war he issued newspaper L 'Aube, an opposition Catholic newspaper.
Com. Stalin asks to whom that newspaper stood in opposition.

Com. Thorez says that that newspaper was in opposition to the official leaders of the Catholic
Church. On the issues of foreign policy, Bidault, before the war, took a position close to the
position of French Communists. He stood for good relations with the USSR, fought against
Munich, against Germany. However, after the breakout of the war he, as well as many people
who had heretofore been close to the communists, turned against them more fiercely than
other enemies of communists. After the breakout of the war he was recruited, served in the
army, was taken prisoner by the Germans, and then was liberated from imprisonment.

Com. Stalin asks if Bidault was set free by the Germans or he fled from captivity.

Com. Thorez responds that Bidault was liberated by the Germans because he was a
participant of the First World War, and the Germans set such people free. However, this rule
the Germans applied not to all participants of the First World War.

Com. Stalin express surprise on the account that a former prisoner of war holds a post in the
government.

Com. Thorez says that there are also other people in the government who were in German
captivity. One is General Jouen. He was in German prison and was then liberated and
appointed by the Vichy government to Africa as a commander of French troops to replace
Weigand whom the Germans did not completely trust. Minister of Finance Le Perq, recently
deceased, happened to be in German prison as well.

Com. Stalin asks what is the relationship between the French Communists and the Socialists
was.
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Com. Thorez responds that the Communists managed to succeed in winning over the masses
of socialist workers. However, the leadership of the Socialist Party does not want to
cooperate with the Communists. Recently at the Congress of the French Socialist Party its
secretary in his speech said that Socialists stood for unity with Communists, but in reality
Socialists renounce unity. Socialists declare that everything is fine in France, all people are
good, except for the Communists who have to be rehabilitated for the position they took at
the outbreak of the war with the Germans. The leadership of the Socialist Party points out
that at the beginning of the war, the Communists had not been advocates of defense of
motherland, and only after 1941 they became heroes in the struggle with the Germans.

Com. Stalin says that there could be pressure applied on the Socialists in order to achieve the
isolation of Communists. It is quite possible that de Gaulle might take steps to isolate the
Communist Party.

Com Stalin says that he thinks that for this contingency it would be better if the Party
had an ally. The party must look around (prismotretsia) and look for allies among the
radicals who are still perhaps do not constitute formal groups of radicals. One must look for
allies among the socialists, as well. One should attempt to create a bloc against reaction. It
would be good to attract also the socialists into this bloc. Perhaps there will also some other
elements who could be utilized in such a bloc. One should build certain forces grouping
around the Communist Party, for defense, and when the situation changes, for an offensive as
well. The communists must not search among the socialists for who, when and what was said
against the Soviet Union. We know the socialists well. The socialists are the left wing of
bourgeoisie. For us the main goal now is to create the leftist bloc. The Communist Party,
however strong it could be, must not be the only force struggling against reaction. The
Communist Party should not be isolated. The urgent task for the party is building close ties
with trade unions, with the youth. The youth must not be called communist youth. It should
be taken into account that some people get scared by [red] flags. It should be accounted for.

The communists, Com. Stalin continues, are not so strong to take only upon
themselves the burden of struggle against reaction. Com. Stalin says that he wishes the party
did not exaggerate its forces. If enemies manage to provoke the party, it would be strangled.
Leftist bloc must be built gradually and patiently. If there were successes in this business,
then reaction would be less brazen (budet bolee ostorozhnoi).

Com. Stalin says that Communists should keep in mind that de Gaulle will be pushed
to take measures against Communists even if he would not wish to undertake them by
himself; he will be pushed to this by the British and the Americans who would like to create
a reactionary government in France, as everywhere, wherever they can pull it off. Therefore,
the party at first must have allies, even weak ones. If the leader of the Socialist Party said in
his report that the party of socialists stood for unity with the Communist Party, then you
should respond “Please!” You must attract also other political groups into a bloc under
construction. You should have allies in trade unions, create something like a bloc.

Com. Stalin asks if the Resistance organization has any kind of armed forces.

Com. Thorez responds that there are armed units of patriotic militia which were the
main force of resistance during the occupation of France. At the moment those militia units
keep their weapons.

Com. Stalin says that one should reckon with the fact that at the moment there is a
government in France recognized by the Allied Powers. Under these circumstances it is hard
for the communists to maintain parallel armed forces, since there is a regular army. The
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communists could be asked why do they need parallel armed units. As long as there was no
provisional government, there was no rear zone, where [this government] rules, the existence
of those units made certain sense. Why do these units exist now, when there is government
which has its army? Such could be the arguments of the enemies of Communists. These
arguments can sway a main-street French. Therefore the argument of the Communist Party
for maintaining its armed forces is weak and will be weak. It is hard to defend this position.
Therefore you must transform the armed units into another organization, into a political
organization, and you must hide [your] weapons.

Com. Stalin explains that he touched on this issue only because it seems to him that
Communists still do not understand that the situation in France has changed. The communists
are flaunting [the enemy] and holding the old line, and meanwhile the situation is already
different. They would like to send to the devil all those scoundrels, the Socialists, while they
should seek to build a bloc and seek allies among the Socialists. Communists are trying to
preserve militia. It will not be this way. The government has been created that is recognized
by Great Britain, Soviet Union, United States, and other powers, but Communists continue to
act from inertia. Meanwhile the situation is new, different, and it provides de Gaulle with
opportunities. The situation has changed and you must take a turn (sdelat povorof). The
Communist Party is not so strong as to be able to club the government on its head. It must
accumulate forces and seek allies. You must take measures so that in case of reactionary
offensive the communists could have a solid defense and could say that the reaction would be
attacking not communists but people. If the situation were not to change for the better, then
the forces rallied against the Party would be useful in its future offensive.

You need a platform for political organization. This platform must include
resurrection of industries, granting jobs for unemployed, defense of democracy, punishment
of those who had smothered democracy.

Com. Stalin asks what the organization of resistance in France is called.

Com. Thorez responds that this organization is called “The Resistance Movement.”

Com. Stalin says that it should be given another name. Perhaps it should be named
“Resurrection Front (front vosstanovleniia). Before one could speak about liberation of the
country, now [one says ] bout is resurrection, rehabilitation. It would be good if you
consolidate under this banner the forces of the Left, workers, intellectuals, circles of culture.

Com. Thorez says that it would be good to attract also peasants to this movement.

Com. Stalin says that he forgot to mention the peasants. They must certainly be
attracted to this movement. There are people among them who might be of use.

The Communist Party must be strong and must be surrounded by allies. Enemies
want to isolate the Communist Party. You must not let it happen.

Then Com. Stalin says that this bloc should hardly be named “front.” In this case it
would remind bourgeoisie of “Popular Front.” One should look for another name. Perhaps it
can be called: “Movement for strengthening of democracy in France.” If one says
“Movement of struggle for democracy,” some can respond that there is democracy in France,
there is a republic, etc. Perhaps the best way to name would be “Movement for resurrection
of a strong France and strengthening of democracy.” This is of course too long for a name,
but French Communists can find a better title themselves. Com. Stalin explains that he only
hints at an idea, but French Communists can find specific forms for its implementation.
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The platform of this movement, says Com. Stalin, must include, first of all, economic
rehabilitation of the country and reinforcement of democracy. The platform should be
formulated within this framework.

Com. Stalin says that he gave all remarks he wanted to give, and asks if Com. Thorez
has questions with regard to these remarks.

Com. Thorez responds that he has no questions.

Then Com. Stalin says that de Gaulle want to take part in occupation of Germany. In
one of his speeches de Gaulle says that the French wants to test their strength before the end
of the war. In a word, de Gaulle want to demonstrate what the Galls are. He is not afraid of
taking a militant stand towards Germany. Incidentally, de Gaulle complained to our people
that he would like to obtain weapons for [the French] party, but the British and the
Americans do not give him weapons.

Com. Stalin asks how many divisions de Gaulle has at his disposal.

Com. Thorez responds that de Gaulle has five French divisions, armed by American
weapons. Besides, there are French guerrilla units which do not have heavy armament. They
are armed only with rifles (ruzhiami). By the way, these guerrilla forces block the ports of the
French Western coast held by the Germans.

Com. Stalin says that Churchill, when he was in Moscow, touched on the issue about
the future of the Rhein region and the Saar. Churchill came out for dismemberment of
Germany. He said that Germany, not counting Eastern Prussia that would be annexed to
Poland, should be divided into the following three parts: first, Prussia, second, Austria with a
center in Vienna, including Southern German provinces—Baaden and Wuertemberg; third,
Westfalen and the Rein region which should constitute a separate area under international
control. The idea to create such an area will not allow Germany to use iron and coal. Massigli
allegedly favors this plan. He once spoke in favor of a separation of the Rhein region and
Westfalen [from Germany] and for establishment of international control there.

Com. Stalin says that he does not recommend that Communists hold out a demand to
annex the Rein region and the Saar. Situation is unclear. One should find out what would be
the attitude of French people to these demands. Meanwhile it would be better to stay away
from the slogan of annexation. If the situation changes and it would be clear that public
opinion, intelligentsia, people are in favor of [annexation], then it is a different thing. Com.
Stalin says that he fears lest the Communists find themselves in one camp with the darkest
reactionaries. And then the Communists will be told: “See, who are you with!” This slogan
can wait. Wait for a month, perhaps for two months. One should gather data, sound out the
ground.

Com. Stalin remarks that de Gaulle in his speech spoke for annexation of German
territory, while Bidault spoke against this annexation. What is on? Is it imaginable that a
single government can pursue two different political lines [?]

Com. Stalin asks how Bidault treats the issue of Alsace and Lorraine.

Com. Thorez answers that Bidault regards Alsace and Lorraine as part of French
territory. Speaking about renunciation of annexations by France, Bidault means that Alsace
and Lorraine belong to France.

Com. Thorez says that, in his opinion, Bidault spoke against annexations of German
territory with an aim in mind to speak also against the transfer of a part of the current
German territory to Poland. French reactionaries want that Poland protrude as deep as
possible into the Soviet Union, and therefore it is not in their interest to shift Poland to the
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West. French reactionaries, as well as the British, would like to see Poland as a tool against
the Soviet Union.

Com. Stalin says that the British and the French certainly want it, but it will not to
be. Poles want to obtain rich, developed German regions, and they will lose only the Pinsk
marshes.

Com. Stalin asks if military plants now operate in France.

Com. Thorez answers that the plants are mostly inactive. It is usually explained by the
lack of raw materials, disorganization of transportation, and similar kinds of reasons. In those
places where workers began to operate the plants on their own initiative, the central
authorities intervened and disrupted the plants’ operation. Thus there is stagnation in the
French industry and there are many unemployed.

Com. Stalin says that one of the major tasks of the mass movement for restoration of
France must be setting in operation of industrial enterprises, first of all of military industry.
Com. Stalin says that in the Soviet Union industry suffered from the war more than the
French industry, yet we are managing to restore rather quickly the industry in the regions that
were under German occupation. We are also restoring bridges, railroads and some other
things.

Com. Thorez says that workers in locals would like to restore industry, but as far as
the central authorities are concerned, the matter gets stalled. This is sabotage, says Com.
Thorez.

Com. Stalin agrees that this is sabotage and says that it is necessary to fight for
restoration of French industry.

Com. Thorez remarks that the British and Americans do not want restoration of
industry in France.

Com. Stalin agrees and says that the British and Americans wish that industry existed
only in their countries and the whole world buy their goods. That is why their air forces
bomb industrial installations in Germany with such appetite. The British and Americans want
to destroy more industrial plants in Germany so that it will be harder to get reparations from
Germany. Com. Stalin asks what to do if de Gaulle requests weapons from the Soviet Union.
Should we give him weapons?

Com. Thorez answers that all depends on how this weapon will be used.

Com. Stalin says that it is hard to make the delivery of weapons conditional in this
way. Com. Stalin asks if the British are giving weapons to the French.

Com. Thorez answers that Churchill in one of his announcement promised to give
weapons to the French, but in a second declaration he said that in view of the fact that the
French had so far received only American weapons, this issue should be reconsidered and
one should strive to achieve unification of the types of weapons transferred [to the French]

Com. Stalin asks if the French troops occupy a certain sector of the front against the
German troops.

Com. Thorez answers that they have a segment at the southern extremity of the front
against Belfort.

Com. Stalin asks if de Gaulle’s five French divisions consist of the French or of the
colonial troops.

Com. Thorez answers that there is a large portion of colonial troops in these divisions.

Com. Stalin says that old French commanders will seek to preserve colonial forces,
since they are very docile. One should strive to have as many French as possible in the
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French army. Com. Stalin says that one should also seek that the French forces have their
own sector of the front and that the troops at that sector would be under French command.

Com. Thorez says that in his opinion France should have a strong army.

Com. Stalin responds that he agrees with this and the French Communists should not be
afraid of creating a large army. They should have their people in the army.

Com. Stalin says that there is a French air squadron”Normandy” fighting on the
Soviet-German front. Our people praise the pilots of this air squadron. They say that the
French pilots fight well. There are real aces among them. Does Thorez know these pilots?

Com. Thorez answers that he knows, but not everybody. He says that among those
pilots there are reactionary personalities, representatives of old noble families. They always
stood aside and they were treated with a tinge of suspicion. However, when recently the
flight crews of the air squadron received awards, then these pilots received decorations. This
impressed the entire squadron. Thorez heard about it the other day from General Petey.

Com. Stalin says that we do not give awards for nothing and those who fight the
Germans well get decorations. We are thinking of awarding some of the French pilots the
title of Hero of the Soviet Union.

Com. Stalin asks that perhaps de Gaulle during his visit in the Soviet Union might ask
our permission to transfer the squadron “Normandy” to France. Should the pilots be
permitted to take their armaments, i.e. planes, with them?

Com. Thorez says that it would be fine and adds that the French pilots are very proud
that they fight in such good fighters.

Com. Stalin responds that the planes are rather good indeed and adds that it would be
awkward to disarm the pilots before their departure from the Soviet Union. So one has to let
them go with their planes. Com. Stalin asks if Thorez have questions for him and the present
comrades.

Com. Thorez answers that he has no more questions.

Finishing the conversation, Com. Stalin wishes Thorez success and asks him to send
regards to the French comrades, Duclos, Marti and others. Shaking hands of com Stalinin a
farewell, Thorez says that he assures him in his allegiance to our cause and to com. Stalin
and thanks for the reception.

Com. Stalin answers that it is not appropriate to thank among comrades.

Com. Thorez says that he still thanks Com. Stalin and always needs his advice.

The conversation lasted for 1 hour 45 minutes.

Recorded by Podtserob

Sourcde: “Anglichane i Amerikatsy khotiat vezde sozdat’ raktsionnye pravitel’stva,”
Istochnik, 1995, no. 4, pp. 152-158 (APRE, f. 45, op. 1, d. 390, 1. 85 - 93).

Translated by Vladislav Zubok.
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ACCOUNT OF GENERAL DE GAULLE’S MEETING
WITH MARSHAL STALIN

Saturday, December 2 at 21:00 at the Kremlin

CR.
Very Secret

General de Gaulle was received by Marshal Stalin at the Kremlin December 2 at
21:00.

Attending the meeting: Mr. Molotov, Mr. Bogomolov, Mr. Roger Garreau and the
interpreter Podzerov.

The Marshal shakes his visitor’s hand and immediately invites him to be seated
opposite him at a table with a green tablecloth, where paper and pencils had been prepared.
He asks if he had a good trip and, upon an affirmative response from General de Gaulle,
begins to draw geometric shapes with red pencil on a sheet of paper, waiting for de Gaulle to
continue the conversation.

The General expresses his pleasure at being invited to be the guest of the Soviet
government, thanking them for the warm welcome he received from Ambassador
Bogomolov.

The Marshal asks the General several questions about his stay in Baku and about the
impressions he has after his visit to Stalingrad. The General speaks highly of the
reconstruction work which has already been completed in that glorious city; the Marshal asks
him in what material state France finds itself after its liberation and whether the resumption
of its means of production is proceeding in a satisfying manner. The General describes the
serious difficulties the government is attempting to overcome, especially those concerning
transportation and raw materials. Some considerable progress has already been made:
although more than 4000 bridges and railways have been destroyed, communications have
already been reestablished from one end of the country to the other, coal extraction has
doubled in two months, etc. But above all the provisionary government is preoccupied with
equipping the new army, which is burning to take a strong role in the continuation of the war.
He presses the American authorities to speed up their provision of indispensable materials,
but has unfortunately not been satisfied.

The Marshal pointed out that it would better not to rely too heavily on the assistance
of others, but rather to make every effort oneself to get national production under way once
again.

General de Gaulle states that that is definitely the goal of his government.

Moving on to the overall situation of France in Europe and in the world, he states that
the reestablishment of a strong France, along with a powerful Russia, provides the continent
with the greatest guarantee of security. He thanks the Soviet government for having taken
the initiative to suggest that France be admitted as an equal and permanent member of the

87




consultative commission for European affairs. The Marshal believes that this would happen
and that France should retake the position which it deserves. .

General de Gaulle says that, in effect, the defeat of 1940 was an accident and also a
consequence of the fact that, constantly exposed to German aggression, France didn’t
succeed during the negotiations leading up to the Treaty of Versailles, to convince the Allies
of the necessity of guaranteeing the security of its borders in a definitive way. The proposals
presented by Mr. Clemenceau to the Supreme Council on the subject of the Rhine frontier
were, unfortunately, rejected and the guarantees that we had been provided in compensation
were illusory. Russia was absent and we missed its concurrence: Russia would have better
understood the needs of France, its position vis-a-vis the German menace being the same as
ours. It was absolutely necessary to avoid recommitting such a profound error in the
regulation of the peace of tomorrow.

The Marshal asks if General de Gaulle has already developed a concrete plan, to
which de Gaulle responds that the geographic and historic boundary of France is the Rhine
and that that border is the only one that can ensure his country’s security.

The Marshal responds: “It is in effect good that France should extend to the Rhine. It
is difficult to object to that.” Then, after several seconds of reflection, he adds: “Never can
any natural frontier, no matter how strong it may be, can give an absolute guarantee of
security if it is not protected by a solid nation and a strong army. One must not allow oneself
to doze behind and illusion of security such as was the Maginot Line. There are those here
who want to take our borders to the Carpathians because that mountain chain constitutes a
natural protection for Russia. But security should also be guaranteed by alliances and
accords between friendly nations. The history of the two wars has shown that neither France,
nor Russia, nor any other two countries together are strong enough to stay on top of
Germany. To attain this goal, the concurrence of other powers would be necessary. Thus it
is only as a result of a solid entente between the Soviet Union, France, Great Britain, and
America that total victory could possibly be obtained and a lasting peace established. The
Soviet Union and France could not handle the question of the Rhine frontier alone. Has
General de Gaulle already discussed this issue with London and Washington?

General de Gaulle responds that he shares completely the Marshal’s point of view,
that agreement between the four great powers is in effect indispensable and that that
agreement would be greatly facilitated by the participation of France in the works of the
consultative commission for European affairs. Expanding on the reestablishment of the
Rhine as the French frontier, de Gaulle hoped that the Soviet Union, because of the similarity
of its position to the French position and since it is exposed to the same immediate dangers,
would understand the legitimacy of our demand and would support it in the near future
alongside the other allied powers.

As the topic of the future of the western border of Germany has been the only topic of
discussion thus far, the General continues, he would be happy to hear the views and plans of
the Soviet government in regard to Germany’s eastern border.

The Marshal responds that the old Polish territories in west Prussia, in Pomerania and
in Silesia, should be legitimately restored to Poland. “In sum, the frontier of the Oder?” asks
General de Gaulle. “Even the Oder is too far,” responds the Marshal. The Oder and the
Neisse. And also some changes in the Czechoslovak border, which would like reestablish the
borders of 1938.
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General de Gaulle states that the outline of these borders inspires the same geographic
and historic considerations as well as the same military necessities as those upon which the
French base their reclamation of the French border at the Rhine.

The Marshal comes back to the peace and security guarantee that offers the promise
of a solid entente between the major allies who are the principal players in the war. The
Soviet Union and Great Britain have already, under this plan, concluded a 20-year treaty of
alliance.*? It would be beneficial for the Soviet Union and France to consider an similar
accord to provide against the common danger of any new German aggression.

General de Gaulle responds that that is very much the desire of his government. Our
two countries, being immediate neighbors of Germany, are most interested in joining forces
for the common defense. The pact of 1935, having been concluded with the same goal, could
serve as a base for negotiating a new accord better adapted to the present conditions.

Marshal Stalin and Mr. Molotov together point out that the pact of 1935 was never
put into effect and that the Soviet Union, having learned from this painful experience, does
not intend to conclude another accord on paper which is not guaranteed by a sincere and solid
will to respect it in letter and spirit. General de Gaulle pointed out that he is not Pierre Laval
and that he wishes to conclude a pact with the Soviet Union, to ensure its full application,
and to establish a solid entente between France and Russia.

Marshal Stalin and Mr. Molotov noted this assurance with satisfaction. The
envisioned agreement will be integrated in a good understanding and tight collaboration
among the Allies and among all of the United Nations.

General de Gaulle asked to take his leave at 23:00.

Source: Documents Diplomatiques Francais, 1944, vol. 2 (3 septembre - 31 decembre), pp.
351-53.

Translated by Scott Smith.

2 Regarding the Anglo-Soviet Treaty of Alliance, enacted May 26, 1942.
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CONVERSATION BETWEEN
GENERAL DE GAULLE AND MARSHAL STALIN
Friday December 8, 1944

P.V.
Very Secret

French in attendance:

General de Gaulle
Mr. Bidault
Mr. Garreau

Soviets in attendance:

Marshal Stalin
Mr. Molotov
Mr. Bogomolov

General de Gaulle.--Up to this point we have discussed many things. The moment has come
to express clearly our position on certain problems of capital importance for you and for us.

For us our main focus, the vital question, is the German question.

The problem of French security in regard to Germany is composed of three elements:

a. borders

b. disarmament

c. alliances

a.and b. As for the German borders, we have no objection to the eastern border being
marked at the Oder and the Neisse.

As for Germany’s western border, we consider it crucial that the German state or states exert
no sovereignty, in any form, west of the Rhine. '

Disarmament itself has three aspects: military, economic, and moral.

On the subject of economic disarmament, we will consider not only that heavy industry not
be used--even in part--for armament with in Germany, but also that German sovereignty over the
Ruhr Valley--with all its resources--should be taken away, placing the area under the control of an
international regime, not only for administrative purposes but also to ensure the utilization of mines
and factories for peace.

This internationalization of the Ruhr could be in effect less difficult than one would think.
Aside from several administrators, the population is composed almost exclusively of workers. They
could be made into a cosmopolitan populous. There is already a fair number of foreign workers.
Others could be made to come. The cosmopolitan nature of the Ruhr’s population, to a certain extent,
would facilitate the establishment of an international regime.

As for the southern German border, we believe that it is necessary to return the Sudetenland
to the Czechoslovaks and make Austria a free and independent country.

As for Germany itself, we have no preconceptions. We shall see.

c. We now arrive at the topic of alliances. There are two big countries who, because of their
geographic positions, are particularly exposed to German aggression: France and the USSR.

Furthermore, these are the only two countries that, because of the nature of things, always
have and will maintain large armies. In Great Britain the permanent army is and will always be an
object for discussion; both here and in France, the army is an institution.




Because of the nature of things it is natural for us to be allies in the first place, in a way that
enables us to act preventively and to respond immediately. We are the only two countries who can do
this. If we are associated in such a way, the other states of Europe--for example, the Balkan states--
will not be able to go to the other side because we will be the strongest.

In the French point of view, the Franco-Soviet alliance comes in first place.

As for Great Britain, history--above all the twenty years that separated the two wars--shows
that it is very hindered from acting preventively and immediately. First, this is because of its
geographic position. All other British actions are dependent upon concord with its dominions. They
are very remote: they are not directly threatened and they have diverging interests. For all these
reasons it is difficult for Great Britain to take preventive measures or immediate measures in the case
of conflict.

This is why in 1914 Great Britain hesitated before entering the war. It only acted because
Belgium was invaded and thus England immediately felt in peril. If German aggression had been
direct not westward but eastward, England would have had problems making a decision. Even
though Britain acted in September 1939, it was after a long series of capitulations. In return when the
Germans are acting aggressive and Great Britain feels threatened, it acts with steadfastness, courage,
and energy. It is certain that Great Britain should be associated with France and the USSR in the
defense of the peace. But that is a different level of security.

Security should be seen, in the end, from a global perspective. Here, I think specifically
about the participation of America, who is vexed by European quarrels which it does not completely
understand, who has a wide range of interests scattered across the globe, whose main concerns are not
in regard to Europe and who does not act until the final moment. Roosevelt did not enter the present
war until France had been beaten, Britain was greatly strained, and the German army had reached the
Caucasus. Within the security structure, America represents the third stage. This stage should not be
neglected. It should be constructed. But, it should crown the structure.

You have proposed a tripartite Anglo-Franco-Soviet pact. I should tell you that we have no
objection in principal to such a pact. But we believe that it does not address the problem. We much
prefer a system of security made up of three levels:

Ist Franco-Soviet Pact

2nd  Anglo-Soviet and Franco-Anglo Pact

3rd Collective Security (with the inclusion of America)

One point which should be stressed is that a tripartite pact presents some big problems.
Between France and the USSR there is no major point of debate. With Great Britain we have always
had, and always will have, such debates. You, also, have had disagreements with Britain, such as in
Iran. You will possibly have further disagreements in the Far East.

It is therefore not certain that a tripartite pact will be easy to conclude. On the contrary, the
process could be marred and even retarded by conflicts of interest; the Germans realize this and could
combine such conflicts of interest with further aggression. Thus, we do not believe that a tripartite
pact is the best way to achieve security.

Marshal Stalin boasts of the advantages of a tripartite pact. The English would be tied
directly to France and to the USSR. This would be serious and solid. We would be able to consult
one another, bringing England to action more quickly. Stalin wonders if this would not be better.
Then he quickly changes the subject.

After all, we can make a pact between our two countries; France must understand Soviet
Russia’s fundamental interest in the Polish affair. We cannot allow a Poland which, presently,
opposes Moscow as well as Germany. We want a Poland honestly sympathetic to the Allies and
resolutely anti-German. This is not possible with the government in London. It represents an anti-
Russian spirit which has always existed in Poland. On the contrary, we would be able to find
common ground with a different Poland, big, strong, a friend in democracy to both France and the
USSR. If you share this point of view, make an agreement with Lublin and we will be able to
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conclude a pact with you. Churchill will obviously be very hurt. Oh well. It has happened before.
He has offended me frequently as well.

The interpreter clarifies, and General de Gaulle believes it to be a question of a tripartite pact,
on the condition that an official arrangement intervenes with the Lublin Committee. He believes that
this proposition presents little of interest.

He repeats that the French government wishes to send a delegate to Lublin and to receive a
delegate from Lublin in Paris. But he does not want to meet with the Lublin Committee, which he
does not know well. France and the USSR have a common interest in a united Poland, but not in an
artificial Poland, in which France would have no confidence.

Stalin ends the talks by talking about the flotilla “Normandy” and about the dinner which
would take place the following evening at the Kremlin.

Returning to the embassy, General de Gaulle states that Mr. Bidault and Mr. Garreau have
different interpretations of Stalin’s comments relating to the conclusion of a pact and to the
arrangement with Lublin. According to Mr. Bidault and Mr. Garreau, Stalin had envisioned a
bilateral Franco-Soviet pact and not a tripartite pact.

Mr. Bidault and Mr. Garreau, at 11:00 p.m., held another interview with Mr. Molotov which
confirms this interpretation.

Stalin did offer to conclude a bilateral pact if the Lublin Committee and the Provisional
French Government would exchange delegates.

Thereupon, the General decides that Mr. Garreau would receive the following day, Saturday
at 13:00 at the embassy, representatives of the Polish Committee for National Liberation, who arrived
several days ago in Moscow. During the course of the interview, General de Gaulle would come to
the embassy to see them.

Source: Documents Diplomatiques Francais, 1944, vol. 2 (3 septembre - 31 decembre), pp. 419-22.

Translated by Scott Smith.
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CONVERSATION BETWEEN
GENERAL DE GAULLE AND MARSHAL STALIN

at the Kremlin December 6 1944 from 18:00 to 19:45

P.V.
Very secret

Present:

for the French:
General de Gaulle
Mr. Bidault
Mr. Garreau
Mr. Dejean

for the Soviets:
Marshal Stalin
Mr. Molotov
Mr. Bogomolov
Mr. Podzerov

General de Gaulle -- 1 asked to see you so that we could use our stay in Moscow to
bring up a group of questions which we pose today and will pose tomorrow. We would very
much like to hear your opinion, and we will give you ours, if you wish.

Marshal Stalin -- Please, continue.

General de Gaulle -- We have presented you with a plan for a pact related to the
measures which France and the USSR could take for common security in regard to Germany.
We shall discuss it. Surrounding this pact, there are a certain number of questions which
should be clarified between us. Allow me to pose some specific questions. What I am about
to say is firm and sincere.

There is the Polish affair.

Let me go back in history.

Marshal Stalin knows that, for a long time and for many different reasons--
civilization, religion, and others, there has existed between France and Poland a sentimental
rapport.

Marshal Stalin -- Yes, I know.

General de Gaulle -- For a long time France has tried to maintain an independent
Poland in the midst of its neighboring states. We have not succeeded. Poland disappeared.
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After the last war, France wanted a Poland capable of opposing Germany. This was
the goal of French policy when we contributed to the recreation, after 1918, of an .
independent Polish state.
We know too well the consequences of the policies followed by Poland between the
two wars. Beck’s policy--and those of people similar to him--have greatly displeased us and
have put us in grave danger, us as well as you.
We evaluate all the dangers to peace which might present themselves, particularly the
danger to the Soviet Union posed by a Poland returning to previous policies with regard to a
defeated Germany. We know that Germany has always wanted to use Poland for similar
policies.

Marshal Stalin -- Germany wants to devour, to annihilate Poland. They have always
wanted this.

General de Gaulle -- Before devouring Poland, Germany will always try to use it.
We French have an interest in creating conditions which would prevent Germany from doing
so again. [ say this because it is the truth.

We are not at all opposed to what Marshal Stalin said the other day about the western
Polish border. We believe that such a solution would exclude an accord between Germany
and Poland.

Marshal Stalin -- You are right.

General de Gaulle -- If, at the same time, the extension of Poland to the west could
permit a solution to the problem of the eastern border, we would be in complete agreement.

Marshal Stalin -- The eastern border of Poland has been confirmed by Clemenceau.
It is the Curzon Line.

General de Gaulle -- We have no objection to the Curzon Line, if Poland receives
compensation to the west.

Marshal Stalin -- It is paramount that Poland receive these territories.
General de Gaulle -- 1 also believe that Poland should receive them.

Marshal Stalin -~ It is an obligatory and necessary condition. Our army will do what
is necessary to ensure it.

General de Gaulle -- That is a satisfying solution.
Marshal Stalin -- We believe so as well.

General de Gaulle -- In the meantime, we believe that Poland should remain an
independent state, as Marshal Stalin has already said.
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Marshal Stalin -- Certainly. There is not the least doubt on this subject.

General de Gaulle -- We know that the current situation has marred Polish spirits.
We do not know exactly what the Polish people will think after their liberation by the Red
Army. After the initial difficulties and bursts of emotion, a political situation might arise
which is good from the point of view of the Poles and favorable for relations between Poland
and France and the USSR.

I should tell the Soviet government that at such a time, and even presently, if France
has the opportunity and possibility of acting on Polish desires, it will do so. We would do so
in consulting with our allies, the USSR, Great Britain, and the United States.

As the Soviet government knows, we have had since the beginning maintained
relations with the Polish government in London. This began with Sikorski and has
continued. As long as the Poles are not occupying their own territory, we have little business
to conduct with them. We are watching the situation unfold. The truth will not appear until
Polish territory is liberated. We are ready to exercise our influence over the Poles, over all
the Poles, in the sense of a union between them, of their acceptance of the new frontiers, and
of a genuinely friendly attitude towards France and the Soviet Union.

Marshal Stalin -- 1 understand.
General de Gaulle -- What else have we to discuss?
Marshal Stalin -- May I ask you what you mean by a western bloc?

General de Gaulle -- Can I ask the Marshal what he means by that? We have talked
quite a bit about such a bloc. We are continentals. We do not imagine that the Empire** can
be divided into several pieces. The idea of a western or eastern bloc, or a southern or
northern bloc, means nothing in our eyes. We believe it is paramount to create certain
practical things between people interested in the same practical matters. Basically there
should be only one bloc in Europe, one made up of those people interested in not being
attacked by Germany. That is why the first accord, which we pressed for after the liberation
of France, is the one that we propose.

That being said, it is true that we have we have immediate neighbors: Belgium,
Holland, Luxembourg, Italy. With these states we have certain arrangements to make since
we live very close to each other. We will also, without doubt, have similar arrangements
with Great Britain, as we do with Belgium, Luxembourg, and possibly Italy.

In spite of these arrangements, there is no bloc.

Marshal Stalin -- Pardon me for having posed such a needless question, if it put you
in an odd situation.

General de Gaulle -- 1 know that there are some who have a different agenda.

3 Read, without a doubt, as “Europe.”
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Marshal Stalin -- I’ve heard the declaration by Mr. Pierlot, stating that such a bloc
exists.
General de Gaulle -- What could such a declaration mean?

Marshal Stalin -- 1don’t know. I asked you. I thought you would know.

General de Gaulle -- Belgium has, in the past, concluded and denounced accords for
its defense with Great Britain and France. Such arrangements do not make a bloc. Say that
Belgium has things to exchange with France or with Great Britain and that it is necessary to
make agreements in order to do so. Neither is this a bloc.

Marshal Stalin -- 1 am accusing no one. I understand the situation in Belgium and
the situation in France. Indeed France and Belgium need a solid alliance. I understand that
France will also need alliances with bordering countries to prevent against German
aggression.

General de Gaulle -- In any case, as for what concerns us, and to end the discussion
of blocs, the Minister of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Bidault, recently made, in the name of the
Government, a categorical declaration. England has never asked us to form a bloc. Nor have
we asked England. We are looking to form a Moscow-Paris-London European bloc. All that
remains are local arrangements. I have said so to Marshal Stalin. When one looks closely at
the question of blocs, there has, through the course of history, been the block of Germany
and its allies, called the Triple Alliance and then the Axis, which could still reform. The
other bloc is the Anglo-Franco-Soviet bloc.

Marshal Stalin -- 1 understand that.

General de Gaulle spoke several minutes ago, among other things, about a mutual
assistance and security pact. I think that we could conclude one someday.

As for Poland, General de Gaulle knows that over the course of the past thirty years
Poland has twice served as a corridor, as a passageway, for the German army to invade
Russia. This cannot continue. The passageway must be closed, and it must be Poland itself
who closes this passage. 1t should not be closed from the outside. In order to do this, we
need a strong, independent, democratic Poland. A state cannot be strong if it is not
democratic. We have an interest in a strong Poland. If Poland is strong, it will not be
attacked again.

It is a question of doing an about-face, a turnaround in our policy. Up until this war
Poland and Russia lived in a state of conflict. The Poles, over the course of several centuries,
occupied Moscow twice. The Russians, two hundred years later, occupied Warsaw twice.
This has not gone without repercussions in Polish-Russian relations. We would like to bring
an end to this. The last war was a lesson. The Polish-Russian friendship is, for Poland and
for Russia, the best guarantee against the German menace. This point of view is accepted by
Russia and by better Polish elements. Such is the base of the new policy of Polish-Russian
friendship.

History shows us a France both friendly to and protective of Poland and its
independence. Herein lies the difference in attitude between France and the other powers
towards Poland. The Poles know this. They can consider the current situation in which
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France will take a more favorable attitude towards them than will Great Britain or the United
States. I have counted on and continue to count on this.

England is tied to the Polish government in exile just as it is tied to Mihailovitch in
Yugoslavia. It is difficult for England to extract itself from that situation. At present
Mihailovitch is hiding. He is not allowed to enter Yugoslavia. I fear that the same thing
might happen to Giraud and Laval in the heart of the government in exile in London.

The political refugees in London are playing at being ministers. Another group in
Lublin is doing the work. It has initiated agrarian reform similar to that undertaken in France
in the late 18th century, which has served as a basis for French forces. There is a difference
between the two groups. One is useless. That is the reason why the Soviet government
established good relations with the new, reborn Poland represented by the Polish Committee
for National Liberation. Ithought that France understood that better than either England or
America. I don’t doubt that, at some point, Great Britain and the United States will come to
understand.

General de Gaulle -- Do you have any information about the opinion of the Polish
people as a whole?

Marshal Stalin -- 1 keep an eye on it. I make observations.
General de Gaulle -- You are obviously better informed than anyone else.
Marshal Stalin -- 1 wouldn’t say that. I am interested. I study it.

General de Gaulle -- The Marshal knows better than anyone else the inconvenience
of constructing a government that public opinion will not support.

Marshal Stalin -- 1 can tell you why the situation of the Polish government in London
has deteriorated.

The Polish population watched the Red Army advance, beat the Germans, win
victories. As for the Red Army, they watched the Polish troops fight each other. They asked
themselves: where is the Polish government in London? Why isn’t it in free Poland or
freeing itself?

Another moment in the decline of the government in London corresponds to the
crushing of the ill-fated insurrection in Warsaw. The Polish people learned that this
insurrection had begun without the agreement of the Red Army commander. If the Poles had
asked the Soviet government if it was ready to support the revolt, the government certainly
would have said no. Our army had just advanced 600 kilometers from Minsk to Warsaw. Its
artillery, its munitions were coming from bases situated a further 400 kilometers to the rear.
Our troops were not ready to take Warsaw. The question was not asked. The people know
that a costly adventure was launched. These are the agents of the government in exile who
allowed Germany to gain the victory at Warsaw.

A third factor has arisen. The Lublin Committee has undertaken agrarian reform.
Those officials were the victims of agents from the government in London. They took Polish
land upon immigrating or leaving with the Germans. They sold them to the peasants. They
accomplished what France herself had accomplished at the end of the 18th century, thus
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creating its authority as in a democratic state. It was under these conditions that the Polish
Committee of Lublin acquired great strength. In parallel, according to information from the
Soviet government, the influence of the Polish government in London receded.

General de Gaulle -- | repeat what I said in the beginning. We will see clearly after
the liberation. If France has influence over the Poles, we will use it to unify them in
friendship with France and with the Soviet Union.

Like other governments, France has relations with the Polish government in London.
If there is cause to change that, we will do so in accord with our allies, as the USSR did in
recognizing the French government.

On a point mentioned by Marshal Stalin I would like to make a small remark. There
are some differences between Mr. Laval and General Giraud. These, whatever they have
been, have never worked with the Germans.

Marshal Stalin -- 1 know about this difference. I don’t want to get them together.

General de Gaulle - And now, what does Marshal Stalin think of the situation in the
Balkans?

Marshal Stalin -- We have chased the Germans to the fullest possible extent.
Bulgaria has accepted the conditions of armistice. These conditions will certainly be
executed; Bulgarian independence will not be affected; Bulgaria will nevertheless receive the
deserved punishment.

Our troops have not made advances in Greece. They are not accustomed to
advancing simultaneously in all directions. The British navy and troops are in Greece. You
should ask them about the situation. As for the Germans, they are leaving Greece. They
have been forced to leave.

Yugoslavian independence has been restored. It should remain a federated state.

As for Romania, Mr. Molotov has made a declaration which remains in force.
Romania will be punished on the basis of the conditions of the armistice--but it will remain
independent.

I think that a new national government will be formed in Hungary. The allies have
conducted secret armistice negotiations with Horthy. The armistice is nearly concluded. The
Germans have learned of this, but we don’t know how: Horthy has been arrested.

Yugoslavia is not entirely liberated. Some German troops remain. Unfortunately we
cannot lend much assistance. But, we have helped and will continue to help.

If a democratic government is established in Hungary, we will lend it assistance in
turning the situation around, against the Germans.

Such is the situation in the Balkans.

General de Gaulle -- Thank you, Marshal Stalin.

In three months, France has recovered its position and reorganized its forces little by
little.

Our first gesture is to turn towards Moscow in order to clarify our position and to
suggest a treaty.




As for the other states, we are happy to state that the Soviet Union wishes to see them
move towards democracy and towards friendship with the USSR and France.

As we see it, the basis of a democratic regime lies with elections. Wherever possible,
we would support such elections in countries which were enslaved by Germany and who are
now regaining their freedom. We would like to work with our allies, and especially with the
Soviet Union, in order to do what is necessary to develop this policy.

Marshal Stalin --1 believe that we will come to an understanding.

It seems to me that General de Gaulle should have declined a visit to the “Normandy”
group because of the time. He expressed a desire for the French pilots to come to Moscow.
They will be here soon.

General de Gaulle --Thanks you, Marshal.

Marshal Stalin --There is no need for thanks; it is not difficult.

* ¥ %

Mr. Bidault broaches the subject of collective security. He wishes to speak in regard
to the French government’s vision of such a system of security.

Mr. Bidault -- The plan for a pact put forward by the French is based on an
organization which is yet to be created. It is understood that this organization will not in any
way alter the functioning of the pact. We want a system of collective security. But, the plan
for a pact is inalterable.

Marshal Stalin -- That is true for both parties.

Mr. Bidault -- The collective organization does not remove anything from the pact
which we plan to conclude.

As for collective security itself, the overall position of the French government is
roughly the following:

Ist It seems natural that collective organization would be assumed by and, to a large
degree, directed by the great powers with the most weight in regard to political and military
affairs. Thus, we believe that the unity of the great powers, in a realistic point of view, will
not be broken, particularly in matters which concern the affairs of one or the other powers.

2nd It is essential to bring “smaller powers”--those with narrower interests--into the
collective security association, in a way yet to be determined. This should not be done in
order to keep the organization in check, but rather to allow these smaller powers to express
their views and desires. On this point, there is no significant difference of opinion between
the USSR and ourselves.

Marshal Stalin -- That is correct.

General de Gaulle -- As the Minister of Foreign Affairs has stated, we should not
revisit the plenary sessions of the League of Nations, with an assembly of small nations and
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the requirement of unanimity in order to take action. The assembly must be directed, by the
agreement of the great powers, by those who furnish forces for use by the organization.

Mr. Bidault -- Furthermore we believe that these forces should not be made up of
Heimatlos, but rather of contingents maintaining their national identity and put at the
disposition of the collective organization, placed under its responsibility, have its
commander.

Marshal Stalin -- Tt would be impossible to do otherwise.

Mr. Bidault -- We would also like the international organization to be enabled to
assume the responsibility for the distribution primary materials and for guiding economic
trends.

Marshal Stalin -- The collection and distribution of natural resources should be in the
hands of an impartial and international organization. This is very difficult. But, it must
happen. Military and economic functions are included in the Dumbarton Oaks Plan.
Nothing which Mr. Bidault has said should go beyond the members involved with this plan.

Mr. Bidault -- But it is important that the project be published.

Marshal Stalin -- The point of view expressed by Mr. Bidault is near that of the
Soviets and also, I believe, to the English position.

The collective security organization should take into account the needs for democracy
and should form an assembly in which lesser powers are equally represented. The directing
body of the organization should receive its mandate and its power from the assembly.

As for other matters, they appear clear to us.

* % %

At the conclusion of the talks, Mr. Molotov returns the text of the Soviet
government’s proposed Franco-Russian pact to Mr. Bidault.

Source: Documents Diplomatiques Francais, 1944, vol. 2 (3 septembre - 31 decembre), pp.
386-94.

Translated by Scott Smith.
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Bierut's Account of Three Conversations with Stalin
Held between 6 and 14 December 1944;

Minutes from a Meeting of the Military Division of the CC PPR
Relating to Information Provided by Gen. Rola-Zymierski
from his Talks with Stalin
on Personnel Policy in the Military

Top secret
Done in 3 copies

Minutes from a Meeting of the Politburo Held on December 14, 1944

in the presence of comrades: Wiestaw, Tomasz, Minc, Jakub, with the participation of
comrades Wierblowski and Radkiewicz.

The agenda:

1) Information from Moscow**

The information is provided by com. Tomasz [Bierut]. As there is no orderly record
of questions raised at different meetings, he is giving information according to the sequence
of meetings.

Right after he had arrived in Moscow, he was called up by Bulganin, with whom he
went to see Stalin. At the time there was a Politburo meeting going on in the Kremlin. Stalin
showed him a great deal of cordiality, being interested first of all in agricultural reform and
in the situation in PPS. He was greatly satisfied with the course of agricultural reform.

Com. Tomasz presented the situation in PPS in the light of two currents visible in that
party, i.e. a truly democratic trend represented by [Osdbka] Morawski and a WRN trend,
represented by Drobner®. There has evolved the following conversation between Stalin and
Tomasz on [Os6bka] Morawski:

S.: How is [Os6bka] Morawski doing in the PKWN?

T.: He is sincerely cooperating with us.

S.: Who wrote and approved the articles in “Robotnik” (The Worker”)?

T.: [Oso6bka] Morawski did, but he was under heavy pressure from the Drobner
group.

Stalin invited Tomasz to supper, during which they returned back to the question of
PPS.
S.: What do you think of [Os6bka] Morawski?

* A delegation of KRN and PKWN was in Moscow from 6 to 14 December 1944. See the previous minutes.

> Bolestaw Drobner (1883-1968) - then chairman of the Main Council of PPS, chief of the Department of Health
and Welfare of PK WN.
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ground of cooperation with the Soviet Union.
S.: Was [Os6bka] Morawski known before the war to a broader public as a political
figure?

T.: He is a young man, inexperienced, but of a good will. He stands sincerely on the .

. No, he was working in the cooperative sector.

: And who was known?

. Dubois and Barlicki were, but they have been killed by the Germans.
: What influence does [Os6bka] Morawski have in the PPS now?

: He has a dominant one, larger than Drobner has.

: What is his attitude toward the PPR?

: Generally it’s very correct, one cannot reproach him for anything.

He - nS

Stalin says that if it's so, then [Os6bka] Morawski may become a communist in the
future.

Tomasz shares Stalin’s point of view.

Next the talk turned to agricultural reform and Stalin was showing an understanding
of the fact that the poor and agricultural workers had received a colossal portion of the land.
He was stressing that agricultural reform would tie the masses with the PK WN and would
secure durability of our power.

Stalin took a very favorable position towards the Union of Peasants’ Self-
Assistance*®. He pointed out that it would not be good if the PPR were to be flooded by the .
peasant element. PPR has to be based foremost on workers. He was talking slightingly of the
Peasant Party, which would never become a strong one. It would always be under various
influences.

During the supper Tomasz was interlocuting Khrushchev about the behavior of the
border guards and authorities at the repatriation of Poles from Ukraine. Khrushchev defended
himself against charges, but all the present (Politburo), including Stalin, though in a joking
manner, but rather firmly were pressing him and demanded changes towards the repatriating
Poles. Tomasz was also intervening with Khrushchev regarding the libraries in Lwow,
demanding the Ossolineum and private libraries. Khrushchev stated that on these matters it
would be possible to reach an understanding.

Towards the end of the supper Tomasz brought up party matters, i.e. an allotment to
the party of 15 automobiles.

S.: We are giving cars to the PK WN. Take it from them.
T.: For us it's not convenient to take it from PKWN. Those autos are at the disposal of
[Osébka] Morawski.

46 Reference here is of a positive attitude to the idea of forming a Union of Peasants’ Self-Assistance, set up at the
Peasants’ Congress in Lublin on December 30-31, 1944. ‘
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S.: Why have you given these matters into the hands of [Os6ébka] Morawski? You
should have your own deputy, who would have a say on such matters.

That matter has not been settled then and Stalin was showing dissatisfaction. Later on
Stalin was calling Tomasz, informing him that the question of 10 cars for the PPR would be
settled by Malenkov*’ and Shcherbakov, i.e. that the Moscow party organization [VKP(b)]
had taken care of us and would meet the needs of our party.

On the third day there was a reception for our whole delegation. Military matters have
been settled only partially. Stalin was against the formation of a Polish Front, as the Polish
Army was too weak. General Zymierski defended the concept of the Polish Front,
conditioning its fighting capacity on supplying it with machinery and tanks.

During the first conversation there took place another talk about Berling. Stalin was
talking of him as a provocateur. He said that Wanda [Wasilewska] had had a correct intuition
about Berling, though at that time she didn’t have arguments against him. Stalin shared the
assumption that Berling had been left by Anders on purpose as his agent. In another
conversation with Stalin, with the participation of Rola [Zymierski] and Wanda
[Wasilewska] it was decided that his wife too should be sent to Moscow. Stalin was of the
opinion that if she wouldn’t want to go willfully, she should be sent forcefully.

Towards the end of the second meeting a matter of PK WN representation in other
countries has been raised. Stalin said that in negotiations with de Gaulle the Soviet Union had
raised the question of Polish-French relations. De Gaulle didn’t want to establish relations
with Poland, arguing that Poland was a secondary state. Stalin called de Gaulle a reactionist.
In view of de Gaulle’s resistance towards Poland he directed Molotov to reject all his
proposals regarding a Soviet-French pact. Subsequently Stalin called Bierut to inform him
that under Soviet pressure de Gaulle had agreed to exchange representatives between France
and Poland. For the time being they are not going to be official missions, but official
representations.

Stalin was strongly supporting the establishment of PK WN’s relations with other
countries. He was of the opinion that in Hungary there should be formed a government like
our own*®, if only there should be an agricultural reform like in Poland.

On the question of a Polish Front Stalin has not said his last word, having in mind that
perhaps only some section might be assigned to the Polish Army.

Stalin acknowledged with approval a military call-up to officers’ corp conducted by
the PPR*, but emphasized the need to select candidates with some education. Bulganin

7 Georgii M. Malenkov (1902-1988) - at the time associate member of Politburo and VKP(b) CC Secretary,
deputy chairman of the State Committee for Defense of the USSR.

8 A Temporary National Government under the leadership of Bella Miklos was formed in Debrechin on

December 22, 1944, with the participation of the Smallholders Party, the Communist Party, the Hungarian Social-
Democratic Party and the National Peasant Party.
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assured us that by the year’s end the Polish Army would get 2000 automobiles. And in

January it will get the next one thousand. ’
The third meeting was held with four of us, including Wanda [Wasilewska]. Tomasz

had stated already in his previous conversation with Stalin that our intention was to send off

Wanda abroad. Stalin had noted that there might be some difficulties, she would be asked

who is her husband>®, what country is she a citizen of, etc. He thinks that Wanda is very

undecided as far as her relation to Poland is concerned. In the course of the meeting Stalin

asked Wanda why she doesn’t accept her work as a Polish citizen. Wanda was opposing very

strongly her leaving the Soviet Union. Stalin didn’t want to impose on her anything and

consented to her staying in the USSR

A visit to de Gaulle:

It took place in the French legation. Present was the whole delegation and de Gaulle
with general Garreau®>. The interpreter - Modzelewski.

De Gaulle: what's going on in Lublin?

T.: it's a turning point, agricultural reform, that France has done long ago. He touched
upon the old Polish-French friendship, which should now be continued, even more so that we
have a common enemy - Germany.

d.G. agrees, but requests to take into consideration the difficulties posed by the fact
that Poland has two political representations - in London and in Lublin. He wishes the Polish
nation to be united.

T.: What kind of representation will there be?

d.G. asks not to put emphasis on the character of representation, which will be
decided later. He doesn’t agree to make public an exchange of representations™.

[Os6bka] Morawski: We want to know who our representatives are going to be, since
we cannot agree that they will be treated in a worse manner than the representation of the
émigré government. If France cannot afford to recognize the representation, then we can
wait.

d.G. pulled out a watch, noted that the time had passed and gave no response.

This conversation and the reception were reported to Molotov. He didn’t consider the
position taken by [Osobka] Morawski towards de Gaulle as improper. Later on at a Stalin-de

49 See a circular by the CC PPR of November 22, 1944 relating to a draft of volunteers to the Polish Army. PPR,
Rezolucje, odezwy, instrukcje i okélniki KC, VIII 1944-X1I 1945, Warszawa 1959, p. 83-85.

%% Talk is here of Alexander J. Korneichuk (1905-1972), a Soviet writer.

3! For an account of W. Wasilewska of this conversation see Archiwum Ruchu Robotniczego, Vol. VII, Warszawa
1982, p. 418.

52 Roger Garreau (born 1891) - the plenipotentiary of the French Government in Moscow. He was not a general,
but professional diplomat.

%} For a communiqué on the exchange of representations see “Rzeczpospolita” 27 Dec. 1944, No. 141, p. 1.
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Gaulle meeting Stalin stated that for the Soviet Union a pact with France was not necessary,
while for France it was indispensable. Thus, Stalin put the matter in such terms that he was
ready to conclude the pact on condition that France would recognize the PKWN. De Gaulle
was forced to agree**, since he didn’t want to leave Moscow without the pact. At 2 a.m. the
pact was still not signed and the French were to leave in the morning.

During the third conversation Stalin suggested to [Os6bka] Morawski to send off
Drobner to Moscow as a PK WN representative.

On military matters Stalin has agreed that Korczycss be nominated as chief of staff,
Poplawski’® as commander of the 1 Army and $wierczewski as commander of the 2 Army®’.
This has been decided.

After a long discussion on the delivery to Poland of agricultural tractors for post-seed
time campaign Poland has been granted 300 caterpillar tractors.

On the organization of cooperative work in the countryside Stalin was giving
examples from the first period in the Soviet Union, recommending ploughing with tractors
and harvesting by hand.

With regard to the Internal Forces Stalin recommended first of all to educate the
officers’ corp, and as it goes on an expansion of the Internal Forces will follow. Provision of
the Internal Forces will be done through the Stewardship of the Polish Army.

To a question raised by [Os6bka] Morawski if Poland should join the Soviet-
Czechoslovak pactss, Stalin said there was no need for it, as there is still no pact with the
Soviets. Guarantees for Poland’s borders by other countries Stalin considered as insulting to
Poland. Only bilateral pacts are correct. He expressed himself in favor of establishing official
representations between Poland and Ukraine and Belorussia®.

Towards the end Stalin returned back to the question of PPS. All were pressing
[Os6bka] Morawski, and Stalin suggested to get Drobner out of the Committee. Bulganin

34 According to an account of de Gaulle, he had not given any concessions to the Soviet side. The pact had been
signed when de Gaulle threatened to leave Moscow without signing it. See Ch. De Gaulle: War memoirs, Vol. I1l. Warsaw
1968, p. 336-341.

55 Wiadystaw Korczyc (1893-1966) - then a Major-General, commander of the I Polish Army, was made chief of
staff of the Polish Army on December 22, 1944.

3¢ Stanistaw Poplawski (1902-1973) - then a Major-General, commander of the 2™ Polish Army.

57 Consistent with an order of December 19, 1944 S. Poptawski and K. Korczyc took over their positions on
December 22, 1944.

58 Concluded on 12 December 1943.

%% No such representations have been set up.
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claims that Drobner had allegedly spoke at a PKWN meeting against the militarization of
railroads. ‘

[Os6bka] Morawski defended Drobner and in that case Bierut noted that ideologically
Drobner is departing from us. He also pointed out to a resolution of the PPS Executive
Committee, calling on the PPS emigration to return to Poland.

With regard to Mikolajczyk, Stalin thinks that he has made concessions on the advise
of Churchill, who would like to have his people in the Lublin government. Since the Soviet
Union has evidence that Mikolajczyk has connections with terrorists in Poland, the Soviet
Union will not allow Mikotajczyk to enter Poland as long as the Red Army is there.

The Drobner question has not been definitely decided, though Stalin was strongly
pressing to send Drobner off even to Kiev as a PKWN representative.

During a ride in a car after the visit [Osdbka] Morawski blew out at Bierut shouting
“You in your ranks have bandits and the “sanacja” people®’, so you clean up yourselves, not
our party!”. An unpleasant exchange followed and Bierut left without saying a good-bye to
[Os6ébka] Morawski.

Done by: Wiestaw

Source: Protokoly posiedzen Biura Politycznego KC PPR 1944-1945, edited by A.
Kocharnski, pp. 71-77.

Translated by Jan Chowaniec.

¢ Translator's not - “sanacja” people refers to Pitsudski’s followers after 1926.
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Minutes from a Meeting of the Military Division of the CC PPR Relating to Information
Provided by Gen. Rola-Zymierski from his Talks with Stalin on Personnel Policy in the
Military, Lublin, December 18, 1944

Strictly secret

Participants at the meeting were comrades: Wiestaw, Tomasz, gen. Rola, gen.
Zawadzki, gen. Swierczewski, Jakub, Minc and Marek.

The agenda:

1. Report by gen. Rola from a visit to Moscow.

2. The question of transfer of com. Marek.

3. Exposé by gen Rola at a meeting of the KRN.

4. Decorations for January 1%.

5. Salaries for political officers of the Polish Army.
6. Miscellaneous.

Before the agenda was adopted there had evolved a longer discussion on the tactics of
the A.K., [whose symptom is] the reporting of Lis®! to the Security Department and his new
proposals submitted to gen. Rola for cooperation.

Com. Wiestaw familiarized the gathering with a declaration of AK in the Krasnostaw
county and with the content of an “understanding” reached between the AK command for
Krasnostaw and “representatives of PK WN", regarding the AK coming into the open and
enlisting itself into the Polish Army.

The guidelines for the party towards the new policy of AK have been laid down as
follows:

1. Use such tactics as to take over AK weapons and to obtain addresses of all AK
members, particularly those of the officers.

2. Do not admit them to the Polish Army and isolate those that have been mobilized.

3. Those guilty of fraternal murders bring up to the courts.

Ad. 1. Gen Rola informs that the chief of staff of the Red Army, gen. Antonov has
communicated to him that Berling is charging him of supporting AK elements in the Polish
Army. This charge is the continuation of a provocative activity of Berling.

In his conversation with Stalin gen. Rola presented to him the situation in the Polish
Army as follows:

1. A danger from the AK in the Polish Army has been essentially eliminated. For AK
activity, desertion, for organizing hostile and spying activity in the military, military courts
during the months of October and November passed sentences to about 500 people, of which
about 170 were sentenced to death.

87 Reference is probably made to second lieutenant Edward Michowski, during the occupation a commander of a
partisan unit of the Peasant Battalions (BCh) in the Lublin region.

107




2. The Polish Army is experiencing a severe shortage of automobiles and tanks, and
the promised 2000 automobiles have not been delivered so far.

3. The Main Staff of the Polish Armed Forces doesn't have a chief of staff.

4. [Gen. Rola] has intervened with Stalin for the formation of a Polish Front.

With regard to the automobiles he has received assurance that 2000 of them will be
delivered by the end of December, and in January another one thousand. The question of
tanks looks bad. Probably we won't get them, as even the Red Army is having a shortage of
tanks.

Regarding the formation of a Polish Front Stalin was speaking skeptically. Gen. Rola
felt that Stalin apparently doesn't agree to the formation of the Polish Front. The reason - the
lack of technical means. From the 2™ Polish Army all munitions were taken for the I
Belorussian Front. There may also be changes in operational plans, but there may also be a
sense of uncertainty regarding the Polish forces.

On the question of a chief of staff Stalin proposed to transfer Korczyc from the 1*
Army and make him the chief of staff. Make gen. Poptawski commander of the 1¥ Army and
gen. Swierczewski commander of the 2™ Army.

As far as the expansion of Polish armed forces is concerned, gen Rola got an
impression there may arise great difficulties due to provision shortages.

From conversation with Bulganin and his instructions it 1ooks that he is now a
superior to the chief of staff of the Red Army. In Bulganin we find a very good friend of
Poland.

In addition gen. Rola informs that Stalin was in favor of separating the Militia from
the Security services in the sense that they must be separate organizations and pointed out to
the need for Militia wearing different uniforms than the military.

In accordance with Stalin’s proposals the [Military] Division has decided:
a) transfer gen. Korczyc to the position of chief of staff of the Polish Army,
b) transfer gen Poptawski to the position of commander of the 1** Army,

¢) to nominate gen. Swierczewski commander of the 2™ Army.

Ad. 2. Com. Marek submits a motion to take final decisions regarding his work and to
set the date for his transfer to the Army.

It has been decided that the question of transferring com. Marek to the military,
consistent with a resolution of the Party CC, should be positively settled in the beginning of
January.

Ad 3. The guidelines for an exposé of gen. Rola for a KRN meeting have been
discussed and gen. Rola was obliged to work out the text of the exposé by 24 December.
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Ad 4. With regard to decorations in connection with the first anniversary of the
creation of KRN and setting up the Provisional Government it has been decided that:

About 1,000 people should be awarded, among them about 600 with a Grunwald
Cross, 100 with an Order of Poland’s Rebirth and 300 with a Cross of Merit. Assign 400
Grunwald Crosses for the country and about 200 for the ZPP (Union of Polish Patriots).

Com. Marek is made responsible for preparing a list of candidates for rewards from
the AL (People’s Army) and independence activity from the occupation period.

The lists should be ready by December 25, 1944.

The distribution list for the Orders of Rebirth of Poland and Crosses of Merit was
decided as follows: PKWN - 50 pieces, the Lublin voivodship - 50, Rzeszéw voivodship -
50, Biatystok voivodship - 30, Warsaw voivodship - 30, Kielce voivodship - 20, the city of
Lublin - 50, Praga - 70, city of Rzeszéw - 20, city of Biatystok - 30.

Ad 5. On the question of salaries for political officers it has been decided that they
should be equal to the salaries of fighting officers.Regular posts for political officers have to
be equal to the deputy fighting officers in the particular military services. Other matters
relating to political-educational work in the Polish Army have been postponed till the next
meeting.

Ad 6. It was decided to return an automobile left by major Wrzos for the disposal of
the CC PPR to its rightful owner, i.e. the military recruitment office in Lublin, and gen Rola
took it upon himself to give to the CC PPR one Willis automobile.

Done by: Wiestaw
AAA, O/VI. 295-VII/251, pp. 1-4.

Source: Protokoly posiedzen Biura Politycznego KC PPR 1944-1945, edited by A.
Kocharski, pp. 71-77.

Translated by Jan Chowaniec.
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Excerpts from the Memoirs of Wladyslaw Gomulka Concerning
the Polish Communist Leader’s Meetings with Stalin in 1944-1945

A turnaround in Moscow's position toward the Homeland National Council (KRN)

The arrival of the KRN delegation in Moscow had entailed many important political
consequences and changes in the existing up to now state of affairs involving the above
mentioned issues. In the first place, one ought to mention a positive attitude of the highest
Soviet authorities both to the creation of the Homeland National Council, and to setting up by
it provisional executive bodies in the country at the appropriate moment. This was reflected
in a reception given for the KRN delegation by Stalin at the Kremlin, in the presence of
Molotov and other party and state leaders of the USSR. Stalin held a preliminary
conversation with the delegation on May 19 [1944], and on May 22 the second essential
conversation was held in the Kremlin, during which the delegation briefed the top
representatives of the USSR with the premises and activities of the KRN and presented the
question of weapons delivery for the People’s Army (AL). The course of those talks indicated
that up to the delegation’s arrival in Moscow Stalin either had not known at all about the
setting up in Poland of the KRN®, or had received on this matter very imprecise and
superficial information.

One can be sure that in those days the KRN became for Stalin a gift from heaven. As
only a few weeks earlier he had asked Roosevelt to give permission for a trip to the Soviet
Union for American citizens of Polish origin, prof. Oskar Lange and rev. Stanistaw
Orlemariski, whom Moscow intended to include into a Polish National Committee or a
Provisional Government as non-communist raisins in those executive bodies being created at
the time and scheduled to take power in the country. Stalin understood very well how greatly
unpopular in the world public opinion and in the Polish society must be a Polish government
consisting exclusively of ZPP activists residing in the Soviet Union and hiding under this
facade members of the CBKP®. To mitigate that unpopularity, he attempted to introduce into
such government the Poles residing in the West.

On the other hand, Wasilewska was instructed to search for candidates to this
government in the country. As she didn’t have any information on the activities of the PPR,
she recommended to the proper Soviet bodies the peasant leader Kazimierz Baginski as a
proper candidate to a Polish government, which were to be set up in Moscow. Dimitrov
turned to us with a request to induce Baginiski to depart for the USSR, not knowing that
Baginski was ill-disposed not only towards the PPR, but also towards the USSR, and besides
he held a leading position in the central apparatus of the Delegatura®. No wonder, he

82 This is an unlikely supposition. Stalin had been informed rather in more detail than not. An agreement for
arrival of the KRN delegation to the USSR and for engaging in its transportation through the front the Soviet intelligence,
partisans and the air force was not possible without Stalin’s agreement.

63 CBKP - Centraine Biuro Komunistéw Polskich (Central Bureau of Polish Communists).

% Translator’s note - Delegatura in this case means the representation of the Polish Emigré Government in London
for the Homeland, with its headquarters in Warsaw.
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ridiculed the proposed trip to the USSR submitted to him, from my inspiration, by peasant
leader Stanistaw Banczyk.

When the KRN delegation found itself in Moscow all those political troubles,
connected with the creation by the ZPP a Provisional Polish Government in Moscow
suddenly disappeared for Stalin and other Soviet leaders. That is why Stalin in a conversation
with our delegation, held on May 22 acknowledged with satisfaction its statement that this
homeland representation center should play a decisive role in the future in solving the
question of setting up provisional executive bodies in the country and that the ZPP as a
Polish émigré center should subordinate itself to the Homeland National Council. [..]%

Consistent with the instructions received in Warsaw, the KRN delegation in the
course of further talks declared that it wanted to return back to the country as soon as
possible. This intention could not, of course, suit Stalin. Right after the arrival of the KRN
delegation in Moscow he noticed in it a perfect political instrument, which he decided to use
in his battle with
the western allies for a victorious - from the point of view of the USSR’s interests - solution
to the Polish question. By then the KRN had been already acting in the country for almost
five months. The Soviet competent circles, including Dimitrov as a representative of VKP(b),
had nothing to do with its creation, preparation of its ideological declaration, mapping out its
objectives for today and tomorrow. The KRN's policy was fully consistent with the position
that the Soviet government took on the Polish question. Regardless of the extent of KRN’s
influence in the society, it constituted an authentic homeland center. In a word, it was not a
Soviet creature, a “Moscow’s agency”. And for Stalin this was most important.

Therefore, he not only advised the delegation not to return to Poland, but at the same
time he thought it necessary for the whole party leadership center and KRN to relocate to the
Soviet Union, to the areas liberated from the Germans, from which it could direct activities in
the homeland through the remaining there comrades, constituting there a supplementary
center. These suggestions the delegation promised to pass on to the country by radio codes.
At the same time it didn’t agree to remain in Moscow and consistent with Stalin’s suggestion
decided to request the PPR and KRN leadership to expand its composition by representatives
of the radical wing of SL “Wola Ludu” (“People’s Will"”) and representatives of the Supreme
Command of the People’s Army.

In those conversations participated also chairwoman of the Main Board of ZPP W.
Wasilewska, who proposed that the KRN delegation visits Polish military units in the USSR.
Stalin very warmly supported this proposal, saying: “The Homeland National Council doesn’t
have an army, and the Polish Army doesn’t have a government”. The delegation renewed
further talks with Stalin 22 June 1944, visiting in the meantime the units of the Polish
Military.

% Here and in the next few pages for the sake of brevity part of the comprehensive description from meetings and
talks of the KRN delegation in Moscow, cited after the publications of Osébka-Morawski and M. Spychalski, has been
omitted.
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Prior to the first meeting of the delegation with Stalin, M. Spychalski, acting as a
plenipotentiary of the CC PPR, had held talks with CBKP members. It is only then that he
learned about its existence, and likewise the CBKP , the ZPP leadership and the command of
the Polish Army in the USSR learned about the situation in the country, about activities of
the PPR and KRN, about armed struggle with the occupant, [...]

However, change was coming slowly and with evident resistance before the CBKP
and the ZPP leadership, acting under distinct pressure from Stalin, decided to recognize - at
least formally - the primacy of the homeland, to give up on its independence from the CC
PPR and KRN.

The first step along this road was a communiqué placed in the ZPP’s paper “Wolna
Polska” (“Free Poland”) of 23 May 1944 about the arrival in Moscow of the KRN delegation
and its reception by Stalin. In that communiqué the ZPP leadership stated that it was
recognizing the Homeland National Council as a leadership center of struggle for the
liberation of Poland. But nothing more. The question of supremacy over the Polish Army in
the USSR was omitted with total silence, as well as the relationship between the ZPP and the
KRN.

A visit to Stalin
(August 1944)

In this period, when we made this decision, I had already had my first get-together visit with
Stalin. In fact I paid it not on my own initiative, but actually fulfilling the will of the
remaining members of the Politburo. After my arrival to Lublin I had had such a multitude of
work that it didn’t occur to me to present myself to Stalin. This matter propped up at a
Politburo meeting, at which Bierut was reporting on the above mentioned Moscow talks
with Stalin and Mikolajczyk in the first decade of August. It was then that some member of
the Politburo made a remark addressed to me: “It’s high time to present yourself to Stalin”.
Initially I reacted rather clumsily, asking :"What for”, and I heard “What do you mean what
for? - don’t you understand that the secretary general of the CC PPR should in this capacity
pay a courtesy visit to Stalin?”. To all members of the Politburo this was such a natural
matter as it is for strong believers to go to church to take part in some religious ceremony.
Thus, I shared the point of view of my comrades, expressing consent for this ritual of
reporting to Stalin, to let him know me personally.

All formalities connected with my departure for Moscow had been arranged with the
assistance of Nikolai Bulganin®. In the second decade of August I departed from Lublin by
special plane. For me it wasn’t a small experience, as it was the first air travel in my life. I
withstood it very well, without any nausea or dizziness. I was observing with great interest
through a round window of the plane everything what was visible on the flight’s route. We
landed at an airfield, which had been inoperative already for many years, almost in the center

% Nikolai Bulganin was at that time representative of the USSR at the PKWN.




of today’s Moscow. From there we drove by car to the center of the city together with
awaiting for me representatives of the CPSU Central Committee, where I was located in
some apartment, serving as a party hotel. It was about noon time. As my guide said, a car
from the Kremlin was to be expected soon to pick me up.

I continually had a pervasive thought of what I am going to talk about with Stalin. Is
he going to seek specific information on the activities of the party and PKWN - what I
thought was rather doubtful - or is he just going to get acquainted with me? In case of need I
put into my briefcase in Lublin various materials, which might be helpful in my talks. At the
same time I also thought up the second alternative, that is narrowing down my meeting to a
brief visit. At that time I didn’t know his customs, his norms or methods of work, I wasn’t
aware that he was staring substantial talks with representatives of other parties only from
10.00 p.m. and his official functions start from 2.00 p.m. I was made aware of this only by
later practice.

At about 2.00 p.m. came to my place an NKVD officer, probably in the rank of a
major and having been assured of my identity, he asked me to follow him to a black
limousine awaiting in front of the building, whose windows were covered with curtains. I
took the back seat, while my guide - the officer - took the front seat besides the driver, who
was also uniformed. Soon the car pulled to a stop in front of the entrance gate to the Kremlin,
guarded from both sides by NKVD guards. Beyond the watch-tower on the left side of the
gate there was a wicket for pedestrians. An NKVD officer came out from the watch-tower,
opened the gate in half and came up to the car. The officer sitting in the car handed him
through lowered window an ID or an entrance pass. At the same time from the watch-tower
on the other side also came out an officer and stood in front of the still closed second half of
gate. In the course of controlling the pass the first officer just gave me a look, then turned
back to the officer in the car, pulled back from the door and saluted. At this moment the
officer standing in front of the closed half of the gate opened it wide and the car drove in to
the Kremlin compound.

Later on this procedure kept repeating itself with this addition that when a delegation
would be coming to Stalin in the evening hours - what was a steady rule - the controlled car
would be under a stream of glaring lights from reflectors fastened at the gate. The premises
where Stalin’s cabinet was located was several hundred meters away. After my arrival on the
spot my officer-guide passed me over to the hands of guards on the main floor. Right beside
there was an elevator. One of the officers from that sentry got into the elevator with me, put it
in motion and stopped on second floor. We went out into the corridor leading to a sizable
room serving as a cloak-room. There I left my hat. From the cloak-room there was leading
again a long corridor bending at straight angle, along which the officer stepping ahead of me
led me to a large room occupied by Stalin’s security guards, adjacent directly to his cabinet.

Several NKVD officers were there on guard. One of them, very short, of rather
misshapen look, with a rank of colonel, later on promoted to general, as far as I recall, by the
name of Poskrebishev (Stalin in irritation called him “mezhavetz” (“scoundrel”), was a
commander®’. He knew, of course, that I was going to be received by Stalin. That is why as

7 Alexander Poskrebishev, head of Stalin’s secretariat.
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soon as I came in he greeted me and seeing that I am holding a leather brief-case, he ordered :
me to leave it at his desk. To my remark that I have in it documents that may be of some use ‘
in my talk with Stalin, he said I could take them out from the brief-case and take them with

me, but I am not supposed to enter to Stalin with the brief-case. Not knowing what

documents I might need, I gave up on them totally and left the brief-case in the room.

Poskrebishev seized me with his look from top to bottom as if to check if my pockets don’t

look suspicious, then leaving me at his desk disappeared beyond the door of Stalin’s cabinet.

He returned after a while and leaving the door open said to me: “Tovarish Stalin priglashayet

Vas” (“Comrade Stalin asks you in”).

From the door to Stalin’s desk was about 2-3 steps. Coming beyond the door, which
Poskrebishev had closed after me, I noticed that from the depth of a long room toward the
desk situated at its end, is coming by slow steps towards me, staggering slightly, a rather
short man of stocky construction, dressed in military grey tunic, buttoned up to neck and
military trousers of the same color with stripes. This was Stalin. We met almost exactly in the
middle of the room, which was of rectangular shape of approximately 10 meters wide and 20
meters long. On the left side stood a long, massive, rectangular table, covered with green
cloth and at it a row of chairs on both sides. During bilateral meetings the chairs from the
wall were taken by representatives of the USSR, and on the opposite side were situated their
partners. Stalin’s chair stood separately at the head of the table. There were no furniture on
the left side of the room, but it had several large windows overlooking the city.

As I have already said, at the rear wall of the room from the windows there was
Stalin’s desk, and behind it an arm-chair. Right beyond the desk on the same wall there was a
door leading to other premises, unknown to me. On the left wall, right beyond Stalin’s chair,
there was also a door, leading to a labyrinth of corridors. One of them led to a small cinema
hall with about fifteen seats. The screen was of normal, large size. There were also tables
with bottles of water and glasses. Stalin was a great lover of films. He had admired the
picture “Peter the Great”, and liked very much his harsh judgement of his own son. If after
talks Stalin suggested to us to jointly view some picture, it meant that he didn’t intend to
invite us for supper.

I am not sure what was reflected in my face when I was approaching Stalin, reaching
out with my hand to greet him. I was made aware that [ was greeting a great man of the
world scale, and that it was on him primarily that the fate of Poland depended. However, I
didn’t know what he was going to talk about with me. That thought was still piercing in my
mind. I was trying to give my face a cheerful, normal look, what - as I know - I am never
able to do in moments of excitement or uncertainty.

“Zdrastvuytie tovarishch Stalin” (“Nice to meet you, Comrade Stalin”) - I said
keeping his hand. I never called him “Yosif Vissarionovich”, like I never called any Soviet
interlocutor by his name and the name of his father. Without waiting for his response I
continued saying that [ asked him to be received, as I wanted to be introduced to him and let
him know me personally, adding that I had already seen him at close distance. With interest
he asked me where and when. I explained that it had been in 1934 at a Moscow metro station,
which he had visited a day prior to its opening and public use. At the same time a group of ‘
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Polish communists studying at the Leninist school at Kraskov, near Moscow, was also
visiting the metro. At one of the underground stations we had been disembarked and in a
little while the train pulled up to a stop and Stalin, accompanied by many uniformed people
got off. For us at that time it was a great moment.

He listened with interest this story and then asked when had I departed from the
Soviet Union and what had been going on with me later. I summed up my response in a few
sentences, including my work during the occupation period and on this occasion I clarified
the reasons why, despite the calls that we had received within the last few months from
Moscow, the party leadership was unable to depart from Poland.

The conversation was going on in a standing position, without taking seats at the
table. Stalin didn’t invite me to do it. Thus, I realized that by giving consent to this meeting,
he just wanted to meet me personally and didn’t intend to discuss with me any particular
matters. Towards the end I told him briefly about our difficulties and about the lack of
experience of our party in building a new Polish statehood. He didn’t pick up this topic,
though, limiting himself to the statement: “Don’t worry, you can always count on our
assistance in overcoming your difficulties”.

I thanked him for this very warmly and after bidding him good-bye I left his cabinet.
He must have known that I could communicate with him in Russian, as he didn’t call in an
interpreter. The conversation lasted between fifteen and twenty minutes, and Stalin limited
himself to asking questions, leaving the rest of time for my answers.

After my return to the apartment I learned from a CC CPSU representative, who was
taking care of me, that Dimitrov was inviting me for a talk. I accepted it without enthusiasm,
what I didn’t even hide, but I agreed to go to his apartment. Dimitrov was behaving stiffly, as
if he had swallowed a stick. Apparently he still had not come out of his role as a leader of the
Comintern. He was relating to me as a superior. He was interested in justifying Kasman's
activities in the Lublin area during the occupation. On other pages of this memoirs [ am
talking about this activity quite extensively. When I told Dimitrov that the leadership of our
party evaluates negatively those activities of Kasman, he made me a declaration more or less
like this: “Everything that Kasman did, was it good or bad, he was doing it on our instruction
and we are responsible for it”. The word “we” - meant the CPSU. To my remark that the
leadership of our party had been calling on Moscow many times with criticism of Kasman’s
activities and demanded his subordination to the PPR and the AL command of the Lublin
region, Dimitrov justified the negative position of Moscow by saying that at that time
Moscow had not had full and truthful orientation of the situation in the PPR and AL. Seeing
that I don't trust it and am referring to a declaration of the KRN, which had explained to
Moscow the attitude of the PPR leadership to Kasman and his group, Dimitrov renewed his
statement, appealing to me as secretary general of the CC PPR not to draw any consequences
toward Kasman by our party’s leadership. So, I told him that the leadership of our party has
no intention to deliberate over the Kasman’s case and will leave him in peace. He was very
glad to hear it. At farewell he was trying to be very kind and warm. I have fully kept my
promise that [ made to him.
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My next meetings with Stalin had a different, collective character. I didn't go to him
alone. As secretary general of the CC PPR I was always heading party delegations. Included
in them were members of the Politburo, almost always Bierut and Minc, and later on
occasionally also Berman. During the PKWN period we would sometime include W.
Wasilewska, who was formally deputy to PKWN chairman Os6bka-Morawski. None of the
meetings with Stalin, held on a party platform, were publicly announced. On the other hand,
all official governmental or state visits to the Soviet Union, which usually had been received
at the Kremlin by Stalin, were reflected in the public media. During the period of PK WN’s
activities I had never been included into such delegation. They were always headed by
Bierut. Later on in sporadic cases I would be heading multi-party delegations being received
by Stalin, what also was not made public, or I would be included formally in state
delegations, which were officially received by Stalin and in such cases this was made public.

The question of oath, which I have mentioned above, was probably presented at the
first meeting of our party’s delegation with Stalin, which took place still before the liberation
of Praga, which means more or less in the beginning of September 1944. In that meeting
from our side took part, besides me, Bierut and Minc, while Stalin was accompanied by
Molotov and Mikoyan, and maybe also Beria. The above mentioned almost always
participated in our talks with Stalin, sometimes there was also Malenkov and occasionally
also Khrushchev. Other members of the CPSU leadership had been appearing very seldom at
suppers at Stalin’s villa near Moscow, given in our honor after completion of talks in the
Kremlin. I don't recall precisely what was the subject of our talks with Stalin at that
particular meeting. From that period I don't have any notes. I remember, though, very well
particular, the most important questions that we had been putting then before Stalin, though I
am unable to recall either the exact dates of those meetings, or to
pinpoint which of those topics were discussed at that particular meeting. Besides, some of
them had been discussed a number of times, they didn’t recede from the agenda of our
meetings. To such topics belongs the question of “war trophies”, of which I will talk later on.

From among the questions discussed at that meeting two seem to me indisputable.
They relate to an agreement concluded between the PKWN and the governments of the
Ukrainian and Belorussian Soviet Republics on mutual repatriation of population, and a
memorandum of the émigré government of Mikotajczyk of 29 August 1944, addressed to the
USSR government, stating the terms of forming a provisional government in Poland. These
questions have been sufficiently described in various historical publications, so I cannot add
to it anything new. I will just mention that the Mikolajczyk’s memorandum the Soviet
government had passed on to the PKWN, what the TASS agency made public. This
memorandum the émigré government narrowed down to Mikotajczyk’s proposals, which had
already been rejected in Moscow during talks held in the first decade of August 1944. So, our
delegation agreed with Stalin that the PK WN would leave them without response.

After exhausting the issues on the agenda, Stalin, as usual, turned to us with a
question: “Eto vsyo?” (Is it all?") - I responded that we ask him to take position on one more
matter, namely on two versions of an oath, which soldiers mobilized to the Polish Army are
to take. I put before him two separate typed texts of the oath. Stalin, having read the first and
second text, looking at me said: “Tshto za vopros?” (“what a problem?”) and pushing toward
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me my draft said: “Etot nuzhno prinyat” (“this should be adopted”), then he got up from the
‘ table, inviting us for supper to his place.

In this way Stalin settled a dispute between myself and the remaining members of the
Politburo, probably not being even aware that such dispute had taken place. He must have
been fully aware that introduction of the Soviet Union and the Red Army to the text of the
oath taken by soldiers mobilized to the Polish Army would be a political mistake, it would
narrow our socio-political base.%

Stalin and agricultural reform. The October turnaround

It wasn’t always so that Stalin took the right position on Polish affairs, that he showed
sufficient understanding of the situation resulting from the existing configuration of political
forces in Poland. And it should be emphasized that he was the chief constructor of our party’s
general line, he had shaped the socio-political image of People’s Poland, decided on the
incorporation into her new borders the western territories up to the Oder-Neisse line and the
northern territories on the Baltic. Unquestionably, it resulted from his long-term political
calculation, dictated by vital interests of the Soviet Union. However, it should be
remembered that due to this and the PPR’s policy of friendship and Polish-Soviet alliance,
conducted from its very foundation, Poland sentenced to death by Hitlerite Germany has
been able to take advantage the only chance in its history of such favorable configuration of
. her borders and ensuring her security. And independently of how great claims and charges
we, the Poles, and we Polish communists may have against Stalin, nothing can change (...)
his personal and decisive contribution, which he had done for Poland in drawing her borders
in the Potsdam Agreement. The Polish people in its historical development could not make a
bigger mistake if it did not take this fact into consideration, and deleted it from its memory.

8 The form of a military oath, of which talk is here, was established by a PKWN decree on 31 August 1944. Thus,
. the talk with Stalin must have taken place earlier than follows from this text.
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September-October 1944 .

Stalin came to the conclusion that legalistic forms of our activity and leaving the
former owners of estates in their places of residence, constitute the main source of political
disorientation among the peasants, their disbelief in the stability of the state power and socio-
political relations built by the PK WN and their mistrust to our party’s policies, and that is
why he decided to change the hitherto existing legalistic course of our party in the
implementation of the decree on agricultural reform into a revolutionary one. As a way of
accomplishing this change, he used the already described “conversation” with Bierut, which
he had conducted with the participation of Molotov in his home near Moscow towards the
end of a planned in advance libation, lasting the whole night.

On the basis of various publications it’s not difficult to fix the date of this event.
Thus, on 28 September 1944 a KRN and PKWN delegation arrived in Moscow, composed
of: B. Bierut,
E. Os6bka-Morawski, general M. Rola-Zymierski, A. Witos and W. Rzymowski, to conduct
talks with representatives of the USSR government on economic questions, and particularly
on providing us assistance in the reconstruction of our country. This matter has already been
discussed in various publications, so I am not going to deal with it here. On the following
day, September 29" in the evening Stalin gave a supper in his home, inviting to it only
Bierut, Os6bka and Zymierski. From the Soviet side there were, besides Stalin: Molotov,
Mikoyan, Beria and probably also Malenkov. Just towards the end of this supper, when its
participants, after drinking champagne from ram horns, stood up from the table and dispersed
into three groups to different banquet halls, Stalin and Molotov held with Bierut that
“rughatelney rozgavor”(“scolding talk”), whose content Bierut was reporting to us upon his
return to Lublin. The brutal scolding of Bierut for the methods of implementation of
agricultural reform and for attitude toward the expropriated landowners was really directed at
the whole party leadership. Thus, we had to make a sudden turnaround in the party’s and
PKWN’s activities in this area. For understandable reasons the true causes of that turnaround
could not be revealed. They were known only to a narrow circle from the central leadership
of the party.

Already on the following day Bierut transmitted to Lublin the news on the critical
attitude of the VKPB(b) leadership to the position held up to now by our party in the
realization of the decree on agricultural reform, essentially not departing from the course
adopted by the head of the agricultural department of PK WN A. Witos and forces supporting
him in the Peasant Party The new policy line was defined in a proclamation by the CC PPR
issued on 3 October, addressed to workers and peasants under a combative slogan: “Down
with the landlords’ attempts to sabotage and hinder the reform”, [...]%.

The cited proclamation of the leadership of our party, sharply criticizing, with a
mixture of demagogy, the attitude of peasant leaders, including A. Witos, on the question of

 An extensive quotation from the CC PPR proclamation has been omitted. It was published, among other things,
in: PPR, Rezolucje, odezwy, instrukcje i okélniki Komitety Centralnego VIII. 1944 - X11.1945, Warszawa 1959, dok. Nr. 10.
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agricultural reform, was clearly in contradiction with the spirit and letter of the July
Manifesto of PKWN, it constituted a glaring example of breaking up with the policy of
democratic national front, proclaimed by our party at the creation of KRN, which at that time
had been judged by the CBKP in the USSR as being sectarian. In October 1944, when our
party, indeed, started to stray toward the sectarian path, attacking its peasant-allies for their
views on agricultural reform, all members of the party leadership who had come from the
Soviet Union embraced that policy right away, without the slightest hesitation. They were
convinced of its rightfulness by Bierut’s report on his visit with Stalin. Personally I had
doubts if that new political course was right. Bierut was also aware of it, what prompted him
to submit that report. In this situation I could not help but join the position of all remaining
members of the Politburo.

In the beginning of October, Bierut, after his return from Moscow, sent a letter on
behalf of the KRN Presidium to the chairman of PK WN Osébka-Morawski requesting the
dismissal of A. Witos from his position as head of the agricultural department and also as
deputy chairman of PKWN. This demand was justified by a charge that he had been
diminishing the role of social organs in implementing agricultural reform and had introduced
enemies of the reform to agricultural offices as well as to positions of administrators of the
post-landlords’ estates. On October 8 A. Witos resigned from his position in the PK WN
allegedly for health reasons - as was publicly announced. The position of the PK WN
agricultural department was taken over by Osébka-Morawski, and his deputies became:
Stanislaw Bieniek from the PPR and Edward Bertold from the SL.

The dismissal of Witos from the PKWN and criticism of the right wing in the Peasant
Party caused a grave political crisis in that party. Together with Witos from the SL leadership
departed also Stanislaw Kotek-Agroszewski, who on Npvember 20 also lost the position of
the department of public administration in the PKWN. Their other followers were also
removed from
their leadership positions. New people took over their places. According to a resolution
adopted by the main council of SL on its meeting of November 22 and 23, Stanislaw Janusz
from the Rzeszéw Voivodship, formerly a deputy from the SL “Piast” became a new
president of the main council, and Jan Michal Grubecki (participant from the battle of
Stalingrad, before the war rather closer to the nationalists than the peasants) became his
deputy. The position of secretary was taken by Jozef Ozga-Michalski, an authentic peasant
leader from the Kielce region, cooperating with our party and with the AL during the
occupation.

Collectivization - A Demokleses’ sword over the PPR

A ghost of collectivization as a weapon of struggle with our party and the people’s power
was used by the London underground not only in the PKWN period, but also later, after the
creation of the Provisional Government and continuation of agricultural reform across the
whole territory of Poland. To some degree this propaganda was aided by various intra-party
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leaks related to the role of the Union of Peasant Self-assistance and other agricultural
organizations, and particularly pronouncements of some members of our party originating
from the KPP (Communist Party of Poland) on the collectivization of agriculture in our
country. Though at that time the PPR leadership was deprecating the idea of collectivization,
I was personally fighting collectivization designs, appearing here and there in different
forms. Nevertheless, nobody could come up against a doctrinal principle of collectivization,
which sooner or later - according to the Marxist-Leninist theory - had to come.

That Demokleses’ sword, in the form of kolkhozes, was always hanging over our
party, but nobody could foresee when the supporting it horse hair will tear off and the sword
will fall on our heads. That, in turn, depended mainly on Stalin. Wanting to learn whether
this danger was close or distant, I had agreed on the Politburo that I would raise this question
at the nearest meeting of our delegation with Stalin.

From Stalin’s pronouncement at that meeting I prepared then an extensive note. It
appears from its content that this meeting was held prior to the manifestation of the
population of Warsaw on April 3, 1945 on the occasion of liberation of Gdansk, but after
submission of a statement by the Provisional Government to the governments of the USSR,
USA, Great Britain and China on the admission of Poland to the United Nations Conference
in San Francisco. Because in my hand-written note there is no date, so, the above mentioned
circumstances indicate that this meeting with Stalin took place toward the end of March
1945.

At that meeting I put before Stalin on behalf of our delegation (Gomulka, Bierut,
Minc)
several questions with a request to give us his position. To begin with, I informed him about
the
symptoms of sectarianism in practical activities of the KPP part of our party’s activists, as
evident in attempts to impose on the PPS and Peasant Party organizations our position in
various matters and against this background I raised the question of collectivization of
individual farms in Poland. I am going to give Stalin’s response on these matters below,
based on my reporting note.

Besides the above questions I presented and substantiated to Stalin my critical
opinion regarding the arrest in Warsaw on March 27, 1945 of sixteen representatives of the
London underground with general Okulicki at the head (“Niedzwiadek” - AK commander
and commander of an illegal organization “Nie”) and J. St. Jankowski (vice premier of the
émigré government) by the NKVD, by the order of general Ivanov (Serov). In this
connection I demanded that general Serov be recalled from Poland. Stalin’s reaction
regarding this matter, according to my records, I will present later.

I raised also several other questions, among others, the question of nationalization and
Stalin, on the other hand, informed us about his conversation with Churchill on the formation
of a Polish government and explained the position of the Soviet government on the
reconstruction of the Provisional Government. I will later discuss also these topics, based on
my notes.
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Below I am giving Stalin’s pronouncement, relating to the first group of questions,
according to my notes.

Ifyou want to liberate yourself from sectarianism, you are right. There should be
differences of opinion within the coalition. In a coalition it’s hard to avoid some freedom for
codlition parties. There should be a general basis on which a coalition rests: a democratic
Poland, recognition of the provisional government, renouncement of the London émigré
government - these are the main rules of coalition cooperation. On other issues there may be
differences among the coalition parties. There also should be no renouncement from an
alliance with England and America - the people would not understand that.

There should be a clear declaration against collectivization, collectivization should
be excluded. In our country collectivization was possible and timely only after twelve years
of Soviet power. Collectivization of peasant farms in your country is a pure fantasy. As far as
tractors are concerned, their supply to the villages mean assistance to the peasants and that
is how one should explain it to them, and the state is providing this assistance for a fee. [talk
was here of tractors being at the disposal of the Union of Peasant Self-assistance, whose one
of the tasks was to assist in the reconstruction of agriculture through the application of
modern machinery in individual agriculture for a full fee - remark by W.G.].

You do not push yourself directly to leading the Peasant Party. This is not how the
leading role of the party should be understood. You have more influence among the peasants
than you yourself think. You are under the influence of various gossips, whispering
propaganda, and you are not able to propagate your assets, you are not able to show them to
the masses and openly explain your position. If you remain silent, others will speak for you.
Your propaganda is stereotype. You are doing everything according to a ‘mark-and-cover”
Jormula, while you should be doing it openly. The Peasant Party should be given some
latitude. Perhaps it might be proper to create a different, more flexible platform of
cooperation. Let the government officially help the Peasant Party, not your party. As for the
Jact that the peasants are joining the workers’'party, there is nothing wrong with it. Let them
come.

You want to have everything ideally, to have a peasant sold out to you with soul and
body. What you have already achieved with the peasant masses through agricultural reform
is quite a lot. That a peasant is giving his contingent reluctantly is understandable. A peasant
wants to take, he doesnt want to give. We had forced them to give contingents. It’s necessary
to treat contingents as a tax in nature. Then you pay only for transportation and related
work, not for grain. Now when the peasant sees that we are giving him seeds, tractors,
fertilizers, he has got used to it and reconciled himself with contingents. Maybe that it will be
necessary to increase a little contingent prices. A peasant is greedy and you would want him
to kiss you. It will take years before a peasant is convinced, that there is no combination in
the fact that you gave him the land. If there is anyone who lives well in a war time it is the
peasants. A worker is naked like a falcon. You should not be worried that the peasants are
dissatisfied. 1 have no doubt that the peasant in his heart is thankful to you. And in a year
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time it will be even better, when he is convinced that the land is not being taken away from

him. .
Give more freedom to the Peasant Party, or otherwise it will become a claqueur, not

a party. The peasants, who up to now have been acting illegally, may now come to you, that

is to the Peasant Party and become members not only individually, but also in groups, on the

condition that they recognize the provisional government and its political platform.

Opposition on certain issues doesnt exclude loyalty, but the opposition cannot transfer the

government into a (discussion) club. We are still talking about a new Peasant Party. Stop

thinking about the old Peasant Party. However, you cannot allow to emerge for such people

who would want to do so just to break your neck. You would be suicidal if you would permit

such people to be active. In your country the situation is better than in France or Belgium.

You are getting up on your feet faster.

October 1944

On October 9, 1944 British prime minister Churchill and minister of foreign affairs Eden
arrived in Moscow to conduct talks with Stalin and Molotov, including talks on Poland. As
Stalin later informed our delegation, the initiative for this meeting had come from Churchill
after his long talks with Roosevelt held at a conference in Quebec regarding the war plans of
Great Britain and the U.S. Stalin had, indeed, expressed agreement for Churchill’s arrival to
Moscow, and already the following day, i.e. 10 October held with him a preliminary talk in
the Kremlin. During that conversation Churchill suggested to call on Mikolajczyk, Romer
and Grabski to arrive immediately to Moscow to hold with them further talks on recognition
by the émigré government of the Curzon line as a Polish-Soviet border and to reach an
understanding between that government and the PKWN, whose representatives had also
arrived in Moscow for this purpose.

Stalin approved Churchill’s proposal.

There is no doubt that prior to his departure for Moscow Churchill had agreed upon
his proposal with Mikotajczyk, who, together with accompanying members of his delegation,
arrived in Moscow on October 12. The PKWN delegation, invited by Stalin and composed of
B. Bierut, E. Os6bka-Morawski and M. Rola-Zymierski arrived in Moscow on October 1 1",

[..]"°

According to Bierut’s report on his talks in Moscow, submitted at the Politburo’s
meeting, Stalin - after the conference at the Kremlin with the participation of Mikolajczyk
and after a briefing on his talks with the PKWN delegation - had formed for himself a
decidedly negative opinion of Mikotajczyk and about the feasibility of reaching an
understanding between him and his group and the PKWN on setting up a provisional Polish

7 Over ten pages of discussion on the Moscow Conferenne in October 1944, based mostlt on the work by
Wiodzimierz T. Kowalski Wielka Koalicja 1941-1945 and on memoirs of general Stanistaw Tatar on Mikotajczyk's visit in
Washington in June 1944, published in “Zycie Warszawy” on 14 January 1981, have been omitted. .
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government. He informed Bierut, that, admittedly, in his talks with Churchill he had not told
him this openly, but had recognized his proposal to have in the future Polish government an
equal share of PKWN and London émigrés with Mikofajczyk having a position of premier as
baseless. The PKWN - as Stalin said - has already behind it a great record, significant
achievements in all areas of life, while the émigré government and its branches in the country
are pursuing sabotage, fighting the PK WN with all methods available, including murders. In
those words he had made Churchill understand that in this way the Mikotajczyk group had
closed for itself the possibility of introducing its representatives to the future provisional
government.

“To admit the London émigrés to participate in exercising power in Poland - Stalin
told Bierut - might have had sense during the August talks with Mikotajczyk in Moscow on
the conditions of recognizing by them the Curzon line and adoption of the PKWN political
platform, what would have contributed to the expansion of its base in the society. Since at
that time Mikotajczyk had rejected all of this and up to this day holds unfriendly position
toward the USSR and doesn’t want to recognize the PKWN - you don’t need him. Now we
have invited him to Moscow on Churchill’s clear wish. He and Roosevelt would like, with
Mikotajczyk's assistance, to turn back Poland from the road, on which the PK WN had
introduced her, they would like to install in Poland a government of London émigrés, who
would be at their disposal. We cannot allow this to happen, we will not yield to their
pressure.

The position taken currently at conferences and meetings with Mikotajczyk’s
participation, dedicated to the Polish question is facilitating us to come to the next stage of
building and strengthening state power in Poland. Time is becoming ripe to transform the
PKWN into a provisional government. The Mikotajczyk group has rejected not only the
Curzon line, but also its participation in that government, as proposed, and thus it has put
itself beyond its framework. Thus, you will form a provisional government without the
participation of the London émigrés. You don’t need to be concerned about them at all, you
don’t need to even talk about it during the preceding preparatory propaganda action,
motivating the need to form a provisional government on the basis of PK WN. Now you
should begin internal preparatory works, come to an understanding with the leadership of the
remaining allied parties, and within the next few weeks take up this matter publicly. The
ultimate date of forming a provisional government by the KRN we will set jointly a little
later”.

Perhaps I may have interspersed into the above account of Bierut, reconstructed by
me from memory, Stalin’s pronouncements from his other talks, conducted later and related
to the formation of the provisional government. After all, there had been several such talks,
also with a party delegation under my leadership. But I am certainly not mistaken that the
basic decision on replacing the PKWN by the provisional government was taken as a result
negative results of the October talks conducted with the Mikotajczyk group in Moscow.

October 1944
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Probably at the same meeting, at which the decision was made to locate the
Provisional Government in Warsaw after its liberation, we also approved Stalin’s
recommendation to have Bolestaw Bierut, after his appointment by the Homeland National
Council to the position of president, make a public statement to the effect that, desiring to
fulfill his duties to the best of his ability as the highest representative of the state and Polish
people - he gives up his membership in the Polish Workers’ Party and during the period of
holding this function he will consider himself as a non-party man.”*

(As is known, the Homeland National Council had adopted the Constitution of the
Polish Republic of March 17, 1921 as a legal basis of its activity and, according to its
provisions, in setting up the Provisional Government used its terminology: “The Republic of
Poland”).

Of course, Bierut’s declaration on leaving the PPR was of a simulating nature. The
non-partisanship of the president was designed first of all to strengthen the new state
authorities, expand their base in the society, develop a national front, fighting the enemies’
propaganda about a monopoly of power of the PPR. Also from the point of view of the image
of political representation of liberated Poland toward the western allies a “non-partisan”
president had for us positive values. These premises had decided about our approval of
Stalin’s suggestion on this matter.

Bierut, of course, had remained a member of the PPR Politburo. His official “non-
partisanship” demanded that we organize Politburo meetings outside of the Central
Committee headquarters, most often in the official residency of Bierut, which from May
1945 became the Belveder. Systematic visits by the president to the party headquarters would
have been in collision with his “non-partisanship”, while inviting Politburo members to his
headquarters for joint meetings was within his competence. This had lasted till Bierut took
over as | secretary of the CC PPR in 1948. Even then it didn’t happen without a farce, as
several members of the Politburo wrote him a letter in that form requesting him to be
included again to the party work.

September-October 1944

Shortly after the announcement of the KRN decree on agricultural reform in Poland,
Bierut together with Osébka-Morawski and Rola-Zymierski met in Moscow with Stalin and
other leaders of the CPSU and the Soviet Union. This was an official state visit, but I don’t
recall if it was made public. In those days even official Polish visits to the USSR were not
always made public. According to Stalin’s custom, after the completion of official talks,
lasting usually from 8 p.m. to midnight, Bierut and accompanying him members of the
delegation were invited to Stalin’s private residence near Moscow. Besides Stalin there were

"' Decision on the “non-party” status of B. Bierut was taken - on Stalin’s recommendation - by the PPR Politburo
on October 22, 1944.
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also Molotov, Beria and Mikoyan, and maybe someone else from the CPSU leadership. Such
receptions were usually an occasion for a drinking-bout and always lasted till about 6 a.m. in
the morning. The reception of which I am talking here had an unusual, exceptional character.
I am relating it according to a report submitted by Bierut at a PPR Politburo meeting in
Lublin right after his return from Moscow.

After several hours of partying, alternated with heavy drinking, when all participants,
and particularly the Polish guests got buzzing heads, Stalin proposed to drink now in a
Georgian style. Mikoyan, who usually on such occasions served as a butler, called “tamada”,
pulled out from the dresser large sheep horns, distributed them among those present, filled in
with wine and everybody had to empty it to the bottom. This act was preceded by a toast for
Stalin’s health, raised by someone from the participants.

After that drinking-bout Stalin and Molotov raised up from the table, took Bierut
under arms and walked together to another place in a large hall, where the reception was
held. Following in their steps, other participants also dispersed in smaller Polish-Soviet
groups and held lively disputes in the opposite corners of the room. Apparently Stalin still
before the supper must have given a notice to his Soviet comrades what they should do when
he and Molotov would leave the table, taking Bierut along.

That conversation had a particular course. Stalin immediately changed his former
jovial mood and attacked Bierut in a brutal manner, using vulgar language. As Bierut
subsequently related at a Politburo meeting, Stalin had started his attack from the question:
“What you, son of a bitch, are doing in Poland? What kind of a communist are you, you son
of a bitch”. Bierut - as he was telling us - assumed that Stalin, having drunk, was playing with
him this was, was simply joking. So he was receiving Stalin’s invectives with a smile. It was
Molotov who opened his eyes, turning on him, similarly like Stalin, with vulgar words: “You
idiot, why are you smiling? It's not a joke, it's a serious matter”.

Bierut, having realized that this is really not a joke, dispirited and frightened, started
to defend himself, saying that he is lost, doesn’t know what it’s all about, what pretensions do
they have to him, if they think he is not fulfilling his duties or don’t have confidence in him,
he is ready to step down from the position of chairman of the KRN, as well as to immediately
leave his position as a member of the Politburo. That defense - as he was telling - angered
even more Stalin and Molotov. New abuses had been pouring upon him, which he didn’t
specify. To his readiness to leave his positions they responded that had they had the intention
to lead up to this, that whole conversation would have been redundant. Finally they clarified
to him what it’s all about.

Stalin’s and Molotov’s attack on Bierut had not been caused by his personal
delinquencies. Actually it was an attack against the whole leadership of the party, it was an
expression of criticism of our political activity in the liberated portion of Poland, and
particularly of our conduct toward the landlords, which, according to Stalin - as he also later
assessed on different occasions - was liberal, a sort of “Tolstoy-type”. The chose Bierut as a
transmitter, who were to present their views and position to the whole PPR leadership.
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Chiding him with vulgarities, they were chiding, so to say in absence, the whole Politburo of

our party.

Criticizing - through the person of Bierut - the policy of our party, Stalin was
concerned particularly that having announced a decree on agricultural reform we should have
immediately crushed the landlords, some of them send to prisons and the remaining ones
relocate from their places of residence. “But you - he was charging Bierut - have left them in
their mansions and palaces, which they occupied before the reform”. According to Stalin, this
was supposed to evoke fears among the peasants, their mistrust in the stability of the people’s
power, which had announced the reform and left the landlords in peace. This was supposed
to be the reason for a rather widely spread phenomenon that the peasants didn’t want to take
advantage of the reform, had been dragging their feet, or just had been refusing to accept the
land apportioned to them.

Here I am putting aside this false reasoning of Stalin. Peasants’ mistrust in
agricultural reform had resulted not from their fears of the landlords, but an apprehension of
collectivization of peasant holdings, an expression of their mistrust in the new people’s
power.

Surely, Bierut didn’t tell at the Politburo all details of that conversation, didn’t express
fully what he had heard then from Stalin and Molotov. There were no witnesses to that
conversation. But one should exclude the possibility that Bierut had overdrawn its course. He
didn’t have any purpose to distort its content in his disfavor. He could not conceal it before
the Politburo, as it was meant to be an order to correct the party’s policy, to sharpen its
course toward our political enemies, toward the reactionary underground and the London
camp and in this context an immediate expulsion of landlords together with their families
from their recent estates. It was unthinkable with the then existing composition of the
Politburo that Stalin’s orders could have been questioned. Bierut, reporting on this matter,
had for its justification an argument that could not be challenged - Stalin’s position, who in
addition had flared up at him and insulted him for an opportunistic policy of the party. Thus,
the Politburo had adopted the proper decisions and the political course was sharpened.

In some historical publications, relating to that period, their authors didn’t find an
‘answer to the question: what was the reason for such sudden change of the party’s policy?
They were lost in different conjectures. Of course, none of them could have assumed that this
sudden political turnaround had been the result of that “rugatelnovo rozgovora” (“scolding
talk”) of Stalin with Bierut.

April 1945

Starting from the beginning of 1945 the Politburo was sending to Stalin party
delegations. There were many issues, which had been solved at that level before they were
formally settled in an official manner by the government. There were also issues which were
settled exclusively within the party leadership. Party delegations were usually composed of .
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Bierut, Minc and myself. It was a usual practice that I would be reporting to Stalin on the
most sensitive issues. The formal title was my party position, but actually there was a number
of issues which nobody else would dare to present to Stalin. It wasn’t a pleasant mission, but
I never dodged my duties.

I filed a complaint against Serov against the above mentioned events, justifying it in
the same spirit. I stated there is no way we can expand our political base if these kind of
events were to repeat themselves. Stalin very much detested listening to complaints regarding
the military or NKVD bodies. In such cases he was always angry or agitated. However, he
was fully in control of himself. This was also true in the case of Serov. He decided to defend
him.

He said to us that the arrest of the RIN (Council of National Unity) and Okulicki by
the Soviet forces was justified, as those arrested had acted to the detriment of the Red Army
and the Soviet Union not only on the territory of Poland, but also on the Soviet territory. He
had in mind the lands beyond the Bug River, which had been cut off from the Polish state.
Wanting to justify unfairness of complaint against Serov he said that only the imperialist
stdtes are using methods of pressure against weaker states, whose governments had arrested
their spies. They demand straight on the release of their spies, and in cases of resistance they
threaten the weaker. The Soviet Unijon is not a weak state, it cannot be threatened and
therefore the imperialists do not use such methods toward it. If you - said Stalin - arrest our
citizen for a crime on your territory, the Soviet government will not intervene on his behalf.
Judge him yourself.

This rule would indeed be praiseworthy if the Soviet Union used it in practice. There
had been no cases of arresting Soviet citizens by Polish authorities (which doesn’t mean that
there were no reasons for such acts), so it’s difficult to say how the Soviet government would
have behaved in case of their arrest. An example of a note of the Soviet government to the
Yugoslav government relating to Soviet citizens arrested in Yugoslavia for spying provides
an eloquent response. In our country, I think in 1946, the security forces arrested in Lodz a
certain individual who had a transmitting-receiving radio and was using it illegally. A Soviet
advisor was intervening on his behalf immediately with minister Radkiewicz. It was
necessary to release him. Thus, Stalin’s words could not be verified in practice.

Stalin was ridiculing western press propaganda and its attacks on the Soviet
government for the arrests made in Poland. “The western powers are not going to start war
with us over Okulicki - he said - and we just wanted to help you”. Despite that defense of
Serov, he nevertheless decided to recall him from Poland. He said of him that he was a “good
Chekist”, but “hardly subtle” (“chutkey”), “he catches a fish in hand, is afraid it will slip
away, so he puts it fast into a net”.

The recall of Serov was for us a great success. Stalin sent him out to the Soviet
occupation zone in Germany, where he too was not forgetting about Polish matters.

Serov, among other, had recruited Piasecki for intelligence. The latter one didn’t even
hide it. In a conversation with me he had cited Serov’s opinion on Osdbka-Morawski, who
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was then prime minister. “That s..., whenever we want, we will remove him”. I didn't tell this
to Stalin. I was ashamed of this’>. At the same time I have been learning on the facts. The
most important problem, which had weighted throughout 1945 and later on Polish-Soviet
relations was the dismantlement of factory equipment on the Polish territory. That matter had
not been previously settled either in writing or orally with the Soviet government. Thus, after
the Soviet Army moving forward, followed the “trofeyneh” (“looting”) brigades and
everything they considered valuable, they surrounded, dismantled and sent off.

Source: Wiadystaw Gomulka, Pamietniki, edited by Andrzej Werblan, vol. 2 (Warszawa,
BGW, 1994).

Translated by Jan Chowaniec.

"2 The term “recruited for intelligence” with regard to Boleslaw Piasecki doesn’t seem to be correct. It looks from
published sources on Piasecki's talks with Serov in prison and his letter to the then Polish authorities on May 22, 1945, also
written from prison, that Piasecki at that time proposed both the Soviet authorities, and first of all Polish communists a sort
of political cooperation, but not of intelligence-spying. See “Polityka” no 39/1990 and “Integracja” no 16/1990.
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Notes of G. Dimitrov on a Phone Call from Stalin

Jan.10, 1945

Stalin called me: Yesterday I received a Yugoslav delegation. The Yugoslavs told me that
they have proposed to the Bulgarians Bulgaria to enter Yugoslavia with the same rights as
Serbia and Croatia. The Bulgarians did not agree to that and insisted that a Bulgarian-
Yugoslav confederation with equal rights is established. I told them that the Bulgarians are
right, not the Yugoslavs. It is possible to create a dual state, similar to former Austria-
Hungary. Otherwise if Bulgaria joins Yugoslavia, Bulgaria will disappear... The Yugoslavs
have no experience while the Bulgarians are much more experienced.

I have advised not to start the struggle in Greece. The people of ELAS shouldn’t
have left Papandreu’s government. Obviously they hoped that the Red Army would go down
to Aegean Sea... We cannot send our troops to Greece. The Greeks have made a foolish
step.

The Yugoslavs want to take over Greek Macedonia. They want also Albania and
even parts of Hungary. This is unreasonable. I don’t like their attitude.

As far as Kolarov’s™ departure to Bulgaria, I am afraid that his arrival may alienate
the agrarians and the others and would generate rumors about the sovetization of Bulgaria...

Source: CDA, f. 146 B, op. 2, ae. 15.

Contributed by Jordan Baev and translated by Nedialka Douptcheva.

73 Vassil Kolarov — one of the leaders of the Bulgarian Communists. Secretary General of Comintern (1922-1924),
Chairman of the Bulgarian Commission to Comintern. On May 22, 1945 in a letter to Stalin insists once again to be allowed
to return to his homeland. In a letter to his wife from Op.gust 18, 1945 he writes: "My return is finally decided, but it will
be after the parliamentary elections. The motifs for this are obvious. This is the price of loyalty towards the Allies and I do
it in order to prevent any premises for rumors that Moscow wants to exert pressure on the elections. That is why the
restoration of the diplomatic relations between our two countries was postponed..." (Personal Archives of Kolarov family)
After returning to Bulgaria Kolarov is elected a Chairman of the Bulgarian Parliament, President of the Republic (1946-
1947), Minister of Foreign Affairs (1047-1949), Prime Minister (July 1949 — January 1950).
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Notes of V. Kolarov from a Meeting”* with J. Stalin

Stalin's opinion on certain questions
January 28, 1945

1. Bulgaria and Turkey
The idea of including Turkey in any Balkan federation (supported by Great Britain) is

absurd. The Balkan people, who have been under Turkish yoke, will never agree Turkey to
increase its presence on the Balkans in one or another way. If Turkey (at someone else's
suggestion) tries to invade with force, it will be rejected by force. That is why Bulgaria
needs to have a strong and well-equipped army. Bulgaria then shall present its concerns.

There is no place for Turkey on the Balkans.
2. The Union between Bulgaria and Yugoslavia (custom, political, cultural and military) will
be turned into a federation of the South Slavs when the conditions (internal and external)

allow it. However, the problem for the form of the Federation remains unsolved — whether to
be a dual federal state between Yugoslavia and Bulgaria (the understanding of Bulgaria) or a
federal state including six South Slav districts — Bulgaria, Serbia, Mecedonia, Mentenegro,
Croatia and Slovenia (the understanding of the Yugoslavs). One should not take advantage
of the difficult for Bulgaria situation and swallow it. In the future Bulgaria will play an
important role on the Balkans. Nobody should play tricks on Bulgaria and open frankness is
needed from both sides.

3. Bulgaria and Greece

Bulgaria has rights and interests over the Aegean see (Dedeagach, etc.) but force will be
needed for the support of these rights. It is absolutely necessary that Bulgaria has a strong
army. Reactionary Greece, the enemy of Bulgaria and the Yugoslav-Bulgarian Union, will
loose Thessaloniki. The Bulgarian-Yugoslav Union should be built on its armed forces in
order to be able to prevent itself from future aggression.

4. The international situation and the Socialism

4.1. THE CAPITALIST WORLD is divided into two hostile blocks — democratic and
fascist. The Soviet Union takes advantage of this in order to fight against the most dangerous
[country] for the Slavs — Germany. But even after the defeat of Germany the danger of
war/invasion will continue to exist. Germany is a great state with large industry, strong
organization, employees, and traditions; it shall never accept its defeat and will continue to
be dangerous for the Slavonic world, because it sees it as an enemy. The imperialist danger
could come from another side.

4.2. THE CRISIS OF CAPITALISM today is caused mainly by the decay and the mutual
weakening of the two enemy camps. This is favorable for the victory of socialism in Europe.
But we have to forget the idea that the victory of socialism could be realized only through a
Soviet rule. It could be presented by some other political systems — for example by a
democracy, a parliamentary republic and even by a constitutional monarchy. Do you think
that if a monarchy like Britain carries out nationalization of the mining industry, the railways,
the land and etc., this should be considered a step towards socialism?

™ The participants at the meeting are: from the Yugoslav delegation — Moshe Piade, Andrea Hebrang and
Yugoslav ambassador Stanoe Simich and the Bulgarian delegation — Prime Minister Kimon Georgiev, Minister of Internal
Affairs Anton Yugov, Bulgarian representative in Moscow Dimitar Mihalchev and the communist leaders Dimitrov,
Kolarov and Kostov. Vyacheslav Molotov, Georgi Malenkov, Lavrenti Beria are also present.
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4.3. BULGARIA SHALL DEVELOP STRONG INDUSTRY. Bulgaria, itself, should
produce the locomotives, wagons, electrical motors, tractors, agricultural and the other types
of machinery it needs. It should study its regions and the natural resources (it's quite definite
that petroleum could be found) so that you could start the development of the coal and
mining industry through the establishment of joint Russian-Bulgarian companies. The
assistance of Soviet Russia is GUARANTEED.

Source: CDA, f. 147 B, op. 2, ae. 1025, 1. 1-6.

Contributed by Jordan Baev and translated by Nedialka Douptcheva.
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Entry for 23 February 1945,
Concerning Meeting of Churchill with Junior Ministers.

He gave a vivid picture of Yalta. The Russians had made a tremendous effort to prepare for
their reception in two of the old palaces of the nobility of Tsarist times. Everywhere all
around was destruction. One day a British officer had asked for a lemon and had been given,
with great apologies, an orange. Next day there appeared two lemon trees, each covered with
ripe fruit, which were rapidly erected in a flower bed outside the palace where the soldiers
were staying. The P.M. spoke very warmly of Stalin. He was sure - and Sir Charles Portal
had said the same thing to me at the De La Rue dinner last Wednesday - that, as long as
Stalin lasted, Anglo-Russian friendship could be maintained.”” Who would succeed him one
didn't know. (Portal had said, "Perhaps Molotov. He's pretty wooden and he stammers and a
stammer in Russian is not a pretty sound.’) Several times, when we had pressed our points
hard, Stalin had suddenly said, 'Yes. I see the strength of your argument. I will withdraw my
proposal.’ This had come quite suddenly, when things had not looked favourable to
agreement. This was the right way to deal with the Russians. The Americans did not always
recognise this. Sometimes they failed to press their points hard enough. All three were agreed
that they must meet alone without the French. The Russians, in particular, were very insistent
that France had not earned her right to join the Big Three. Stalin measured everything by the
number of troops, ships and aircraft each of the Allies put in the field. On this count France
was nowhere. The Americans take the same line. We, of the three, were the most favourable
to France and we had secured for her considerable gains - a zone of occupation in Germany,
a place on the International Allied Control Commission at Berlin, a place among the inviting
powers for the San Francisco Conference. On the Dumbarton Oaks difficulty about voting,
the P.M. thought that we had reached a pretty good compromise. (This will soon be fully
explained, and much discussed by all those interested in international political organisation.)
The P.M. had finally persuaded Stalin to accept by illustrating it from our position [over]
Hong Kong. If the Chinese clamoured to have it back we should be compelled to allow
discussion, and permit the Chinese to state their case and others to express their views upon
it. We should have no right to stop any of this, or any recommendations made by any
Committee which might be appointed to consider it, but if, after all this, we refused to budge,
and the Chinese attacked us and tried to turn us out, they would then have become the
aggressors. He said that this illustration had made a great impression upon Stalin. There had
also been the question of the Russian representation at future conferences of the World
Organisation. The Russians had begun by asking for eighteen seats, one for each of their
constituent republics. But we had resisted this, though still claiming six seats for the British
Empire, which he confessed had struck him, secretly, as rather tall, as against one each for
Russia and the U.S.A. Finally we and the Russians agreed that we would keep six and they
might have three, including one for the Ukraine and one for White Russia, with a promise
never to claim any more. The Americans didn't much like this, but he urged them to try to
find some way of having three themselves. Possibly someone from the Senate and someone
from the House of Representatives in addition to an official spokesman of the
Administration. Roosevelt was going to think this over.

" Marginal insertion: 'P.M. said, "Poor Neville Chamberlain believed he could trust Hitler. He was wrong. But I
don't think I'm wrong about Stalin."
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Poland had been much the most difficult question. On this the Big Three had felt more
keenly than on anything else which they discussed. After each had stated their opposition,
there had been a silence for two or three minutes. Finally an agreement had been arrived at ...
Stalin, in the course of the talk on this, had said, 'We are conscious of our great sins against
Poland in the past, through occupation and oppression of that country.' The P.M. wasn't sure
whether 'sins', the actual word used by the translator, had been quite accurate, but in any case
he thought this phrase very significant. No one could tell whether the pledge to make a truly
free and independent Poland would be honoured by the Russians or not. We and the
Americans would do our best to see that it was. If not, we should be free to continue to
recognise the London-Polish government and to refuse approval of the new Polish situation.
As regards the taking over of territory previously German, he said that people often spoke of
the great difficulties of 'transfer of population’, but, in fact, most of the Germans in the
territories now taken by the Russians had 'run away already' and this problem would be much
easier in practice than had been supposed. He attached great importance to pencilled
meetings of the Foreign Secretaries now agreed to and to the undertaking of the Three Great
Powers to act together in peace as in war. On the way home he had seen, at Cairo, Ibn Saud’¢
who had never before been outside Saudi Arabia and who had made it'clear, when invited by
Roosevelt to meet him, that he would not come to Cairo unless he was also going to meet the
PM. ...

Source: The Second World War Diary of Hugh Dalton, 1940-1945, edited by Ben Pimlott.

7 Abdul Aziz Il Tbn Saud (1880-1953). Ruler of the newly formed Saudi Arabian Kingdom 1932-53.
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Memorandum by Sir Orme Sargent,
Deputy Under-Secretary at the Foreign Office,
to Winston Churchill, 2 May 1945

P.M./0.S./45/60
PRIME MINISTER.

It has occurred to us in the Foreign Office that a possible
explanation of the hardening of the Soviet attitude towards us on so many
outstanding questions just now may be due to the influence of the
victorious Soviet Marshals.

2. Hitherto it has been our experience that Marshal Stalin tends to
take a broad and statesmanlike line on matters put to him directly. Thus
he was personally responsible for the decision to send Molotov to San
Francisco on President Roosevelt’s death. He was also responsible for the
invitation conveyed to Harriman for the Allied representatives to visit
Vienna to settle matters on the spot. Again his attitude over the Polish
question, both in Moscow last autumn and at Yalta, was comparatively co-
operative, though Molotov was more obstructive. But in each case there
has been a subsequent hardening due apparently to some mysterious
influence. This may come either from the party bosses behind the scenes
or from the Soviet Generals.

3. In the case of Poland and Austria it is tempting to connect this
with the victorious Marshals who are over-running these countries and
insisting that they will not have British and Americans nosing about in
their preserves nor allow local governments to be set up which are not

thoroughly under their own control.

This/

Source: Memorandum by Sir Orme Sargent, Deputy Under-Secretary at the
Foreign Office, to Winston Churchill, 2 May 1945, in Prime Minister'’s
Operational Papers, PREM 3/396/14 (Public Record Office, Kew).
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Consultation on 6.4.1945 at 6 o’clock with Stalin, Molotov, Zhdanev.

Report — Walter [Ulbricht] [Anton] Ackermann [Gustav] Sobottka

1) Question — what complaints in the country?
1) Dismantling of machines in
factories
2) Confiscation of farmers’ cattle —
COWS —
also happens frequently by departing
for[eign] workers

2) Border of the zone of occupation
Liibeck — Erfurt — Leipzig — Chemnitz

3) Instruction of 5.26
that parties and unions are permitted
so SPD Center
— not to be promoted by us

4) Formation of the KPD
CC [Central Committee] should act openly — Manifesto
with course toward creation party of the
working people
workers, productive farmers,
intellectuals)

5) Creation of a central organ of the party
and a state paper of the party for
Saxony
only later paper of the party of the
working people

6) Youth committees
Youth cadres to be schooled for one month

creation free youth organizations

Perspective — there will be 2 Germanies —
in spite of all the unity of the allies
Plan for the dismemberment of Germany existed
with Engl[ish]-American[s]
Division in North- and South Germany
Rhineland — Bavaria with Austria
Stalin was against this
Secure unity Germany through
uniffied] KPD
uniffied] CC  uniffied]
party of the working people
at the center unified party
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Character of the antifascist battle
Completion of the bourg[eois]-
democratic revolution
bourg[eois]-democr[atic] government
break power of the manor owners
eliminate remainders of feudalism

Administrative arrangement
Engl.-American. create governments for
Bavaria,
Thuringia, Rhine Palatinate, Rhineland
We — state government for Saxony,
provincial government for Berlin-
Brandenburg,
Mecklenburg, Pommeria
whether later for the entire
area of occupation is not clear yet.
Creation of administrations for district, county,
city, municipality

School questions — draft —
use old text books from Weimar

and Austria

no religious instruction in school

do not let popes[ Popen] confuse
youth —

religious instruction only outside the
school

Creation sp[ecial] farmers union not

functional
instead include within the party
Creation anti fascist committees not
functional either,
because danger, that next to city- and
municipal administration
unchecked
Use of cadres
with prisoners of war up to colonel

Dissolution of the 3 fronts
a[nd] uni{form] administration with 3
subdivisions
army command with 7" Department

SPD very splintered — majority of the
members for unity
Creation [of a] theoretical journal of the

party

Decisions:
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Immediately draft for manifesto — dispos[itions]

. draft
elaboration by Ackermann until 6.5
in the afternoon
composition [of the] ed[itorial staff] for
central organ “Deutsche Volkszeit[un]g” [German People’s Paper]
leader: KlaBiner (Wandel)
Erpenbeck
Keilson
Oelsner
Man(ager]: Bauer

State paper KPD for Saxony “Séachsische
Volkszeitung” [Saxon People’s Paper]
leader: Leitner
Apelt
Schliebs
Forster

Theoretical journal “Neuer Weg” [New Way]
Ed[itor] Oelsner a[nd] ev[entually] Noffke

List of the cadres for Berlin, Dresden, Rostock
List of the prisoners of war from Nat[ional]
Com[mittee Free Germany]

‘ Composition of the party organs
Politburo 9 (meets every 10 days)

Pieck

Ulbricht

Ackermann

Geschke

Jendretzki

Winzer

Sobottka

Mahle

Mrs. Kunz
Secretariat 5

Pieck

Ulbricht

KlaBner ed. (Wandel)
Gyptner

Meyer, Therese
Stern, Heinz (translator)

Organizing Committee for the creation of the

party of the workers
as members also SPD a[nd] others

‘ Associations — Handke
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Party school Gritz, Zaisser, Noffke, Roth

District leadership of the party
independent For Berlin Geschke

“Deutsche Zeitung” [German Newspaper] in Stettin
Colonel Mulin secr[etary]
Fiedler
Lore Pieck
in Berlin Hans Pfeiffer
Max Frenzel (not exclud[ed])
Thiele
Jaddasch
Moricke

Budget for CC of the KPD

Bring in comrades from Mexico and
Stockholm

Source: Rolf Badstiibner & Wilfried Loth, hrsg., Wilhelm Pieck: Aufzeichnungen zur
Deutschlandpolitik 1945-1953 (Berlin: Akademie Verlag, 1994), pp. 50-52 (ZPA [Central Party
Archive] NL 36/ 629, pp. 62-66).

Translated by Ruud van Dijk, Dickinson College.
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PARAPHRASE OF NAVY CABLE JUNE 8, 1945.

TOoP-SEERET AND PERSONAL FROM HARRIMAN FOR THE EYES OF THE PRESIDENT
ONLY :

I thought that you might want me, now that Harry has left, to give
you a brief report on his visit Moscow.

When we saw Stalin the first time there is no doubt that he was
gravely concerned over the adverse developments during the past three
months in the relations between our two countries. The firm position
taken by President Roosevelt before he died and by you since on several
issues has had its effect. Stalin showed that he did not fully understand
the basis of the difficulties. In the early talks he took the offensive
in complaining about our misdeeds and aggressively indicated that if we
did not wish to deal on a friendly basis with the Soviet Union she was
strong enough to look after herself. He was clearly glad to see Harry and
accepted without question the fact that you sent him as an indication of
your desire to work with him (Stalin).

In presenting your views and in explaining the most important
matters, particularly Poland, which were causing us concern Harry did a
first rate job. I am afraid Stalin does not and never will fully
understand our interest in a free Poland as a matter of principle. He is
a realist in all of his actions and it is hard for him to appreciate our
faith in abstract principles. It is difficult for him to understand
why we should want to interfere with Soviet policy in a country like
Poland which he considers so important to Russia's security unless
we have some ulterior motive. However, he does appreciate that he must
deal with the position we have taken and, in addition, from all reports we
have from inside Poland he needs our assistance and that of Great Britain
in obtaining within that country a stable political situation.

I told you, I believe, that I was certain Molotov did not report to
Stalin accurately and in fact truthfully in all cases. This was brought
out again in our talks. It is clear also that Molotov is far more
suspicious of us and less willing to view matters in our mutual relations
from a broad standpoint than is Stalin. The fact that we were able to see
Stalin six times and deal directly with him was a great help. Many of our
difficulties could be overcome if it were possible to see him more
frequently.

The agreement to start the consultations with the Poles in Moscow is
a big step forward, but I am afraid we will have trouble with Molotov when
it comes to actual working out of the details of the reorganization of the
Warsaw Government.

He probably will not continue in the spirit of our recent talks and
the Poles themselves will also be difficult. However, I hope to be able
to handle the consultations for my part in such a way that we can either
come to a conclusion or point up the differences sufficiently clearly to
make it possible for you to come to a conclusion with Stalin when you and
Churchill meet with him.

I feel that the talks about the Far East were of real value,

particularly Stalin's agreement to take up in the first instance with
Soong the political matters affecting China in the Yalta Agreement and
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also his agreement to allow the Generalissimo’s representatives to go into
Manchuria with the Russian troops to set up administration for the Chinese
National Government.

Our last talk, on voting procedure, was most interesting. It was
clear that the Marshal had not understood at all the issue between us. In
spite of Molotov's explanation and defense of the Soviet position, Stalin
waived him aside and accepted our position. He stated however he did not
consider that “a country is virtuous because it is small” and had a good
deal to say about the troubles small nations have made in the world. This
he said he was quite ready to state publicly as well as privately. He
expressed emphatically his unwillingness to allow the Soviet Union's
interests to be affected by such countries.

In conclusion, I feel that Harry's visit has been even more
successful than I had hoped. Although there are and will continue to be
many unsolved problems with the Soviet Government, I believe that his
visit has produced a much better atmosphere for your meeting with Stalin.

Harry stood the trip reasonably well physically. The strain of the

first week took a lot out of him and it was a good thing that before
starting home he had a few days to rest up.

As usual Bohlen’'s presence was most helpful.

RPM

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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Record of 1. V. Stalin’s Conversation with Prime Minister
of Czechoslovakia Z. Fierlinger and
Deputy Foreign Minister V. Clementis
on the Issues of the Transcarpathian Ukraine, the Teshin Region,
and the Trophy Property

Moscow June 28, 1945
Secret

V. M. Molotov and V. A. Zorin were present at the conversation

1. V. Stalin asks what questions are of interest to Mr. Fierlinger.

Fierlinger responds that the Czechoslovak government has a number of questions, and
proposes to begin the discussion with the issue of the Treaty on the Transcarpathian Ukraine.
Fierlinger informs Stalin that the text of the treaty is almost agreed upon, and that they are
talking now only about some of the articles of the Protocol to the Treaty.

1. V. Stalin asks whether it is convenient for the Czechoslovak government to sign the
Treaty now, and adds, “We are not trying to rush you. Do as you consider necessary in this
case.”

Fierlinger responds that the Czechoslovak government finds this moment appropriate
for signing of this treaty, and therefore, introduced the treaty for signing itself.

The text of the Treaty and the Protocol is being read.

During the reading of Paragraph 2 of the Protocol, V. M. Molotov proposes to
determine that the granting of citizenship should be done according to the legislation that
exists in each country on this issue. For instance, in the USSR, if the husband is granted
citizenship, it is does not automatically confer citizenship on the wife, while under the
Czechoslovak laws the wife automatically assumes husband’s citizenship.

Fierlinger agrees with this suggestion, and proposes to formulate Paragraph 2
accordingly.

After reading Paragraph 3, Fierlinger notes that the financial issues involved in the
transfer of the Transcarpathian Ukraine should probably be specified later. Now the
Czechoslovak government cannot name an exact sum, which would be required to reimburse
the expenses of individual citizens who would have to leave their property in the territory of
the Transcarpathian Ukraine, when they move to Czechoslovakia. Therefore, Fierlinger
proposes to formulate a general statement on mutual reimbursement of the expenses incurred
during the relocation of citizens on the part of the Government of the Czechoslovak
Republic, and the USSR, and on subsequent mutual payments between those governments in
the 18 months after the ratification of the Treaty.

1. V. Stalin and V. M. Molotov agree with this proposal. They propose to edit the
drafts of the Treaty and the protocol in the final version, and if possible, to prepare them for
the signing by June 29.

Fierlinger then says that the Czechoslovak Government would also be interested in
the issue of trophies in Czechoslovakia. He notes that in spite of the categorical statement by
Marshal Konev to the effect that plants and other trophies would not be moved out of
Czechoslovakia now, and that there would be a corresponding agreement on this issue with
the Czechoslovak government, the Czechgov [Czechoslovak Government] has information
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about the instances of removal of equipment from some enterprises and about removal of
stockpiles of sugar and other food products. Fierlinger asks to solve this problem taking into
account the interests of the economic life in Czechoslovakia

L. V. Stalin says that this issue would be settled and that we do not intend to remove
plants and equipment from Czechoslovakia, with the exception of a very small portion of it,
about which we would negotiate with the Czechoslovak government.

1. V. Stalin suggests that some local commandants and other lower military officials
allow themselves some liberty in deciding those issues on the spot. However, the systems of
commandants will be abolished in Czechoslovakia on July 5, and commandants will only
remain at railway stations to ensure normal railroad communications for military supplies.
Storehouses, since the military authorities have not taken them, should remain under the
control of the Czechoslovak Government. I. V. Stalin suggests that they should contact
Marshal Konev directly regarding all issues of trophies and all actions of our troops in
Czechoslovakia, and recommends that the Czechoslovak Government sends a permanent
representative (one or several) to Konev’s Headquarters.

Fierlinger agrees with this proposal and says that the Czechoslovak Government will
gladly send such a representative. Then Fierlinger asks to resolve the issue of tobacco still
remaining in Czechoslovakia, which the population urgently needs, and about the banks,
which the Soviet trophy authorities classify as trophies, but which, essentially, contain only
Czechoslovak currency in cash, and some amounts of German currency, which, naturally,
could only be as well as burned. Fierlinger asks Stalin to look into the issue of those banks
that are considered German , and to take into account that the Germans never invested
anything in those banks, and that they solely used the Czechoslovak capital.

1. V. Stalin says that they would be able to reach an agreement with the Czechoslovak
Government on the issue of tobacco, and that it would probably agree to share the tobacco
with the Red Army. He proposes to investigate the situation with the banks separately. V.
M. Molotov says that there are a number of proposals on that issue, and that those would be
considered in the nearest future.

1. V. Stalin adds that the Czechoslovak Government should be more decisive in
regard to big enterprises, especially those that were captured by the Germans, and in
particular, recommends that the government should take the Vitkovits plants under its
control.

Fierlinger says that that is exactly what the Czechoslovak Government intends to do.

To 1. V. Stalin’s question whether the Americans plan to leave Czechoslovakia,
Fierlinger responds that the Americans postponed the withdrawal of their troops and are
asking when the Soviet troops are going to be withdrawn.

1. V. Stalin informs Fierlinger that the number of Soviet troops will be reduced to
three times less than the current strength, and that they would take positions predominantly
along the borders. He recommends that the Czechoslovak Government should raise the issue
of the U.S. troop withdrawal with the Americans.

Klememtis informs Stalin that the note to the Americans on this issue is already on its
way, but that the Czechoslovak Government will use the occasion of the withdrawal of the
large portion of the Soviet troops in order to once again demand that the Americans withdraw
their troops.

Fierlinger then asks what to do with the eviction of Germans and Hungarians from
Czechoslovakia.
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I. V. Stalin says: “We are not going to hinder your actions. Drive them away. Let
them experience what it means to be ruled by others.”

Fierlinger asks Stalin to give instructions to the Soviet military to help in this eviction
of the Germans and the Hungarians.

L. V. Stalin asks, “Do our military interfere with it?”

Fierlinger says that they do not hamper it, but they would like to receive some active
assistance.

Then L. V. Stalin asks Fierlinger if they were able to resolve the contested territorial
issues with the Poles amiably.

Fierlinger responds that it was not possible because the Poles would like to split the
Teshin region, which no Czechoslovak government would be able to accept.

To L. V. Stalin’s question, “Does it mean that no compromise is possible on this
issue?”—Fierlinger responds that the Teshin region is a very important part of the
Czechoslovak territory, and the Czechoslovak government cannot make any concessions on
this issue.

1. V. Stalin notes that in such a case the Poles most probably will not make
concessions on any of the other territorial issues, in particular—in the Kladsco region. The
Poles will probably be persistent because we have promised this territory to them.

Fierlinger responds that the Poles have received too much territory, and they will not
be able to digest it.

I. V. Stalin reiterates the Soviet Government’s position regarding the fraternal
resolution of contested issues, and says that in cases where such resolution is not achieved,
we would have to discuss those issues at the peace conference.

Then Fierlinger asks if they could count on arming the remaining six divisions of the
Czechoslovak Army with the help of the Soviet Government, as it was agreed to do during
the last visit of the President.

I. V. Stalin says that we will give arms and ammunition to the Czechoslovak Army.

Fierlinger expresses gratitude on behalf of the Czechoslovak Government

In conclusion, Fierlinger presents a gift from the President—a brass statue of Jan
Zhizhka

L. V. Stalin asks him to pass his thanks to the President

Recorded by V. Zorin
Original
Source: Vostochnaia Evropa, edited by G.P. Murashko, et al, vol. 1, pp. 229-33 (APREF, f. 45,
op. 1, d. 393, 1. 65-69).

Translated by Svetlana Savranskaya.

143




Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin

No. 1. Meeting between Marshal Stalin and Dxr. Soong
Present: Marshal Stalin Dr. Soong
Mr. Molotov Ambassador Fu
Mr. Petrov Dr. Victor Hoo

Interpreter Pavlov

Date: June 30th, 1945 6:30 - 6:45 p.m.

Marshal Stalin first asked Dr. Soong whether he had a good trip, and
then asked about the health of President Chiang.

Dr. Soong replied that he has been travelling a good deal from
America to China and vice versa. He said that President Chiang was in
excellent health and asked him to hand over to Marshal Stalin a personal
letter. Dr. Soong thereupon gave that letter to Marshal Stalin.

Stalin asked about the military operations in China against Japan.

Dr. Soong said that the Chinese armies have been advancing. The

Japanese are maintaining certain key points but are retreating from
elsewhere.

Stalin asked where was General Chang Fah-kwei, and whether he had
ever left the National Government.

Dr. Soong replied that General Chang Fah-kwei is in command of the
troops in Kwangsi, that he has never left the National Government, and
that he had been fighting with him ever since 1923.

Stalin asked Dr. Soong whether he wanted to begin to talk business
today or another day.

Dr. Soong said that Marshal Stalin’s wish would be his wish.

Stalin said that the host will abide with the wishes of the guest.

Dr. Soong said that he would like today to first make a statement on

his general attitude. When he had the honor to work under Dr. Sun Yat-sen

in the National Revolution, there was the closest cooperation between .
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Soviet Russia and China. Then he had a personal opportunity to see what
was going on. The hope of all the Chinese beginning from the
Generalissimo is that such cooperation should continue. Our relations
with Soviet Russia are of an exceptional importance to us. Without the
thorough understanding and the sympathy between China and Soviet Russia,
China would have no chance in reconstruction. Therefore, if not only for
historical reasons, but alsoc for objective reasons, it is important for us
to resume a close contact with your great country. The Generalissimo
charged him to come on this mission so that he could talk most frankly
with Marshal Stalin and his assistants. He hoped to be able to exchange
opinions in perfect frankness without the usual politeness of diplomatic
ways. If he is honored with Marshal Stalin’s confidence in this mission,
he would be most grateful.

Stalin said: You can count on our full support. What you said on
China’s position is also our position. There are new people in power in
Russia. In the past, Russia wanted an alliance with Japan in order to
break up China. Now, we want an alliance with China to curb Japan. This
position of ours has been proved by a number of facts. I think we shall
be able to arrive at an agreement. I am sure of it.

Dr. Soong said he is happy to hear of the sentiments of Marshal
Stalin.

Marshal Stalin said: You do not need to have any doubt about it.

Source: Hoover Imstitution Archives, folder 6-9.

Contributed by David Wolff.
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PARAPHRASE OF NAVY CABILE JULY 1, 1945 FROM MOSCOW

FOPSERCRET

TFOP-SECREBT AND PERSONAL FROM HARRIMAN FOR THE PRESIDENT AND THE
ACTING SECRETARY OF STATE:

Reference White House Message No. 307 June 29.

This morning I called on Soong at his request. He told me that he
and his Ambassador had been received last night by Stalin with Molotov and
the Soviet Ambassador to China present. Soong delivered a letter from
Chiang which stated that Soong was fully authorized to speak in the name
of and on behalf of the Generalissimo on all matters. Soong referred to
the cordial relations that had previously existed between Russia and China
and expressed the desire that these relations should be reestablished,
emphasizing their importance to China. Stalin agreed and stated that such
relations were equally important to the Soviet Union. The conversation
was general and it was agreed that at the next meeting, which Soong
expects to be on Monday, detailed discussions should commence.

I was informed by Soong of his conversations in Washington and the
Generalissimo’s reaction to his conversations with Hurley. He said he
would keep me fully informed of his negotiations with Stalin. I urged him
to attempt to reach full agreement on all outstanding subjects as I
believed that a better opportunity than the present would never present
itself.

Soong discussed with me his problems in detail and I believe I will
be in position to report intimately the developments of the negotiations.
I will therefore continue, unless instructed otherwise, to use the navy
channel of communication in order that the security of messages may be
guarded as in the case of messages to and from the White House.

RPM

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin

Notes taken at Sino—Soviet Conferences

Moscow, 1945

2 July 1945, 8:00 - 10:30 p.m.

Stalin: No news.

Soong: Good news.

Stalin: Are you familiar with this document bearing signature of Stalin
(shows Yalta agreement) .

Soong: It has been commuﬁicated to us. The U.S. communicated to us very
much the same way.

In addition to this Americans stated to us that Stalin has taken some
undertakings.

Stalin: In conversation with Hopkins what (?) of Chiang transmitted?
Soong: No. Truman communicated to us pledges of Stalin.

Stalin: Let’s read.

(Pavlov reads translation)

Stalin: An official of whom, China?

Soong: Yes.

Stalin: All is true. It's my first point of view on condition that you
recognize as correct what is said further in this document.

Soong: May I discuss some points?

Stalin: Please.

Soong: Petrov discussed twice with Chiang. Presume he reported these conversations.
Stalin: Yes.

Soong: May I go point by point?

Stalin: O.K.
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Soong: As to Outer Mongolia, as Chiang said, this is not a question that
can be solved now. Time will solve. Put in abeyance. We will not raise
it.

Stalin: Do you want me to reply or you’ll go on.

Soong: No, this is first point.

Stalin: We cannot agree to this.

Soong: May I ask reason why?

Stalin: Outer Mongolia has a geographical position from where one can
overthrow Soviet Union position in Far East. Before last war Japan near
Chita, Irkutsk, tried to advance. If we had no juridicial right to defend
ourselves in Outer Mongolia the whole of the far East would have been lost
to us. Japan will not be ruined even if one accepts unconditional
surrender, like Germany. Both of these nations are very strong. After
Versailles, all thought Germany would not raise. 15-20 years, she
recovered. Same would happen with Japan even if she is put on her knees.
For such cases we must have legal right to defend ourselves in territory
of Outer Mongolia. If we are strong it is in China's interest. Should
not like to be fools. Outer Mongolia people do not want to join either
China or Soviet Union. They want to be independent. More advantageous
for China to severe Outer Mongolia. If this does not happen Outer
Mongolia will be rallying point for all Mongolians. It's to the detriment
of China and us, the unifying of Mongolians, from Inner and Northern
Mongolia. Leaders of Outer Mongolia find that to their South there are
many Mongolians. So much for Outer Mongolia. This is what guided
Russians when they signed that document, and offer it now to Chinese
consideration.

Two considerations:

1) Strengthen its strategic position against Japan. As Russia proposes

have alliance with China with united forces of China, Russia, America and
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Great Britain, will vanquish Japan. Port Arthur, Chinese Eastern Railway,
Southern Sakhalin [sic], Outer Mongolia, all is guided by consideration of
strengthening our strategic position against Japan. Neither of them is of
interest from point of view of profit.

2) We are fighting since four years, shed much blood. People understand
we must fight when attacked, as for Germany. But people would not have
gone to war with as much fervour if we had attacked first.

Now we are expected to attack Japan who is making eyes at us and is very
quiet.

If we attack Japan what will the people say? We finish four years of war
and you start a new war. Japan does not touch you and you attack Japan.
How shall I be able to justify attack only by saying that we are
strengthening ourselves. Please take these two considerations into
account in our further discussions.

Soong: As to Outer Mongolia it seems that Stalin does not understand our
situation.

Stalin: Please explain it.

Soong: We are in a difficult position. We cannot tell our people that we
are giving up any part of our territory. Stalin said that these are part
of strategic importance against Japan. We do not raise question now. Let
sleeping dog lie. If we are to recognize status quo in Mongolia which has
many times bee recognized by Soviet Union

as integral part of China our position as a government will be badly
shaken before our people. Stalin said be wanted to see stable united
China. Surely best thing is not to create difficulty on questions which
are not essential.

These are my observations on first point. Would like to enter into detail
on certain points. As to former right of Russia violated by treacherous

attack of Japan in 1904, need analysis as it is too general a statement.
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Stalin: You are right.

Soong: Sakhalin, etc. We are only too happy to Support Stalin’s position.
Dairen internationalized - what does Stalin mean by internationalized?
Stalin: Commercial international port where ships of all nations can
enter, with safeguard preeminent position of Soviet Union. Special
agreement is necessary.

Soong: Do you mean free port?

Stalin: If China wishes so.

Soong: What do you mean ‘safeguard preeminent position’ ...

Stalin: Administration of port, special harbour for Soviet Union. This is
improvement upon Sino/Russian treaty of 1898. Good thing to take this
treaty and make certain and make certain improvements on it.

Soong: I made inquiry with President Truman on this point. I asked
whether it meant free port. He said yes but then administration should be
Chinese. Of course Russia being largest shipper, predominant trade will
be Russian and Chinese.

Stalin: The masters should be Russian and Chinese. There should be
special agreement.

Administrators of the port.

This document states only basic principles.

Soong: Has Foreign Office a prepared document giving a more concrete view?
Stalin: Best to take old treaty and improve.

Soong: Former treaty even without war would have expired. It was a
proclamation by Czar. I presume we will not use it as basis.

Stalin: No. Perhaps you have something.

Soong: Our idea of free port is open to commerce of all nations. If
Stalin wants Chinese sovereignty over all Manchuria, I think
administration should be Chinese. I shall have occasion to make some

general observations.
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Stalin: It is false idea. There is no need to negoti;te treaty for trade.
We hope to trade in Canton, Tientsin. If we sign treaty it is to have
more rights. Not open port to all nations but implies that there should
be administration of preeminent role safeguards.

Soong: Preeminence even compared with China?

Stalin: Compared to China and other countries.

Soong: Does it mean Soviet Union have more rights than China?

Stalin: Perhaps, yes. What does it mean iced free port? That's what that
document implies. What's the use of Chinese Eastern Railway if we do not
have certain rights in port?

Soong: Do you mean Russian administration?

Stalin: Joint Sino-Russian Society. Chairman Chinese, Russian Chief of
Administration, profits to be divided half and half. We are not for
concessions. We prefer joint society.

Soong: Port would probably not be profit making. In the interest of
trade.

Stalin: After construction it may be profitable. After defeat of Japan,
China will need goods. Japan will not import goods into China as
Americans are destroying. For long time (10 - 15 years) China will not
produce such goods. They will cam from the USA. We can sell some
commodities, but not on large scale. Engiand will not be able to deliver
much. Dairen will be entry port for Russia and export port for beans. I
think this port will be of some importance.

Soong: No doubt. But ports are for facilities and not to make benefits.
Stalin: You are not interested?

Soong: Not for ports. We are more interested in trade.

Stalin: Inner trade.

Soong: We will not tax trade to Russia, in this port.

Stalin: We will see that later. Income from ports is important.
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Soong: For Dairen we will not tax. It is different for non free ports
where we pay duty. But that is customs tax and not port dues.

Stalin: Document provides for internationalized port but not for free
port.

Soong: If there are customs duties then of course they go to China.
Stalin: Half and half. (He laughs).

Soong: Otherwise you kill port of Dairen. Because there are other ports
in Manchuria. If we halve income we will naturally send our goods through
other ports. It's human.

Stalin: Must discuss in detail.

Soong: Even under Czar it was free port, and under Japanese.

Stalin: Right. I don't want to be more to the right, rather more to the
left of Czarists.

Soong: Lease of Port Arthur. Chiang told Petrov: we are willing make port
for joint use. For obvious reasons we do not want to have leased
territories, but willing use jointly.

Stalin: It would be possible to find here a common language in order to
meet wishes of China. Should not like create precedence, harmful to
China.

Soong: Thank you.

Railways. What do you mean by joint Sino-Soviet Company?

Stalin: For operations.

Soong: How about ownership of railway?

Stalin: Who has built it?

Soong: 0Old terms 60 years?

Stalin: 0ld terms 80 years after construction.

Soong: 1924 changed to 60 years.

Stalin: I did not know.

Soong: There was also condition to redeem.
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Stalin: Yes. Even under Czars it was provided.

Soong: What do you want for Chinese Eastern Railway?

Stalin: Term

Principles of operations

Aim: use rail for Port Arthur. Link also between Vladivostock and
Siberia.

Soong: What term?

Stalin: Joint company. Profits to be divided.

Soong: Ownership joint?

Stalin: Operations joint. Soviet Union first owner, then China will take
over. Formerly China had a small share. Joint disposal of ownership not
proper term. For certain period after which Russia will leave railroad.
Soong: How long?

Stalin: Prolong Port Arthur. Shorter for railway. And find an average 10
- 15 years. Which do you prefer? (He laughs)

Soong: I want to explore some more things. What do you mean by preeminent
interest of Soviet Union in railroad.

Stalin: Same as for Dairen, not financial privilege, not to station troops
but chief of railroad should be Russian.

Soong: Do you intend use railroads for troops?

Stalin: Yes, in case of war with Japan.

Soong: That is reasonable. Not move troops in time of peace.

Stalin: No need. We will have few troops, but on the eve of outbreak of
war against Japan. Do you pity Japan?

Soong: I would welcome, but I mean in time of peace you do not intend to
send troops to Manchuria.

Stalin: We will agree. No need of recrudescence an part of Japan, China,
if we have treaty, will ask herself for movement of troops.

Soong: We must have understanding.
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Stalin: You are afraid we go to Peking. We have no intention.

Soong: No. Soviet had foreign troop on its soil. We had also bitter
experience.

Stalin: Agrees.

Soong: Kuriles. We are very glad.

Stalin: We are closed up. We have no outlet. One should keep Japan
vulnerable from all sides, north, west, south, east, then she will keep
quiet.

Soong: We fully understand position of Soviet Union as regards Manchuria.
Soviet Union want outlet through Dairen. Ready and anxious to give this
outlet. But number of things here which need precise understanding. For
instance when agreement made not put restore rights treacherous attack
because Dairen, Port Arthur have expired. Chinese Eastern Railway
theoretically sold to Japan. South Manchurian railway expires in very few
years.

Stalin: It applies to Portsmouth Treaty, not implies that are restored
with regard to China. We do not want restoration of old rights of Czarist
Government vis & vis China. Treaty with China will be drafted
differently. Here it is not treaty but principle directed against Japan.
Soong: Glad to hear that. 1924 Soviet Union first to relinquish its
privileges and gave example to other countries.

Stalin: That’s why Chang Tao-1lin arrested Russian Manager. Curious way to
thank.

Soong: Chang and Czar are gone. God rest their bones.

Stalin: Chang did not like Japanese. He had good features. That’s why
Japs killed him.

Soong: Yes. Terms of lease Stalin said 40 - 45 years.

Stalin: 60 for railway - 25 for Fort Arthur - take uniform term - after

the term whole thing will be terminated.
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Soong: What do you mean Port Arthur can you have map prepared, not whole
Liaotung peninsula.

Stalin: We will prepare map if you have no definite proposal?

Soong: I shall be grateful to be more precise. Chiang'’s views were 20 -
25 years for Port Arthur and railway.

Stalin: Too short. We must still construct. When Czar provided 25 years
he foresaw prolongation and deceived China. 25 years too short. Czar
wanted to remain and move further South. We have no such intention.
Soong: I am sure of that. 4th point Soviet Union wants to conclude a
treaty of friendship and alliance. We have been hoping that but because
of German war Soviet Union could not.

Stalin: Chiang asked always. We were tied by Germany. Now we can.
Soong: Do you have your draft?

Stalin: No. We must accept principle, then we can draft.

Soong: We need clarification on some points Stalin is not clear himself.
Stalin: I can give clarification.

Soong: We have gone over Dairen.

Stalin: Did not come to final conclusion.

Soong: We must know what each side means. Why Stalin cannot accept that
Dairen must be administered by China and be open port. We will give
facilities to Soviet goods, not tax them. It seem all interests of Soviet
Union are taken care of.

Stalin: I don’t know. Then there would be no need to make treaty. I did
not say that there should be Russian administration but Russo-Chinese.
Why don’t you want to accept?

Soong: When Stalin speaks of sovereignty in Manchuria it should include
Dairen.

Stalin: That’'s administration of port.

Will it be like under Chang Tio-lin, several treaties?
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Soong: We had revolution to unify China.

Stalin: High time.

Soong: Another question. Outlet to Dairen. I presume it’'s for trunk
line, not branches.

Stalin: I think so.

Molotov: Coal district.

Soong: They are not on main line. Coal mine can be operated separately
and coal sold to railway.

Stalin: Transportation of coal should be safeguarded. We do not want to
operate these branch lines. But understanding should be reached for
safeguarding coal supplies.

Soong: We want railway to prosper as it will be joint business, so
question of supply of coal does not arise.

Stalin: If China undertakes safeguard coal then O.K. We don’‘t want branch
lines.

Soong: Appeal again to Soviet Union re Outer Mongolia. Inseparable for
Chinese Government.

Stalin: Why?

Soong: We have been speaking of territorial integrity. Why will Stalin
not help us on this question. We cannot present to Chinese people.
Stalin: Mongols don't want to stay with China. We renounced Poland
(Warsaw) and Finland. I understand it is difficult but should be
overcome. We cannot find anything else. For Port Arthur we yielded. You
should make concession on this question.

Soong: We are not raising any question on Outer Mongolia.

Stalin: But it will come up and give rise to frictions. We are concluding
pact before, so that all reasons of conflict should be eliminated. Soviet
Union recognized Outer Mongolia as a part of China. True. But lesson of

war changed our views. It will be better for China and Russia if Outer
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Mongolia is independent with right of passage for Russian troop in case
threat from Japaﬁ.

Soong: We are not contesting this.

Stalin: Yes. But this sore point should be eliminated.

Soong: It did not cause us any pain. We are not making any protest
against presence of Russian troops.

Molotov: Press publishes about those who want spoil our relations.
Stalin: Outer Mongolia is not wealth to you or us, but geographical
position is important.

Soong: Chinese people since Sun Yat-Sen, brought up on integrity of
Chinese territory. I do beg Stalin to reconsider this.

Stalin: Sign treaty for independence of Mongolia but make it public after
defeat of Japan when China regains her territories.

Soong: I will have to communicate with Chiang Kai-shek. Meanwhile hope
Stalin will understand our difficulty and help us.

Stalin: Sign treaty now.

Soong: If this is done we will have difficulty with Thibet. In Washington
(Pacific Conference) Churchill made statement on independent Thibet. I
had heated argument. We do not want retrograde movements China since
revolution has restored many of her rights. Soviet Union has been helping
us. For that reason Stalin has to consider other method than lease for
Port Arthur.

Stalin: Outer Mongolia is question of defense. Siberian rail can be cut
off from Outer Mongolia and whole Siberia is gone. Japan tried. We
cannot station troops on Chinese territory. It is graver question than
Port Arthur (shows map) .

Soong: Allow me to consult Chiang.

Stalin: Please.

Soong: Stalin said you’ll welcome representatives of Chiang with troops.
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Stalin: Yes.

Soong: Are you ready to enter in agreement.

Stalin: Yes if all this is accepted. I don’t like empty words. What I
said are you going to bring in some more troops.

Soong: Will talk frankly. Hope Stalin will also be frank. Talk not like
diplomat but as realist government undergoing changes, more is going on.
We tried to come to agreement with communists last March, wanted war
cabinet to introduce Chinese communists which Stalin considers more like
agrarians as Hurley said.

Stalin: Good patriots. As to communists question mark...

Soong: We will bring them in. I said I would fly to Yenan. That was late
March. They did not want me to go though I had full powers and was Acting
Prime Minister. We want united army, 1 central government. We don’t want
Chang Tso-lun war lords or any party with separate government and army.

If Chinese communist is only party having army and government want to join
us, we are ready to introduce them in War Cabinet in government. No
intention to persecute them.

Stalin: I mean not only communists during war with Japan. There are now
liberals also, not communists only. China must have one government with
predomination of Kuomintang. But one Kuomintang will not be able to cope
with situation.

Kuomintang must guide, but advantageous to China to have non Kuomintang
also in government. This is affair of China. I speak only by the way. I
asked because I am interested in the fortunes of China.

Soong: I appreciate what Stalin said. I know it in is interest of China.
Frankly: government wants enlist other people, not Kuomintang. It is our
sincere wish. Kuomintang wants to be leading part in Government.
Therefore does not want coalition government which may be upset when other

parties withdraw.
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Stalin: This is rightful wish of Kuomintang. It's obvious from history of
China. What other parties?

Soong: To be brutally frank, no other party. National socialist party
would not be allowed anywhere else. Members count on fingers. Youth
party: back of it: landlords of Szechuan. Lin Wen-hui, largest landlord
supports it. So called democratic front: communists, national socialists,
youth is only a fiction set up in juxtaposition to central government.
It's blunt facts. There are plenty liberal good men in China but so far
have no organized party.

Stalin: Chiang can send his representatives to our army to set up
administration as our troops advance.

Soong: Trusteeship for Korea to which you gave your approval. In San
Francisco everybody had his own opinion an to trusteeship. How do you
think.

Stalin: As Molotov.

Soong: What are your views?

Molotov: You discussed more with Americans. I understand them:
trusteeship by one or several states. For Korea four States as proposed
by USA. It will be complicated. No precedent. Must find solution in
practice. But in principle we accepted.

Stalin: Without army. I stated that if troops are to be sent we will not
accept. Roosevelt said no troops. There will be Council of four Powers
to supervise so as to prepare country for end of trusteeship. It will be
temporary. Must prepare conditions for its abolition with independence in
the end. But that was only exchange of views. No binding decision.
Verbal agreement.

Soong: Who will maintain order.

Stalin: Koreans themselves. What would be better according to you?

Soong: Some sort of police will be necessary.
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Molotov: International?

Soong: Any kind to maintain order. When Japan withdraws, for some time .
there will be confusion.

Stalin: Should Korea be independent or do you have other plan?

Soong: I don't think Korea can be independent now.

Stalin: But in long run.

Soong: Yes.

Stalin: Is Korean language [the] same as Chinese?

Soong: The written one is the same.

Stalin: Is difference greater between Korean and Manchurian, than between
Manchurian and South Chinese.

Soong: Yes.

Stalin: Why China does not adopt phonetic alphabet?

Soong: Some day it will come. Six weeks in American army to acquire great
vocabulary. We intend to fight illiteracy with Soviet methods, radio, ‘
movies.

Stalin: Has China intention to annex Korea?

Soong: None whatever. People different, separate history.

Stalin: But it was part of China.

Soong: Yes, but we don't want Korea.

Stalin: I oppose police, stationing troops in Korea. Re Trusteeship in
San Francisco our views were different from those of the USA and of

Great Britain. We consider it as step to independence. British consider
it as step to colonization. USA (Roosevelt) had views close to ours. But
now seem to have got closer to British.

Molotov: Only our and Chinese draft mentioned independence.

Soong: In 1943 discussed with Roosevelt. He wanted trusteeship

for all colonies.

Stalin: But Churchill burst into tears and it was dropped.

160



‘ Source: Hoover Institution Archives, folder 6-9.

Contributed by David Wolff.
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Memcon A. Harriman - Soong

FOPR-CECRETF Moscow
Conversation ) July 3, 1945
Present: W. A. Harriman, American Ambassador

Dr. T. V. Soong

Subject: Far Eastern Conversations with Generalissimo Stalin

One side light on Soong’s talk with Stalin July 2 was that Stalin
thought the ports would make large profits. Soong tried to explain to
Stalin that port facilities were usually operated on a cost basis.

Soong got the impression that Stalin did not place great importance
on Port Arthur as a naval base. This might be due to the fact that Soong
does not consider it of great naval value because the port has not
sufficient depth of water to handle large ships. Stalin wants naval
facilities at Dairen.

Soong got the impression that Outer Mongolia was the most important
question in Stalin’s mind. Stalin showed Soong a map and indicated on it
the long reaches of the Siberian frontier which were contiguous and
emphasized the danger to the Siberian railroad of unfriendly forces
operating from Outer Mongolia, specifically Japanese. The balance of the
conversation was substantially covered by navy cable of July 3. ‘

Soong told Stalin that he considered Russia was entitled to the

southern half of Sakhalin and was glad to learn that Russia would get the
Kurile Islands.

WAH

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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PARAPHRASE OF NAVY CABLE JULY 3, 1945, FROM MOSCOW

FOPCECRET

TOP—SEERET AND PERSONAL FROM HARRIMAN TO THE PRESIDENT AND THE
SECRETARY OF STATE.

This morning I called on Soong at his request. He gave me to read
the detailed English notes of his second talk with Stalin which took place
last night. Molotov, Lozovsky, Vice Commissar for Foreign Affairs, and
Petrov were present at the conversation.

What most disturbed Soong is Stalin’s insistence that the
interpretation of the phrase “status quo in Outer Mongolia shall be
preserved” means that the Chinese Government should recognize the
independence of Outer Mongolia.

Soong argued that this should be interpreted to mean that China
would not at the present time raise the issue but would allow the
situation that presently exists to continue. He told Stalin that China
could not agree to the cession of territory, that it would complicate the
question of Tibet, and that no Government in China could last if it ceded
Outer Mongolia. He explained to me that it was a matter of principle deep
in Chinese psychology and that although they recognized they could not
exercise suzerainty over Outer Mongolia at the present time, the Chinese
would be unwilling to support a Government which gave up Chinese claims to
this territory for all time.

The military importance of Outer Mongolia to Russia was emphasized
by Stalin, as well as the dangers from possible Japanese recovery and the
necessity of Russia having the right to move troops freely in Outer
Mongolia.

China, Soong said, would assent to free movement of Russian troops
in Outer Mongolia or any other formula which would not finally and
permanently give up China’s claims. Stalin suggested a secret agreement
on the independence of Outer Mongolia which might be published after the
defeat of Japan. This Soong objected to also. He is cabling for
instructions from Chiang.

Soong asked me what the understanding of President Roosevelt was on
this point, and said that he understood President Truman interpreted the
Soviet proposal in the same manner that he (Soong) did. I told him that
to my knowledge there had been no discussion of interpretation. The words
were accepted as written. He has asked me to telegraph urgently to
ascertain the interpretation of the United States Government.

[ILLEGIBLE]

of these provisions and particularly what [ILLEGIBLE] connection with the
“internationalization” of the port of Darien. He feels that if China
herself does not control the operations of the port it would interfere
with Chinese sovereignty.

Soong was reassured by Stalin’s statements on the question of the
sovereignty of China in Manchuria. Stalin agreed that representatives of
the Chinese National Government should accompany the Red Army when it
advances into Manchuria to organize the government. Stalin told Soong it
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was important that competent individuals be appointed by the National
Government.

In response to Stalin‘s inquiry regarding the National Government’s
attitude toward the communists, Soong told him that the Generalissimo was
prepared to bring communist representation into the government but that
the Kuomintang should be in control. Soong said Stalin appeared to agree
in principle but there was no detailed discussion or agreement as to the
understanding to be reached with the communists. Again this discussion
appeared to be preliminary.

There was no discussion of the problems in Sinkiang. However, Soon
told me that the Generalissimo was considering the appointment of his son
as Governor of Sinkiang, believing that this would improve relations with
the Soviets in this province because of his sympathetic attitude toward
the Soviets.

With reference to Korea, Stalin confirmed to Soong his agreement to
establish a 4-power trusteeship. Molotov interjected that this was an
unusual arrangement with no parallel and that therefore it would be
necessary to come to a detailed understanding. Stalin stated that there
should be no foreign troops or foreign police in Korea. Soong understands
that the Russians have two Korean divisions trained in Siberia. He
believes that these troops will be left in Korea and that there will be
Soviet-trained political personnel who will also be brought into the
country. He is fearful that under these conditions the soviets will
obtain domination of Korean affairs even with a four-power trusteeship.

RPM

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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PARAPHRASE OF NAVY CABLE FROM MOSCOW JULY 3, 1845

FOP-EHEREF

FROM W. A. HARRIMAN TO
THE PRESIDENT AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Stalin, in discussing the operation of the Chinese Eastern and South
Manchurian railroads, proposed that the ownership of the railroads should
be Russian, that they should be operated by a joint Soviet-Chinese board,
but that the management should be Russian. Soong contended that the
ownership of the railroads should be Chinese and that they should be
operated by a Soviet-Chinese company with joint responsibility and a mixed
management, partly Chinese and partly Russian. Stalin indicated that he
was not interested in the subsidiary lines, but only in the main lines.
However, Molotov raised the question of control of the coal production
for the operation of the railroad. Stalin agreed that Russia should have
the right to move troops only in time of war or in preparation for threat
of war. He further agreed that Russia should not have the right to
station troops in Manchuria.

With reference to the port of Darien, Stalin interpreted
“internationalization” as meaning that it should be subject to Chinese and
Russian control, that no other country was to be involved and that Russia
should have a preeminent interest in the port as against China and there
should be a Russian management. Half the revenues of the port should go
to Russia and half to China. Soong maintained that the port should be a
free port under Chinese administration with some Russian technical
assistance and with full rights for Russia to use the port freely.

With reference to Port Arthur, Stalin agreed to eliminate the word
“lease” and work for some basis by which both countries could have naval
facilities.

Generalissimo Stalin proposed that the agreement regarding the
railroads and ports should be for a 45 year period. There was no attempt
to arrive at a decision as these discussions were of an exploratory
nature.

He was asked by Soong what was the understanding of the United
States Government as to the proposed arrangements in connection with the
railroads and the ports.

He is hopeful of reaching agreement on the railroads and ports.
Stalin is making some expanded demands in connection with the detailed

arrangements. . . [ILLEGIBLE]

hopes to be able to . . . [ILLEGIBLE]
understanding. . . [ILLEGIBLE]

this subject. . . [ILLEGIBLE]

The negotiations, says Soong, are at a standstill until the Outer-
Mongolian question is settled, and he feels it is essential for him to
know the interpretation placed on this provision by the United States
Government.
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Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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PARAPHRASE OF NAVY CABLE JULY 5, 1945, FROM MOSCOW

FORSHERET

FROM HARRIMAN, FPOP—SECRET-AND PERSONAL FOR THE PRESIDENT AND THE
SECRETARY OF STATE:

This morning I called on Dr. Soong and carried out the instructions
contained in White House Message No. 308 July 4 regarding Outer Mongolia.
He repeated what he had said in our first talk, that he was asking for the
information for his own guidance and had no intention of bringing the
United States’ understanding or interpretation of the various provisions
of the Yalta Agreement into his discussion with Stalin. He recognizes
that this would be unwise from his own standpoint as well as from ours.

Soong expects to see Stalin again tonight and to inform him that he
is prepared to accept the Yalta provision on Outer Mongolia as worded. He
will tell Stalin again that no government in China could survive if it
recognized the independence of Outer Mongolia and he hopes to be able to
convince Stalin that the Generalissimo cannot agree to do so. If he can
come to an agreement with Stalin over Outer Mongolia he is hopeful that an
understanding can be worked out in regard to the railroads and the ports.
However, he would greatly appreciate receiving informally our attitude in
regard to the questions raised in my message of July 3.

Soong states, however, that the conversations will break down if no
agreement can be reached on Outer Mongolia. I urged on him the
desirability of arriving at an agreement on a bilateral basis and pointed
out the many disadvantages of failure to reach an understanding now.

RPM

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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PERSONAL AND TOP-SECRET FOR
THE PRESIDENT AND SECRETARY OF STATE FROM HARRIMAN.

Soong invited [ILLEGIBLE] to tell me of a message he had received
from Chiang. He has not repeat not seen Stalin again as he decided to
await further instructions from the Generalissimo, receipt of which had
evidently been delayed by the Generalissimo’s absence form Chungking.

The Generalissimo has now instructed Soong to inform Stalin that he
cannot repeat not recognize the independence of Outer Mongolia at this
time since this would result in the fall of his Government in China. He
proposes, however, that after the war is ended and if the Soviet
Government will cooperate with the National Government in obtaining
control of Manchuria and Singkiang, he will agree to the holding of a
plebiscite in Outer Mongolia. 1If this plebiscite, as he assumes it will,
indicates a popular desire fro [sic] independence, Chiang will support it
and recommend to the Chinese Assembly recognition of the independence of
Outer Mongolia. Unlesgs Stalin will agree to the above Soong is instructed
to leave Moscow at once.

As to Port Arthur, he wants to avoid the term quote lease unquote
but agrees to joint use. He wishes Dairen to be a free port under Chinese
management with full rights to Russia to freely import and exort [sic].

He hopes also for Stalin’s agreement to complete Chinese management of the
railroads under joint operation, the profits to be divided. Soong is
ready to make more liberal concessions ana if he can get over the hurdle
of Outer Mongolia he expects to be able to get the Generalissimo to agree
to terms more favorable to the Russians.

I again urged on Soong the desirability of reaching an agreement
during his present visit, expressing my personal opinion that he would
never again have an opportunity to reach an agreement with Stalin on as

favorable terms.
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Soong hopes to see Stalin tonight.

WAH

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers,

Library of Congress.
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Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin

7 July 1945, 11:00 - 11:45 p.m.

Soong: Sorry we delayed a few days.

Stalin: It doesn’t depend on me.

Soong: I have reported faithfully my talk with you. Told Chiang that
Stalin considers Outer Mongolia question of great importance. Therefore
Chiang took great deal of time to consider the question. You remember my
position when I left.

Stalin: Yes.

Soong: My position was not to discuss the question.

Stalin: To leave it open.

Soong: I reported how important Stalin considers the question. He has
given his reply. Agrees with Yalta formula signed by the Three, i.e.,

preserve status quo of Outer Mongolia. We cannot recognize the .

independence of Outer Mongolia. Reason simple: self preservation is first
law of nature. No Chinese government can last if it signs agreement
amputating Outer Mongolia. But we agree to status quo.

Stalin: How do you understand 'status quo'?

Soong: How it stands today.

Stalin: They don't accept Chinese representative. They proclaimed
independence. You put up with this.

Soong: You have troops there. You said in case of threat to Soviet Union
you have to send troops to Outer Mongolia. That we are ready to agree.
Molotov said that there might be people stirring trouble between Soviet
Union and China. If we agree what trouble can arise?

Molotov: I had in view Chinese press.

Soong: It can be told not to stir up trouble.

Molotov: Constitution of Outer Mongolia provides for independence. .
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Soong: They can do what they like. We are realistic. We do not propose
to disturb the status quo.

Stalin: In another half month another conflict will break out. Mongolia
cannot go on like that. Chinese people will represent Soviet Union as
usurpers, invaders. We should not like to be in this position.

Soong: You will not be in this position because we recognize the status
quo.

Stalin: I am afraid nothing will come out from it.

Molotov: A situation which is left indetermined will hamper and spoil the
Sino-Soviet relations.

Soong: Yalta agreement was not to disturb status quo. We agreed to that.
Stalin: We understood China will recognize independence.

Soong: This was not my understanding when I discussed in Washington.
Stalin: Status quo is formal recognition of independence. Now Outer
Mongolia has no representatives from China. Outer Mongolia proclaimed its
independence on two occasions. Chiang said once he recognizes
independence of Mongolia Thibet will not follow suit. No analogy. There
is representative of China in Thibet and vice-versa. Mongolia has no
representatives and China has none.

Soong: I was not at Yalta.

Stalin: You are familiar with the declaration.

Soong: No Chinese government can recognize independence of Outer Mongolia
and survive.

Stalin: Why?

Soong: Because public sentiment will not support it.

Stalin: Soviet Union recognized independence of Finland and survived.
Finns demanded it and public opinion accepted.

Soong: No parallel. Chiang delayed so long because he considered very

carefully the considered opinion of China. He cannot recognize
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independence of Outer Mongolia. We have also well considered this
question. He thinks nothing will come out of this. Three leaders in ‘
Yalta recognized sensitiveness of Chinese public opinion. Therefore it
called for preservation of status quo.

Stalin: It’s our formula. They signed. I am prepared to repeat that.
Molotov: That's how the matter stood. Independence was meant.

Soong: In spite of everything we cannot reéognize independence and
survive. 1It's the opinion of Chiang and his advisers. Soviet Union
position is question of military importance. Send troops in case of
threat of Japan. We agree to that.

Stalin: Not only that. Mongols do not want to join China or Soviet Union.
They want to be independent.

Soong: We are ready to give high degree of autonomy.

Stalin: What is that?

Soong: Right of military and foreign affairs. They could make arrangement .

with Soviet Union concerning entry of Soviet troops in case of necessity.
Stalin: Will it be part of China? It will be source of conflict between
Soviet Union and China. As we propose make alliance with you must
eliminate all causes of conflict.

Soong: I stated how realistic we are. Ready accept entry of Soviet
troops. You must also be realistic. My Government cannot recognize
independence and remain in power.

Stalin: Cannot see why.

Soong: That's in our public opinion. Sun Yat-sen proclaimed our
territorial integrity.

Stalin: At time of Sun Yat-sen white Russian troops were in Outer
Mongolia.

Soong: Joffe signed agreement with Sun Yat-sen accepting territorial

integrity of China. .
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Stalin: There was no Government authority in Outer Mongolia at that time.
Soong: Our Government does not think it can survive if it recognizes the
independence of Outer Mongolia. Even the extreme liberals are not for
recognizing independence of Outer Mongolia.

Stalin: Who can overthrow Government? What forces?

Soong: Many forces will take opportunity to overthrow Chiang.

Stalin: There is the Kuomintang. Other forces are communists. Can
communists overthrow Kuomintang? If China makes alliance with Soviet
Union nobody will overthrow government.

Soong: I am not in agreement with you. There is nobody in Kuomintang who
will support recognition of Outer Mongolia. Communists may not openly
oppose it, but they would be far from human, if they did not try to use
this as means to overthrow.

Molotov: With existence of alliance with Soviet Union?

Soong: Even so. Stalin must know value of intangible factors. No
government, the old Manchu Government, Yuan Che-kai, or present
Government, can go against public opinion.

Stalin: We cannot make concessions on this point.

Soong: It’'s only strong governments that can make things as Stalin said.
Today is July 7th. 9th anniversary of our war. Our people have

suffered tremendously economically and otherwise. The Government is not
so strong as Stalin believes that it can affront public opinion. That's
simple fact. But we are realistic. Neither Chiang nor I can see reasons
of conflict if we recognize status quo and recognize right to send troops.
Stalin: I think of future. Japan will be crushed but she will restore her
might in 20, 30 years. Whole plan of our relations with China is based on
this. Now our preparations in Far East in case Japan restore might is
inadequate. We have one port Vladivostock which is imperfect. Soviet

Harbour is another one which is being built. It is not yet a port. 3rd
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place is Petropavlosk in Kamtchatka. 2500 klms. of railways are necessary

to connect with it. We need 20 to 30 years to equip and build ‘
installations in Petropavlosk. There is another port (De Castri?)

railways have to be built north of Baikal. This will take 40 years.
Therefore we want alliance. Mongolia is part of this plan. We cannot
send troops to Chinese territory.

Soong: We have no objection to your stationing troops.

Stalin: Indefinite: today you do not object. Strange to maintain garrison
in China but to maintain it in a small state is natural. We have
withdrawn troops from Sin-Kiang which were sent there at the request of
Shen.

Soong: If military alliance you could station troops.

Stalin: We have draft for 20 years for alliance. We have prepared four
drafts.

Molotov: They concern: 1) Friendship and alliance;

2) Chinese Eastern Railway and South Manchurian

Railway;

3) Port Arthur and Dalny;

4) Declaration on independence of Outer Mongolia.
These are the four questions we want to settle.
Soong: Stalin has been very kind and open in explaining his plans. He
looks far ahead. But for us there is present question as well as future.
If there in no present there is no future. Self-preservation is first
thing we must look upon. Therefore our realistic proposal re Outer
Mongolia.
Stalin: It is not realistic.
Soong: Our Government thinks it is realistic.

Stalin: Well, we did not come to an agreement.

Soong: Sorry, so are my instructions.
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Stalin: Let's finish now.
Soong: Sorry you cannot see our point. To us in China it is a very real
point.

Stalin: Sorry you cannot see our point. Let it go at that.

Source: Hoover Institution Archives, folder 6-9.

Contributed by David Wolff.
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Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin

9 July 1945, 9:00 - 10:40 p.m.

Stalin: What news?

Soong: I reported to Chiang that our meeting was at a deadlock. I told
that Stalin wanted remove all questions between two countries so that from
now on we can co-operate in friendship without any cause of conflict. I
have his reply today. Before translating his reply, I want to give
background not by way of argument but to show the magnitude of concession
of Chiang.

When I left Washington I had no idea that Outer Mongolia question would be
a problem. I told Truman that we might settle this question by not
discussing it. I said status quo was that juridicial sovereignty remains
with China. It is true we cannot exercise this sovereignty. Truman agreed
and also Secretary of State. In Chungking I discussed with Chiang. None
of us had any idea that Outer Mongolia would be an obstacle in our
discussions. Stalin must understand strength of Chinese national feeling
towards alienating any part of its territory. Don't want to draw parallel
with Manchuria.

In one sense it's the same: alienation of Chinese sovereign territory.
Although we had little strength in comparison with Japan and no hopes of
change in world situation we did not yield our juridicial right in
Manchuria. Stalin must know attempts of Japan to force our recognition.
In the first instance, in 1933, when I was going to the Economic
Conference I had been passing Japan. I was invited by Japanese Emperor to
meet and discuss question of Manchuria. If we renounce legal title Japan
could renounce aggression. I declined. Nevertheless, Shigenutau was sent

to Yokohama to persuade me to go to Tokyo. I refused. Because instinct
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of China for her sovereign territory is so strong. If Government
recognizes independence of Outer Mongolia it would go against instinct of
Chinese people. It transcends safety and security of Government. It goes
against genuine public opinion. I say this not by way of argument but
want Stalin realizes sacrifices Chinese Government is ready to make on the
altar of perpetual friendship between China and USSR. We do not treat
Outer Mongolia lightly. May I translate telegram from Chiang:

"Chinese Government now willing make greatest sacrifice in the
utmost sincerity to find, K fundamental solution of Chinese/Soviet
relations, removing all possible disagreement and rankling unpleasantness
so as to secure fundamental co-operation between the two countries in
order to complete the will of Dr. Sun Yat-sen which was to co-operate with
Soviet Russia. What is the greatest demand for China today: secure
administrative integrity and territorial sovereignty and real unity in
China. On this there are three items. Anxiously hoping that Soviet
Government will give us concrete sympathy and assistance and give concrete
and determined reply

1) Sovereignty and administrative integrity of Manchuria. Stalin has

expressed his respect of this point for which we are very grateful.
Stalin: Did you expect anything else from me?

Soong: I am translating textually the telegram.

For common interest of China and Russia, China is ready to afford joint
use of Port Arthur. Dairen declared an open port for period 20 years. As
to administration of Port Arthur and Dairen this should go to China so
that China has real sovereignty and administrative integrity in Manchuria.
Molotov: Port Arthur and Dairen, both?

Soong: Yes. Chinese Eastern Railway and South Manchurian Railway main

lines to be operated jointly by Soviet Union. Profits to be divided
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equally. Branch lines, other enterprises not connected with exploitation

of railways not included in joint administration.

Period also 20 years.

2) Sin-kiang. In the last year or so there broke out rebellion in Sin-
kiang so that communication between China and Sin-kiang broken: trade and
commerce cannot be maintained. We are anxious that Soviet Russia, in
accordance with previous agreement, co-operate with us to eliminate
trouble so that trade, communication could be resumed. Altai range:
originally belonged to Sin-kiang, should continue form part of Sin-kiang.
3) Chinese Government. Because of Chinese communist administration and
army, who are not united within the central government, wish Soviet
Government to give to central Chinese Government alone all moral and
material support. Any assistance given to China should be confined to the
central government.

4) Outer Mongolia. Chinese government regards that since Outer Mongolia

question is the stumbling block in Sino-Soviet relations, for common
interest of Soviet Union and China and lasting peace, is ready

after the defeat of Japan and acceptance of the three points by Soviet
Government, to grant Outer Mongolia its independence. On this matter, in
order to avoid future disputes to go through form of plebiscite. After
plebiscite Chinese government will declare independence. As to area of
Outer Mongolia should conform former area set out in our maps. Chinese
Government deeply hopes Soviet Government can understand the enormous
sacrifice and utmost sincerity of the Chinese Government, so as to secure
two countries lasting and fundamental co-operation. Will you please
communicate to Stalin without any reservation."

That is the matter.

Stalin: It would be good to have this translated and to think it over.

You can have this translated into English?
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He draws analogy between Outer Mongolia and Manchuria.

Soong: I said twice I am not drawing a parallel.

Stalin: In Manchuria there are Chinese. In Mongolia, there are no
Chinese.

Soong: There were Chinese in minority. I just pointed out that any
alienation of territory is matter of great pain.

Stalin: Status quo in Outer Mongolia is really in fact independence since
1921. We want that this factual situation should be recognized legally.
Soong: Our understanding is like that of the Americans: status quo,
retention of juridical sovereignty of China.

Stalin: This sovereignty does not exist.

Soong: For us, even 50 years it does not matter. This is academic
question.

Stalin: First point concerned Manchuria. I declared that we recognize
full sovereignty. I can make any statement you want.

Soong: I know it.

Stalin: As to communists in China we do not support and don't intend

to support. We consider China has one government. If another government
calls itself Government it’s matter for China. As regards assistance,
Chiang told us to send to Central Government. We did so. If we can
render help, of course it will be given to government of Chiang.

We do not want to play with China. We want to deal honestly with China
and allied nations.

Re terms for Port Arthur, Dairen and Railways, 20 years do not accommodate
us. It's too little. We could accept 30 years. We cannot accept less
than 30 years instead of 40. That would be the final solution.

Re military Port of Port Arthur. There should be one master in the port.
We shall have our troops, navy, there. As to territory of Liao-toung,

formerly Port Arthur was included.
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Soong: We are talking about Port Arthur. I didn’t receive map.

Molotov: (Shows map). We renounce neutral sons, leave the other line.
Stalin: In the area, administration is Chinese, but as regards Port Arthur
administration is Russian. Someone should be master and command.

As regards railway Chinese possession is not correct. Assumption that
railway to be Chinese not correct. Russians built it. Chinese investment
was returned.

Soong: I thought we are not talking of past rights which are changed. It
was originally for 80 years. 1In 1924 changed to 60 years. Only few years
left. Besides Chinese Eastern Railway sold to Japan.

(Stalin laughs).

Stalin: We did not use it much.

Soong: It's not our fault.

Stalin: You are right.

Soong: For Chiang to agree on Outer Mongolia he must show something to

our people. For main line we agree to joint administration on altar of
Sino-Soviet friendship. We make great sacrifice. For 8 years we have
suffered. Many properties destroyed by Japanese. We hope to have some
compensation.

Stalin: According to Chiang we have no right. We obtain as a favour
common possession. Although Russia built the railway, and made
investments, we can agree to common possession as you suggested. As
regards plebiscite it would be worse for China.

Soong: Only a matter of form. The matter is settled. It is more
convenient for Chinese Government to confront Chinese people if there is a
plebiscite.

Stalin: What are old frontiers of Outer Mongolia? I don't know.

Molotov: Is it intended to change present frontier?

Soong: We have old maps of China.
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Stalin: It would be good to see them.

Soong: Never thought we would discuss that. I did not bring them. We
never contemplated that question would be raised when old maps were drawn,
so we did not make it bigger or smaller. I have no maps in Moscow but
this can be settled by boundary commission.

Stalin: We had argument with jobs. We referred to old map. Don’'t know
whether you have same map in view. After when we killed their General
Matsomora, they agreed (Khalkha government?) [sic].

Soong: Hope you will not have to kill our General.

Stalin: We are alive to difference between China and Japan.

Soong: We want to be fair.

Stalin: We gave you the drafts of the agreement. What is your reaction?
Soong: Many of the things are not in accord with our drafts, we have
drafted our drafts. Can I go over:

1) Friendship and alliance. Little difference with yours. Only we need
ratification. Question of days, is only a minor point;

2) Stalin said would be glad to have Chinese representative to accompany
your troops.

Stalin: As soon as there is an agreement on all points.

Soong: . . . . . . I have a copy here for Molotov.

3) Dairen - drafted according to Chiang instructions.

4) Port Arthur.

5) Administration of railway

{(Soong gives draft to Molotov).

Stalin: Re Outer Mongolia. How to understand what you said. Not
recognize now but after defeat of Japan? We proposed recognize now but
publish after defeat of Japan.

Soong: Yes. After defeat of Japan go through plebiscite, then

recognition. I want Staline [sic] believe me in this: matter of substance
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is decided now. We can explore the form. We have no intention to evade
or be tricky.

Stalin: It is not a matter of honesty but of clarity. From us, China will
receive all assurances she asks. We want also assurances from China now.
When to publish that's another thing.

Soong: That's fair.

Stalin: Do want to finish first and go, or put it off and go back to
China.

Soong: If time allows prefer finish now.

Stalin: Three days at our disposal, 10, 11, 12th.

Soong: I will wire back tonight to Chiang. If you go to meeting, I cannot
stay here.

Stalin: We try to postpone for five days.

Molotov: It will be very difficult.

Soong: I understand. Ready to work day and night.

Stalin: No objection. If Molotov deputizes me if I cannot be present, no
difference.

Soong: Yes, but on important point would like have privilege to talk to
you. In Molotov's draft some points were put before our conversation with
Staline [sic]l. For instance we spoke of main line.

Stalin: No branches in our draft. We do not think it is not possible to
change the draft.

Soong: Yes. Also coal mines. I understand Stalin accepted our guarantee
that we will supply.

Stalin: We do not want new mines but contemplate enterprises essential to
railways. If joint ownership, Chinese will also be owner like Russians,
and in 30 years all goes to China. In such case China not interested in

separating the enterprises from the railways.

182




Soong: I think there was understanding that this is transportation
enterprises only.

Stalin: It was question of Fushun but not mines of Chinese Eastern Railway
that existed before. China interested that Chinese Eastern Railway works
well.

Soong: For that reason we thought it would be only communication
enterprises. You want outlet to sea. We will furmish you with that.
Stalin: There are enterprises without which Chinese Eastern Railway cannot
subsist.

Soong: What are they?

Stalin: I cannot give you the list now. My people will furnish you with
the information.

Soong: Railway guards must be Chinese. If you have guards it is question
of soldiers.

Stalin: Guards?

Soong: Railway guards must be Chinese. Stalin knows my objection to
foreign troops. If we guard well why should you bother.

Stalin: We wanted supply our experienced officers.

Soong: On this point special instructions from Chiang. Once you have
foreign troops whatever you call them, then there will be endless trouble.
We don’t want.

Stalin: Railway is extra-territorial. Railway bridges, tunnels, stations,
to be guarded.

Soong: Railway not extra-territorial. You don't want extra-territoriality
[ILLEGIBLE]

Stalin: In two years we will see.

Soong: Chinese personnel fully adequate. We will send our best men - this
is a point I do urge Stalin to consider for me. We do not want foreign

troops or gendarmerie in Shanghai or elsewhere. You would help me, the
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Chinese people, by agreeing to this which Chiang considers as the most

essential condition.

Stalin: We will think it over.

Soong: About Sin-kiang would Stalin help us in suppressing their trouble?
Stalin: How, by sending troops?

Soong: No. Smuggling of arms on border. Want you to stop it. Take
additional trouble to stop it.

Stalin: We have no right to interfere.

Soong: Not in China but on border.

Stalin: Does China propose grant rights to population?

Soong: Yes. It's a political and military problem. Without either of
them, it cannot be solved.

Stalin: Is the situation so grave?

Soong: Ili is partly occupied by rebels.

Stalin: Ouigurs, Khosaks?

Soong: Lot of mixture. We want to treat all races well. That’s the only
way to deal. But we want to recover territory occupied by rebels.
Stalin: This is legitimate. Best means is to grant rights. We have
various nationalities. This is a question for China to solve. Without
the recognition of minima [sic] rights there will be always trouble.
Soong: Agree. We have a great deal to learn from Soviet Union on
treatment of minorities. We are willing make concession but if not
followed by obedience we must use force.

Stalin: They want to separate?

Soong: They declared new republic.

Stalin: I’'ll collect information. We may have a talk. As to suppression
of contraband on our frontier it's our duty to prevent. We shall do what

we can if there are certain holes. I

Soong: Rebels are well equipped with arms that never existed there.
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Stalin: We can get weapons everywhere now.

Soong: Not in Sin-kiang.

Stalin: Why?

Soong: Because of transportation problems.

Stalin: India will not sell arms?

Stalin: If two States are at war one State is giving arms to rebels.
Soong: Transportation is difficult.

Stalin: You think arms come from our territory?

Soong: Possibly.

Stalin: Let’s have a talk. Hardly probable.

Soong: I want assurance that Stalin will do everything possible to stop
it. We will try to win rebels by peaceful means.

Stalin: In first war a group of munition factories supplied arms to
Germany. Don't you officials sell arms to rebels at high price?

Soong: My answer can be believed. These people possess better arms than
what Chinese officials have.

Stalin: You seem better informed.

Soong: We have exploded shells we don't possess. I know Stalin is anxious
to help us solve this difficulty as others.

Any observation about communist problem? I talk as Soong to Stalin.
Stalin: What you require? You said not to arm communists, that if we
help, we help Chiang. 1Is that so?

Soong: Yes.

Stalin: O0.K. What else. You want us to disarm communists?

Soong: This is fantastic for us to ask you. But we want you to know our
point. We want to find a solution by political means.

Stalin: It would be good to find such a solution. They are good patriots.
If you find political solution it will be not bad.

Soong: We want their army to merge with ours.
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Stalin: It is legitimate. One Government, one army.

Soong: We are ready for their joining the war, the Cabinet and the .
Military Council, but that cannot happen when they stay apart from us.
Stalin: It makes bad impression.

Soong: We ask Stalin to help us morally.

Stalin: How?

Soong: There has been many attacks on Chiang in Soviet press. That is not
helpful to our government. We hope Stalin will restrain them.

Stalin: Very undoubtedly. But Chinese press attacked us more.

Soong: Let us do it mutually.

Stalin: Please.

Soong: How should we proceed?

Molotov: Do we meet at 2 p.m. to-morrow?

Soong: Hope see you before.

Source: Hoover Institution Archives, folder 6-9.

Contributed by David Wolff.
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Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and V.M. Molotov

10 July 1945, 2:00-4:00 p.m.

Present: Molotov Soong

Lossovski Fu

Petrov Hoo
X Chang
Pavlov Liu

I. Draft Treaty

Molotov: Yours is different. Everything against Japan. You don’t want
to go further?
Soong: Could we mention Japan, Germany and their associates?

‘ Molotov: We have in view not only Japan but also Germany. Of course, it
is not necessary that in 19 years you are expected to take part in war
against Germany
Soong: Agree
Molotov: Quote paragraph 3 of preamble. We follow our treaties with
other countries. Same with article 3 of our draft. Do you accept article
3 of our draft?

Soong: O.K.

Molotov: We avoid mentioning Japan though she is clearly implied. It
depends on when we will publish this treaty as we are neutral with regard
to Japan. If you agree to publish end August or beginning September then
we don’'t mind mentioning Japan.

Soong: After you take action.
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Molotov: Yes, we cannot foresee day exactly. Depends on transportation
and supply. If you agree to this we shall have no difference of opinion
on the treaty. For the rest no serious difference.

Soong: We need ratification.

Molotov: Agree. When we sign we must agree on publication later. Or
sign later at end of August but after initial first.

Soong: Sign it now.

Molotov: O.K. Will report.

Rest to draft by our representatives or we can proceed now.

Soong: You have no objection to article 37

Molotov: No.

Soong: We mention Security Council.

Molotov: Accept, but draft in wording nearer with San Francisco. We had
similar reservation with France and Great Britain [ILLEGIBLE].

Soong: Hoo, Fu, Chang.

Molotov: One jurist, Nagaroff (?) [sic], Petrov.

II. Declaration re Outer Mongolia

Molotov: We have a new draft

Soong: Quotes what Stalin said yesterday. I would like to draw a draft.
We agreed in substance. It is question of form and I am sure Soviet
government will meet our views re form. Stalin said also Outer Mongolia
will not join Soviet Union either. For our home consumption, it would be
good if Soviet Union say that after independence soviet Union will respect
its territorial integrity.

Molotov: Do not object. Do you accept paragraph 1 on present

recognition?
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Soong: What difference to you if we say that China has no objection to
independence if after plebiscite Outer Mongolia. You are not afraid of
plebiscite. I assure you there is no catch.

Molotov: To avoid unclear situation. Stalin wishes us to accept this

draft. But if you have other suggestion we will see.

Soong: I will prepare a draft. Substance is same but presentation is

different. Will give you this evening.

III. Chinese representative with soviet troops

Soong: “Recovery of national territory instead of “liberation,” otherwise
like Czech treaty. Three months after recovery, withdrawal of Soviet
troops.
Molotov: Correct. Two observations:
1) Point 8 you spoke of. Stalin said: we do not want to stay on,
but such a term is not in our treaty with Czechs. Thus in order not
to create difficulties—having in treaty and not in another— we
should not like to mention term.
Soong: Since it is you intention, why no. That will help us to explain
Outer Mongolia. Chiang specially asked that.
Molotov: Element of distrust toward the behavior of Soviet troops. Not
in Czech treaty, thus it would embarrass us. Ask you to reconsider.
Soong: That is a very important question. With Czech it is settled. It
is to us a major point. We could have another exchange of notes.
Molotov: We.will think it over. But in the agreement it should not be
mentioned.
Soong: We can put it somewhere else not in this agreement, but we do want

some form.
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Soong: Please report to Stalin. We consider this a main point. Not that

we distrust, but Manchuria has been so often the cockpit of many armies. .
Czech had not that experience. Our public would resist.

Molotov: 2)Please again explain point 2(b} / Chinese armed forces
regulars, etc. Chinese representative directs co-operation. But there
are two parties in co-operation and there is one to direct It is not in
harmony with point 1 where Soviet is Commander in Chief.

Soong: We will study the wording.

Molotov: “To assist the high command in directing Chinese armed forces,
etc.”

Soong: It is non-military zone.

Molotov: There is contradiction— since territory is recovered, there is

no Japanese forces in it.

IVv. Railways

Molotov: Draft calls for amendments. if we take your draft as basis.

Take your draft for railways and ours on Port Arthur and Dairen.

Soong: We will see as we go along.

Molotov: Add to your article 1: joint ownership of China and Soviet
union.

Soong: Chiang said ownership of China. Stalin says joint ownership. It
should be qualified: main trunk line of railway. Point 2 says that again.
Molotov: We will think over these two points.

(Reads article 2). Stalin said that Railways can’t remain stripped of all
necessary enterprises which always served the Railway. We do not want new
ones, but old ones built by Russians should not be entirely eliminated.

Depot, factories, forests allotment. We do not propose to extend

installations. Cannot have no auxiliary enterprises.
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Soong: Stalin said you would give list.

Molotov: O.K. will submit today.

Soong: Understanding of Chiang was without subsidiary undertakings and
branch lines. This is also clear from Yalta agreement. I think you don’t
intend to use enterprises for other uses than for railway.

Molotov: Yes, exclusively for railway.

Soong: I will wire Chiang.

Molotov: Coal formerly was not sufficient. Therefore we suggested that
Chinese government ensures supply of coal. Coal mines which we had
formerly may have branch lines. Use of the branches is to be reserved.
Soong: Let us see it.

Molotov: We must have detailed agreement. Doubtful whether we can make
list at of all enterprises in one or two days.

Soong: I understand.

Molotov: Therefore, we cannot accept this drafting.

Soong: We will consider.

Molotov: You say safeguard of security ensured by China. I should agree
to what Stalin suggested yesterday.

Soong: I have specific instructions form Chiang. We don’t want foreign
armed men.

Molotov: Railway must be able to work.

Soong: We can assure safety. We are anxious ourselves.

Molotov: We want to be assured.

Soong: We attach greatest importance. Sovereignty in Manchuria would be
doubtful thing if armed foreigners were there. to us it is a matter of
principle. To you it is a matter of safety. We assure it.

Molotov: We will think it over.

Not clear about transportation of troops. Troops must be transported.

Soong: There is open sea.
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Molotov: Is it possible to send troops to relieve troops?

Soong: In my talk of 2 July, it was understood there would be no movement
of troops except in war.

Molotov: 1If we agree that Port Arthur is for joint use we must be able to
transport certain contingents of troops.

We can agree that they will not land nowhere in Manchuria.

Soong: Stalin agreed to joint use on 2 July.

Molotov: Yes, but there will be Soviet forces in Port Arthur. We cannot
send always by air or sea.

Soong: Read minutes of 2 July.

Molotov: Stalin did not have this in mind. We return to this next time.
Soong: I am in great difficulty. I have faithfully reported to Chiang
who expects accuracy on my part. Stalin said we will have few troops in
Port Arthur so he had Port Arthur in mind.

Molotov: We will return to this.

Re profits: should be half and half.

Soong: I think your proposal is fair. I accept.

Molotov: Item 6 very important. Should settle so as not to have cause of
disputes. Propose our draft re administration of railway. Article 3 of
our draft: 7 members = 4+3.

Soong: If ownership is 50-50 why should board of directors be 4 and 3.
Molotov: Yalta spoke of preeminent point of Soviet Union. We intended
joint ownership you conceded us on this point. In 30 years you will get
railway.

Soong: We made concession 50-50. On this point real difficulty. In 1924
there were 5+5 directors.

Molotov: There were conflicts all the time. You accepted Yalta agreement.
Soong: Preeminent in regard to other powers, not to China. You must be

more fair to us.
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Molotov: Even 1924 provided for majority of Soviet. Urge you to accept.
Soong: Cannot accept.

Molotov: We shall not regard the matter as settled if you don’t accept
our view.

Soong: I gave you telegram of Chiang yesterday where it is said
administration should be Chinese. Yalta is not sacred. On Outer Mongolia
it said quite a different thing. We made a sacrifice.

Molotov: We had unpleasant experiences. We renounced many rights of
Czarist Government in Manchuria but we must ensure good operation of
railway. Hope Soong will defend our view before Chiang.

Soong: Our draft has no redemption clause as in old agreement why to give
you outlet until you have your own ports.

Molotov: We appreciate it. We must put in your draft that no foreign
capital can be invested. No redemption in order not to cut off Port Arthur
and Dairen.

Soong: Now I wish to say that this is extraordinary measure to operate
jointly such a railway on one'’'s territory. Poland corridor led to war with
Germany. But we try with you noble experiment. We propose to do what was
never done in international relations. Therefore we must be fair.
Otherwise there will be trouble. Our proposal is fair, taking into
consideration that railway runs through China, that Russian lease has
elapsed. I cannot recommend to Chiang, because his instructions are
clear, he will turn down.

Molotov: On this point we cannot accept other proposals, that’s why we
stated it so clearly in Yalta agreement.

(He reads Yalta agreement) .

We violated this by accepting joint ownership. We cannot go beyond this.
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Soong: I will report to Chiang. I cannot share Molotov's view but will
report. Yalta provides full sovereignty. But if commonly owned railway
is dominated by foreigners there is no sovereignty.

Molotov: That'’s only an economic matter.

Soong: Sometimes difficult to distinguish between economics and political
matter. Ask Molotov to report to Stalin also.

Molotov: Other points to be considered by our representatives. 30 years
minimum Stalin said.

Soong: I wired already to Chiang.

V. Dairen

Molotov: Chinese draft not so detailed as Soviet draft. Let us take
Soviet draft.

Article 1: Joint use of Port Arthur and Dairen. Is it acceptable?

Soong: Dairen will be commercial port, internationalized. How can it be
so it is in a military zone? That does not make it a free port.

Molotov: There will be Chinese administration, except for Port Arthur and
Dairen.

Soong: But you will have troops.

Molotov: In certain places only.

Soong: Dairen cannot be administered by Soviet military forces.

Molotov: No, we said so in our draft.

Soong: Why should we use Dairen as naval base since we have Port Arthur.
Molotov: There is only on ‘bay’ reserved. It was so formerly.

Soong: We want Dairen to be a great commercial base without naval base.
We look to be only commercial (asks for Yalta formula).

Molotov: Will send you today. Chinese sailors would also be in favour for

technical reasons. It does not impede trade.
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Article 7 of our draft is not in yours about municipal council.

Soong: Your article makes Dairen a Soviet port. You talk about full
sovereignty of China but you propose chief port to be Soviet port.
According to telegram of Chiang, Dairen should be under Chinese
administration. No military matters are involved. Sovereignty of China
would be respected by giving it to China.

Molotov: Yalta agreement reads: “preeminent interests of Soviet, etc.”

We departed already from Yalta by renouncing the lease of Port Arthur.

Soong: Explains why he cannot accept. Must ask for new instructions.

VI. Port Arthur

Molotov: Reads Soviet article 3.

Soong: We drafted according to instructions of Chiang. No omissions if
we take his point of view.

Molotov: We dropped lease to meet Chiang.

Soong: If it was a lease what would be the difference [ILLEGIBLE].
Molotov: Then we would be free to do what we like without negotiating
with China.

Soong: Why should Port Arthur be administered by Soviet?

Molotov: It’s a military port.

Soong: It seems to me thee is no difference between lease and now.
Chinese navy could also use Port Arthur under Czarist lease. Under Japan
we could also use it. Glad to clarify my ‘'mind’ about Soviet views. Will
telegraph.

Molotov: What would you like to have.

Soong: Administration of Port Arthur and Dairen should be Chinese. You
want it to be Soviet. It’s a great deal of difference.

Molotov: How can it be otherwise in military port?

Soong: Dairen also?
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Molotov: No, there is a municipality half and half.

Soong: I must ask for instructions. But time is pressing. You will leave .
when?

Molotov: 13th morning by plane. Can ensure maximum technical speed for
telegrams. 2Zone civil administration is Chinese outside the ports. Key
positions to e filled with agreement of Soviets. Re internal security to
be safeguarded by Soviets.

Soong: As to zone Chiang distinguished Port Arthur and Dalny when he
talked to Petrov. Must reserve. BAny other points?

Molotov: No.

Petrov: In my conversation with Chiang we did not specify questions of
zones.

Soong: I will report.

Source: Hoover Institution Archives, folder 6-9.

Contributed by David Wolff.
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PARAPHRASE OF NAVY CABLE JULY 10, 1945, FROM MOSCOW

FOP-SECRET

TOP—-SECRET AND PERSONAL FROM HARRIMAN FOR THE
PRESIDENT AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE:

This morning Soong showed me the detailed notes of his
talk with Stalin and Molotov last night. Substantial progress
was made. Agreement appears to have been reached over Outer
Mongolia. After the war the Generalissimo agrees that China
will recognize the independence of Outer Mongolia, providing a
plebiscite is held which favors independence. This agreement
is not to be announced until after the war is over.

The above is subject to full agreement of all other
questions including Soviet Union support of the National
Government in unifying China.

Soong is satisfied with the Treaty of Friendship and
Alliance in the form proposed by Stalin.

As to the boundaries between Outer Mongolia and Sinkiang
there is a difference of opinion. This is to be left for a
boundary commission to determine. Stalin, though he would not
admit Soviet assistance to the insurgents in Sinkiang, agreed
that it would be the Soviet Government’s obligation not to
support these rebel forces. Soong agreed to Stalin’s
suggestion that greater political recognition be given by the
Chinese to the various Sinkiang racial groups.

While he would not admit giving moral and material
support to the communists, Stalin categorically stated he
would support only the National Government in China and that
all the military forces of China must come under the control

of the Government. Soong outlined the conditions the National
Government was ready to grant the communists and Stalin made
no adverse comment. Soong is inclined to believe that if an

agreement is reached with the Soviet Union it will open the
way for an understanding between the communist party and the
National Government.

Chiang’s counter proposals regarding the ports and railroads

in Manchuria were advanced by Soong. In the discussion Stalin
made only a few concessions from his previous demands. The
term of agreements was reduced from 40 to 30 years. The

railroads involved should be only the main lines and not
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subsidiary lines. Title of the railroads might be joint
Soviet and Chinese. the industries referred to in the Soviet ‘
proposal should be only the main lines and not subsidiary
lines. Title of the railroads might be joint Soviet and
Chinese. The industries referred to in the Soviet proposal
should be only those directly connected with the operation of
the railroads. Soong insisted that the railway guards should
be Chinese, maintaining that the guards were soldiers and
therefore if Soviet this would, in fact, be the stationing of
Soviet troops in Manchuria. Stalin insisted that protection
of the railroad was essential and that he could not be
satisfied with Chinese guards. Finally he said “We might see
after two years.”

The question of whether Dairen will be included in the
military zone is one of the principal differences in
connection with the ports. Soong wants the military zone to
be limited to Port Arthur, whereas the Russians are claiming
the entire Kwantung Peninsula. Under such circumstances the
port of Dairen would not be a genuinely free port as it would
be dominated by the Russians.

The open questions were left for discussion between Soong and
Molotov at a conference which is taking place this afternoon,
July 10.

RPM

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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PARAPHRASE OF NAVY CABLE # JULY 11, 1945. TOPSECRET

FROM HARRIMAN. PERSONAL AND FoP-SESRET FOR THE PRESIDNT AND THE
SECRETARY OF STATE.

Stalin received Soong for another talk tonight. Soong informed me
that he has come to an understanding on all matters along the general
lines previously reported except for some points as to the ports and
railroads.

Generalissimo Stalin agreed, after long argument, that the guards
should be Chinese and that there should be no rights to move Soviet troops
in Manchuria. Any forces going to Port Arthur would be moved by sea. The
final point not agreed to regarding the railroads is control of the
management. Stalin still insists on a majority of the directors which
Soong has resisted. Soong’s offer is for joint operation with equal
participation in the management and the board.

Regarding the ports, Stalin still insists that the military zone
under Russian control should include Dairen as well as Port Arthur, and
that there should be a naval base within Dairen. Soong offers Port Arthur
and the area south of Dairen as a military zone. Dairen, however, should
be a free port under Chinese management with certain storage yards and
docks leased to the Soviets, for their through shipments, on a commercial
basis.

It was suggested by Soong to Stalin that he return to Chungking to
consult the Generalissimo over the points still at issue. Stalin,
however, said it was better to come to and agreement before he met with
you at Berlin as he wished to decide with you the date of his entry into
the war. Another meeting has therefore been arranged for tomorrow night.
Soong intends to outline in detail the maximum concessions he is
authorized to make along the above lines. If no agreement is reached he
will. return to Chungking to consult the Generalissimo and will give me to
report to you the position of the negotiations -- the points remaining at
large and the matters on which agreement has been reached.

Mr. Soong asks me to tell you that he feels he has gone beyond the
Yalta agreement, in order to meet Stalin’s demands, in agreeing to
recognize the independence of Outer Mongolia after the war and has fully
met any reasonable interpretation of the Yalta agreement in his proposals
regarding the ports and railroads. On the other hand, Stalin has offered
him satisfactory conditions for the Treaty of Friendship and the civil
affairs agreement during the military period in Manchuria; also assurances
that he would withhold support from the Chinese Communist Party and from
the insurgents in Sinkiang.

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.

199




Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin

11 JULY 1945, 9.00-11.30 p.m.

Soong: I had a good talk with Molotov yesterday. He was frank. I know
where we stand. There were questions he wanted to ask instructions from
Stalin.

Molotov: With which draft do you want to begin?

Soong: Railway.

Molotov: We have not finished with Outer Mongolia.

Soong: We can discuss any questions, as you 1like.

Molotov: Let’s take Outer Mongolia. You have made yourself familiar with
our draft?

Soong: Yes.

Molotov: You have given us your draft. I think our draft is nearer to what
was stated in conversation with Stalin. Chinese draft is more vague. What
corrections you consider as necessary to our draft?

Soong: Differences between our drafts:

1. ours is a universal declaration.

2. as regards Mongols’ constitution we said on both occasion that we don‘t
recognize them. The substance is that Chinese government will not object
to independence. Why do you want to embarrass us by saying that we
recognize what we don’t.

In 1924, Soviet Russia recognized that Outer Mongolia is integral part of
China. Therefore it is equally embarrassing for Soviet. So since
substance is already there why do we embarrass ourselves by recognizing.
Stalin: We can talk for two years and we shall reach nothing. Then you did
not recognize, now you recognize.

Soong: We are ready to recognize.
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Stalin: Reads Chinese draft— against it? against what? plebiscite?
Soong: Independence.

Stalin: Say it.

Soong: Yes.

Stalin: As regards frontiers. They should be left out. Say present
frontiers. Status quo.

Soong: There is dispute about status quo.

Molotov: Question of frontiers?

Soong: If we say “Chinese Government will recognize independence.”
Stalin: That will be better. Suggests will recognize. . . within her
present frontiers.

Molotov: At the beginning say: no reference to Constitution-— but leave
rest of Soviet draft about will of Mongols for independence.

Soong: But if plebiscite the will be expressed.

Molotov: Plebiscite comes later. Why does Chinese government make
statement now: because of will.

Soong: If will expressed, why should we have plebiscite.

Molotov: To check up will.

Stalin: Say if plebiscite confirms the will in favour of independence.
Soong: “Confirm the desire for independence” in our draft.

Stalin: He does not want introductory sentence?

Soong: Rather not.

Stalin: Without introduction not clear why a plebiscite is to be held.
Not motivated or give another motive: Chinese government had connections
with Outer Mongolia for past 24 years and the latter enjoys in actual fact
a state of national independence.

Soong: Make draft:

Stalin: Add: present frontier.
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Soong: Don’t know the frontier.

Stalin: Don’t talk about frontiers.

Soong: O.K.

Stalin: In our letter we will respect independence and territorial
integrity so that you don’t think that we will annex (he laughs).

Soong: You don’'t need to, you are on such good terms.

Stalin: Term of withdrawal is offensive to us. Nowhere you ask to liberate
and to withdraw within term. If France had raised similar point before
Great Britain and America I don’t know what would have happened- it is
insulting. You better ask us how long I will remain and I’1ll reply two to
three weeks.

Soong: I will ask you this question after capitulation.

Stalin: Two to three weeks. What circumstances can keep us longer: if
Chinese requests us or Americans request, to wait, take prisoners. If

China and America do not ask us to stay longer than three weeks, we start

withdrawing within three weeks with exception of garrison in Port Arthur.
Soong: How long to finish withdrawal?

Stalin: Depends on capacity of railway and number of troops. We think
Japan will give big battles in Manchuria. That’s why we accumulate so many
troops. Not more than two months.

Soong: Can you say three months?

Stalin: I don’t think we need, unless unexpected things: Japs destroy
lines, Kuangtong army will not obey orders. Like General Schoen(?) [sic]
did not obey. Needed two weeks to defeat him. If many mines in the sea.
Two months maximum for withdrawal of last man. Some will leave by sea,
others by rail. We will be in a hurry ourselves. Our people are making war
since four years. Americans wish us to have many troops. They don’'t want

to land in China — they’ll use all for landing in Japan. They don’t I

foresee landing in China but in Japan.
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Re you 2(b) “direct” what you want?

Soong: Assist the high command.

Stalin: In France and Poland it was under allied command.

Molotov: “Assist in establishing co-operation.”

Soong: O.K.

Molotov: Rest follows Czech agreement.

Stalin: Have you noticed: no term in Czech treaty?

Molotov: Re Chinese Eastern Railway take article by article. We have
preamble in our draft. Do you accept without mention of ownership?
Soong: Yes.

Molotov: Art. 1 based on joint ownership (reads). . .

Art. 2 inalienable to anyone else

Art. 3 — joint administration

(Molotov gives me Russian draft, article 4,5,6,7).

Art. .?. — add “trunk line”

Art. 12 — add “without compensation.”

Soong: On question of movement of troops I asked Stalin on July 2nd., and
he said there will be no movement.

Stalin: We will have garrison in Port Arthur. Impossible to do without.
Send munitions, weapons, relieve garrisons. I had in mind movement of
additional troops, but minimum transport from Vladivostok. Only few
troops, e.g. finish war with Japan. Troops have to be withdrawn.

Soong: Yes, but I asked for peace time.

Stalin: After capitulation of Japan there will be peace. We will have to
move our troops.

Soong: I exclude period immediately after war. On 2 July, I asked question
and I reported to my chief. I asked: do you intend to use railway for
transportation of troops (reads minutes).

Stalin: This is transit not transfer movement.
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Soong: Can you send by sea?

Stalin: Yes, it will depend how it will be more convenient. .
Soong: May be more convenient to move by railway but our troops have great
fear of foreign troops.

Stalin: When they remain, but not when in transit.

Soong: Even in transit.

Stalin: What shall we do with Port Arthur. We can soften but cannot
exclude.

Soong: We have settled several points I wanted settle before your
departure.

Stalin: We can make special agreement so as to limit. Say that in
agreement. In a limited order according to the order stated in the
agreement without, however, troops being disembarked in Chinese territory,
with the exception of the zone of Port Arthur.

Soong: On this point and number of other points I have to ask for

instructions.

Stalin: Put in an exchange of notes.

Molotov: Not publish it.

Soong: Why not by sea, it’s the same thing, one will see them.
Stalin: Two, three divisions once a year. Nothing to be afraid of.
Soong: I believe Stalin. Have fullest respect but must think of our
people. Chiang made concession on Outer Mongolia which I did not dare
believe he would.

Stalin: Outer Mongolia was independent.

Soong: People think otherwise. You don’t know our people’s mentality.
Stalin: Say: war material.

Soong: O.K. accept this change: war material.

Stalin: May we send troops for first time to Port Arthur.

Soong: Yes, on one occasion.
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Stalin: Say not more than 1-2 divisions in each case.

Soong: No.

Stalin: If we send in civilian.

Soong: Stalin is open, does not want subterfuge.

Stalin: This will be respect for the rights of China.

Soong: You don’‘t need it. Port Arthur is naval base, you can go by sea.
Molotov: Use of railway must be possible.

Stalin: Let us keep war material and agree on limited number of troops,
one division in each case by agreement between the two.

Soong: You want exclude all causes of trouble and friction. Therefore you
wanted settle Outer Mongolia question once for all. I respect that. Easy
for you to move by sea.

Stalin: O.K. War materials.

Soong: Railway guards: we want guard ourselves. We will give entire
protection. We do not want any armed foreigners on Chinese soil except in
Port Arthur.

Stalin: No artillery, no tanks, that are not troops.

Soong: After 1924 Chinese Eastern Railway had no Russian guards. No
trouble.

Molotov: Lot of trouble.

Soong: You can be assured of our capacity to guard railway.

Stalin: Japanese will have many agents to blow up bridges.

Soong: We will so flatten Japan they will have no army.

Stalin: Germans have 100.000 underground.

Soong: Our people can take care of that.

Stalin: How to formulate. By special agreement with Soviet government?
Soong: In consultation with.

Stalin: Why not agreement?

Soong: It is clear the Chinese government will take measures.
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Molotov: In consultation. Chinese government responsible for safety.
Soong: Yes.

Re directorship we propose 5 + 5.

Molotov: The board will not be able to carry on. They may be divided.
Soong: The whole thing is based on good will and understanding.

Stalin: Then chairman must have casting vote.

Soong: Who is to be chairman?

Molotov: In our draft we have Soviet chairman.

Soong: Telegram of Chiang says "“all administration must be Chinese”.
Stalin: This is not right.

Soong: These are my instructions: Chinese chairman and Chinese manager.
Molotov: Impossible.

Scong: When are you leaving?

Stalin: Can stay another day. Finish to-morrow or day after in day time.
Molotov: There is dinner on the evening of the 13th.

Stalin: We are leaving on the 14th.

Soong: I have suggestion. You go to Berlin. Certain things I must ask for
instructions. Leave here Vice-Minister Hoo. I fly to Chungking with
Petrov. Will talk Chiang personally, and will be back when Stalin returns
from Berlin. On this point must talk to Chiang.

Stalin: Hardly possible. In Berlin question about Far East will be raised
whether we move against Japan or not. I‘l1l be unable to give reply before
signature of treaty. There are other troops involved. We must settle
before we leave for Berlin.

Soong: Today 11th. If I cable tonight, I’ll get reply on 13.

Stalin: Let us wait one day more. I'll leave on 15th, will be one day
late.

Molotov: List of auxiliary enterprises.
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Soong: It is long. Suggest what Stalin proposed branch lines and
subsidiary undertakings excluded with exception of these undertakings
built during Russian administration and exclusively serving railway. We
can have a commission. Naturally everything that railway needs.

Molotov: Acceptable.

Soong: Dairen. New draft. Not much difference. Dairen is the principal sea
port of Manchuria. Therefore Chiang wants Chinese administration but
accepts Soviet experts.

Stalin: About Port Arthur?

Soong: Chiang wants Port Arthur under Chinese administration. What Stalin
said on central command is reasonable. I will recommend to Chiang to draw
a line but not put Dairen in the zone. I will be bold enough to recommend
to Chiang.

Nominate Chinese Vice-commandant to be appointed with your agreement.
Molotov: According to Yalta agreement, Soviet has preeminent interest in
Dairen.

Soong: Our interpretation is different. Safeguard transit but not control
of Dairen.

Stalin: Manager to be Russian as for Chinese Eastern Railway. We should
not like to depart from Yalta.

Molotov: Chiang did not object to the basis.

Soong: We employ Soviet technicians and not other foreigners.

Molotov: Our demands are minima [sic] - protection of minimum interests.
Soong: Preeminent does not mean you’ll run it. Military base I understand
you’ll have your command, but not for civilian port and administration.
Stalin: We need Dairen and Port Arthur for 30 years in case Japan restores
its forces. We could strike at her from there. Japan will raise again like
Germany. If you narrow down what can we do in the zone. Port without

hinterland. We can slightly reduce the zone.
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Soong: Free port must have free access, not go through zone.

Stalin: Port of Port Arthur must have hinterland and be supplemented by .
civilian port.

Molotov: Our demands are already modest. It will be the only harbour in
warm water in Far East.

Soong: We have given you Port Arthur.

Stalin: It is a small territory. We must have shops.

Soong: This is an immense territory.

Stalin: No.

Soong: We would be foolish not to disarm fully Japan.

Stalin: Germany was also disarmed. Even if destroy all war industry, light
industry must be maintained. They can be switched into war industry.
Present generation is hostile to Japan. Government change, they will
forget about sufferings and will make concessions.

Soong: You don’‘t believe you can’t disarm Germany?

Stalin: No, I said that in a speech. Twenty, thirty years, Germany will
get back to her feet. Now less possibility but in forty years she may get
on her feet again if someone helps Germany.

Soong: We did everything to meet Stalin views for Port Arthur.

Stalin: Not enough. Bottle neck can be cut off.

Soong: Must ask for instructions.

Source: Hoover Institution Archive, folder 6-9.

Contributed by David Wolff.
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Memcon A. Harriman - T. Soong

TOP—SHEERET Moscow
Conversation July 12, 1945
Present: W.A. Harriman, American Ambassador.

Dr. T. V. Soong, President of the Executive Yuan and Minister
for Foreign Affairs of the Republic of China.

Subject: Far Eastern Conversations with Generalissimo Stalin.

Dr. Soong last night told me that in his argument last night with
Stalin the latter had stated that there was great danger from the recovery
of Japan just as there was from Germany, that neither Churchill nor
President Roosevelt had thought there was danger of the military recovery
of Germany but the he, Stalin, had convinced them that there was and an
agreement had been reached to use stern measures. He mentioned
particularly the necessity of taking German prisoners of war out of
Germany to work in Russia. Stalin said he was not sure that the United
States would appreciate the importance of making Japan militarily
impotent.

In the last several talks I have had with Soong he has asked me
directly for my personal opinion and advice regarding the conduct of his
negotiations. In the early discussions I urged him to be more realistic
in the arrangements regarding the ports and the railroads and that he
would have to make further concessions than he had been authorized to
propose. In the last two talks I expressed the personal opinion that he
should not make further concessions since he had now met any reasonable
interpretation of the Yalta Agreement. I emphasized particularly the
importance of refusing to allow Russians as guards for the railroad and
the use of the port of Dairen as a naval base and its inclusion in the
military area. Dairen could not in fact be a free port if it was included
in a Soviet military zone.

I also told Soong that I saw no reason why he should give in to
Stalin in his insistence on a majority of the Board of Directors of the
railroad, thus giving the Soviets complete control. Joint operation,
which meant equality of authority to both sides, was all that the Yalta
Agreement called for and Soviet special interest might be protected by
agreement to the effect that the Chinese guaranteed that Russia’s through
traffic would be handled freely over the railroad.

I agreed with his position that the port of Dairen should be under
Chinese management but suggested that he offer certain docks and storage
areas to the Soviets on a commercial lease to be used by them for their
through traffic. I had previously expressed the view that if the Russians
were to have a naval base in Port Arthur they must have the right to
control a military zone beginning just south of Dairen.
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All of my talks with Soong have been alone. He has been
unreservedly frank in discussing his problems, has translated verbatim his
telegrams from the Generalissimo and has shown me English translations of
the notes of his conversations with Stalin. He has shown considerable
interest in my description of my different experiences and those of others
in negotiating with Stalin and has been somewhat re-assured that the heat
that was being put on him was not unique. I pointed out the need for
reaching as specific understandings as possible and my belief that he
could get more concessions on his present visit than on any subsequent
occasion. On the other hand I said he should not give in to unreasonable
demands going beyond the Yalta BRgreement.

I expressed the opinion that President Truman would not go beyond
the Yalta Agreement in urging the Generalissimo to accept. On the other
hand it would be far better from both the President’s standpoint and in
the starting off of good relations between Chungking and the Kremlin to
have the agreement reached on a bilateral basis. Therefore, if he wished
to make the concessions to Stalin in return for other assurances on
Stalin’s part I urged him to do so. This related, however, to the
recognition of Outer Mongolia’s independence. I have constantly told
Soong that the United States wanted to be sure that there was nothing
agreed to which would give special privileges to Russia in Manchuria,
resulting in a blackout. In other words, we wanted to be satisfied that
all nations could have normal commercial relations with Manchuria in the
same way as in other parts of China.

WAH/rpm/hnw

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin

12 July 1945, 12.00 - 12.45 a.m.

Soong: Last night when I returned I received a long telegram

from Chiang. Of course it was not reply to my telegram of yesterday. But
contained several points. Afraid hardly satisfactory to Stalin.

I. Railways. Chiang’s idea, Chairman should be Chinese. No casting vote.
Only courtesy to China. Chinese chairmanship.

Manager. Russian Manager for Chinese Eastern Railway, Chinese Assistant.
South Manchurian Railway: Chinese Manager, Soviet Assistant Manager.
Chiang agrees to 30 years.

Generally agrees along lines agreed upon by us.

II. Dairen. Free port under Chinese administration with Soviet technical

experts. Certain warehouses and storages on long lease to Soviets as
commercial lease for thirty years. That will give Soviet control over its
efficiency.

ITI. Port Arthur. During period of alliance used jointly by Chinese and
soviet as to military control. China would “entrust it” to Soviet so as
to avoid term lease.

Civil administration should be Chinese. For joint use by China and Soviet
Union Chiang proposes establish Sino-Soviet military commission to arrange
for joint use. This is only presentation, frankly. Area of Port Arthur
does not include Dairen or railway running to Dairen to make Dairen entire
free port with free access to land.

Civilian administrators: there was a sentence in Soviet draft: men
appointed only on agreement of soviet command. Because sovereignty of

China is concerned Chiang finds difficult to agree.
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Since Dairen-Port Arthur railway for 30 years Chiang proposes alliance

also 30 years. ‘

I came today as we have agreed on a number of points:

1) Outer Mongolia

2) Treaty of alliance

3) Chinese representative with Soviet army

4) Views of Stalin on Chiang problems (sin-kiang, internal problems:
communist, no question. Stalin wants China’s absolute sovereignty
in Manchuria)

5) Railways: only question of management left

6) Dairen: question of administration

7) Port Arthur: question of area

These questions I telegraphed early this morning. But at the same time I

received this one, so Chiang views cannot be very much different. I

therefore want make suggestion. Best way to make quick trip home with
Ambassador Petrov. Two days flying. Want present all facts to Chiang and
have one or two personal talks to present entire picture. Realize Stalin
anxious have settlement before Berlin but when he arrives in Berlin I’1l
be in Chungking - with help of Petrov can communicate easily...

Molotov: This is not convenient.

Stalin: Good.

Soong: Could appoint someone to narrow down controversial points.

Stalin: Accept thirty years for treaty, rest not acceptable. What can
people with less authority settle.

Soong: Not controversial matter but points already settled.

Stalin: You are anxious avoid impression of break in negotiation.

Soong: Yes.

Stalin: It is possible.
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Soong: Ask Vice-Minister and Ambassador Fu to remain.

Molotov: We will also appoint.

Stalin: When do you leave?

Soong: As soon as possible since you want reply as soon as possible.
Molotov: How about a communique.

Soong: Yes.

Stalin: On general lines.

Molotov: When will you come back?

Soong: Before you return to Berlin.

(Lossovski shows map)

Stalin: Miao dow 1li dow (?) [sic]l islands to be neutralized. They
belong to neutral zone.

Molotov: Make protocol - suggests draft.

. (pavlov translates)

Soong: Leave morning 14th. How long do you remain in Berlin?

Stalin: Not later than end of July. 8 - 11 days usually. We will let
you know when we come back to Moscow.

Stalin: Don’t publish anything in press - our press will remain silent.
We know SUNFO communicates everything to representative of YENAN contents
of your telegrams. Very bad.

Soong: I can assure my people will be silent. I will speak only to
Chiang.

Stalin: Nothing should leak out from Chinese government.

Soong: We will see to that.

Stalin: Qur press will be silent.

Soong: Special effort that everybody remains silent including our
press.

Stalin: What will contain communique?

Molotov: Conversations, improvement of relations, negotiations will
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continue, mutual understanding and friendship.

Soong: Is it O.K. if Chinese press says that V. Hoo and Liu remain.
Stalin: Yes, if it is convenient for you.

Soong: We have general understanding of what each press has to do.
Molotov: Still something remains to do.

Soong: Sorry, difficult to express in telegrams.

Stalin: Suggest a formula: the negotiations in view of the departure of
Stalin and Molotov have to be postponed.

Soong: Fine. Could Petrov go with me?

Stalin: Yes.

Soong: Thanks for absolute frankness. Leave with impression Stalin is
most sincere in desiring to be in friendly relations with

National Government for which he and Chiang are very grateful.

Stalin: I also thank you for your sincerity and for sentiments you just
expressed. Our people in Russia do not want break up China as

formerly between Russia and China. Want China prospering and

powerful State. Not all Chinese believe in what I say. Time

will come when they see facts and will believe.

Soong: I believe.

Source: Hoover Institution Archives, folder 6-9.

Contributed by David Wolff.
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PARAPHRASE OF NAVY CABLE JULY 13, 1945, FROM MOSCOW

FOPOHERET

TOP--SECRET AND PERSONAL FROM HARRIMAN TO THE PRESIDENT AND THE
SECRETARY OF STATE:

Last night Soong saw Stalin and Molotov again and outlined the
maximum concessions he was authorized to make along the lines of my
message sent the evening of July 11.

With reference to the management of the railroads he proposed equal
numbers of directors with the Chinese to have the Chairman without
administrative authority as a courtesy to China; the manager of the South
Manchurian to be Chinese and the assistant manager Russian; the manager of
the Chinese Eastern to be Russian and the assistant manager Chinese. He
proposed that the port of Dairen should be a free port under Chinese
management, but offered the Soviets docks and storage areas under
commercial lease for their through traffic. He explained that for obvious
reasons he could not agree to the port of Dairen or the connecting
railroad being in a Soviet military zone or being used as a Soviet naval
base. Soong offered Port Arthur as a naval base for joint use but under
Soviet control. There does not appear to be any difference regarding Port
Arthur but Stalin told Soong that his proposals regarding the port of
Dairen and the railroads were unsatisfactory. Stalin did not offer any
further concessions in his demands for the control of the railroads and
for the inclusion of Dairen in the military zone substantially under
Soviet control.

Soong then said that he felt he should return to Chungking to
consult with Chiang, but would be prepared to come to Moscow again at any
time Stalin wished. The meeting parted, according to Soong, in a friendly
atmosphere and he expressed satisfaction with the frankness of discussion
and the confidence that he had gained in the friendly attitude of the
Soviet Government towards his own government.

According to Soong he did not press Stalin further on any points as
he was anxious to leave the subject open in order to obtain your views.
He hopes you will be able to get Stalin to accept the Chinese position at
the forthcoming conference or that you will be able to work out a
compromise which Chiang can accept. He did not, however, say this to
Stalin.

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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Memorandum of Conversation between W.A. Harriman and Stalin

Conversation Moscow, August 8, 1945.
PSP —CEERET
Present: W. A. Harriman, American Ambassador

George F. Kennan, Minister Counselor

Generalissimus Stalin
V. M. Molotov, People’s Commissar for Foreign Affairs
Mr. Pavlov, Soviet Interpreter

Subject: Russian-Chinese Agreement.

The Ambassador began the conversation by stating that the President
had asked him to come to see the Generalissimus and to discuss a certain
matter relating to the Yalta Agreement. The President was anxious that it
should be made clear to the American public, in connection with the
agreements which the Russians and Chinese were now negotiating concerning
the use of ports and railroads of Manchuria, that there would be no
departure either by the Russians or the Chinese from the open-door policy
in that area. He pointed out that the Generalissimus had repeatedly
expressed his support of the open-door policy in previous conversations
and voiced the President’s hope that the Generalissimus would consent to
put this in writing, to be published at the same time as the Chinese-
Russian agreements.

The Generalissimus replied, "“This shall be done”.

The Ambassador then handed Generalissimus Stalin the text, in Russian
translation, of the proposed communication from the Soviet and Chinese
Governments to the United States Government. The Generalissimus looked it
over and said that it would be satisfactory except for the last sentence
of the first paragraph. He pointed out that in the Crimea agreement there
had been a reference to Russia’s preeminent position. That meant a
preferential position in the administration of the port. They consider
that there should be in Dairen a municipal administration headed by a
Chinese-Soviet council of five members each, the chairman of which should
be a Chinese, but that the manager of the port should be a Russian, who
would be subordinate to the municipal administration. That was how they
interpreted the term “preeminent”. It did not apply to trade. he did not
think it ran counter to the open-door policy. It was only a question of
the relations between Russians and Chinese in the administration of the
city and port.

The Ambassador said that he had a message form the President on this
subject. The President had every intention of supporting the Yalta
agreement. As the Generalissimus was aware, the President had talked to
Soong in Washington, and Hurley had talked with Generalissimo Chiang. The
President felt that Soong’s proposals met the Yalta agreement and hoped
that the Generalissimus would no press Soong further for concessions. The
Ambassador believed that what President Roosevelt had had in mind when he
spoke of Russia’s preeminent position was full protection of Russian
transit traffic across Manchuria to the warm water ports. The President’s
thinking had not gone beyond this.
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The Generalissimus stated that they too did not go beyond hat. He
felt that they had been generous enough with the Chinese. Both the
railroad and the port and been built by Russians with Russian funds.
Nevertheless they had now agreed to its joint use and possession. In
tsarist days there had been Russian railroad guards. They had now
renounced this privilege, although they had strong doubts as to the
ability of the Chinese to guard the railroad effectively. In the old days
there had been no Chinese in the administration of the railroad. Now they
were meeting the Chinese half way in this respect. But he had believed
the Chinese regarded the Russians as unwelcome and undesirable guests -
that they wanted the Russians to be put into a position where they could
not operate.

The Ambassador said that it had long been American policy to
acknowledge the full sovereignty of China in her own territory and to
allow China to work out her own destiny and to support herself
economically. Neither President Roosevelt nor President Truman had wanted
to see a step backwards in this respect. He hoped the matter would be
worked out which would give the Chinese sovereignty and control.

The Generalissimus said they were in favor of this. They had no
objection to Chinese sovereignty and control. After all, they were
returning Manchuria to the Chinese.

The Ambassador asked why they wanted to insist on taking charge of
operations in the port as long as long as they had guarantees about their
traffic.

The Generalissimus said that someone had to be master there. The Russians
had built the port. The place had to be kept in order.

The Ambassador pointed out that Soong had been prepared to give the
Russians a commercial lease on docks, warehouses, etc. in the port area,
but that this would not affect the administration of the port.

The Generalissimus said that he couldn’t make out exactly what Soong
had suggested. Soong had talked a lot and wasted a lot of time making
notes but they had not understood exactly what he was proposing. They
had asked him to put his proposals in writing but he had not yet done so.

Mr. Molotov said that they had just received part of what Soong had
promised to send.

The Generalissimus said that they had put their own proposals to
Soong in writing, both in Russian and English. From Soong they had only
words.

The Ambassador replied that he was in the same position, and that he
had no information on these matters except form cables he had received and
what Soong had told him. The President hoped, however, that no final
agreement would be concluded with Soong except in consultation with us.

He recalled that at Stalin’s request President Roosevelt had agreed to
take the initiative in this matter.

The Generalissimus replied that the Russians had nothing to hide.
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The Ambassador said that President Truman had accepted Soong'’s
general proposals. If the Russians and the Chinese went beyond them, he
would like to be informed.

The Generalissimus said he had no objection to President Truman's
intervening in this matter, but he felt that the President should listen
to the Russians as well and not only to the Chinese.

The Ambassador recalled that the President had intervened only in
pursuance to a request made by Stalin himself and had exerted his
influence on Soong. He asked whether he might understand that when the
Generalissimus learned the exact nature of Soong’s proposals he would let
us know how they struck him. In the case of Port Arthur, the President
felt it to be in our mutual defense interests of the Soviet Union and
China for the Russians to have the use as a Naval base. But Dairen, he
felt, should be a free port outside the military zone, with the
reservation that Soviet transit traffic should be fully protected.

The Generalissimus replied that Dairen could not be outside the
military zone. A different regime from Port Arthur might be established
there; but the place had to be protected. The Japanese would have agents
and saboteurs there; the Chinese could not cope with this problem.
According to all the old treaties and maps, Dairen was par to the military
zone. Yet now attempts were being made to exclude it. Why, he asked, did
the Chinese regard them as fools? After all, Dairen was near Port Arthur.

The Ambassador said the Generalissimus would recall that President
Roosevelt did not agree to the lease to the Russians of the port of
Dajiren. He thought it should be a free port and not part of the military
zone.

The Generalissimus said nothing had been said to the effect that it
should not be included in the military zone. They intended to have no
Naval vessels there, no coastal defenses, etc. but they could not permit
Japanese agents to wander about in the rear of their troops.

The Ambassador said that President Truman’s interpretation was that
he had outlined.

The Generalissimus said the Chinese had agreed that the whole
peninsula should be a military zone.

The Ambassador said he understood the Chinese were proposing that
Dairen be excluded.

The Generalissimus said, “That’s what they say now”.

The Ambassador pointed out that the Russians had originally
suggested that there be a joint lease for the two ports which had not been
agreed to. We interpreted it differently. They might have coastal
defenses around the city, in any way they and the Chinese might like. But
the port could not be military.

The Generalissimus reiterated that there would be no Naval ships
there but that they would need a security zone around the port. It was
wrong to think they would be free form danger but they would set up a
different regime there than in Port Arthur. How, he asked, could the

218




Chinese operate the port unless there were a master? Therefore there
would have to be a Russian Captain of the Port.

The Ambassador asked whether the municipality would be excluded from
the military zone under their proposals.

The Generalissimus explained that there would be a district with a
non-military regime, but that matters of security would be decided by the
military authorities. This would not affect freedom of trade.

Mr. Molotov said that the Chinese had agreed to everything but one
point: namely, who was to be the captain of the port, a Chinese or a
Russian. This question was one of internal security, of police security.
In the zone to be set up as a hinterland, Chinese administration would
likewise control, but security would be a matter for the Russians. As
regards Dairen, the question was who would be the chief of the port.

The Ambassador said the President hoped that the port would be under
Chinese jurisdiction with certain areas set aside for Soviet transit
traffic.

The Generalissimus said that the municipal administration would be
Chinese just as it would be in the interior zone north of Port Arthur.

The Ambassador reiterated the President’s hope that the open-door
policy would be observed.

The Generalissimus said that it would be, but that it was impossible
that the Russians should not play a role there. This would be counter to
the Crimea Agreement.

The Ambassador said perhaps when the Chinese had submitted written
proposals it would be easier for us to come to a meeting of the minds on
this matter.

The Generalissimus replied, “Perhaps it will”.

The Ambassador asked whether he might tell the President that the
Generalissimus would keep the President informed of Soong’s proposals and
his reactions.

The Generalissimus said he would not only keep the President
informed but he would be glad to give the Ambassador full information.

The Ambassador said that he would be glad to see the proposals and
would of course report them at once to the President. Perhaps meanwhile
the Generalissimus would give further thought to this matter.

The Generalissimus, pointing to our proposed text, said it was all
very well but that there could be no assurance of non-preferential
treatment, that after all they had preeminent interests.

The Generalissimus then produced a map showing the Kwantung
Peninsula, pointed out that in tsarist times there had been not only a
Russian military zone embracing the whole peninsula but also beyond it a
neutral zone in which neither side could station forces. He pointed out
that the Russians were now renouncing the neutral zone and using a
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slightly smaller territory for military zone. Dairen, he insisted, should
be run in cooperation between the Chinese and the Russians.

The Ambassador asked whether it would be necessary for people to
have military permits to pass through the port and over the railroad.

The Generalissimus said no.

The Ambassador said we had envisaged that the town and railroad
would be excluded from the military zone.

The Generalissimus said that as long as there were no hostilities in
the vicinity no troops would be stationed there. He said that the
Russians were taking a long view of this matter. They wanted these ports
for only 30 years during which time they hoped to develop their own ports
on the pacific. At the present time, the Japanese might be defeated; but
he could not tell what the situation would be ten years hence. The
Japanese were stubborn, tenacious people. Russia had to guard her own
security. She could therefore not be excluded from the administration of
Dairen.

The Ambassador asked whether, under the arrangements envisaged by
the Russians, freight and passengers of all friendly countries would be
able to move freely though the port.

The Generalissimus replied, “Undoubtedly.”

The Ambassador said that then the question was who should run the

port. .

The Generalissimus repeated that the Russians wanted a control organ
consisting of five members, of whom the chairman would be a Chinese, but
that the chief of the port, to be subordinated to the control organ,
should be a Russian.

In conclusion the Generalissimus asked the Ambassador to tell the
President that they were doing everything in their power to strengthen the
sovereignty of China. They would consider it dishonorable to do
otherwise. Furthermore they would guarantee full freedom of trade. No
obstacles would be placed in its path. The principle of the open-door
would rule. All this he could assure us, as far as the Russians were
concerned. As for the Chinese, they did not know. That was not matter of
theirs. But they would do everything in their power to see that the open-
door policy was followed by their own authorities.

The Ambassador asked whether this applied to the railroad as well.

The Generalissimus replied yes, their use would also be free.

GFK/aj

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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Memorandum of Conversation between W.A. Harriman and Stalin

Conversation. Moscow, August 8, 1945.

Fep—feeret

Present: W.A. Harriman, American Ambassador
George F. Kennan, Minister Counselor

Generalissimus Stalin
V.M. Molotov, People’s Commissar of Foreign Affairs

Mr. Pavlov, Soviet Interpreter

Subject: Far Eastern War and General Situation

The Ambassador began the conversation by expressing his
gratification at the fact that we were once again allies. He then asked
the Generalissimus what news he had of Soviet military action in the East.

The Generalissimus replied that Soviet troops has crossed the
frontier both in the east and the west and had not met very strong
resistance on either frontier. Soviet aircraft had bombed Changchun and
Harbin by darkness. Soviet forces in the east had attacked in the
neighborhood of Gradekovo, where the railroad from Vladivostok crosses the
frontier. Another column was striking south from the Soviet border toward
Hailan. A third column was moving east through the mountain pass from
Chahan in the vicinity of Solunshan. The cavalry force was moving from
south of Ulanbator across the Gobi desert to the Mukden region. Thus far
only advanced troops had crossed the frontier but at the moment of our
conversation the main forces were beginning to follow them. The Japs
appeared to be taken unawares. The Soviet forces in the region between
Khabarovsk and Blagoveshchensk were not attacking yet, the idea being to
wait until the attacks of the center of Manchuria had caused the Japanese
to weaken their defenses on that sector, at which time these forces would
also attack. There had also been no attempt to attack on the Sakhalin
border, but this would be done later. The immediate objectives were
Harbin and Changchun.

The Ambassador remarked that the Generalissimus had told him a year
ago that he thought things would go fairly fast once Russia entered the
war.

The Generalissumus said that if things went fast now it would not be
due only to Russia’s entry. Things were going much better in general than
he had anticipated. They had not known what successes our Navy would have
in the Pacific. Who would have thought, he asked, that things would have
progressed so far by this time?

The Ambassador asked what he thought of the effects of the news of
the atomic bomb would have on the Japanese.

The Generalissimus replied that he thought the Japanese were at
present looking for a pretext to replace the present government with one
which would be qualified to undertake a surrender. The atomic bomb might

give them this pretext.
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The Ambassador observed that it was a good thing we had invented
this and not the Germans. For long, he said, no one had dared think it .
would be a success. It was only a few days before the President had told
Stalin about it in Berlin that we had learned definitely that it would
work successfully.

The Generalissimus replied that Soviet scientists said that it was a
very difficult problem to work out.

The Ambassador said that if the Allies could keep it and apply it
for peaceful purposes it would be a great thing.

The Generalissimus agreed and said that would mean the end of war
and aggressors. But the secret would have to be well kept.

The Ambassador said that it could have great importance for peaceful
purposes.

The Generalissimus replied, “unquestionably”. He added that Soviet
scientists had also tried to do it but had not succeeded. They had found
one laboratory in Germany where the Germans had evidently been working on
the same problem but the Russians could not find that they had come to any
results. If they had found it, Hitler would never have surrendered.
England, too, had gotten nowhere with these researches although they had
excellent physicists.

The Ambassador explained that the English had pooled their knowledge
with us since 1941. But it had taken enormous installations to conduct
the experiments and to achieve final results.

The Generalissimus remarked that this had been very expensive.

The Ambassador agreed and said that it had cost over two billion
dollars. Churchill deserved much of the credit for encouraging the
development.

Stalin said that Churchill was a great innovator, persistent and
courageous. He too had pushed the development of the tank at one time.

The Ambassador remarked that he had seen Churchill in London.
Churchill had said he had lived a lifetime in one week. He was now full
of vigor and god cheer, busily preparing to take up his role as leader of
the opposition. He had said he missed only one thing, being out of
office. He had been accustomed, upon waking up in the morning, to press
buttons and give directions which would set important matters in motion.
He could not get used to not being able to do this.

Stalin commented that Churchill could not be afraid of Attlee.
The Ambassador replied that Churchill was not afraid of anyone.

GFK/aj

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin

10 Augqust, 1945 9.00 - 11.30 p.m.

Stalin: The Japanese want to capitulate.

Soong: Thanks to you.

Stalin: Thanks to all. They want to keep their emperor.

Soong: Do you like him?

Stalin: Now we must wait. Now it is conditional and we want
unconditional.

They want their emperor.

Soong: Face saving.

Stalin: Perhaps yes. They got what they deserved. Tojo remains.

Soong: Good many of them will make hara-kiri.

Stalin: It was in the past.

Soong: Expects Tojo to commit it.

Stalin: Tojo will not. He catches butterflies.

Soong: We can leave him at that.

Stalin: You’'re too easy going. Are we going to sign the treaties?

Soong: We are anxious to sign them before Japanese capitulate. Easier to
present to our people.

Stalin: We cannot accept excluding Dairen from military zone. Nothing in
nature of military arrangements now necessary. But in 15 years we cannot
sign treaty when time comes. We must sign treaty to foresee what may
happen.

Cannot exclude Dairen from military zone.

Ready to establish zone inside Dairen and from 2 or 3 kilometers outside
which will not be under military control in peace time. As regards
railroad cannot be excluded from zone.

Traffic will be free, no inspection, nor obstacles.



This question must be decided otherwise nothing will come out.

As to two railways administration can be combined in one railway and then
we can accept your status: Parity, Chinese Chairman, Manager Russian. If
we settle these questions things will move forward. Re port
installations, lease of land but not of installation. Installation should
be joint property like railroad. Security: certain requirements of
military command to be taken into account. Re islands, not to be armed
without mutual agreement. We can drop. Not pressing. The declaration
connected with treaty of friendship we have certain amendments. Re
Mongolia ready to leave out “and in future”.

Re frontiers Chinese map is not well founded. Existing frontiers should
be recognized. If these questions are cleared up, things will proceed
forward quickly. I suggest following procedure: take Chinese drafts and
go point by point.

Soong: Please.

Stalin: Molotov will take care. 1If there are big important questions I
can come. I am very busy.

Molotov: We’ve got to reach agreement.

Soong: Anxious to agree before surrender. After we will have more
difficulties with our people. Eight years of war. People will say why do
you make such concessions.

Stalin: People will understand and will like and alliance with USSR.
Soong: Yes, but we have made many concessions, Outer Mongolia, etc.
Stalin: Outer Mongolia was lost any way — declared war on Japan.

Soong: Almost one half of China.

Stalin: It is a desert.

Soong: Does not look so on map.

Stalin: Smallest piece of land of Kwantung is twenty times more valuable.

Soong: Schoolchildren look at map and see size of Outer Mongolia.
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Wang: May I be allowed to make a plea to Stalin re Dairen. When I
departed from Chungking to Moscow General Chiang wanted me to state this
case to Stalin. Port of Dairen is similar in nature to port of Kowloon.
We have been contemplating that after war we will get back Kowloon,
perhaps Hong Kong. Therefore we have been so anxious preserve
administrative power of Dairen. If not it will be difficult if not
impossible to get back Kowloon and Hong Kong.

Stalin: British consider Hong Kong as theirs. Dairen in 30 years, will be
Chinese.

Wang: Kowloon also leased to Britain. Important to South China as Dairen
for Manchuria. Chiang asks Stalin to give sympathetic consideration to
this. We are struggling for emancipation of China.

Stalin: I do not want China to renounce Dairen. What am I called upon to
do to satisfy you?

Wang: Let Dairen to be under Chinese administration, we will use soviet

experts. If you accept this we can easier get back Kowloon.
Stalin: We cannot exclude Dairen from military zone. In case of war we
would have to interfere. Chinese will want us to interfere. War may come

in 10, 15, 20 years. Right to interfere should be reserved to Russia in
case of war. We shall have no troops, no warships, no coastal artillery
the port: Russian. His assistant, Chinese. Let us state in treaty that
Russians will have no troops in Dairen and that in case of war Russia will

defend Dairen.

Wang: In time of war Dairen will be subject to military control?
Stalin: Yes, as it is in military zone.

Wang: In time of peace, administration should be entirely Chinese?

Stalin: With exception of Chief of port.
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Wang: We don’t consider any municipal council. Foreign representation on
Council. In Kowloon, Shanghai, same question will arise. Russian
representatives will give Russian character.

Stalin: All right. Will give thought to this.

Wang: Have strict instructions on this.

Stalin: We will return to this later. After consulting Molotov we can
agree that administration, like for zone, will be entirely Chinese.
Soong: Next question railroad. We want to have Chinese manager of South
Manchurian Railway, assistant will be Soviet. Chinese Eastern Railway
manager, Soviet, assistant Chinese.

Stalin: Cannot accept. The two railways should have two Russian managers.
Otherwise confusion. You do not lose anything by agreeing.

Soong: In some countries many railways have different managers.

Stalin: If private railways. Here it is a state property.

Soong: Ask Stalin to be fair and have two managers as we suggest.

Stalin: Difficult. Conflicts may arise. Source of friction. If Russian
unsatisfactory we appoint another one. He will be under control.
Chairman is Chinese. Do you think we shall not take into account Chinese
interests?

Wang: We want entire parity: two boards of directors with two managers.
Chairman Chinese, then manager Soviet.

Molotov: This could create administrative difficulties.

Lossovski: Japanese have now one railway.

Wang: Before Mukden incident there were two railways until Chinese Eastern
Railway sold to Japan. I made personnel suggestion without having
consulted my colleagues.

Stalin: We prefer Russian manager for both railways and Chinese chairman.
Wang: If basis is absolute equality easier to convince our people.

Stalin: Railroad was built by Russians. Inequality is with regard to us.
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Wang: People have different opinions.

Stalin: Question of subsidiary undertakings and branches serving railroad,
built by C.E.R. and South Manchurian Railway. They should be left to
railroads. But if locomotive shops for instance were built by South
Manchurian Railway, are they excluded?

Soong: Enterprises built by Russians and directly serving railway.
Stalin: Only those branches and enterprises built by Russians on Chinese
Eastern Railway and serving railways. We do not claim branches not built
by Russians.

Soong: Even for Chinese Eastern Railway the branches were not included.
Stalin: They serve railway. It’s in the interest of Chinese that they
form part of railway as it is partly Chinese and will revert to China in
thirty years.

Soong: We agreed in undertakings built in Russian time, we did not agree
on branches.

Stalin: Short branches - serve only railway not those built by Russians
for other purposes but what serves railroad.

Soong: Only for Chinese Eastern Railway and not for South Manchurian
Railway.

Stalin: Yes, we do not insist for South Manchurian as regards branches not
built by Russians.

Molotov: More explicitly state responsibility of China to supply coal and
fuel, and that lines and profits be equally divided.

Soong: We already agreed to that.

Stalin: We insist very much that manager Russian for both railroads.
Molotov: Rest easy to agree.

Stalin: Re declaration as part of treaty of friendship, paragraph 1 - in
accordance with spirit, etc., Soviet Government agree to render to China

any moral support . . . to go entirely to National Government as the
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Central Government, change after which the Soviet Government is convinced
will realize national unity and democratization of China.

(He reads the two concluding lines).

Wang: We can make modification, but your formula is not suitable. We will
think of a formula agreeable to us both.

Stalin: Paragraph 3: we suggest different language. As for the recent
development in Sin-kiang the Soviet Government confirms that it has not
had and, as stated in article 5 of the Treaty of Alliance and Friendship,
has not the intention of interfering in the internal affairs of China.

In paragraph 2, delete *“solemnly” in Chinese text - it is not in English
text.

Soong: Suggests add “and will prevent” etc.

Stalin: Not necessary. One cannot repeat all the time that one is honest.
I could also think out innumerable declarations and assurances.

Wang: We can accept your formula without additions. Our government would
like to have co-operation in case of necessity if there are troubles.
Stalin: This is a matter for China. Sin-kiang is Chinese. You can do
what you like there, like we in our territory.

Wang: Re paragraph 1. If we have no better formula to replace yours let
us drop our last line and your formula as well.

Stalin: You do not wish to democratize China?

Soong: For same reasons as you said we do not want to be obtrusive.
Stalin: If you continue to beat communists are we expected to support
Chinese government? We do not interfere, but hard for us to support
morally when you fight communists.

Wang: It seems internal matter is made subject of international agreement.
Molotov: Suggest: "“To China which thrives to complete national unity and
further democratization”.

Soong: Prefer leave it as it is.




Stalin: Why are you against “democratization”.

Soong: Deeds matter, not words.

Stalin: Say democratization in deeds! O0.K. You see how many concessions
we make. Chinese communists will curse us.

Soong: We do not want civil war.

Stalin: You wanted recently.

Soong: No, no. We are not so silly to start trouble. It’s the communists
who said so. They don’t want us to be in good relations, to sign treaty
with USSR.

Stalin: If it were true it would be sad and unintelligible.

Wang: They don’t want you to support us.

Stalin: Re withdrawal I did not state that within 3 months. I said that 3
months as a maximum would be sufficient for completion of withdrawal.
Soong: I accept.

Stalin: Is that an agreement?

Soong: Agreed minutes to be signed

(Stalin laughs)

Soong: Stalin said if Chiang writes a letter I will write reply. If he
prefers letter, it can be letter.

Stalin: Please. If Chiang asks me I shall reply. Since you ask me I’'1l1
reply. The ‘minutes’ is correct. I accept it.

Wang: What about the frontiers of Outer Mongolia?

Stalin: Leave the existing ones.

Wang: You want to avoid frictions?

Stalin: Yes.

Wang: Frontiers of Outer Mongolia have been chief cause of friction. We
don’'t want any advantage, therefore we brought an atlas used in all
colleges in China. It is regarded as authoritative. We are asked to

recognize independence of Outer Mongolia. We must tell our people what
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territory we are to recognize. We must have fairly general settlement.

We do not want deceive or draw undue advantage. Frontiers in this map .
correspond with Soviet maps we have.

Stalin: Frontiers existing for 26'years is established without any
disputes with China. Our topographers went there and drew on map a line
which separated Chinese and Mongolian guards. That’s west and south. Re
east there were disputes with Japanese. Then there was an agreement
concluded. If we re-examine, it will take time, certain pieces will be
taken, others given.

Your Russian map is not wvalid.

Molotov: It was presented by Tojo after Kalkhim (?} government.

Stalin: There were no military topographers.

Molotov: Leave existing frontiers.

Soong: We do not know your map.

Stalin: You have your guards. There are signs, marks on frontiers. No

disputes have ever taken place.

Wang: There were disputes last year between Sin-kiang and Outer Mongolia.
Stalin: Not about frontiers. It was about (Ospan) Khazak leader who
crossed the frontier. Mongols did not surrender him. Dispute was not
about frontier.

Wang: This is a difficult matter for us. We want to remove all causes of
friction. I have not consulted my colleagues. Suggest to add in our
declaration that recognition will take place after Chinese and Mongol
authorities agree on frontiers.

Lossovski: There are 4.400 kilometers of boundary.

Wang: Of course not accurate, but demarcate on map.

Stalin: We cannot accept that. It is denial of independence. What was

agreed would be postponed for a long time. You withdraw your agreement.

Soong: We don’'t withdraw, we want clarity.




Stalin: Frontiers exist which you never challenged. If you look for
pretext to withdraw what you have accepted better state it frankly.
Soong: No pretext. We agreed. We want to know where the line is.
Stalin: Frontier has not been challenged by you or Mongols.

Soong: We always considered Outer Mongolia as Chinese and there was no
need to challenge.

Stalin: But there are Chinese guards on frontier on side of Sin-kiang.
Wang: None of us is competent on question of boundary. We brought atlas
because it is considered as authoritative and used everywhere in China.
If Stalin objects to my words we might postpone conclusion of our
negotiations until some competent man can go to Chungking to try reach
agreement on frontiers with our topographers.

Molotov: The Mongols should participate.

Stalin: Mongols would riot if their frontier is to be changed. Mongols

dream to unite with Inner Mongolia. Better not to raise the question, if

in addition you tell that their frontier will be cut down.

Wang: We do not want to cut, but we must know the line.

Stalin: To prevent Mongols to have dreams, recognition should be given and

if they want Inner Mongolia, threaten them with war. Russia will by no
means help them to extend their frontier. They can’t do alone and we’ll
keep quiet. It’s now five o’clock in Far East and our troops will
continue movement.

Soong: Any resistance?

Stalin: Hailar, Manchuli. Now less. Few surrender. Less means of war
and less troops than we. We are already crossing Hingan. They have not
got many forces. Prisoners tell us they are going to defend Moukden,
Changchun, Korea.

Soong: Your troops entered Korea?

Stalin: No, they reached the frontier.
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Wang: How many divisions you think the Japanese have.

Stalin: 20-22 Japanese divisions + 35 to 40 Manchu brigades.

Soong: Manchus fought?

Stalin: First day, now surrendering. No first class weapons with
Japanese.

Wang: Any Japanese aircrafts?

Stalin: Few.

Wang: If they don’t surrender how long will they collapse?

Stalin: One week. Poorly armed, no fighting spirit. Seem to be afraid of
Russians. Few tanks. Seems they have transported weapons to South-
Shanghai.

Soong: About railway - why can’t you accept Chinese manager on South
Manchurian railway.

Stalin: There will be frictions between Russian and Chinese managers.
Soong: Why? There are assistant managers.

Molotov: South Manchurian Railway only to connect with Port Arthur and
Dairen.

Wang: Manager will be subject to board.

Stalin: Why don’'t you agree?

Wang: Principle of equality. We want to train our men to leading posts.
Stalin: If you accept for Chinese Eastern Railway a Russian manager as not
against principles of equality why can’t you accept for South Manchurian
Railway?

Soong: Fair that you have one manager, and we one manager.

Stalin: Afraid connection will not work smoothly and we have troops in
Port Arthur. Frankly speaking, we are afraid at that.

Wang: South Manchurian Railway has many branches with which Chinese

manager can help remove friction.
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Stalin: Assistant manager will be Chinese. He can undertake connections.
We are still not in agreement. I thought we could finish.

Soong: We made proposals.

Stalin: Afraid no regular communication can be maintained with Port
Arthur. We can punish Russian manager, not the Chinese.

Soong: We are as anxious that connection be safeguarded. We will punish
our manager too. We are anxious to work with Soviet Russia. You can
count on it.

Stalin: I believe Soong but it will not be you who will run South
Manchurian Railway.

Soong: When we enter into these agreements we intend to co-operate with
you. Whoever runs the railway must follow our policy. Foolish for us not
to do utmost to meet your needs.

Stalin: Opposed to military commission in Port Arthur. Settlements can be
done between governments. Let us take point by point with Molotov to-
morrow.

Soong: Military commission - only to work out joint use does not hurt your
interests. We entrust you the defence of Port Arthur. It is to explain
to our people.

Stalin: An agreement should be reached between governments. We shall not
conceal our plans from Chinese.

Soong: This Commission will really not interfere with defence of Port
Arthur.

Stalin: What functions?

Soong: Joint use, merely a word.

Stalin: Who is subordinated to commission, not clear.

Soong: We can make it clear. This is largely presentation, article 4 says

defence entrusted to Soviet Government.
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Wang: Chinese use of Port Arthur should not be solely under Soviet

authority, but under joint authority. Soviet side alone will decide how
to use port.

Stalin: That can be done by agreement of two governments.

Wang: We don'’t know how often questions will arise.

Stalin: If there are Chinese vessels, Chinese will command but they will
have to obey orders of Russian command. Joint command is impossible like
for fronts. French troops were subordinated to Chief allied commander.
Wang: Yes, in time of war.

Stalin: Same in peace time.

Soong: We agreed to that article 4.

Stalin: We have different plan than Czars for defence.

Soong: Meet to-morrow with Molotov.

Molotov: 2 p.m.

Fu: With whom is General Hsiung to meet?

Stalin: With Antonov, Chief of General Staff.

Source: Hoover Institution Archives, folders 6-9.

Contributed by David Wolff.
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PARAPHRASE OF NAVY CABLE AUGUST 11, 1945, TO WASHINGTON

TR EHCRET

FROM HARRIMAN, TOP-SEERET AND PERSONAL FOR THE PRESIDENT AND THE
SECRETARY OF STATE:

This morning Soong told me of his negotiations last night with
Stalin.

Stalin insists that Dairen be within the Soviet military zone but
agrees that military authority should not be exercised in time of peace
over the city of Dairen including the port and connecting railways. The
Soviets would assume control in time of war. This seemed acceptable to
Soong. Stalin now agrees that the administration of the city of Dairen
including the port should be Chinese. The Chief of the Port, however,
should be Soviet reporting to the Chinese Mayor. Soong is prepared to
accept this also. Stalin, however, proposed ([sic] that the port
facilities should be jointly owned. Soong will not agree to this but will
propose that certain wharves and storage facilities should be leased to
the Soviets at nominal terms. He hopes that this compromise will be
accepted by Stalin.

Soong proposed, as to Outer Mongolia, that the Chinese recognize its
independence after a mixed Commission had agreed upon the boundaries.
Stalin rejected this and insisted that China accept “the existing
frontiers”. As these are vague and undefined Soong does not feel this is
possible. However, he will propose that China will recognize the
independence of Outer Mongolia after the plebiscite and that then a
Chinese-Mongolian Commission should define the “existing boundaries”. He
believes Stalin will accept this counter proposal. It 1is interesting to
note that in connection with the discussion on Outer Mongolia Stalin
threatened Soong that if China did not agree the “Inner Mongolian
Brothers” would join Outer Mongolia in forming a Greater Mongolian
Republic. Stalin evidently feels that he is in position to speak for the
Mongolian peoples.

With reference to the railroads, Stalin agreed to Soong’'s proposal
that there be a board of directors of ten men with equal membership, with
one of the Chinese as Chairman. However, he insisted that there be one
Soviet Manager for both railroads with a Chinese Assistant Manager. No
agreement was reached but in the last analysis I believe Soong will give
in on this point if all other questions are settled.

With reference to Port Arthur, Stalin last night refused to agree to
a Chinese-Soviet Commission. Soong believes, however, that he can come to
some satisfactory solution which would save China’s face since he
recognizes that Port Arthur and the military zone must be under control of

the Soviets.

A long argument took place regarding the wording of the proposed
Soviet agreement to support the Chinese National Government and to
withhold moral, material and military aid from dissident elements within
China. Compromise language, however, was agreed upon which is not quite
as clear as Soong would wish but, as it is after all a question of good
faith, he feels he should accept this language.
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The conversation ended with a threat by Stalin advising Soong that
he had better come to an agreement quickly or “the communists will get
into Manchuria”.

Soong is having further negotiations with the Soviets today.

The principal stumbling blocks appear to be Stalin’s demand for
joint ownership of the port facilities of Dairen and for one Soviet
manager for both railroads. The former Soong will not give in to whereas
I believe he will concede the latter.

The opinion was expressed by Soong that our intervention in
connection with Dairen had assisted him materially in obtaining
concessions from Stalin’s original demands.

My opinion is that our interests would be adversely affected if
Soong agreed to give the Soviets joint ownership of the port facilities of
Dairen, and the Yalta Agreement certainly does not envisage this. I feel
that the issue over the managership of one of the two railrcads is not of
sufficient importance to allow the negotiations to break down.

If I could be informed urgently of your views on these developments
it would be helpful.

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.




PARAPHRASE OF EMBASSY CABLE TO DEPARTMENT #2883, AUGUST 13, 1945
FROM HARRIMAN PERSONAL FOR THE SECRETARY. SECRET

Yesterday Stalin invited General Eisenhower, General Deane and myself
to stand with him, Marshal Zhukov and other high Soviet Government and
military officials on Lenin’s tomb to review the Physical Culture Parade.
It appears that this is the first time any foreigners have been invited to
review a parade in this fashion.

Some tens of thousands of young men and women from all the Soviet
Republics made up the parade and was followed by colorful exhibitions of
physical culture exercises and folk dances. Each exhibition ended with an
expression of devotion to Stalin. One’s principal reaction was the obvious
enjoyment and good spirits of the participants, the size of and
organization and training required for the spectacle. The performance
lasted nearly five hours. Everyone in the official group stood throughout
the entire performance. This included Stalin and the elderly President
Kalinin.

Everyone was much interested in obtaining from General Eisenhower and
myself our reactions which we gave along the lines of the above. It was
interesting to note that Molotov among others explained to both General
Eisenhower and myself separately the importance of the performance and the
training as promoting a military spirit. The limited number of spectators
allowed in the Red Square applauded enthusiastically Eisenhower’s
appearance and Stalin and the other officials showed great cordiality to
him.

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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Record of Meeting Between T. Soong and Stalin

13 August 1945, 12.00 a.m. to 1.30 a.m.

Soong: I sent a message to Chiang after our last meeting. Glad to tell
you he has accepted Stalin’s desires.

Stalin: Which?

Soong: Chiang wanted agree on boundaries first, but Stalin said it would
take too much time. So Chiang accepts existing boundaries. That question
is therefore excluded from questions to be settled.

(gives our draft).

Molotov: What purpose of reservation about ratification. All treaties are
signed at the same time.

Soong: Is that agreeable?

Stalin: Yes.

Soong: Railroads.

Southern part of Manchuria is where most of industries are. Therefore
wants manager to be Chinese for South Manchurian Railway. Stalin said
that for military reasons wants both to be Soviet. How if we make
condition that in case of war South Manchurian Railway manager will be
Soviet.

Stalin: We have to maintain reliable communication with Port Arthur also
in peace time. Cannot accept.

Soong: Make Chairman of board of directors really effective.

Chairman Chinese - 6 Chinese and 5 Russian?

Lossovski: That'’s new proposal.

Soong: If we drop manager can you agree to add 1 Chinese in Board. We
want to make appear to people really equals.

Stalin: Two roads.

Soong: May be one.




Molotov: This will not work. Manager will be paralyzed.

. Soong: Board is policy forming, manager is operational. If difficulty in
policy it goes to two governments.
Stalin: Where is it said?
Soong: No, but as a practical fact.
Stalin: Equal number with Chinese chairman having casting vote.
Soong: Agreeable.
Stalin: Auditors commission. 3 each side - Russian chairman with casting
vote. One or two railways?
Soong: One railway.
Stalin: Inspection Committee. Simultaneous meeting with the
administration or not can be settled to-morrow with Molotov.
Soong: Another question. Goods in transit and luggage shall not pay any
customs duties. We accept that for goods, we cannot for passengers’

. luggage.
Molotov: O.K.
Soong: These goods will have to pass customs inspection.
Molotov: We have following suggestion: “goods sent in transit in sealed
cars shall not be subject to inspection”.
Soong: We accepted that for military things but in every country goods are
inspected.
Stalin: Accept, say military goods exempted.
Soong: O.K. Port installation in Dairen you want joint ownership. We
want Chinese ownership, but we will give you facilities on lease without
charge.
Molotov: We have a proposal. Accept Chinese wording re facilities but
must have agreed minutes.

(gives draft) .
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Soong: Second paragraph may be agreement but not in writing - a
gentleman’s agreement.

Stalin: Will it be reported to Chinese government?

Soong: Yes.

Stalin: We do not deceive our allies. We consider that as a crime.

Soong: We shall consider it as a crime.

Stalin: Good.

Soong: Dairen we said harbour master will be appointed by mayor from
Soviet citizen in consultation with manager. Soviet proposal is reversed.
We would like to have it appointed by mayor, because harbour facilities
are part of port - no difference as it will be Soviet citizen.

Stalin: Who will issue instructions?

Molotov: 1927 book says all installations and facilities in Dairen belong
to South Manchurian Railway. Administration of port was vested in special
department of South Manchurian Railway. Natural that harbour master
should be subordinated to railway.

Soong: Master appointed from Soviet citizen after consultation.

Stalin: Not question of appointment. He must be in touch with and
subordinated to Railway.

Wang: Harbour master appointed by mayor after consultations and work under
mayor and railway.

Stalin: Cannot have two heads.

Wang: Harbour master must also have something to do with mayor.

Stalin: Why? Port will have its own life. City its own life. Port is
continuation of railroad. Otherwise may be congestion of goods. Mayor in
charge of city’s affairs not of port. Port is periphery of railroad.
Stalin: Harbour master to be appointed by Railway in consultation with
mayor.

Wang: With concurrence of mayor.
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Stalin: O.K. by agreement with mayor.

Soong: Only question left. Port Arthur. Chiang wanted Chinese/Soviet
Commission - Soviet Chairman with additional vote.

(Molotov shows draft)

Soong: Suggest 2 + 2 with Soviet Chairman having casting vote.

Stalin: Latter part of our draft should be put somewhere also in article
5. Beginning article 3, want 3 Russians and 2 Chinese, and Russian
chairman with one vote.

Molotov: Do you accept that Port Arthur should be outside the military
zone?

Soong: Would not like to exclude it.

Molotov: New draft:

civilian administration in Port Arthur.

Soong: Why not take our text which was agreed and add “in city of Port
Arthur the chief officer of the civilian administration is appointed in
agreement with the Sino-Soviet military commission”.

Stalin: Commission has nothing to do there. It has no administrative
functions.

Wang: That would be better; corresponds to principle of joint use.
Stalin: Take Kronstadt; nothing can be done without consent of military
authorities.

Military authorities should be master.

Soong: O.K. In agreement with the Soviet military command appointed “by
Chinese government”?

Stalin: And dismissed by agreement.

Soong: Say city of Port Arthur.

Stalin: Yes, in the city.

Soong: Stalin agreed that deputy master be Chinese.

Stalin: Certainly.
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Soong (Exchange of notes - changes made)

Molotov: Finance agreement. Same as for Czechs except that we paid for
Czechs in Russia which you don’t have.

Wang: This is according to Czech treaty - when we came we had no idea we
have [. . . . copy cut off . . . .]

Molotov: It will be a short time.

Stalin: Give currency to troops they will buy. Wherever we went, Poland,
Czechoslovakia, we were given money.

Soong: Fighting for eight years. Lost richest parts. Our own army has
not enough food, Americans pay everything. They give us lend-lease aid we
don’'t give anything.

Stalin: We must buy. Russian money is not accepted. Are there American
troops regular infantry?

Soong: Yes.

Stalin: Where?

Soong: Around Kunming.

Molotov: Otherwise army will take what it needs.

Stalin: We do not want to take without paying. You print your currency.
Give us some.

Soong: Manchuria - Japanese currency.

Stalin: In satellite countries like Romania, we came with our own military
leis which we printed ourselves. We announced rate of exchange between
our leis and theirs, not to their advantage, and with that money we
bought. We can’t do that with ally.

Soong: Bmericans will land. They want some money from us but they pay us
in dollars.

Stalin: You have no regular troops.

Soong: Yes we have.

Molotov: Which towns did they free in China?




Soong: Many officers attached to Chinese army.

Stalin: This is not same thing. I speak of 100 - 500,000.

Soong: I ask Stalin: be generous to poor country.

Stalin: We have been fighting five years - hard to get food supply. We
got food supply the first days from Americans. If you don’t help with
money, we’ll have to take food on receipt that Chinese government will
compensate.

Molotov: You can give us Chinese currency to oust Japan currency.

We have captured Labei, Solun, Heviamao beyond Hinggan. It will go
quickly.

Soong: When will you get to Moukden.

Stalin: I don'’'t know, they are beginning to resist. Don’t know how long.
We’ll take Moukden in ten days.

Wang: What size of Soviet army in Manchuria at end of war.

Stalin: 800,000 - 1,000,000. Little less than one million. We want to
encircle Japanese troops and take them prisoners if God help.

Soong: Hope you will take and force them to work.

Stalin: We will make them build Manchurian cities. They know how to work.
Soong: That looks fine.

Molotov: We could use Chinese currency. With your currency temporary
military. Cannot use Soviet currency.

Soong: Will you give us some alternatives.

Stalin: We will think it over - don’t know prices. Will reply to-morrow.
Soong: We have terrible inflation.

Stalin: We too . . . unpleasant.

Soong: Yours is much better - 1.500 before war.

Stalin: We will give you to-morrow.

Source: Hoover Institution Archives folders 6-9.




Contributed by David Wolff.
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Cable to Harriman Concerning the Stalin-Soong Talks

WHITE
AGWAR, Washington HOUSE-335
Re M-25354 19 August 1945
Hos  Amb G-2 10/20122
AJS 19/1852%Z
Timochko TOPSECRET
7547 OPERATIONAL PRIORITY

To MILITARY MISSION MOSCOW. PERSONAL and [ILLEGIBLE] for AMBASSADOR
HARRIMAN.

Your M-25354. Message from Generalissimo is as
follows:

“Dated 16 August. I have received your message with the ‘General
Order No. 1'. Principally I have no objections against the contents of
the order keeping in view that the Liaotung Peninsula is a composite part
of Manchuria. However, I suggest to introduce the following corrections
into the ‘General Order No. 1':

1. To include in the region of surrender of Japanese armed forces
to Soviet troops all the Kuril islands which, in accordance with the
decisions of the three Powers in the Crimea, have to come into possession
of the Soviet Union.

2. To include in the region of surrender of the Japanese armed
forces to Soviet troops the northern part of the island Hokkaido which
adjoins in the North to the La Perouse Strait which is between Karafuto
and Hokkaido. The demarcation line between the northern and southern half
of the Hokkaido Island should be on the line leading from the city of
Kushiro on the eastern coast of the island to the city Rumoe on the
western coast of the island including the named cities into the northern

half of the island.



This latter proposal has a special meaning for the Russian public

opinion. As it is known, the Japanese in 1919-1921 held under occupation
of their troops the whole Soviet Far East. The Russian public opinion
would be seriously offended if the Russian troops would not have an
occupation region in some part of the Japanese proper territory.

I greatly wish that my modest suggestions as stated above would not

meet any objections.”

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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Notes on Stalin's Statement from a Meeting with a Bulgarian Delegation77

Moscow, Op.g.30, 1945

I could see from your project that you are very frightened. I can read disturbance in
your voice and now you are frightened and puzzled. Nobody wanted from you the changes
in the composition of the government. You have postponed the elections and with this you
ended the problem. We have agreed to your postponing the elections, as it is not an
important request, but as far as important changes are concerned, we shall not agree. If the
British and the Americans are not pleased with something, they should appeal to the Allied
Control Commission (ACC). There they will be informed that the ACC could not make
decisions on such problems and will direct them to our government. We do not agree to
concessions of any kind and nothing could be done without us. For more than two years the
Americans have pledged to establish control over the freed countries. They proposed control
especially of the Greek elections with the obvious intent to say later that the elections, carried
out by the government of Vulgaris, have been free. We, however, rejected this pledge, for it
will be a negative precedent for Bulgaria and Romania. We have stated: "Even though we
consider the Greek government a semi-fascist one, we are against the control, because it
would mean foreign intervention in the affairs of a sovereign country. As far as the concern
on the Romanian government and the appeal of the King for changes of the government, we
said that we support Groza government and sent them to hell. If you go this way — changing
the composition of the government every time you are told to — where would you get?! You
should withstand your right to solve the problem — what kind of government to have — by
yourself. From this point of view the Declaration of the National Committee of the
Fatherland Front for postponing the elections was not right nor well considered. It was made
too domestically. It was better to say that the elections had to be postponed because of the
claims of the opposition, rather than saying that you were doing this under pressure from
abroad. You should have presented the argument that without opposition any kind of
democratic government would be impossible.

And you shouldn't be afraid that the opposition could still be unpleased by your
concessions; that is what the opposition is for — to be unhappy. It is impossible to please the
opposition in everything. Ask yourself whether in Britain the Conservative Party opposition
was pleased when it received no more than one third of the votes in the elections? You have
missed one important point in the Declaration — the restoration of the religious freedoms by
the Fatherland Front. Generally syeaking, the Declaration is organized too domestically —
too many curses towards Petkov. ® In a society where there are antagonistic classes an
opposition should definitely exist. As Germans say, you can't please both the employers and
the employees at one and the same time. Only a society without antagonistic classes, like
ours, can manage without opposition. And even then, sometimes we need to form self-
opposition in the form of self-criticism. Some time ago, when the problem was to provide

7 The Bulgarian communist leaders Dimitrov and Kolarov and the Secretaries of the CC Traicho Kostov and
Valko Chervenkov are present at the meeting. Kostov probably took the notes of Stalin's statement

8 Nikola Petkov — leader of the Bulgarian Agrarian National Union (BANU). Minister in the first government of

the Fatherland Front (September 9. 1944 — July 31, 19435), later leader of the United Anti-communist opposition. Arrested
on June 7, 1947, sentenced to death and executed on September 23, 1947,
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concession to Urkwart, Lenin (who, himself was against the concession) had to form an
opposition to get rid of British pressure. He was saying: "I, myself, do agree but the Buharin
opposition is against.” Your society is still a society with classes and it needs opposition. It
would be better the opposition to be legalized so that it could be controlled, and to make it
loyal, rather than to force it work underground. You have interests in having an opposition.
If you work well you would be able to hold in your hands the Petkov opposition and to get
use of it in various occasions. |t is even better for you to have an opposition of 50-60 figures;
you have to be proud in front of Bevin that you have an opposition. The opposition in your
country should be like a rod; it will make you never ease off and will urge you to work.

In some parts of your project you confess that sometimes the opposition is right.
Certain dissatisfaction among the masses could sometimes be seen better by the opposition
rather than by those who are in power. Look at how Churchill was misled in his expectations
of the elections. Are you absolutely sure that the people are following you? And then, why
did you get frightened by the opposition?! Don't forget that in your country the development
of the Soviet system may develop differently — through the Parliament. This way is slower
but it will lead you to the same goal. Lenin didn't exclude the parliamentary way to the
Soviet power.

You'd better leave the agrarian reform to the Parliament. In your country it shouldn't
be against the pomeshchiks (the large landowners) but against the kulaks. The kulaks are
connected to the rest of the peasant mass in many ways. When we were sweeping off the
kulaks as a class the peasants in many places were crying. Why now, right before the
elections, you should turn the kulaks, their relatives and friends against yourself. You begin
a struggle and want to fulfil ten objectives at a time. Define one, two, three objectives that
could be achieved more easily. Let the Parliament carry out the agrarian reform. It will be
more authoritative and stable in the field.

The existence of a Unified Agrarian Party is unthinkable. The agrarian parties
everywhere split into fractions. You could advise both of your agrarian fractions to unite. If
this doesn't happen you should not regret too much. In the future it will be much better to
have two mutually hostile agrarian fractions. The same could be said about the Social
Democrats.

From people's point of view your election law is democratic. On the other hand, from
the point of view of the formal democracy — it is not that democratic. You could allow the
existence of some other parties outside the Fatherland Front. You may perform the elections
in the middle of October. You should direct your agitation mainly against those who want to
intervene in the internal affairs of Bulgaria. For elimination of the monarchy institutions you
should summon the Great National Assembly. The oath of loyalty to the Monarch, required
by the Constitution when the deputies accept their duty in the new Parliament, could be
postponed with the explanation that a bill for elimination of the monarchy has been
introduced.

The declaration of Stainov’® regarding the question of postponing the elections was a
provocative declaration.

We haven't given up the idea of forming up an alliance between USSR and Bulgaria.
First of all, however, we would like to form an alliance with Romania. An alliance with

™ Prof. Petko Stainov — Minister of Foreign Affairs (September 9. 1944 — March 31, 1946).
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Romania would mean that we have the right to keep troops there when we need them there.
In this way our troops will actually come to your frontiers and thus the direct contacts with
Bulgaria will be easier. Everything is settled with you, but we have to hurry with the
Romanians. After the elections you could complete an alliance treaty with Yugoslavia and
after that consider merging with it. But before this it would be better if you reach a
reparation agreement between yourselves. You could think of an alliance with Romania as
well. You could form such a union before the alliance with Yugoslavia, for some might say
that you are following pan-Slavic objectives.

You could hardly change any territorial boundaries without a war. They should be
changed in some way. From Turkey we want naval bases on the Dardanelles. They are
against this. The problem will be solved at the Conference. If it isn't solved, we will raise
the question for an outlet on the Mediterranean.

You should always take into consideration the position of Britain and USA. You
should have normal relations with them. I'm really serious. You should not proclaim an
eternal friendship with the USSR. You should work on it, but when the official policy of
Bulgaria is formulated, you should emphasize on friendship relations and cooperation with
Britain and America. You shouldn't leave the initiative to Petkov on that question. You
personally, not Petkov, should say out loud that you want to maintain normal relations with
Britain and America. It is a mistake to neglect the relations with the American
representatives. It is necessary to send to them a group of reliable people.

For the time being the Labor Party is following Eden's foreign policy and is always
asking him what to do. The only question on which they showed a different point of view,
different form Churchill's and Eden's, was the question of the West frontiers of Poland;
Churchill and Eden were objecting to this from the morning to the evening. And they did so,
only because they were afraid that they were completely going to loose Poland. All of
Churchill's advisors stayed with Attlee. Even the interpreters did not change their mind.
Bevin reminds me of Noske, he is the same butcher — rough, self-conceited, with no culture.
And as far as Attlee is concerned — he has no particular qualities. They are great fools; they
got the power in a great country and they don't know what to do with it. They are
empirically oriented and inevitably they will confront the Conservators on the various
practical problems. At the same time they have no plan of their own for their foreign policy.

Regarding the Greek problems, the boycott of the elections, the Greek communists
intend to do, is a two-sided weapon. The boycott would be worthwhile if a national strike to
overthrow the government is announced.

You should not rush to establish diplomatic relations with the Albanians. This could
do them harm, for they are still very weak.

France doesn't have its own policy. At present the Americans make efforts to attract
it on their side — perhaps with the question of Indo-China.

Preparation for restoring the postal relations between Bulgaria and the USSR are in
progress.

Maybe the best thing to do is to reduce the number of Soviet troops in Bulgaria, but
since you think it will be inconvenient to do it before the elections, maybe we will share their
costs — in cash and provisions — half in half.

Source: CDA, f. 146B, op. 4, ae. 639, 1. 20-28.
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Jakub Berman’s Handwritten Notes of a
Conversation with Stalin or a Letter to Stalin:
a Report on the Situation in Poland and Request for Advice and Help,
1945 September (first half)

The situation in Poland within the last two weeks has been marked by numerous
symptoms of rising political tension and growing pressures of reactionary forces under the
influence of external and internal factors of a new configuration of political forces.

This situation is potent with serious dangers and calls for a fast breakthrough. That is
why we are writing to you this letter with a request for advice and assistance.

1. There are signs of dissatisfaction among the working class, which already finds
expression not only in strikes lasting an hour or a few hours (particularly in Lodz, the coal
mining region, Zawiercie, on the railroads), counted already in scores, but even in the form
of a general strike, as e.g. a 3-day strike of 7 thousand textile workers in Pabianice.

These strikes are being eliminated with the assistance of PPR with a very irregular
assistance of PPS, which occasionally doesn’t oppose them or even is in favor of them.
Against the background of dissatisfaction one can notice an increase of PPS influences,
which is drawing the votes of the most backward workers (concerns Lodz).

2. Among the peasants the action of Mikolajczyk’s PSL enjoys popularity in the
counties of the Krakéw, Rzeszéw, Poznan and the Pomeranian voivodships. There is a
danger of capturing a number of Banczyk’s SL organizations in the Warsaw, Kielce and
Lublin voivodships. One can notice attempts at breaking off contingent quotas and provoking
anti-workers feelings, particularly against the PPR. Aversion and sometimes hostility toward
the Red Army can also be noticed.

3. Among the intelligentsia one can notice a growing opposition toward the
government, particularly among teachers and professors of universities (election of
collaborationists to the Polish Academy of Science) and shifting part of the office-holders
towards Mikotlajczyk, with a simultaneous differentiation among the intelligentsia (positive
resolutions of the Writers Union).

4. The Catholic clergy, particularly after the arrival of Cardinal Hlond with
instructions from the Vatican, is displaying feverish organizational and propaganda activities
(14 weeklies, 200,000 pilgrims in Czgstochowa) directed against the government, using a
decree on civil marriages as a pretext.

5. The terrorist action due to repression of the military and security forces, as well as
exiting from the forests of numerous units (approximately ...), has slowed down, but it still
lasts (particularly in the Biatystok area) and brings about scores of killings every week
(mostly PPR members and UB [security] forces). Also a pogrom-anti-Semitic action, despite
that it has not reached such scope as in Krakow, still lasts.
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6. Political diversion, which is causing hesitations in many SL circles, not excluding
its supreme body (Banczyk, Drzewiecki, Litwin), as well as in the PPS (particularly in ‘
Katowice, Krakéw and Gdansk), social diversion, which is the source of many difficulties on
the railroads and in some factories, in cooperatives - all of this is intended to isolate the PPR,
and at this moment is causing a slowdown in increasing PPR ranks or even a small exiting
from some cells.

7. What are the sources for the activities of the reaction in Poland?

a) concentration of previously dispersed, due to the crisis, reactionary forces around
Mikolajczyk, who is becoming a center for concentration of a new bloc of the Witos forces,
WRN, Sanatsia, National Democrats and the clergy into a conglomerate of Christian-
nationalist forces with large internal contradictions, but bounded by their anti-Soviet, anti-
PPR and anti-democratic, Anglo-Saxon orientation.

b) an intensified activity of the Anglo-American provocateurs, with a weak activity of
our counter-intelligence.

¢) major food supply difficulties in cities, commodity shortages in the countryside,
transportation difficulties with coal supply, a wild speculation, corruption of some state,
industrial and commercial apparatus - besides unquestionable successes in the growth of
production, labor productivity and a tendency of declining prices.

d) a decline in popularity of the Red Army [Cz.A.?] due to the demoralization of the
behind the lines units spread all over Poland and units crossing over Poland, lack of security,
particularly in the western territories, with numerous bands of marauders or Vlasov men,
raging over those territories and hurting particularly the peasants and repatriates. Persisting
inaction in this area lays the blame mainly for the PPR and weakens its authority among the
masses.

e) weaknesses of state and party propaganda, which has not been able to reach to the
broadest masses of peasants.

8. What kind of remedial measures is the party undertaking independently and
through the government?

a) a counter-offensive against the terrorist gangs, political diversionists and
destructionists of the democratic front, against speculators and grafters (new decrees against
criminals threatening the state and favoring fascism, court proceedings and death sentences, a
purge of the state apparatus, a decree on the duty to work and prosecuting speculators). An
intensified press and propaganda campaign. Limitation of clergy privileges in public schools.

b) an increase in real wages for workers (elimination of insurance premiums and a tax
reduction), rye bread instead of dark one (see the enclosed resolutions of the CKZZ - Trade
Union Council). A purge and improvement of trade union councils, with a simultaneous
increase of production and labor productivity. Nationalization of large industries (plants
employing over 50 workers).

c) a better supply of industrial products for the peasants. Preferential treatment for the
peasants in contingents and building material. Further expansion of agricultural reform
through assigning the land to the peasants in the West. Establishing state properties in the
West.

d) strengthening of workers unity through closer cooperation of the electoral bloc of
the PPR and PPS in their daily work.




Strengthening of the left wing of peasant leaders in the SL in a fight against
Mikolajczyk. Strengthening of the workers-peasants unity against the reactionaries and the
unity of the coalition of democratic parties (PPR, PPS, SL, SD, SP).

9. An indispensable condition of the effectiveness of the above mentioned measures
is the elimination of very harmful political influence of marauding and hooliganism from the
part of particularly demoralized behind the lines units, which despite Marshall
Rokossowski’s efforts are still occurring on a mass scale. "

The announcement of Generalissimus Stalin’s order, show trials and punishment of
the guilty ones will undoubtedly put an end to this and will have a very positive impact on

the whole situation, so much recently aggravated.

10. To achieve a breakthrough in the situation we are mobilizing all forces at the
party’s disposal and for this purpose we will hold a CC PPR plenary meeting on September
21.

Outlining to you the situation and our efforts, we ask you for assistance and advice.

Source: AAA. Jakub Berman Collection, 325/33, pp. 22-26.

Translated by Jan Chowaniec.



Memorandum of a Conversation
between W.A. Harriman and Stalin

TOP—GSRECRET Gagri, October 24, 1945.
Conversation
Present: Generalissimus I. V. Stalin

Mr. Pavlov, Soviet Interpreter

W. A. Harriman, American Ambassador
Edward Page, First Secretary of Embassy

Subject: 1. The Japanese Situation.
2. The Procedural Question.

After a preliminary exchange of remarks on the Caucasian coast and
Generalissimus Stalin‘’s health, the Ambassador presented to him the
President’s message with Russian translation, stating that the President
was anxious to obtain his reaction thereto. The President wished to know
what was on the Generalissimus’s mind and he had therefore instructed the
Ambassador personally to discuss the message with him.

The Generalissimus read the message carefully, looked up, and stated
“the Japanese question is not touched upon here”. The Ambassador stated
that he was not surprised that he should bring up this question. He
explained that the Japanese question was being discussed at the present
time between the State and War departments and General MacArthur and the
President hoped to have some concrete proposals ready by October 30 when
the meeting of the Far Eastern Advisory Commission would convene. The
Ambassador continued that he would be entirely frank providing the
Generalissimus would allow him to discuss the matter informally and would
accept his remarks as unofficial. If so, he could explain the thinking of
the President and his advisors on this question as far as it had gone.
Stalin said that he would be grateful for any information, which he, of
course, would keep secret. The Ambassador stated that from the beginning
the President had not wished any misunderstandings to arise between the
Soviet Union and the United States over Japan. As the Generalissimus
knew, on instructions from his Government the Ambassador had written Mr.
Molotov on August 21 proposing the formation and convocation of a Far
Eastern Advisory Commission. He had explained that this body would deal
with the political approach to all aspects of the Japanese situation, and
also the establishment of control machinery to carry out the surrender
terms. This proposal had been made ten to eleven days before General
MacArthur had landed in Japan and forced the Japanese to sign the
surrender. The Chinese were the first to accept the proposal to establish
an advisory commission. The Soviet Government had accepted on September
5. However, the British had not accepted the proposal until the latter
part of September. They had misunderstood it - thinking that the meetings
would continue in Washington. When Mr. Byrnes saw Mr. Bevin in London he
had informed him that if the other participants desired the meetings to be
transferred to Tokyo the United States Government would agree.
Furthermore, the British desired India to be included among the
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participants. The Ambassador stated that he did not know why the British
took so long in making up their mind - perhaps they desired to consult the
dominions - perhaps it was because of the formation of the new Government.

The Ambassador continued that Mr. Byrnes was ready to discuss all
aspects of this matter with a Soviet representative to the meeting in
Washington on a bilateral basis if Generalissimus Stalin would send his
representative there. These discussions would include the character of
the control machinery and Mr. Byrnes would make every effort to come to
agreement.

The Ambassador stated that he was unable to give Stalin the details
of the proposal which the President would approve after he had consulted
his advisors but he could give the Generalissimus a general idea of the
thinking in Washington on this matter. From what the Ambassador knew he
did not believe that this proposal would prove to be very different from -
what Molotov had recently written him. He was not authorized to say this
- but from what he had learned from the State and War Departments it
seemed to him that the President’s proposal would be much the same as that
suggested by Mr. Molotov. The first phase was, of course, the surrender
of Japan and the disarming of the Japanese armed forces on the four main
Japanese islands. This was being handled by United States forces. This
phase of the surrender had about terminated or would in a few weeks. It
was thought more advisable to disarm the Japanese with one army than with
several since many risks were involved. Following the surrender and
disarmament of the Japanese armies it was contemplated to invite the
Russian, Chinese and British to send a certain number of troops to join in
the second phase of the control of Japan - the occupational period. The
Ambassador stated that he could not give the Generalissimus the exact
number of foreign troops his Government had in mind as he did not yet know
how many it had been determined should be kept on the Japanese islands.
Furthermore, he could not define the exact relationship between these
foreign troops and General MacArthur - that was another subject under
discussion at the present time. In general however, there should not be
separate zones of occupation and they should carry out the orders of the
United States Commander.

The Ambassador continued that there was another conception under
consideration in Washington; namely, that the commanding generals of the
foreign troops should act with MacArthur as a military council. They
would be furnished full information on all matters pertaining to Japan and
there would be full discussion on all questions. Every attempt would be
made to reach agreement on these questions, with the understanding that if
no agreement were reached the last word would rest with MacArthur.

The Advisory Commission which would shortly meet in Washington would
move to Tokyo and deal with all political and economic questions regarding
Japan. There was also another idea, namely, to combine the two functions,
i.e., military and political into one political council. This matter was
at present under consideration but was subject to discussion and final
decision. 1In general the basic conception was to set up machinery through
which Japanese political, economic and other questions might be fully
discussed by the Allies in order that decisions might be reached.

However, as the situation was so complex, it was considered that in the
last analysis the final authority of General MacArthur must be the ruling
one if the agreement were not reached. The ambassador hoped that this
would not be the case.
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Generalissimus Stalin said that he was very grateful to receive this .
information from the Ambassador. He realized that by bringing up the

question of the control machinery for Japan he was placing the Ambassador

in an embarrassing position. The Ambassador replied that he did not

believe there was anything that he and the Generalissimus could not

discuss frankly.

The Generalissimus continued that he had been forced to raise this
question a it was linked up with the Truman message. He wished to make a
few remarks on the substance of the question of the control machinery for
Japan. The proper term to use was “Control Commission” and not "“Control
Council”, which existed only in Germany where there was no government.
There was a government in Japan and it was therefore more proper to speak
of the control machinery as a Control Commission. Analogy could be found
in Hungary and Rumania where there was a Control Commission and where the
final word rested with the Soviet commander. In Rumania there were no
troops other than Soviet and the final word rested with the Chairman of
the Control Commission though not in the same measure as stated by
Ambassador Harriman in respect to Japan. It went without saying that the
United States representative, General MacArthur, should be the permanent
Chairman of the Control Commission and should have the final voice.
However, if there were other troops on the Japanese islands, as there were
in Germany, the effect would be to restrict the rights of General
MacArthur. This was not desirable. In order to preserve the freedom of
action of MacArthur it, perhaps, might not be advisable to send other
troops to Japan. This was more logical.

The Generalissimus then turned to President Truman’s message and
inquired “what does Mr. Byrnes’ compromise amount to? Can you explain the
substance of the proposal not accepted by Mr. Molotov?”

The Ambassador stated that Mr. Molotov had never rejected Mr.
Byrnes’ proposal. He had said that he had to consult his Government in
person. At the September 11th meeting of the Foreign Ministers’ Council,
Mr. Molotov had agreed that it would be proper to invite France and China
-and also the United States, when Finland was discussed - to remain in the
room during the discussions of all the peace treaties. Only those agreed
upon at the Potsdam Conference could vote on matters regarding these
treaties. The other representatives could only participate in the
meetings and make comments. However, after sixteen meetings Mr. Molotov
said that this procedure was a mistake and that the Foreign Ministers
should return to the restricted procedure under the 4-3-2 formula. Mr.
Byrnes had replied that it would be impossible to humiliate the French and
China by throwing them out after they had been invited to participate in
sixteen meetings, unless some agreement were reached as to when they
should be invited back. Mr. Bevin had agreed to this. Mr. Byrnes had
freely admitted that if Mr. Molotov had taken this position on the first
day the meetings could have been thus limited. However, the Potsdam
Agreement contained authorization to invite the other nations to
participate in the peace discussions. Mr. Byrnes was now trying to find a
dignified way to solve the present impasse. He had suggested that after
the peace treaties had been drafted by the smaller groups in accordance
with the Potsdam Decision, a peace conference be held which would be made
up of the most interested parties. The Chinese and French had tentatively
agreed to this proposal if it were agreed to by all. Mr. Molotov,
however, had requested Mr. Byrnes to return to the restricted procedure




and to leave the peace conference for the future. Mr. Byrnes did not
believe this fair to the French and Chinese and had thus suggested
agreement on calling of the peace conference as a compromise. After this
conference, only those present at the conference who had been at war with
each satellite would conclude the peace. The Ambassador concluded that he
was a devil’s advocate since he thought Mr. Byrnes’ proposal was a very
wise one.

Generalissimus Stalin again read the paragraph of the President’'s
message to the effect that in an effort to find a solution acceptable to
all Mr. Byrnes had stated that he would accept a narrowing of the draft
procedure provided it was agreed to that the council would call a peace
conference of the principally interested states. The Generalissimus
remarked that there was no reference in this paragraph to those countries
that had declared war and whether such countries should be invited to the
conference. He remarked that many countries had declared war in order to
obtain a seat in the security organization.

The Ambassador stated that Mr. Byrnes had proposed three classes of
countries to participate in the peace conferences, namely: (1) the five
permanent members of the security council since these nations were
primarily interested in the preservation of peace; (2) the European
members of the United Nations; and (3) those non-European nations which
had supplied substantial armed forces against the Axis. These included
Canada, Australia, South Africa, New Zealand, India and Brazil - the only
South American country. Brazil had sent two divisions to Italy.

Generalissimus Stalin reading from his records of the London
meetings, stated that he had understood the proposal as follows: the
Council would prepare drafts of the peace treaties under the 4-3-2 formula
to draft the peace treaties. The Council would then call a peace
conference made up of the five permanent members of the security
organization, all the European United Nations and all the non-European
nations which had supplied substantial military contingents. This
conference would meet in London and as a basis for its deliberations it
would accept the reports of the deputies. After full hearing and
discussion final approval of the peace treaties would be made by the
states which had waged war with the enemy states. The Ambassador stated
that the Generalissimus’s understanding of the proposals was correct.
However, it should be added that the deputies would draft the treaties
under the 4-3-2 formula.

The Generalissimus remarked that if one general conference were to
be called he wondered whether Italy, for example, could contribute
anything in the discussions on the Finnish treaty. He questioned the
advisability of one general conference and developed the theory of a
series of conferences, on Bulgaria, Finland, and Rumania for example. He
could not see what Brazil could contribute to a conference on Finland and
stated that it appeared to him that it would be more feasible to convoke a
group of conferences.

The Ambassador stated that the President and Mr. Byrnes agreed that
only those states who actually waged war against an individual enemy
should have the final say as to the peace and should sign the treaties.
They believed however that there was in fact only one European war and all
those directly involved in it should be asked to review the work of the
Foreign Ministers and present their ideas. However, the final voice
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should remain with those who had been engaged in war with actual fighting
forces with each enemy. HE wished to point out that Italy was not one of .
the United Nations, was an enemy state, and therefore would not be
involved in the conference. He continued that it was Mr. Byrnes’ idea
that all the European countries at war with the Axis should have the right
to be heard in such a conference. Although Belgium and Holland, for
example, had not been technically at war with Italy they were vitally
interested in the peace. There had to be some period when all the
European countries had the right to voice their views in connection with
the peace treaties. This included China, a permanent member of the
Security Council.

The Generalissimus stated that he could accept at the conference
those countries who had actually fought but there were other countries who
had declared war and who had not sent one soldier to the front. What did
they have to do with the peace? President Truman had said that the
conference should be made up of those principally interested states. Mr.
Byrnes’ proposal appeared to broaden this formula. What had Puerto Rico
to do with Rumania? It had not sent one soldier abroad. Greece and
Yugoslavia had fought against the Italians. The Chinese had not. The
fact that the Chinese were a member of the Security Council did not enter
the picture. The Security Council had entirely different functions. The
peace treaties should be settled now. The Security Council has a future
role. It was not called upon to deal with these matters. Justifying
Chinese participation in the peace conference on the ground that it was a
member of the Security Council was not appropriate. Furthermore, India
was not a state. It was a colony. If the British granted India certain
rights, dominion status for example, he would favor its participation in
the peace conference. However, it was not likely that such rights would
be granted.

The Generalissimus continued that he must give the matter more
thought. He believed however that a basis for compromise could be found
along the following lines:

(1) Call a meeting of the Foreign Ministers to work out the peace
treaties on the 4-3-2 formula.

(2) Afrer the peace treaties had been drawn up, call a peace
conference of not only those who had signed the armistice but those who
had sent contingents to Europe and had waged war - not those who had
technically declared war.

(The Ambassador inquired whether this included those who had fought
against any one of the Axis. The Generalissimus replied in the
affirmative) .

(3) Following the conference, not only the big three but also such
countries that had actually waged war should conclude the peace.

The Ambassador stated that it was the President’s idea to convoke
one conference to which the five draft peace treaties should be submitted
rather than separate conferences with all the complications involved. The
Generalissimus stated that he clearly understood this. However, he
thought that it might be preferable for example as far as Bulgaria was
concerned, to invite the Greeks and the Yugoslavs to attend during the
discussions of the Bulgarian treaty. When the Hungarian treaty was under
discussion it might be better to invite not only the Big Three but the
Czechs and the Yugoslavs. With respect to Italy - who should be invited?
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The Brazilians? Yes. They had sent two divisions. All countries which
had fought against the Italians, not platonically by declaring war but
with actual troops, should be invited. The Ambassador had mentioned
Belgium. He could understand the participation of the Belgians in the
German peace but not their participation in the Italian and Russian peace.
They had not sent one soldier to Italy or Rumania.

The Ambassador stated that with respect to Italy a number of
countries, including all the dominions and India had been involved. They
had all sent troops. The Generalissimus stated that he had no objection
to the participation in the Italian peace conference of all those who had
actually fought the Italians.

The Ambassador stated that the president’s view was that this had
been one war. Various countries had participated at different times on
different fronts. All the satellite countries had assisted Germany in the
war. Furthermore, the armistices with the satellites had been signed on
behalf of the United Nations. 1In addition, the Generalissimus would
recall that at Potsdam it had been agreed that the draft peace treaties
would be submitted to the United Nations. Therefore all the nations who
had participated in the war with substantial forces on any front should be
given the opportunity to express their views even though they may not have
had troops in one particular theatre. The President felt that unless
these countries were consulted ill will would be created unnecessarily
throughout the world. These countries were entitled to a voice in the
peace. This was a procedure contemplated at Potsdam and one wise to
follow out. If attempts were made to restrict the conference the Big
Three would only be doing themselves harm in the eyes of the world. Take
Norway, for example. The Norwegians had placed their ships in a common
pool. They were used wherever needed. Supplies had gone to Italy in them
and quite possibly to the air forces which had carried on operations in
the Balkans. The Generalissimus abruptly stated that such countries could
express their views to the press. The Ambassador stated that the question
was quite different. These countries should be asked in a dignified way
to come to the peace conference as sovereign states.

The Generalissimus inquired whether Puerto Rico should be asked to
such a conference. The Ambassador replied that he would have to correct
the Generalissimus. Puerto Rico was United States territory. The
Generalissimus corrected himself and said he meant Costa Rica. The
Ambassador replied that Mr. Byrnes had suggested that only those who had
actually waged war should be invited. Insofar as the South American
countries were concerned only Brazil was included on the Secretary’s list.
The Generalissimus stated he had no objections to Brazil but remarked that
Nicaragua, Costa Rica and Haiti had declared war on Rumania. The
Ambassador again stated that under Byrnes’ formula these countries would
not be invited to participate in the peace conference.

The Ambassador continued that according to his understanding the
main difference between the Generalissimus’s and the President’s proposals
was that the President wished to submit all the drafts of the peace
treaties to one conference and to hear the views of the conferees. The
President did not wish to try to decide who had been involved in the war
against whom. It had been one war and there should be one conference to
which all the peace treaties should be submitted. It would be inadvisable
to try to divide up the conference into different groups. The President
did not feel that it was possible to segregate one satellite from another.
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More good will would be created in the world by convoking a general
conference. This was in line with the spirit of the United Nations. If
that spirit could be agreed to, the Ambassador did not believe that it
would be difficult to agree upon a list of nations to be invited. The
President was quite prepared to exclude those South American countries
which had not been actually involved in the war.

The Generalissimus stated that whenever the Big Three were engaged in
making decisions the entire world wondered whether such decisions would be
fair. There was always an important moral factor involved. He considered
that it would be unfair to place on a par those countries which had waged
war and which had been occupied by the Germans, with other countries which
had not fought and which had not been occupied. Furthermore, there were
countries which had helped the Germans and others which had merely
technically declared war. Take Chile, for example: it had helped the
Germans and the Japanese. What had Chile to do with Italy or Germany and
why should they be invited to attend such a conference. The Ambassador
again stated the President agreed that South American countries should not
be invited save Brazil. The Generalissimus remarked that Chile was one of
the United Nations. The Ambassador stated that notwithstanding this fact
it was not on Mr. Byrnes’ list. The Generalissimus inquired whether this
meant that not all the United Nations would be invited to the conference.
The Ambassador stated that only those would be invited which had provided
troops and actually waged war.

The Generalissimus stated that he would like to see a concrete list.
Such a list could not be drawn up by the deputies of the Foreign
Ministers. A conference should be called of the Foreign Ministers and
such a list should be drawn up. Furthermore the question of control
machinery for Japan should be considered. The deputies alone were not
capable of handling such questions. Agreement should be reached first on
the list of countries invited to the peace conference. Then agreement
should be reached on Japan.

The Ambassador stated that he felt sure the President would agree
that the Foreign Ministers should meet again after the question of the
peace conference was settled. However, he also felt sure that the
Generalissimus would agree that the deputies should continue in the
meantime the work assigned to them after general agreement had been
reached on the list. The Ambassador then handed the Generalissimus the
list of countries, as he recalled it, which Mr. Byrnes had in mind in
London. He said that he could not guarantee this list; however, it was
substantially correct. The Generalissimus inquired as to the advisability
of including China. The Ambassador stated that the President felt
strongly that China, as a permanent member of the security organization,
should be included. Italy had had interests in the Far East. The
Generalissimus remarked that China had sent no forces to Europe. The
Ambassador replied that it would be very unfortunate to exclude China
since that country was a member of the security council and a member of
the Council of Foreign Ministers. The Generalissimus interjected that
China was a member of the Foreign Ministers’ Council only on matters
affecting it. The Ambassador again stated that it would be very
unfortunate to leave China out if a general European conference were
convoked. He inquired whether China was the only country not on the
Generalissimus' list. The Generalissimus stated that he also wished to
exclude India, Belgium and Holland. The Ambassador remarked that India
had sent troops to the Middle East and to Europe and that he again wished
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to refer to the principal of one indivisible war. Norway and Holland had
supplied ships whenever they were needed. The Generalissimus remarked
that if it was one indivisible war Yugoslavia and Czechoslovakia, for
example, should be invited to the Far East peace discussions. The
Ambassador stated that the President divided the European from the Far
East war. The Generalissimus apparently accepted this interpretation.

The Generalissimus then turned to that section of Mr. Byrnes’
proposal concerning the work of the proposed conference and the conclusion
of peace treaties with the satellites and inquired into the exact
interpretation of it. The Ambassador stated that what Mr. Byrnes wished
to do was to invite the nations on the list to hear the views of these
nations but not to conclude the peace. It was not necessary to be bound
by the views expressed in this conference. For example, the United States
was not at war with Finland. It might wish to have the right to express
certain views on Finnish peace. However, it would not sign this peace.
Referring to the final stage of concluding the peace treaties the
Generalissimus stated that Mr. Byrnes'’ draft was apparently drawn up in
haste. The term “those at war” should be more closely defined. Did this
mean those who had actually fought, those who had signed the armistices,
or those who had merely declared war. The Ambassador stated that he knew
what Mr. Byrnes had in mind. Take Bulgaria for example. He thought it
right that the USSR, the U.S.A., Great Britain, the Dominions, White
Russia, the Ukraine, Yugoslavia and Greece should conclude the peace with
Bulgaria. The Generalissimus brought up the case of Italy. Although
India had sent contingents these were rightly British forces. India was
not an independent state. The Ambassador remarked that this gquestion had
been thrashed out at San Francisco Conference in connection with the
Ukraine and White Russia. The Generalissimus stated that he was not
pressing for the inclusion of the Ukraine and White Russia in the present
conference. The Ambassador stated that India was a British problem. He
was not prepared to discuss it. He knew that the British were trying to
give India dominion status and he would like to point out that the Indians
had actually fought. The Generalissimus stated that he would welcome
seeing dominion status accorded India. However, this would not come soon.
The Ambassador stated that his Government wished to give India as much
prestige as possible. For this reason we would welcome India in the peace
conference. The Generalissimus remarked, that if India were invited Indo-
China should also be included. However, we believed that if India were
invited to the conference the world at large would not think it a wise
move. With respect to India’s participation in the world organization
this was a future problem. The world organization would last a long time.
The peace treaties should be drawn up immediately. It was a bad analogy
to compare the peace conference under discussion with the United Nations
Organization. ©No one had suggested that Turkey or the Argentine be
invited to the present conference. The peace conference and the United
Nations were two entirely different things. The Ambassador again referred
to India and stated that not only had that country sent substantial troops
to the Middle East but had fought well. The Generalissimus again repeated
that these were British troops. India was not allowed to have its own
troops. It did not have its own government or foreign minister. He said
that if India were not invited this would expedite the accordance of
dominion status. If India were not invited it could be said that the
British and Americans wished to invite India but that Stalin had
frustrated these plans. In this case, he would make it clear why he had
opposed the inclusion of India. This would give him a pretext to say
something publicly about India. The Ambassador stated that he knew that
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the President wished to invite India in order to give that country more
prestige. It was a matter of opinion whether the extension of such an ‘
invitation would encourage the development of dominion status.

The Ambassador stated that he would like to discuss a little further
the Japanese question. However, since he had already taken up three hours
of the Generalissimus‘s time he would like to know whether the
Generalissimus wished to continue the conversation or postpone the
consideration of this subject until the following day. The Generalissimus
replied that he would prefer to discuss the Japanese problem tomorrow and
suggested a meeting at 7:00 P.M.

EP/aj

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.
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Memorandum of a Conversation between
W.A. Harriman and Stalin

FOP-GRERET Gagri, October 25, 1945.

Time: 7:00 p.m.

Conversation
Present: Generalissimus I. V. Stalin
Mr. Pavlov, Soviet Interpreter
W. A. Harriman, American Ambassador
Edward Page, First Secretary of Embassy
Subject: The Japanese Situation

After preliminary remarks on railroad construction in the Caucasus,
the Ambassador stated that as the Generalissimus had originally raised the
Japanese question he now wished to clarify certain aspects of this matter.
The President was hopeful that the Generalissimus would send a
representative to Washington to participate on the Far Eastern Advisory
Council at which time the question of the control machinery for Japan
would be discussed. If desirable, bilateral conversations could be
carried on before the general meeting.

The Generalissimus stated that it would be “very difficult” for him
to send a representative to Washington. The Soviet Government had been
given no responsibilities in Japan and it would be difficult for it to
figure as an “annex” without having shared responsibility for policies in
Japan or without having had any influence on such policies.

The Ambassador stated that it was the thought of the President to
thrash out all such matters in the Advisory Council by those powers
principally concerned. Some method must be found to do this. The
President understood that the Soviet Union had accepted on September 5th
the invitation to attend the conference. He had hoped that this meeting
would have taken place some time ago and it would have, had it not been
for delays caused by the British. The Generalissimus stated that Mr.
Molotov had informed Mr. Byrnes that the situation in Japan had since
changed and that it was now time to organize a control commission. The
British apparently were of similar mind. The Soviet Government did not
believe that the Advisory Commission was a satisfactory means in any
respect to consider the question of control machinery for Japan.

The Ambassador explained that one of the terms of reference of the
Advisory Commission was to consider the control machinery for Japan. The
President hoped that the Generalissimus would agree that the meeting in
Washington was the proper place to discuss these matters. If the
Generalissimus did not agree the President would wish to know what other
way he wished to deal with this matter.

The Generalissimus stated that this subject could not properly
be handled by the Advisory Commission. The question of the control




machinery for Japan could only be decided by the governments themselves -
no one else was qualified to discuss this matter. The Ambassador inquired ‘
whether the Generalissimus desired to discuss this matter bilaterally on a
government level. The Generalissimus replied that there was no other way
to handle the guestion. The Advisory Commission was not the appropriate
or proper place for such discussions. They should be on a government
level. The Ambassador inquired whether these discussions should be on a
bilateral basis. The Generalissimus replied that there were three, in
fact four, governments involved. However, the main discord appeared to be
between the United States and Soviet Governments. Therefore they should
take the initiative in reaching agreement. The Ambassador stated that he
did not know that there had been any actual disagreement. The
Generalissimus maintained that there was and added that if two nations
failed to agree that proved that disagreement existed. The Ambassador
stated that as far as he could judge there was only disagreement on the
method of carrying on discussions. Mr. Molotov desired to discuss
Japanese control at the Foreign Ministers Council. Mr. Byrnes was not
briefed for such discussions. The United States Government had suggested
the Advisory Commission. The Soviet Government now replied in the
negative. This was not disagreement in substance but in procedure. The
Substance of Japanese control had not as yet been discussed. The
Ambassador stated that he regretted that he was unable to offer a concrete
proposal -he had furnished the Generalissimus however with the general
thinking of the United States authorities on this question. When it came
to concrete proposals there might develop disagreement on various points.
However, at the present time he did not believe that the points of view of
the two countries were very far apart.

The Generalissimus stated that this was quite possible. He
continued that in suggesting the Advisory Commission the Americans were
going along the same road as followed prior to the victory over Germany
when the European Advisory Council was set up, which in turn established
the German control machinery. Therefore it was probable that the
Americans could not understand why the Russians did not agree to join in
the Advisory Commission for Japan, having once joined in an Advisory
Commission for Germany. The Ambassador stated that this was of course not
clear, especially so after the Soviets had signified their agreement on
September 5th. The Generalissimus stated that Germany had not been
defeated when the plans were drawn up for the establishment of the EAC.
The situation was now entirely different. Japan had been defeated and the
Soviet Union was waiting for the establishment of a control commission.
This should be done quickly.

The Ambassador inquired as to what brought about the change in the
Soviet point of view since September 5th. The Generalissimus stated that
more than a month had passed since September 5th, during which time no
reply had been made to the Soviet Government on this question. The
British had objected to the United States proposal. The Soviets last
month had also objected but had received no reply to Molotov’s letter to
Secretary Byrnes. It appeared to the Soviet Government that the British
and Americans were inclined to drag cut this question. Mr. Byrnes refused
to discuss it in London. Furthermore the Soviet Government felt that it
could not bear responsibility for MacArthur’s actions in Japan since it
had never been informed or consulted on Japanese matters. It had decided
to recall its representative, General Derevianko because he was not
receiving any information on policies or developments in Japan. The .
Soviet Govermment had its self-respect as a sovereign state. No decisions
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made by MacArthur were being transmitted to it. 1In point of fact the
Soviet Union had become an American satellite in the Pacific. This was a
role it could not accept. It was not being treated as an Ally. The
Soviet Union would not be a satellite of the United States in the Far East
or elsewhere. These were the reasons Mr. Molotov had raised the question
of control machinery in London.

The Ambassador stated that there must be a complete
misunderstanding. It had never been the intention of the President to
disregard the views of the Soviet Union. He wished fully to consult with
the Russians on all matters of mutual interest and Japan was certainly one
of these matters. This question must be straightened out.

The Generalissimus replied that the President may not have had such
thoughts in his mind but he was speaking of what had actually happened.
Soviet views [sic] on Japan were completely disregarded. The Soviet Union
was not informed of measures adopted there. Is this the way to treat an
ally? If this regime were to continue the Soviet Union would leave Japan
for it could not be responsible for actions it only learned of through the
press. Did MacArthur represent the Soviet Union? No. It would be more
honest if the Soviet Union were to quit Japan than to remain there as a
“piece of furniture”.

The Ambassador stated that in the early days, that is at the time of
the capitulation of Japan, he had received thousands of words to and from
MacArthur on directives issued to him and what he was doing in regard to
Japan. These messages had been transmitted to the Red Army General Staff
by the Military Mission. Since MacArthur had established himself in
Japan, arrangements had been made for the Soviet General to have radio
communications with Marshal Vassilevsky and MacArthur had furnished
Derevianko full information for transmission to Vassilevsky. Then
messages to the Embassy ceased and the Ambassador had assumed that the
Soviet representative was obtaining all information and transmitting it to
Vassilevsky. To this the Generalissimus replied that the Soviet
Government knew nothing whatever as to what was going on in Japan. Its
representative received now word, for example, on the new Japanese
Government and the changes therein. It had not been informed of the
reasons for making these changes. This was only one example, there were
many more.

The Ambassador stated that this was all news to him and that he
would report this matter to his Government. The Generalissimus stated
that he could not understand why the Japanese press and radio were
permitted to denounce the Soviet Union. The Soviets were Allies. He also
could not understand why the higher Japanese commanders were allowed to
remain at liberty and were not isolated. Was Japan a conquered country or
not? Did any censorship exist there?

The Ambassador explained that MacArthur had issued a directive to
the effect that no criticism in the press or on the radio should be
leveled against the Allies. He had no information on the attacks
mentioned by the Generalissimus. The Generalissimus stated that he did
not doubt that such a directive had been issued but nonetheless the
Japanese press had vilified the Soviet Union with impunity. The Soviet
representative in Japan had twice approached MacArthur on this question.
The press attacks had stopped and then recommenced in a truly fascist
manner. The Soviet Government would never permit such a thing to go on in
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its zones of occupation. If any newspaper in Rumania, for example, should
attack the United States its editors would be immediately punished. Such
questions however could only be handled through a control commission. The
Generalissimus continued that in view of the present facts the situation
in Japan was deteriorating from day to day. This was why Molotov had
raised the question of a control commission in London. The Ambassador
inguired as to the nature of the Japanese press attacks. The
Generalissimus stated that he did not remember the facts but that Mr.
Molotov could advise the Ambassador in the premises. The Ambassador then
inquired why the Generalissimus considered the situation in Japan to be
deteriorating. It was his (the Ambassador’s) impression that satisfactory
progress was being made. The Generalissimus stated that he was speaking
of the Soviet position. The Soviet representative was merely a “piece of
extra furniture” with the regime established by MacArthur. This was a
very embarrassing position.

The Ambassador said that he would like to make a general statement
regarding the Japanese surrender. The capitulation of Japan was quite
unique in history. It was the general conception that MacArthur would
proceed to Japan as Supreme Commander on behalf of all the Allies, force
the Japanese to lay down their arms and obliterate their military power.
He would take no permanent future commitments during the surrender period
except for the destruction of the Japanese military machine. It was
thought that this first surrender period would last about two months so
that by November 1st this phase of the occupation of Japan would be over.
With that in mind his Government had proposed on August 21 that an
advisory council be established and meet promptly in Washington in order
that Japanese political, economic and other policies could be discussed
and the Allies could consult. Every effort would be made to reach
agreement on policy. In the meantime each Ally had a military
representative in Japan. The Ambassador assumed that these
representatives were informed of developments. He also assumed that if
there had been objection to any action protest would have been made. So
far as he was aware no protest had been registered. Now the advisory
commission meeting had been postponed for various reasons of which the
Generalissimus was aware. However, he knew that he could say that there
was never any intention on the part of the President not to consult fully
with the Soviet Union on Japan especially after this first phase of the
surrender period had terminated.

The Generalissimus remarked that recently the banks had been closed
in Japan and their assets had been confiscated. What objections could be
made after such a definite action had been taken? The Ambassador stated
that the Soviet Union would be furnished with full information on all
these subjects. These were matters which would be discussed at the
advisory council. He continued that the Generalissimus would find that
MacArthur had done only what was necessary to carry out the surrender
terms and to protect the interests of the Allies. For this reason the
President hoped that the Generalissimus would send a representative to
Washington to discuss these matters.

The Generalissimus repeated that the establishment of the advisory
council was an incorrect solution. If he sent representatives to
Washington he feared that they would interfere with the work of the
commission; they would become a nuisance and there would be a further
deterioration in Soviet-American relations. Would it not be better for
the Soviet Union to step aside and let the Americans act as they wished in
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Japan? The Soviet Union would not interfere. For a long time the
isolationists had been in power in the United States. He had never
favored a policy of isolation, but perhaps now the Soviet Union should
adopt such a policy. Perhaps in fact there was nothing wrong with it.

The Ambassador stated that he could only report to the President.
He had informed the Generalissimus how the President wished to concert
policy on Japan - this included full consultation with the Soviet Union
and the other Allies. He had also explained that full consultation had
perhaps been difficult during the first initial period of the surrender.
After all, a period of two months was not a long time in the history of
the two countries. The Generalissimus had spoken of Rumania and Bulgaria.
During a similar period the Americans and the British had been upset as to
the treatment accorded their representatives so that the Generalissimus’
emotions were the American emotions during that period. The
Generalissimus replied that the situation in the Balkans was entirely
different. The Americans were accorded the same treatment the Soviets
were extended in Italy. Then the situation changed. 1In addition there
were no American or British troops in the Balkans. The Soviets had troops
on Japanese territory. After Potsdam the treatment accorded to the
American and British representatives in Bulgaria and Rumania was changed
for the better. However no change was made in Italy with respect to the
Soviet representatives. In addition, the Russians had maintained 20 to 40
divisions on the Manchurian frontier for the last ten years and recently
up to 70 divisions had been in operation against Japan. The Soviet Union
had made its contribution in the Japanese war. No one could say they had
done nothing. Furthermore it had been ready to help the United States by
landing troops on the Japanese islands. This offer had been rejected.
(*) The Soviet Union had never done anything against the Allies in
Bulgaria and Rumania which had not been done to the Soviet representatives
in Italy.

The Ambassador stated that this was a matter of opinion. In any
even the United States Government intended to treat the Russians honorably
in Japan. If the Generalissimus thought that the situation had worked out
otherwise he deeply regretted it. He had no information regarding the
treatment of Soviet representatives in Japan. He could not speak of this
matter. However, he wished to say a few words about the situation in
Bulgaria and Rumania. According to his reports the American
representatives there were in no way given as favorable treatment as that
accorded to the Soviet representatives in Italy. However, he did not wish
to argue this point. It was past history. He only wished to point out
that these questions looked differently in Washington than in Moscow.
Nonetheless they were ones which should be talked over as Allies and
friends until agreement were reached.

The Ambassador recapitulated. He stated that according to his
understanding the Generalissimus had suggested that the question of a
control commission for Japan should be the subject of discussions between
the two Governments and that the Soviet Government would not send a
representative to Washington. The Generalissimus stated that this was
correct. The advisory commission would not be able to decide anything.
Such decisions must be reached on a government level. The Ambassador
stated that he would return to Moscow in the morning where he had good
communication facilities and that he would report fully to his Government.




(*}) Interpreter’s note:

When Stalin made this remark it was quite obvious from the tone of
his voice and from the expression on his face that he was still very irked
at our refusal to permit Soviet troops to land at Hokkaido [sic).

The Ambassador inquired whether there would be any useful purpose in
discussing the London procedural question any further. He remarked that
the Generalissimus had stated that the Japanese question should be settled
first. The Generalissimus replied that the two questions should be
settled simultaneously since they were linked together. The Ambassador
inquired as to what he should report with respect to the Generalissimus’
views on the procedural question. The Generalissimus replied that he had
explained his point of view in yesterday’s meeting. The Ambassador stated
that as he understood it agreement should first be reached upon what
nations should be invited to the proposed peace conference. The
Generalissimus replied that it would be advisable to agree on this matter.
The Ambassador inquired whether he was right in assuming that the
Generalissimus was ready to have submitted to this conference the four
peace treaties drawn up in accordance with the Potsdam 4-3-2 formula. The
Generalissimus replied in the affirmative. He stated that he did not
object to a general conference. However, first of all the rights of the
members of this conference should be defined as against the rights of the
signatories of the armistice terms. The Ambassador inquired as to what
rights the Generalissimus had in mind. Who, for example should conclude
the peace treaties? The Generalissimus replied that those who signed the
surrender terms should be the nations to sign the peace treaties. The
Ambassador inquired whether countries like Yugoslavia and Greece, insofar
as Bulgaria was concerned, should have any rights in the final stage, that
is in the actual conclusion of the peace, or only rights of expressing
their views at the general conference. The Generalissimus replied that
there was no objection on his part to such countries signing the peace.
However, the nature of the peace treaties should be defined by the
armistice makers.

The Ambassador inquired as to the Generalissimus’ reaction to the
list he had left with him last night. (The Generalissimus went out of the
room to get the list). He then stated that he objected to the inclusion
of China, Belgium, Holland, Luxembourg, Norway and India. The rest had
taken part in the war against Italy and he would accept them. The
Ambassador stated that he knew the President felt that Belgium and Holland
had been vitally affected by the war and should be brought into these
discussions. The Ambassador and the Generalissimus thereupon went over
the list. The Generalissimus stated that in addition to the Big Three,
France, Czechoslovakia, Yugoslavia, Greece, Australia, New Zealand, South
Africa, Canada, Brazil and Ethiopia should participate in the peace
conference. He objected to the participation of Norway, Holland, Belgium,
Poland, India, China and Luxembourg. He did not “require” the
participation of the Ukraine or White Russia.

The Ambassador reiterated the President’s concept that this was one
war against the Axis. Such countries like Norway, Holland and Belgium had
been overrun by the Nazis. They were vitally interested in the peace.
Norway and Holland had continued to fight with their navies and merchant
shipping. The Generalissimus remarked that if these countries should be
included all of the sixteen republics should also participate. They had
fought and suffered. They had more independence than India. The
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Ambassador inquired whether the sixteen republics could be placed in the
same category as the sovereign independent countries of Belgium, Holland
and Norway. The Generalissimus maintained that they were the same as
India.

The Ambassador stated that he would immediately report in full to
his Government as soon as he had returned to Moscow. He was very grateful
for the amount of time the Generalissimus had given him and he wished to
thank him most sincerely for the Generalissimus’ hospitality and enjoyable
time he had had during his visit to Gagri.

The Generalissimus concluded that he had not only received Mr.
Harriman as the Ambassador of America but also as a friend. It would
always be so.

EP/sj

Source: W.A. Harriman Papers, Library of Congress.




Gomulka’s Memorandum of a Conversation with Stalin

1. The political situation in Poland third quarter of 1945%

On the PPS [Polish Socialist Party]. You are wrong if you think that Morawski®' is
just naive. He is clever, and follows the orders of others who teach him and give him orders.
There are smarter people in the PPS than he. Morawski does not want to oppose them and
fulfills their orders. Before he obeyed Bierut, and now he is obeying others. They, that is,
the PPS, will leave you anyway.

On the PSL [Polish Peasants’ Party]. He [Stalin] is in possession of absolutely sure
information that everything that the English ambassador does in Warsaw has been agreed
upon with Mikolajczyk. Mikolajczyk is very careful, and although they are in possession of
sufficient evidence of what he says to the English ambassador, that evidence is not good
enough to compromise him in the eyes of the world. To the suggestion that there are political
differences within the PSL, he declared that it is a fact that everybody listens to Mikolajczyk.

On the PPR [Polish Workers’ Party]. You keep conducting defensive policy. You
behave as if you were sitting in the dock. This is all caused by the fear that the bloc will
break apart. Belonging to the bloc does not exclude party agitation. Your agitation is wrong.
Your people are not ideologically armed. You need to have a clear program, written in
striking terms, so that everybody will know what you want and what you are thinking about
your coalition partners. You should clearly state your stance towards other parties. When
talking about Mikolajczyk, you should talk about the Warsaw uprising and that his policy is
aimed at bringing back the big landowners and foreign capitalists. About the PPS you need
to say that it is a party that has certain good points, but you also need to point out their
shortcomings. You have to call the antagonistic elements by name. You don’t need to worry
so much about the bloc disintegrating. If you are strong they are going to come to you. They
wanted to isolate the French party the same way and now they cannot not consider them.
Thorez*? gave nothing to the nation, and you gave a lot. It is ridiculous that you are afraid of
accusations that you are against independence. It is bad that on this issue you moved to
defensive positions, that you are trying to explain yourselves. You are the ones who built
independence. If there were no PPR, there would be no independence. You created the
army, built the state structures, the financial system, the economy, the state. Mikolajczyk
was abroad at the time, and Morawski was lagging behind somewhere on your tail. Instead
of telling them all that, you are saying only that you support independence. The PPR turned
the USSR into an ally of Poland. The arguments are right there at your feet and you don’t
know how to make use of them. Take the example of a manager of a factory who cried all
the time that he couldn’t get any materials. And Stalin for two days walked around the
factory and found everything that was needed. A membership of 200,000 is a force which
can overturn a whole country if it is well organized, well managed and controlled, and if it

% Words “third quarter of 1945 added in Gomulka’s hand on the original.
8 Edward Osobka-Morawski. premier of TRIN (Temporary Government of National Unity).

82 Maurice Thorez. General Secretary of the Communist Party of France.
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has instructions as to what to say and how to say it. Do not be so worried about the bloc,
leave the inter-party diplomacy to Bierut, and fight for concrete issues: the question of
independence, cooperatives, nationalization and state trade.

The issue of the premier. Morawski is not playing a positive role, he is only slowing
things down at present. The paralysis of the authorities is a dangerous thing. Lange® will
definitely be better. Morawski is a chicken compared to him. Lange was probably closely
connected to Roosevelt and belonged to the circle of his trustworthy professor-informants
who come to a country and give a good estimate of the situation within a short time.
Presently Lange, together with the whole Roosevelt entourage, fell out of grace. This is how
the fact that he took Polish citizenship can be explained. Will he, as a socialist, not listen to
the PPS? Ask Wasilewska’s opinion. She knows him well and has a good hunch about
people. (Don’t push Wasilewska away. She may still come back to Poland). He [Stalin] did
not exclude the possibility that the PPR might take over the [office of the] premier. If your
influence is equal to that of the PPS, why can they have a premier and not you? He agreed,
however, that if the PPR were to take the office of the premier there would be a great outcry
about the single-party system and about sovietization. He took the stance that it was needed
and absolutely necessary to change the premier before the election. Morawski could be
toppled over the question of cooperatives.

The issue of the election. Why do you think that the election should be postponed as
much as possible? It will not be better, but worse. The economic situation will not be better,
people will drift back from England, they (the opponents) will organize better and they may
even bring you down. Because they know that, the PPS is suggesting that the election be in a
year. The election should take place in the spring of 1946. Your Congress should start the
election campaign. The fact that the PPS is not responding to your suggestion of creating a
bloc should be treated as a refusal. You should address them in writing in an [official]
document and say that if you receive no concrete reply you will consider it a refusal. He
[Stalin] was not against the [idea of the] bloc but he expressed doubts as to the possibility of
forming it and suggested entering the election alone. He said that with good agitation and a
proper attitude the party may win a considerable number of votes. You have to stop being
diffident.

The issue of the Party Congress. It is necessary to clearly break with the past of the
KPP, and state that the PPR is a new party formed in the heat of the battle against the
German invaders. The KPP was lead by Pilsudski’s spies, who forced upon the party an
unpopular policy, which isolated the party from the nation. He [Stalin] said he could show
documents to prove it. [Those were] the testimony of Sosnowski®, a close associate of
Dzierzynski and a testimony of Dabal.®> Do not invite any foreign parties to the Congress. If
somebody were to come from WKP (b), there would be a completely unnecessary ovation.

¥ Oskar Lange, a well-known economist, active in the PPS and PZPR, was a professor at the University of
Chicago during the war.

8 Jan Sosnowski. active in SDKPIL, lived in the USSR after 1917. He died in the purges of 1937-38.

¥ Tomasz Dbal. one of the leaders of the KPP, died in the purges in 1938.




The congress should be a starting point for an offensive [election] campaign of the party.
The knot of the question of independence can be untied beginning with the Congress. .

Relations between the Soviet Union and the Anglo-Saxons. Do not believe in
divergences between the English and the Americans. They are closely connected to each
other. Their intelligence conducts lively operations against us in all countries. In Poland, in
the Balkans, and in China, everywhere their agents spread the information that the war with
us will break out any day now. I am completely assured that there will be no war, it is
rubbish. They are not capable of waging war against us. Their armies have been disarmed
by agitation for peace and will not raise their weapons against us. Not atomic bombs, but
armies decide about the war. The goals of the intelligence activities are the following. First
of all, they are trying to intimidate us and force us to yield in contentious issues concerning
Japan, the Balkans, and the reparations. Secondly, [they want] to push us away from our
allies -- Poland, Romania, Yugoslavia and Bulgaria. I asked them directly when they were
starting the war against us. And they said “What are you saying? What are you saying?”
[Russian: “Shto vy? Shto vy?”’]. Whether in thirty years or so they want to have another war
is another issue. This would bring them great profit, particularly in the case of America,
which is beyond the oceans and couldn’t care less about the effects of the war. Their policy
of sparing Germany testifies to that. He who spares the aggressor wants another war. To the
statement that there are rumors in America that soon there will be an agreement between
America and the Soviet Union, he said “It is possible.”

Intelligence Service. This part of the conversation took place because I informed him
that the English keep alluding to my going to London. He declared: “I assure you that they
are not inviting you for a good purpose. Do not refuse directly, but don’t go.” There is a
group of complete rascals and ruthless murderers in the Intelligence Service, who will fulfill
any order given to them. They are the ones who killed Sikorski. He [the one who gave the
order for Sikorski’s assassination] was Governor of Gibraltar at the time, the former head of
the English Military Mission in the USSR, and a ruthless murderer. He prepared the crash of
Sikorski’s plane. When Stalin asked Churchill what happened to Sikorski, Churchill
answered “I gave them strict orders that nothing like that was to happen again,” as if you
could kill the same man twice. They killed Sikorski probably because he threatened the
English that [Poland will move] to the American side. They tried to kill Tito three times.
Once they incited the Germans against him. Tito was with his Staff and there were about two
hundred English and American officers there who left him one day before the attempted
attack. The Germans performed a landing operation on Tito’s Headquarters. Tito was saved
by a Soviet pilot who took him away to an island. Not long ago they organized a train crash,
but Tito took the train a day earlier and his car on the train was empty. In 1942 when
Molotov was in London, the English invited the people accompanying Molotov for a ride on
a four-engine plane. The English officers and Molotov’s people all died. When the English
really care about [killing] someone, they sacrifice their own people as well. When we go to
England, we use our own planes, our own fuel, and have our own guards by the plane to
make sure that they don’t add anything to the fuel. The Soviet pilots explained Sikorski’s
crash [by saying] that powder must have been added to the fuel. The English usually invite
you to their country to find out what your weak spots are through either drunkenness or
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women. Whenever they can, they blackmail the chosen victim and try to recruit people.
Unszlicht®® was also recruited this way by the czarist police.

Loans. If America wants to give, you should take, but without any conditions. You
need to reject the open-door policy, since they use this policy only towards colonial
countries. You can give the Americans most-privileged-nation status. You cannot reject the
proposal to permit trade representatives in [the country] because you don’t officially have a
monopoly on foreign trade, and private capital exists in your country. You can agree to
having particular projects built in your country in ports, in Warsaw, or other places, but you
cannot agree to concessions. We want to take from them six billion at 2.5% for forty years;
the payments would start in nine years. At first they were telling us about the open door
policy as well, but they had to back out and suggested that we ask them for loans. We don't
want to ask until we are sure that we are going to receive. They are already backing out,
because they gave us four hundred million from lend-lease®’ on our conditions. You will
have to establish some customs tariffs. It provides state income and there is no state without
tariffs. You also have to guard well the frontiers on the USSR side.

Nationalization. You need to carry it out. It would be good if it were the act of a new
premier. The National Council [Polish: Krajowa Rada] should pass it. You should not tie
your hands with a clause about damages. You could for example call it a “fair
compensation.” Check how Mexico did it with their industry so that you will always be able
to say that you follow Mexico’s, not Russia’s, example.

Quotas. It will be difficult for you to keep the quotas for two to three years. The best
way is for the state to have reserves and force the farmers to lower their prices by interfering
in the market. This is what we did in Latvia and Estonia by throwing one hundred thousand
tons of crops [on the market] and lowering the price of bread five times.

Inflation. It is impossible to avoid it. You should not fall into the extreme inflation
like after World War I, but you cannot economize on production credits.

Western Territories. He [Stalin] expressed surprise that Zhukov doesn’t want to
accept the Germans [living in Poland]. You should create such conditions for the Germans
that they want to escape themselves. Keep only the ones you need. Wieslaw [Gomulka]
should not take the Ministry of Western Territories, he should concentrate on the party and
the election campaign. Somebody else needs to be found for that post. He [Gomulka] should
not even take formal responsibility for Western Territories. You should learn from our
experience and have a few vice-premiers, each watching over several Ministries. You should
not be afraid . . . [ line missing from copy?] . . . you have twenty people and keep shuffling
them around. It is impossible that during all this time you did not educate many good people.
You should not pump the people out of the party although you were right to have taken the

8 Jozef Unszlicht. active in SDKPIL, lived in the USSR after 1917. died in purges in 1937-38.

87 The Lend-Lease Act of 1941, on the basis of which the USSR received from the United States equipment and
supplies worth 11 billion dollars during the war.
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responsibility for the country. If the party gets stronger it will be easier to do the state work
as well. .

State domains® in the Western Territories. The idea is correct, but where are you
going to get the labor force from? Because of the agricultural reforms, for a few years in
Poland there will be no influx of people from the countryside to the cities. We are starting to
implement a different policy in soviet communes [Russian: sovchoz]. We give the workers
housing and some land, between half a hectare and hectare for an accessory farm. We did
the same with railroad workers. We have been attacked “from the left” that we are creating a
new petty bourgeoisie. This is incorrect and not Marxist. Great capital creates around it a
craftsman- and petty-bourgeois-focused environment as a reserve of labor force. America,
the most capitalist of countries, can be taken as an example here. America’s crafts and light
industry are also the most developed fin the world]. A socialist farm also has to create such
an environment as a reserve of labor force. Changes are occurring in the Soviet Union in the
laws governing labor. In the past, the rule was that as the most qualified, metal industry
workers earned the most. We suffer the “misfortune of no unemployment,” and therefore
people do not want to do hard labor, such as mining, for example. Therefore we pay more to
unqualified workers performing hard labor, such as miners, than we pay metal industry
workers.

Transportation. The most important issue. First he [Stalin] was against moving Minc
into transportation, but later agreed to it, once he found out that we had no people in
transportation. He stipulated that Minc should not leave industry. He promised to look into
our proposals concerning transportation, particularly the question of moving transit onto the
seaside line. He sees no possibilities for us to get locomotives and train cars with their help.

Reparations. He [Stalin] stated that they are beginning to implement a new system of
reparations, namely instead of bringing in machines that would start running not earlier than
after a year, they are planning to start production in Germany within a few weeks. There are
specialists -- engineers -- there, and a lot can be produced and reparations can be received in
the form of ready products. This is even more necessary because for reasons relating to
transportation, bringing in machines is very difficult. The Germans are very pleased with
that. He was interested in our detailed needs and said that we can obtain a lot if we use that
system.

Agricultural reform in Germany. The English and Americans are furious, but we are
doing our thing. This way we are destroying the junkers, a class which is economically most
combative. Forests, of which there have been too many in Germany, are also getting divided.

About the conversation between Bierut and Molotov. He [Stalin] was notified by
Lebedev® that on the basis of his conversation with Molotov, Bierut drew a conclusion about
a shift of the Soviet position towards Poland. He showed particular interest in the course of

88 State-run farms.

8 Viktor Lebedev. USSR Ambassador in Warsaw, 1945-52.
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that conversation and concluded that there is no shift towards Poland whatsoever and that
Molotov was probably in a bad mood at the time.

About the navy. Explain to me [Stalin] what happened concerning the navy. How
could it have happened that you believed that we wanted to give you ships instead of
machines as reparations. [ explained to Bierut twice that it wasn’t the case, and Bierut kept
muttering something about gasoline. I had the impression that you simply did not want any
communist bunkers in your country. You are ashamed of it. I scolded Bulganin for [passing
on] inaccurate information that you will be getting ships at the cost of reparations. He is a
clumsy and not very flexible man. The whole time Stalin thought that we will receive ships
as an advance on the 15% of the one-third of the trophy German navy. [Stalin said] In
Potsdam I promised to give [it] to you for free, but the 15% of the navy ships is more than I
had promised. It has been taken from the enemy, after all, and Bierut got angry with me that
I am not giving things away for free. Such lack of trust spoils relations. In the meantime,
Stalin called Wyszynski and Kuznetsov concerning this matter. He came back after the
phone conversation and declared that the matter stands worse than he thought, and that the
Soviet bureaucrats really want to cheat you [Poles] and count twenty-three ships as
reparations and you are agreeing to it. It is all coming from Bulganin. If you think there are
no stupid generals, you are wrong. Later Stalin declared that they will have to give us those
ships for free. In the meantime, another phone call came from Moscow. It became clear that
the 15% mentioned in the Polish-Soviet agreement refers to the commercial fleet, not the
navy, and that apparently an agreement was reached in Moscow with a Polish delegation that
the twenty-three ships are to be counted in exchange for the shipwrecks which the Soviet
navy will raise from the bottom of the Polish sea and take. Stalin asked that the copy of the
agreement be sent to him. He agreed to it unwillingly, as if it were a fait accompli.

The army. Concerning officers of the Red Army taking Polish citizenship in the
Polish Army -- many of them do not want to take it because they are afraid that the
leadership will change. We don’t want to force them. You should polonize the army all the
way through. You can let go of the Red Army generals and officers whenever you want, as
soon as possible. If you need a released soldier’s help, they should help you, but as an
instructor. If it upsets Bulganin, that means he doesn’t understand anything. You keep doing
your thing and don’t pay attention to that. Why did you approach Bulganin and not a
military attaché in Poland? When he found out about the issue involving rear-admiral
Abramov®’, he pointed out that we should not put Soviet people in uncomfortable positions,
that is, inviting them to certain posts [only to] release them later.

The Red Army in Poland. There are no international circumstances that would
require keeping large troops of the Red Army in Poland. Only small troops guarding the
transit railroad line could be left. The only question is your domestic situation. The point is
that they would not kill you. The situation is similar in Bulgaria and Yugoslavia. They don’t
want us to leave before the election, either. The number of Red Army soldiers in Poland is
steadily diminishing and will continue to diminish. We will soon pull the last soldier out of

% Nikolai Abramov. rear-admiral. a Russian officer who for five months (August-December 1943) was Chief of
Staff of the Polish navy.
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Czechoslovakia under the condition that the Americans pull out as well. He [Stalin]
generally spoke for localization but make no concrete promises concerning that matter. He
stated that after the war, plundering instincts were awakened among the Red Army soldiers.
In Berlin alone they took two hundred thousand watches. One of the reasons is that the
command of the Red Army allowed the released soldiers to take some amount of spoils
home. When the demobilization is over marauding will end as well.

Grain for sowing. He was embarrassed when he found out that Molotov refused to
lend [Poland] fifty thousand tons of grain for sowing. He was urging us to take thirty
thousand although he wasn’t sure whether it could still be done. He called Rokossovskii [and
told him] to give the thirty thousand tons as a loan. He confirmed that order to Molotov by
phone.

Zaolzie. You have coking coal, so economically your problem is solved. Nobody but
us would support your claims. We would be risking defeat if we supported your claims.
Why should you or we compromise ourselves? You should solve this situation by resettling
the population. You need to organize some kind of Polish-Czech conference. We can help
you with it if you want us to. It is no good that all the Slavic countries unite, and only two of
them are arguing.

Yugoslavia. The picture of the partisan movement in Yugoslavia was not as pretty as
it seemed from afar. During the take over of Bialogréd®' Tito was in Moscow. The partisans
could not keep up an open battle with the Germans at all. However, Tito was much more
ruthless towards the enemy than you. Of thirty-four thousand of Pavelicz’s’* captives
[POW’s -- trans.] he had fourteen thousand shot. The English demanded that we influence
Tito in order to postpone the election once Szubaszic® left the government. We answered
that Tito’s government is the only legally valid and universally recognized government of
Yugoslavia and only that government can decide about the election. The English have
already been silent for two weeks concerning this matter. The English were the ones who
forced Szubaszic to leave the government.

Revkom.”* Stalin was on the front line at the time. Dzierzynski dreamed of a Soviet
Poland. Lenin unwillingly agreed to Revkom. We very quickly realized that creating
Revkom was a mistake. In a country such as Poland, which for so many years was under
foreign rule, choosing Soviet rule was a mistake. Lenin tried to explain it as prodding Poland
with a bayonet just to see. But of course that is not a sufficient explanation.

°! Belgrade.
2 Ante Pavelic, a Croatian politican and soldier who collaborated with the Germans during World War IL.

% Ivan Subasic, premier of the Yugoslavian emigration government in London in 1944. In 1945, after an
agreement with Josip Broz Tito. he became a Minister Of Internal Affairs in Tito’s government. He resigned from that post
after several months.

% The Temporary Revolutionary Committee of Poland, which was to become the Polish Soviet Government in
case the Red Army won in 1920. [t existed for a short period of time in the summer of 1920 on the territory seized by the
Red Army. Julian Marchlewski was the Chairman; other members were Feliks Dzierzynski, Feliks Kon, Edward Prochniak
and Jozef Unszlicht.




END NOTES

1. Letter of a Swedish sailor-communist to the Soviet Government concerning anti-Soviet
agitation in Gdansk and Gdynia.

2. The delay in the invitation was caused by the unexpected arrival of Harriman at Sochi.

3. Truman removed Hopkins.

4. Freedom of the press -- Lenin treated like a German spy by the bourgeois press.

5. Associated Press and Timoshenko®® - Stalin in Teheran and forcing the correspondent to
publish a denial which was dictated to him under threat of expulsion from the Soviet Union.
6. Good-naturedly calling us “tolstoyniks” during dinner.

7. Benefits from power -- Georgian deputy who bought oxen and built two houses.

Source: Andrzej Werblan, “New Evidence on Poland in the Early Cold War,” Cold War
International History Project Bulletin, no. 11 (Winter 1998), pp. 134-40 (Gomulka papers, in
possession of the Gomulka family).

Translated by Anna Elliot-Zielenska.

% Semyon Timoshenko, a2 USSR marshal.




1.V. Stalin’s Conversation with W. Gomulka and G. Minc
about the Situation in Poland.”

Moscow November 14, 1945
SECRET

To Comrade MOLOTOYV for the Four

The conversation was not recorded (the Poles did not consider it necessary to record
it), therefore, I am summarizing the essence of the conversation in the form of questions and
answers.

The Poles’ question. Has the attitude of the Soviet Leaders to Poland and, in particular -- to
Polish communists, changed?

Comrade Stalin’s answer. No, it has not changed and it could not change. We see the Poles
and the Polish Communists as friends, as we used to.

Question. Should we pass a law on nationalization of big industry and banks?

Answer. After Benesh had passed such a law, the time has come when it became necessary
to pass this law in Poland also.

Question. Should we allow foreign capital in Poland in the form of concessions or in any
other form?

Answer. This question is a very serious one, and the Poles themselves should think about it
very seriously.

Note: The Poles did not say anything to the effect that some time ago they rejected a Soviet
proposal about joint ventures. I had an impression that the Poles would not mind to make
concessions to foreign capital on this issue.

Question. Should we accept the proposal of the PPS about renouncing of state bread
collection and introducing free market mechanism without price regimentation?

Answer. As sad as it is, sooner or later the Poles would have to accept that measure, because
under any system, other than Soviet, and in the situation of the absence of war, there is no
possibility to preserve the system of bread collection and fix prices for a very long time.

Question. Would I be against if the Poles accepted a loan from the Americans or the British,
and would I accept it if that credit was received on the conditions which limit the freedom of
its use in Poland to some degree?

% Copies distributed to V. Molotov, L. Beria, G. Malenkov. A. Mikovan. A. Vyshinsky.




Answer. You can accept a loan but without any conditions that would limit Poland’s
freedom in using the money.

Question. Can we sign an agreement of mutual assistance with France?

Answer. Yes, you can; however, it should be in accordance with the spirit of the mutual
assistance pact between Poland and the USSR.

Question. Should we elaborate on the Teshin question and can the USSR give Poland
support in negotiations on Teshin with the Czechoslovaks?

Answer. I advice not to stressed this issue any more, because after Poland has received the
Silezia coking coal, Poland does not have any more arguments for transferring Teshin to the
Poles, and, therefore, the USSR cannot give the Poles any support on that issue. It would be
desirable to remove this controversial issue from your relations with Czechoslovakia, to be
satisfied with a relocation of the Teshin Poles to Poland, and to revive good relations with
Czechoslovakia. The USSR can provide support for the Poles in negotiations with
Czechoslovakia on the issue of relocating the Teshin Poles to Poland.

Question. Should we invite representatives of the All-Union Communist Party (b) to the
Congress of PWP, which will convene in the nearest future?

Answer. It would be better not to invite them, so that our opponents would not be able to say
that the PWP Congress was under the control of the All-Union Communist Party (b).

Question. Can we state at the PWP Congress that the PWP is a follower of the line and the
tradition of the Polish Communist Party, which was liquidated before the war?

Answer. No, you should not do that, because the Communist Party of Poland in reality
became a collection of Pilsudski’s agents, although our enemies painted them as agents of the
All-Union Communist Party (b). It would be desirable to state that the PWP represents a
new party and that it is not connected with the line and traditions of the Polish Communist
Party at the Congress of PWP.

Question. Are we correct in thinking that it would be expedient to postpone general elections
in Poland for one more year?

Answer. I think that it would be advisable to hold elections no later than the spring of 1946,
because it would be very difficult to postpone the elections any longer, both because of the
internal and international considerations.

Question. Osobka-Morawski is not behaving properly, and if he does not change that in the
nearest future, we would like to replace him even before holding the elections by Mr. Lange
(current Polish Ambassador in the USA, moderate member of the PPS, who, according to the
Poles, is favorably inclined toward the Communists). What can you suggest?



Answer. If you do not have any other alternatives, and if you cannot nominate Bierut in this .
case (the Poles consider this combination inexpedient), then you could try Lange with the

objective to use him to undermine the PPS. Consult with Vanda L’vovna, who knows Lange

very well.

Further discussion touched upon the issues of providing the Poles with 30 tons of
seed grain from the Rokossovski reserves on a reciprocal basis, and of satisfying their request

regarding the rail transportation, but you already know about it.
STALIN

Source: Vostochnaia Evropa, edited by G.P. Murashko, et al, vol. 1, pp. 301-03 (APREF, f. 45,
op. 1, d. 355,1. 8-11).

Translated by Svetlana Savranskaya.




Record of 1.V. Stalin’s Conversation
with Chairman of the Council of Ministers of Bulgaria K. Georgiev,
Ministers P. Stainov, A. Yugov, and Envoy to the USSR D. Mikhalchev
about Implementation of the Decisions of the Moscow Conference
of Three Foreign Ministers on Bulgaria.

Moscow January 7, 1946
TOP SECRET

From the Soviet side -- Comrades 1.V. Stalin, V.M. Molotov, and S.P. Kirsanov

From the Bulgarian side --  Chairman of the Bulgarian Council of Ministers Mr.

K. Georgiev, Minister of Foreign Affairs Mr. P. Stainov,
Minister of the Interior Mr. A. Yugov, and Bulgarian Envoy to
the USSR Mr. D. Mikhalchev.

The conversation lasted one hour and a half from 10:10 p.m. to 11:40 p.m.

In the beginning of the conversation, after the exchange of greetings, Comrade Stalin
asked K. Georgiev about the consequences of the drought, which occurred in Bulgaria in
1945, and about the state of livestock agriculture. K. Georgiev responded that the drought
brought serious damages for agriculture in all Bulgaria, excluding Southern Dobrudgi. At
the same time, he said that the abundant snow that Bulgaria is experiencing right now, gives
reasons to expect good harvest in 1946. The fall sowing plan was fulfilled almost at 100%
throughout the entire country. As far as livestock agriculture is concerned, the chronic crisis
in this area, which has only intensified in 1945 because of the drought, in Georgiev’s
opinion, will last for at least 2 or 3 years. After this, Comrade Stalin turned to questions
related to the implementation of the decisions of the Moscow Conference of Three Ministers
on Bulgaria, which took up the rest of the time. The participants did not raise other issues
during the conversation.

Comrade Stalin: “What about your opposition? We were informed that you had
difficulties in the implementation of the decisions of the Moscow Conference”.

In response to this question, K. Georgiev said that all Bulgarian people received the
decisions of the Moscow Conference on Bulgaria with satisfaction. The government of the
Patriotic Front has special reasons to be satisfied by this decision, because the positions of
the Patriotic Front were fully accommodated in it.

Comrade Stalin: “Does it create any difficulties for your situation?”

K. Georgiev responds that the government does not have any grounds to complain
about those decisions. The decisions were good and acceptable for both sides — for the
government as well as for the opposition.

Georgiev further says that initially it seemed that there would be no people in
Bulgaria, who would be against those decisions, however, in reality it was not so. The first
information, which the government received about the mood among the opposition circles
after the Moscow decisions were published, were that the opposition, especially the farmers’
opposition, was peacefully inclined. Having received the friendly advice from the Soviet
government, the Bulgarian government in separate letters invited leaders of the opposition



and K. Lulchev —to select their delegates for negotiations with the government delegates on
the issue of participation of those groups' representatives in the government of the Patriotic
Front. On January 5, they had meetings with representatives of both groups, one after
another. During those meetings, the government delegation stated, in accordance with the
decisions of the Moscow Conference, that their task is to supplement the current government
with two representatives of other democratic groups, but not to reconstruct the government.
K. Georgiev named the conditions presented to the opposition groups for sending their
representatives to the government and commented on those conditions (see supplement #
2).”7 Petkov in his conversation with the government delegation was more peacefully
inclined than the delegates from the social-democrats, among whom there was such a person
as Pastuhov, who never had anything in common with the Patriotic Front. Responding to the
desire of the delegates of the opposition groups, the Bulgarian government gave a written
summary of their conditions for including representatives of those groups into the
government with a request to respond to it in writing on the next day, on January 6.
Yesterday, on January 6, the government received written responses from those groups.
From a comparison of those responses, one can conclude that both of these groups acted in
coordination. Their responses are almost identical. (K. Georgiev hands Comrade Stalin the
response of farmers’ group of N. Petkov. See attachment # 1)*® As one can see from these
responses, Georgiev continues, the opposition presents absolutely unacceptable proposals
and disregards the decisions of the Moscow Conference on Bulgaria. These statements are
clearly in contradiction with the decisions of the Moscow Conference.

Comrade Stalin, looking at Petkov’s answer, interjects a phrase: “Formally, they
recognized this agreement, but in essence they reject it. This is a common trick of the
crooks.”

K. Georgiev agrees with that and informs Stalin that taking into account the obvious
refusal of the Bulgarian opposition to abide by the decisions of the Moscow Conference, the
Bulgarian government decided in the middle of the day today to make a special
announcement about the new situation on the radio. (K. Georgiev passes Comrade Stalin a
text of the statement. See attachment # 2)

Comrade Stalin asks, whether the statement was already published, and having
received an affirmative answer says that the Bulgarian government rushed with its
publication and that it could complicate the situation. The statement itself, says Comrade
Stalin, is also incorrectly written. It does not include the original texts of Petkov’s and
Lulchev’s responses. Those responses are given in a summary form, and are summarized
only approximately. The opposition could claim in such a case that the government
purposefully altered their documents.

Comrade Stalin then tells the Bulgarian ministers how the decisions concerning
Bulgaria were made at the Moscow Conference of Three Ministers. The British and the
Americans,--he says, --raised the Bulgarian question together with the Romanian question.
They demanded in regards to both states that: (1) Ministry of the Interior should be
neutralized; (2) that governments of both countries should make official statements to the
effect that they would guarantee freedom of speech, press, and the right of parties to present

groups that split from the Patriotic Front — the farmers and the social-democrats — N. Petkov .

97 Was not published.

* Was not published.
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separate lists for the elections; (3) to include representatives of opposition parties into the
government, and to reconstruct those governments. They did not say that the Bulgarian
elections were not valid. They did not speak about changing internal and foreign policies
either.

We responded to them that first of all, we need to distinguish Romania from Bulgaria,
because Bulgaria had already held elections. They agreed with this. Then we said that
opposition should be loyal, as it is, for example, in America. We declined the British and
American demand concerning the reconstruction of the Bulgarian government. They agreed
with this also. In regards to Romania, we refused their request about including Maniu, Lupu,
and Dino Brutianu® into the government. The demand for the reconstruction of the
Romanian government was also refused. We stated to the British and the Americans that the
Romanian government was behaving well and that there were no grounds for its
reconstruction. As far as the elections are concerned, we agreed that the Romanian
government would give assurances regarding freedom of convention, speech, and press. The
British and the Americans wanted the Bulgarian government to give relevant assurances too.
We did not agree with that. We did not agree to neutralize the Romanian Ministry of the
Interior.

Therefore, the decisions on Bulgaria did not include anything related to the
reconstruction of the government or holding new elections, or changing internal policy.

Today,--continues Comrade Stalin,--we received information that they already made
a deal in Romania. By the way, the Romanian government did not accept just any
representatives of opposition parties in the government. The National-Tsaranists, for
example, proposed Mikhalaki.'® They were told that this candidacy would not work. Then
they proposed other candidates. The candidacy of Bebe Brutianu was also declined. They
found another candidate.

It is more difficult in this respect in Bulgaria, although it would seem that it should be
easier here. The decisions of the Moscow Conference on Bulgaria were more beneficial for
the Bulgarian government than the decisions on Romania for the Romanian government. In
reality, however, it turns out that the Bulgarian government gives more to the Bulgarian
opposition than the Romanian government does. In Romania, representatives of the
opposition, included in the government, do not get any portfolios. In Bulgaria, the
opponents get Ministerial Posts, and they still do not want to participate in the government.
That is simply obnoxious,--concludes Comrade Stalin.

Comrade Stalin and Molotov then asked the Bulgarian Ministers what did they plan
to do next.

K. Georgiev makes a suggestion that maybe the agreement achieved in Bucharest
would be sobering for the Bulgarian opposition, but at the same time he makes it clear that he
does not believe in that, saying that the opposition gets bad advice from the outside. If it was
only possible,--he said,--to stop that bad advice, or replace it with good advice. To Comrade
Stalin’s question--from whom does the opposition get bad advice,-- Georgiev responds--
from American political representative Barnes — and states that Barns linked his name with
the Bulgarian opposition so closely, and that he does not pay any attention to any accepted
norms of behavior of diplomatic representatives.

% As in the original. Should be Bratianu.

1% As in the original. Should be Mihkalake.
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After this, the participants engaged in an active exchange. I am quoting the most
important statements of the conversation.

Comrade Stalin: “Obviously, we will have to interfere. It is clear that neither Petkov
nor Lulchev, no Pastuhov should be in the government.”

Comrade Molotov: “Can we consider your negotiations with the opposition
completed?”

K. Georgiev: “Formally, the negotiations were not interrupted, but in essence it is
hopeless.”

Comrade Stalin: “Everything came to a good conclusion in Romania. The opposition
there turned out to be smarter. The King was happier than anyone about the agreements that
were achieved. He almost cried, so happy he was. They could kick him out, and now, thank
God, he is safe for the time being.”

Stainov: “The acceptance of the results of the elections is our most difficult issue.”

Comrade Stalin: “The elections are over. Your opposition can go to hell. It
boycotted those elections. Three great powers recognized the results of the elections. Isn’t it
clear from the decisions of the Moscow Conference on Bulgaria?”

Stainov: “Yes. The opposition turned out to be short-sighted.”

Comrade Stalin: “You cannot always be far-sighted. Churchill was much more far-
sighted than your opposition, and during the Berlin Conference he assured us that he would
definitely receive the majority in the Parliament. Ettli was only hoping to increase his vote a
little bit, but he did not think that his party would receive the majority in the Parliament. You
cannot foresee everything, it is difficult.

The British and the Americans thought that if the elections in Bulgaria were free, then
the Patriotic Front would receive the minority of the vote, but that is not the way it
happened.”

K. Georgiev: “They looked at us through the glasses of our opposition.”

Comrade Stalin: “Now both, the British and the Americans, confirmed that the
elections were legitimate.”

Comrade Molotov: “There is not a single word about elections in the Moscow
communiqué. Nothing is said about the freedom of the press either. The British and the
Americans had signed the communiqué. Consequently, the opposition lost their support on
those issues. Of course, behind the curtains, the British and the Americans will still support
the opposition, but they would not be able to do it officially. You never had such a situation
before.”

Stainov: “Yes, it is a silent acceptance of the results of the elections.”

Comrade Stalin: “When 1s Vyshinsky going to London? Can we send him to
Bulgaria first, so that he would resolve those issues? Of course, neither Petkov nor Lulchev
should be included in the government. And if the British and the Americans do not want to
recognize the Bulgarian government, we could wait on this recognition. They did not
recognize us for many years.”

Stainov: “I think that even after Vyshinsky’s visit, the opposition would not take part
in the government.”

Comrade Stalin: “That is not the problem. Now the argument is between the
government and the opposition. If the negotiations fail, the responsibility could be shifted to
the Bulgarian government. However, if Vyshinsky comes to Bulgaria, who was a member of
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the Moscow Conference, a neutral person in your conflict, it will be a different case. If it
fails, we take the responsibility onto ourselves. Then nobody will blame you for that.”

Stainov: “We are not afraid of responsibility.”

K. Georgiev: “We are taking our political habits into account--that is why not only we
presented our conditions in the written form, but also demanded that the opposition does so
t0o.”

Comrade Stalin: “You acted incorrectly. You should not have started with a written
presentation of conditions. You should have started with oral negotiations, and step by step
orally force your opponents to give up some of their positions, and only after that you could
force them to present their demands in writing. And now you have tied your opponents’
hands. It will be very difficult for them to retreat. One can see that you do not have enough
experience of negotiations between parties.”

K. Georgiev: “Those are blinded and dishonest people. If we have not started from a
written presentation of our positions, then next day they would attribute things you did not
even dream of to us.”

Comrade Stalin: “Petkov has a peasant psychology. He is afraid of paper. A peasant
can do many things as long as he is not forced to sign any documents, and if he has to sign
something, he tries to put all kind of conditions on it.

I believe that a positive decision on this issue would be favorable both for you and for
us. However, if the opposition does not do it, the worse for them. The opposition will die.
We will do fine without it. Petkov should not think that the USSR and America will go to
war because of him.”

Stainov: “We need the opposition to recognize the results of the election.”

Comrade Stalin: “Do you really need Petkov’s recognition so much?

Seems that Vyshinsky would have to explain the Moscow decisions to Bulgarians”.

Comrade Molotov: “This is a position that we had already won. You understand
Moscow decisions incorrectly. The results of the elections are already recognized by the
Moscow Conference. The absence of any references to elections in the decisions of that
Conference did not happen by chance. Do not demand from the opposition that they
recognize the elections.”

Comrade Stalin: “It is an axiom, and you are trying to turn this axiom into a theorem .
You have only one problem — to supplement the current government with two representatives
of opposition groups. (Stalin asks Vyshinsky on the telephone, when the agreement on
including representatives of the opposition into the Romanian government could be
published, and gives him instructions in regards to Bulgaria: “Petkov obnoxiously demands a
reconstruction of the Bulgarian government and a dissolution of the Parliament. He is a jerk.
He should be shown his place as we did it with the Romanian King”). Petkov and Lulchev
should be asked just one question--whether they want to select their representatives to the
government, or they do not. All other questions should be removed. The Romanians had a
much more difficult situation, they did not even have elections yet, and, besides, they have a
King, not just the opposition. It is just a misunderstanding that you gave your Petkovs the
opportunity to present any kind of conditions and declarations.”

Stainov and Mikhalchev: “And what will happen if the opposition refuses to take part
in the government even after Vyshinsky’s visit?”

Comrade Stalin: “In such a case, the responsibility would lie with us, not with you.
You could be accused for undermining the Moscow decisions, but they cannot accuse us,
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they will not dare to. The main objective is to undermine the opposition. The decisions of
the Moscow Conference on Romania and Bulgaria are already beginning to undermine the
oppositions in these countries, because all it says is only that the current governments should
be supplemented with two representatives of the opposition. It is very different from what
the British and the Americans had promised, and not at all what the opposition leaders were
hoping for. Everybody criticizes the British and the Americans in Romania already. If
leaders of your opposition do not send their representatives to the government, a fight among
the oppositions is inevitable.”

The conversation was recorded by KIRSANOV
Attachment: as mentioned above.
Original

Source: Vostochnaia Evropa, edited by G.P. Murashko, et al, vol. 1, pp. 355-61 (APRF, f. 45,
op. 1,d. 252, 1. 28-29)

Translated by Svetlana Savranskaya.




Report by Walter Ulbricht on a Meeting with Stalin

on 2.6.1946 at Nine in the Evening

departed 28.1.1946
arrival 6.2.1946

Unification agreed — line correct

Socialist Party of Germany

in Bebel’s time necessary workers
independent

Socialist Unity Party of Germany

May 1
Party conference

“United”[ "Einige”|

Minimum program
Unity Germany

in Western zone
change name KPD in Socialist Unit. Party

Maximum program
transition question

situation entirely different

in Rus|[sia] shortest road
domin[ation] of the working class
detour Lenin renegate Kautsky

in the West parl[iamentary] traditions
via democratic road

to worker power

not dictatorship

purge of the state apparatus
communalizing of the businesses
dispossession of the large landholders

Socialism

Economic questions

factory council elections

municipal elections

Mittelstahl-Werke Riesa [Steel plant Riesa]

Our demand — whether dismantling (f0 end)
until end of Febr[uary]

2™ half of March factory council elections
reservations until calculation
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Economic plan too early for entire year

Material help
1946 only quarter plan

Economic guidelines agreed

Situation raw materials

30,000 t[ons] cotton for sov.[iet] troops
Coal Zwickau — briquettes

Germany cannot live without the Ruhr area
Saar area possibly as compromise

No permission given, for separation,
although French demanded already

Unity is correct

Trade union question
Majority conquered — companies

Election result in Americ.[an] zone
Paper for Western zone —
that is not designed (as) KPD

Weekly paper
more radio

Company — entrepreneur — dangers

Order no. 124 is not sufficient

not German law

whether referendum agreed in SU

purge

handing over [of property] very much agreed
Election law

Land reform

in Western zones referendum

Nuremberg trial has no effect on the masses
because only occupation powers

whether locally in Germany-

good example

start a trial

Mutschmann Saxony

Act against militarism —

prisoners of war

generals, only when sick, back

Communal elections




Join[t] committee decision

Right to vote at 18 years
4 parties should apply with Zhukov

not state legislatures, but central legislature
(German parliament)

Point 7 inserted —
parliament

Financial questions — bank credit balances
demand middle cl[ass] [Biirgerl.] — national [Reichs] debt 10%

accept

small savers 2-3 Bil[lion] needed
because of national debt turn to Marshal
Women — develop leaders

Youth

Farmers — needed — create leading figures —
farmers library

Nazis question — were no Nazis — majority

Campaign against SU (Schumacher)

Excursions from Western zone into Easter zone

Statements of principle (on /0.2 to Secretaries)
in Thuringia

Easter April 21 a[nd] 22 states [L.andes]-unification

Saturday 27, 28. 29 unification — on May 1

Study commission
on basis meeting with party secr.[etary/ies] draft

Source: Wilhelm Pieck: Aufzeichnungen zur Deutschlandpolitik 1945-1953, edited by Rolf
Badstiibner and Wilfried Loth, pp. 68-70 (ZPA [Central Party Archive] NL 36/631, pp. 33-

34, 49).

Translated by Ruud van Dijk, Dickinson College.
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Answers to the Questions of Mr. E. Gilmore
March 22, 1946

Gilmore: What importance do you attach to the United Nations as a means of preserving
international peace?

Stalin: I attach great importance to the United Nations, since it is a serious instrument of
preserving peace and international security. The strength of this international organization
consists of the fact that it is based on the principle of equal rights of states, and not on the
principle of the supremacy of one over another. If the United Nations henceforward
succeeds in maintaining the principle of equality, then it will doubtless play a major, positive
role in the matter of guaranteeing peace and security.

Gilmore: What, in your opinion, has caused the present threat of war that many people in
several countries are feeling?

Stalin: I am convinced that no nations, nor their armies, are striving for a new war - they
want peace and are striving to ensure peace. That is, the “present threat of war” has been
brought forth by the actions of certain political groups engaged in propaganda for a new war
and, thus, sowing the seeds of discord and mistrust.

Gilmore: What must the governments of freedom-loving countries do in the present day for
the preservation of peace and order throughout the world?

Stalin: It is necessary that society and the governing circles of states [engage in] counter-
propaganda against the propagandists of a new war and for the preservation of peace. [This
must be done] so that no speech of the propagandists of a new war remains without rebuff by
society and the press, and in order to expose the instigators of a new war in a timely manner
and not give them any opportunity to abuse freedom of speech against the interests of peace.

Source: 1.V. Stalin, Sochineniia, vol. 16, p. 32.

Translated by Mike Thurman.




Cable from B. Smith to Secretary of State
711.61/4-546: Telegram
The Ambassador in the Soviet Union (Smith) to the Secretary of State

TOP SECRET Moscow, April 5, 1946 - 6 p.m.
PRIORITY [Received 6:38 p.m.]

1053. I had an interview with Generalissimo Stalin at 9 o’clock last night. Because I
thought that the conversation might become stormy I went alone. Mr. Molotov was with
Stalin.

The conference lasted a little over 2 hours, and opened on a very restrained note. The
interpreter read President Truman’s letter'®! after which I stated that when I left the United
States the most important question in the minds of the American people was “What does the
Soviet Union want, and how far is Russia going to go?” While the United States could
appreciate Soviet desires for security and participation in exploiting the world’s raw
materials, and consequently did not strongly criticize what seemed to be some of the Soviet
objectives, the methods used by the Soviet Union caused grave apprehension, and gave the
general impression in America that the Soviet Government did not mean what it said.
Neither the American people nor the American Government could take seriously the
possibility of aggressive action against the Soviet Union by any nation or group of nations in
the world today. We felt certain that no possible combination of powers could threaten the
Soviet Union without the active support of the United States, and our entire history precluded
the possibility that we would ever lend support to aggressive action. If further proof were
wanted, it could be found in the speed with which we were demobilizing our vast military
strength.

The United States is willing and anxious to meet the Soviet Union half way because
we are convinced that if our two nations understand and cooperate with each other the peace
of the world is assured. Indeed, we felt that we had already gone more than half way. We
appreciate and admire the strength of the Soviet Union, but at the same time we are fully
conscious of our own strength.

The United States entered the United Nations organization with the full support of its
people and with a complete sense of the responsibility we assumed for the peace of the
world. We believe profoundly that only by the sincere observance of the principles and
obligations of the United Nations Charter on the part of all members is there any hope for a
stable and peaceful world. Events which have taken place in the Near East, in Asia, and later
in the early sessions of the present Security Council meeting had caused doubts in the minds
of the American people that the Soviet Union really intended fully to support the United
Nations as an agency for insuring world peace to the extent that the United States intended to
support it, although by the end of the war we had been assured that unqualified support

191 Text of this letter has not been found in the Department files, but it is known to have contained an invitation to
Stalin to visit the United States. See the final paragraph of the present telegram: and see also Walter Bedell Smith. Moscow
Mission, 1946-1949 (London, 1950). pp. 13. 35, and 88. President Truman was himself questioned about this invitation at
his news conference of May 31. 1946: see Public Papers of the Presidents of the United States: Harry S. Truman, 1946
(Washington, Government Printing Office, 1962), pp. 281-283 passim.



would be forthcoming from the USSR. These apprehensions had been somewhat allayed by
the Generalissimo Stalin’s statement to the Associated Press, but more was needed.

The President had asked me to say that both he and Secretary Byrnes had always
believed that when the Generalissimo made a statement or a commitment he meant to keep it,
and the American people hoped that events would confirm that belief, but it would be
misinterpreting the character of the United States to assume that because we are basically
peaceful and deeply interested in world security, we are either divided, weak or unwilling to
face our responsibilities. If the people of the United States were ever to become convinced
that we are faced with a wave of progressive aggression on the part of any powerful nation or
group of nations, we would react exactly as we have in the past.

The fact is that we are faced in America, as is the USSR, with the responsibility of
making important long-range decisions on our future military policy, and these decisions will
depend to a large extent on what our people believe to be the policies of the Soviet Union. If
each of our two nations is convinced of the other’s sincerity in supporting the principles of
the United Nations Charter, then these policies can be settled without difficulty in the way we
most earnestly desire. On the other hand, if both nations remain apprehensive and suspicious
of each other, we may both find ourselves embarked upon an expensive policy of
rearmament and the maintenance of large military establishments which we wish to avoid.

Generalissimo Stalin replied at length and in great detail, and his remarks included
counter-charges directed against our own actions and policies. The sequence and length of
his argument made it obvious that the United States’ comments had been anticipated.

He discussed the Iranian question, beginning with a history of Soviet-Iranian relations
from the time of the Treaty of Versailles as known to the Department. He stated quite
frankly that Qavam’s predecessor'®? was definitely unfriendly to Russia and that pressure had
been exerted for his removal and for the appointment of a successor who was not unfriendly.
He cited similar instances from British and American international relations.

He then spoke at length of the obstacles placed in the way of Soviet efforts to obtain
oil concessions, particularly by Great Britain and later by the United States and commented
somewhat bitterly on the fact that the delay asked by Russia in considering the Iranian
question in the Security Council had been opposed by the US, saying that if such a request
had been made by the US in similar circumstances the Soviet Union would willingly and
gladly have conceded it. Now, however, an agreement had been reached with the Iranian
Government, the Soviet Union was committed to the complete withdrawal of its troops by
May 5th, and this commitment would be met. He remarked that he had made known to
President Truman and to Secretary Bymes the reasons why he felt unable to meet the
previous withdrawal date, and had encountered no objection at that time.

He then discussed the general question of Soviet adherence to the United Nations
Charter, which he reaffirmed, but deplored the fact that the American press and American
statesmen had given an entirely incorrect idea of Russia’s objectives. The USSR had no
intentions of taking over the Balkan nations, nor would this be an easy matter as the Balkan
nations were determined to maintain their national integrity.

He spoke very strongly about Mr. Churchill’s speech in Fulton which he interpreted
as an unfriendly act and an unwarranted attack on himself and the USSR which, if it had been
directed against the United States, would never have been permitted in Russia. He implied

192 Ibrahim Hakimi was the predecessor of Ahmad Qavam as Prime Minister of Iran.
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that this speech and many other occurrences could indicate nothing but a definite alignment
of Great Britain and the United States against the USSR. With regard to the Far East, he said
that twice the withdrawal of Soviet troops had been delayed at the request of the Chinese
Government which later complained, remarking contemptuously: “That is just like such
people.”

He then said that Russia was anxious to reduce her military establishment, and,
apparently under the impression that I had intended to propose some such thing, said that the
Soviet Government would be very willing to discuss with the US a mutual reduction of
armaments.

In reply I said that with regard to Iran there was no slightest idea on the part of the US
of denying to USSR an equal opportunity with others to exploit natural resources, and we
would, in fact, give moral support to such equal opportunity, but we deplored the approach to
a concession under threat of armed force when it seemed entirely possible for the Soviet
Union to have kept her commitment on the agreed date of withdrawal of her troops from Iran
and still have obtained the oil concessions they desired. The Generalissimo said that on
previous occasions when their attempt to obtain concession for Iranian oil had been blocked
by Great Britain he had not noticed that the US had supported Russia’s just requests. I
replied that I recalled no instance where the matter had been brought officially to the
attention of the US, or that we had ever been in a position to express an opinion or to give
moral support to the USSR at the time.

With regard to the Soviet Union’s security aspirations, I said again that the people of
the US could not take seriously the idea that any combination of powers now constituted a
threat to the USSR. On the contrary, we had noted the fate of Latvia, Lithuania, Esthonia,
the present situation in the Balkan States and in the Near East, and we asked ourselves if this
were only the beginning; that it must be said that we were beginning to believe that the
Soviet idea of a friendly government and our own was very different. It seemed to us that
what the USSR meant by a friendly government was a government which was under the
complete control of Moscow, and not one which was capable of self-determination.

I then asked directly why the Generalissimo thought that any power or powers
seemed a threat to the USSR. To this he replied: “Churchill—He tried to instigate war
against Russia, and persuaded the US to join him in armed occupation of part of our territory
in 1919, and lately he has been at it again.”

“Russia,” he said, “as the events of the past few years have proved, is not stupid, and
we can recognize our friends from our potential enemies.”

I replied that we ourselves must plead stupidity since it was impossible for us to
imagine a threat to Russia, particularly in the direction of the Baku oil fields, or any serious
attempt at aggression without the support of the United States, which would never be given
to aggression.

[ then asked him categorically if he really believed that the US and Great Britain were
united in an alliance to thwart Russia. He replied that he did so believe. I said that this was
certainly not the case; that, while the US had many ties with Britain, including common
language and many common interests, we were interested primarily in world security and
justice; that this interest and responsibility extended to small nations as well as large; and that
while recent events had caused the US Delegation to vote with Britain, it was because we felt
that justice required us to do so. On the other hand, there was no nation in the world with
whom we were more interested in arriving at a basis of understanding than with Russia, as
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we felt that the future of the world for a long time to come lay in the hands of our two
nations.

With regard to his statement that Russia did not intend to go much further, I asked if
this implied active expansion at the expense of Turkey. He stated that he had assured
President Truman that the Soviet Union had no intention of attacking Turkey, nor did this
intention exist. On the other hand, the Soviet Union was conscious of the danger to Russia
which existed in foreign control of the Straits which Turkey, with a government unfriendly to
Russia, was too weak to protect. Consequently, the Soviets demanded a base in the
Dardanelles. I replied that it would seem that this was a matter which could and should be
handled by the United Nations, the agency set up to provide such security, and that by so
doing Soviet security might be safeguarded without aggression toward Turkey. He then said
that the USSR could possibly agree that as an alternative the Security Council of the United
Nations might be able to undertake this responsibility.

By this time the atmosphere had become distinctly more cordial, and Stalin’s
remarks, interspersed with complimentary references to the accomplishments of the
American Army and various American Generals, became very much more personal in tone.
Since I felt that the position of the US had been made quite clear, and the conference had
already lasted more than 2 hours, I concluded by restating our desires for a closer relationship
and mutual understanding with the Government of the USSR which we considered essential
for world peace. Marshal Stalin replied: “Prosper your efforts. I will help you. I am at your
disposal at any time.” He then re-affirmed his desire for peace and adherence to the
principles of the United Nations going to some length in discussing the differences in our
political ideologies, which were nevertheless not incompatible, and stated that we “should
not be alarmed or apprehensive because of differences of opinion and arguments which occur
in families and even between brothers because with patience and good will these differences
would be reconciled.” He hoped in the future that they might be reconciled before coming
formally on the floor of the United Nations Conference, since that resulted in embarrassment
to one side or the other.

Speaking of the President’s invitation to visit the United States, he said he would like
much to be able to accept. However, he said: “Age has taken its toll. My doctors tell me
that I must not travel, and I am kept on a strict diet. I will write to the President, thank him,
and explain the reasons why 1 cannot now accept.”

SMITH

Source: Foreign Relations of the United States 1946, vol. VI, Eastern Europe. the Soviet
Union, pp. 732-36.
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Bierut's Telephone Conversation with Stalin
on 7 April 1946, at 6 p.m.

Stalin: I have been told that you wanted to talk with me yesterday?

Bierut: Yes, Comrade Stalin. I have sent to you [ya peresial na Vasheh imya) a telegram
relating to two matters very important for us.

Stalin: Please, tell me what are these matters.

Bierut: The first one - is our request to you to help us once again in overcoming our difficult
food situation. We have a deficit of 300 tons of grain till the new crops. The UNRRA refuses
to provide us the agreed quantities of grain. This refusal puts us in an exceptionally difficult
situation. We have no choice, but to ask you for assistance.

Stalin: I understand you. How much grain would you like to receive and of what kind?

B.: We are short of 300 thousand tons. As far as the types are concerned, we will send you a
specification [zayavku].

St.: You see, com. Bierut, I should explain to you what difficulties we have in meeting your
demand. If your demand had come earlier, we would have been able to satisfy you fully. But
a few days ago we made a commitment and concluded an agreement with France. French
communists called on us with a request, as they have a difficult situation with supplies. The
Americans and British don’t want to give them, they are attempting to put pressure on them
to force them to submission. The British don’t have food for themselves. But they would like
to undermine the present system in France. We have decided to give the French 500 thousand
tons of grain to support them. That's why we have concluded an agreement with them. We
are going to assist you too, but we may be having difficulties in meeting your request to that
extent. We will try to give you up to 200 thousand tons. We are mainly short of wheat. Please
specify for us what kind of grain you want. Perhaps when the situation clarifies itself in July
we can give you more - we will add, but now we cannot commit ourselves.

B.: We are deeply grateful to you, com. Stalin for this assistance. The demand regarding
specifications we are going to send right away.

St.: What to thank for? We consider it out duty to assist you. What is your other question?
B.: The second question relates to the supplies of our coal. We have calculated that we won't
be able in the current year, i.e. till 1 April 1947 to supply you more than 9 million tons. But

1/3 of that quantity we would like to ship within the trade agreement, since we are unable to
do without Soviet imports.

St.: Yes, Molotov told me about this. How much should you deliver till that date?

B.: According to the agreements we should deliver 12 million tons, but we won't be able to
do this. Based on the norms of the present deliveries we can guarantee only 9 million tons.

(8]
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St.: Well, if you cannot do more, we won't insist. But you have allegedly raised the question .
that we ship you products from Germany. Have you really made such demand?

B.: We presented the question of compensation for coal deliveries on the basis of an
agreement from August 1945. We have in mind machinery, equipment and industrial goods
from Germany - all what we can obtain at present as war reparations, because otherwise coal
deliveries without the corresponding compensations would create a strenuous situation in our
national economy.

St.: We will try to give it.

B.: I have one more thing, com. Stalin. We need certain types of military equipment for the
army. For example, rifle and artillery bullets.

St.: Bullets?

B.: Yes, shells and rifle bullets, some parts for the air force and other military equipment,
which we are short of. Couldn’t you extend us credit for imports of this equipment from the
USSR, since we would not be able to pay for it now.

St. Good. We will give you credit. Send in your order for what you need. Is it all?

B.: If you can spare for me a few more minutes, | would take advantage of it to inform you
about our internal questions.

St.: Please, [ will be glad to.

B.: So, we have decided to hold a referendum in June. All parties have supported this
decision.

St.: Except for Mikolajczyk?

St.: No, Mikolajczyk has accepted too. He just insisted on earlier elections to the parliament.
He would like to hold it in early fall, we are for mid- or late fall, but not later than November.
His agreement with respect to the referendum can be explained by the fact that a policy of
splitting the electoral bloc would cause discontent among the lower echelons and a break-up -
of smaller groups. As a matter of fact, for the time being these groups are not headed by
outstanding leaders, with the exception of Upper Silesia, where Mikolajczyk’s policies are
being opposed by one of the more distinguished activists. In any case one can say that rather
wide circles of the Mikotajczyk's party are dissatisfied with the break-up of the electoral

bloc.

St.: In the lower echelons?
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B.: Yes, in the last days there was a meeting of the Main Council of PPS. At that meeting a
decision was taken on the question of relations with the Zutawski group. Based on an
agreement concluded earlier between the PPS leadership and that group - 12 members of the
Zulawski group were to be elected to the Main Council. Under our pressure the PPS
leadership decided to reduce that number to 6, including also Zulawski. The latter one has
refused and if he stands by this refusal, it would be an important step in the direction of
cleansing the leadership bodies of PPS from the influence of right-wingers.

St.: Is your connection and relationship with the PPS strengthening or deteriorating?

B.: Undoubtedly, in the recent period they have strengthened in connection with our fight
with the Mikotajczyk party.

St.: Well, it’s very good. Thank you for your information. I wish you a success.

Source: AAN, KC PZPR, 2724, k. 181-86.

Translated by Jan Chowaniec.
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TRANSLATION OF NOTES KEPT BY THE
HUNGARIAN FOREIGN MINISTER REGARDING
CONVERSATIONS WITH SOVIET REPRESENTATIVES
DURING THE VISIT TO MOSCOW

OF THE HUNGARIAN PRIME MINISTER

April 9, 1945 - April 18, 1946, Inclusive
April 9, 1946.

Molotov received us at 6:30 p.m. He was with Dekanozov, Deputy Foreign Minister,
Pushkin and his secretary Pavlov, Hungarians: myself, Minister Szekfu and Secretary
Niszkacs as interpreter.

Upon Molotov's request I outlined to him my ideas about territorial questions
connected with the preparation of peace. Hungary has territorial problems with only two
countries: Czechoslovakia and Roumania. As regards Czechoslovakia, the question was not
raised by us. It was forced on us as a consequence of the first Prague discussion, when they
insisted on transferring from Slovakia a large amount of Hungarians to Hungary. To show
our friendliness we accepted the principle of exchange of population. According to
Masaryk's estimate the number of Slovaks accepting voluntary transfer to Slovakia was about
2-300.000. On the basis of present information, their number does not exceed 50-60.000, so
that after the exchange of population about 600.000 Hungarians would remain in Slovakia.
The Czechs plan to grant Czechoslovak citizenship to about 200.000/ either because they
speak the language or because they have Slovak relatives or ancestors/. In view of the bad
conditions in which the Hungarians live in Slovakia it is possible that many will take
Slovakian citizenship. The balance of 400,000 would be divided as follows: about half
would be distributed in Czechoslovakia and the other half transferred to Hungary. This
would be too heavy a load on Hungary and we therefore ask for assistance in trying to obtain
that the Hungarians remain in Czechoslovakia without being disturbed and with equal civil
rights.

If, however, the Czechs should insist on the transfer of Hungarians, the territorial
question becomes acute.

Molotov listened with attention. He expressed his approval on our having made an
agreement on exchange of population and his hope that the Czechoslovaks will grant equal
rights to Hungarians in Slovakia.

I then submitted the Transylvanian question and the two proposals which we have
worked out to settle the Roumanian Border. The first proposal includes annexation to
Hungary of 11.800 square Km with 967.000 inhabitants, of which 442.000 are Hungarian
and 421.000 Roumanian, while 104.000 of other nationality/German and Slovak/. This would
be the ethnical rearrangement of the boundary, which has the disadvantage of leaving the
larger part of Hungarians in Roumania, while many Roumanians would remain on Hungarian
territory. The sound public opinion is not so much worried by the territorial question as by
the destiny of Hungarians which will be left on Roumanian territory. We know that Groza’s
policy has been friendly to the Hungarians, but we also know that his policy is sabotaged by
his officials and by the reactionaries.
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Molotov asked which were the main complaints on the part of Hungarians in
Roumania.

I replied that the complaints are particularly of an economic character. Every effort is
made to destroy Hungarians economically. This does not affect only middle class and the
wealthier class, which is easier to understand, but also the small farmer and poor people,
workers, small traders, etc. Not even fanatics believe in Hungary that it is possible to obtain
the territory where the Szekely population lives. Our plan is therefore to have as many
Roumanians on Hungarian territory as Hungarians on Roumanian territory. This is the basis
of the second plan which applies to a territory of 22.000 Km?. This is not more than one fifth
of Transylvania. This territory includes 900.000 Roumanians so that there still would be
180.000 Hungarians in excess on Roumanian territory, i.e. 1.080.000. But generally
speaking it would result in an approximate equilibrium, which is the best guarantee for the
two countries treating their minorities humanly. If however this treatment could not be
secured, the second plan offers the advantage of making possible an exchange of population
and all Hungarians or Roumanians could be settled down on this territory of 22.000 Km?2.
This territory also has a certain economic basis and a geographic justification. It includes
forests which are important to Hungary, a considerable production of sulphur/for fertilizers/a
small production of metals. The loss would not affect Roumania sensibly.

Molotov listened with attention and said that in the Armistice agreement the Allies
had promised to assist Roumania in the reannexation of Transylvania or of the larger part of
Transylvania.

I replied that our plan was not in contradiction to this as our maximum demand is
22.000 Km?i.e. 1/5 of the whole Transylvanian territory.

Molotov thanked me and without giving me a hint as to the Soviet intentions, the
conversation was terminated.

(pp. 115 - 117)



April 11

Stalin received us at the Kremlin at 9:30 p.m. Hungarians: myself, Nagy Ferenc,
Szakasits, Geroe and Szekfue. Russians: Stalin, Molotov, Dekanozov, Puskin and Grigoriev,
as interpreter.

Nagy Ferenc: He thanked Stalin for liberation and for the democratic development
which the country could obtain through Russian assistance. He talked about land reform,
nationalization of mines, supervision of banks. He said that he thought it necessary to report
on the results of one year of Hungarian democracy. Stalin interrupted him and said that
Hungary is a free and independent country and therefore her Prime Minister is not obliged to
make reports so that he considers Nagy's expose as the communication of a friendly country.
Nagy then spoke about the fight against reaction. Stalin then spoke about the difficult
economic situation of Hungary, particularly about inflation. The Prime Minister outlined the
recent economic program of the Hungarian Government. He requested Stalin to send one or
two Soviet economic experts to Hungary to help the Hungarian Government with their
advice by examining the economic situation and finding a solution of difficulties.

Stalin asked about the behaviour of the Red Army in Hungary. The Prime Minister
said that there has been some trouble in the past, as it always happens in the case of
occupation, but that complaints were now reduced to a minimum. Stalin then said that the
occupying troops would be soon withdrawn from Hungary and only small detachments
would remain.

Then, the matter of reparations was discussed. The Prime Minister said that
reparations represent a great difficulty to Hungary, under present economic conditions. The
Government intends to do his best to comply with obligations, but they do not know whether
this will be possible. He asked for extension of the reparation period. Stalin said he agrees
and details will have to be discussed.

Nagy then mentioned Red Army claims for payment of railroad expenses. Stalin was
much amused by Gero's expose. The Red Army asked for payment of 14 million dollars for
work which was largely done by Hungarian workers. When Gero said that claims include
repairs done on lines which are located in Austria and Czechoslovakia, Stalin burst out
laughing. He told Gero not to pay.

Gero then said that the Red Army has painted Russian trophies on MAV cars, which
are then leased to the Hungarian Railways at very high international rates. Stalin said that in
his opinion the cars which were owned by Hungary and which are required for transportation
by the Hungarian railways should be returned to the Hungarian railways.

Nagy asked for the assistance of the Soviet Union and of the Generalissimo in the
question of Hungarian displaced property in the Western European territory. Stalin said that
Hungary will have these assets returned, at least the gold.

Nagy then mentioned peace preparation. He said that we have no claims towards
Yugoslavia. He then mentioned Czechoslovakia on the same lines as outlined by me to
Molotov on April 9. Stalin said it would be necessary for the two countries to make an
agreement including an exchange of population. Nagy then said that there are many more
Hungarians in Slovakia then vice versa. Stalin said this is not the substance of the problem.
the Soviets have transferred | million Poles and obtained only 100,000 Ukrainians and in
spite of this the Soviets have realized the exchange of population. However, not ali
Governments are able to take such courageous measures. '




Then I commented on the subject in the same manner as in the case of Molotov.

Stalin replied that the Czechs would be willing to discuss territorial questions, but
they are afraid of the Slovaks. Stalin said that in his opinion the obtaining of equal rights for
Hungarians in Slovakia is absolutely justified.

Nagy then spoke about the Transylvanian question and that the Foreign Minister had
certain plans on this subject. Puskin interrupted and said that the Foreign Minister has maps.
Thereupon I showed the maps to Stalin who rose from his seat and looked at the map with
great interest. I outlined my plans as already done to Molotov. During the whole time, Stalin
listened attentively and looked several times at the map. He asked twice whether any
exchange of population was involved in the plan, whereupon I said that it was not included in
the plan but that it was possible under the plan. Stalin joked and said that if the Soviets
accept the plan, the King of Roumania will abdicate. Nagy said that Roumania would then at
least become a Republic like Hungary. Stalin then asked Molotov about the terms of the
Roumanian Armistice Agreement. Molotov told him that the Allies will support the
Roumanian claims for all or at least the greater part of Transylvania. Stalin thought a while
and then said that he would think the matter and that we will meet again.

The interview lasted two hours.

The whole conversation had the character of a friendly talk under the influence of
Stalin's personality, which though giving the impression of his historic individuality, also
showed his human and encouraging side. The delegation was at first somewhat embarrassed,
because at the beginning Stalin looked rather stern. But then we saw that his severity was
due more to the interest he was taking in the matter and to concentration of his attention. He
showed sparks of the Stalin humor and this encouraged the members of the delegation, who
felt that it stood in front of the greatest son of a great country and of the perhaps greatest
popular personality of history whose monumentality did not however lack a certain
community of spirit with us.

(pp- 118 - 120)



April 12

At 6:30 a two hours interview at the Foreign Office with Dekanozov and Grigorjev, the latter
acting as interpreter.

The first question raised by me was the problem of war prisoners. I asked for
permission of correspondence to be granted to PWs. D. agreed and said that details should
be discussed. I suggested that correspondence should be made possible on cards printed in
Russian (difficulties are mainly due to the fact that the Russians have not a sufficient number
of censors speaking Hungarian). In addition of securing by this method news to the families,
it would also give us an idea of how many prisoners there still are. 1 asked D. to authorize
Szekfue to discuss details with the Soviet Foreign Office.

D. agreed to my request. I also asked for authorization to have the Soviet Foreign
Office forward the 200 letters sent by PW family members to the Hungarian Legation in
Moscow. D. Agreed. I also asked him to make it possible for PWs, who have special
political merits to return home exceptionally. D. Agreed to this also.

[ then mentioned the 1 miilion Rubel loan to be given to our Legation. Puskin had
told me in Budapest that the matter would be arranged as soon as the Legation was
established. Up to now only 100,000 rubels were received. This causes difficulties. D. told
me he knew about the matter. His financial advisers told him that it was necessary first to
make an agreement. He advised me to discuss the matter with Mr. Csucsulin at the
Vnyestorg bank. I also told him that the National Bank had transferred money and that the
Legation had not received any notice. D. said he did not know this matter.

I then outlined our peace plans. The matter is not only important but also very urgent,
due to the meeting of the Foreign Ministers on April 25. In this situation it was my aim to try
and find out what the Soviet intentions are in respect to South Eastern Europe. I do not want
the Soviets to inform me of their views as [ suppose that this is not possible. My intention is
to ascertain whether our plans are not in opposition to Soviet political interests. My policy
was from the beginning friendly to the Soviets and I do not want to make plans which would
be contrary to Soviet political interests. D. agreed to what 1 said and 1 then spoke about
Czechoslovakia and told him how glad and thankful we were that Stalin had approved of our
contention as regards equal rights to Hungarians in Slovakia. Stalin's assistance in this
matter is of great value to us and fills us with hope. I then outlined the Roumanian program
in the same manner as to Molotov. I understand — I said — that Soviet Union is friendly
both to Roumania and to Hungary and does not wish to affect the interests of either of these
countries. Therefore I do not insist on having a decided support. But | would like to know if
the smaller plan is not in contrast with Soviet plans.

D. said he understands our difficulties and also personally my difficulties in trying to
satisfy the demands of my party. What claims will be made at the Peace conference is a
matter to be decided by the Hungarian Government, particularly by Nagy Ferenc, as Prime
Minister and leader of the majority party. In his opinion, the Prime Minister should discuss
the matter with Groza, attempting to reach an agreement with him.

I then asked D. whether the Soviet Union would give active support for such an
agreement to be reached.

D. then said they cannot do it for political reasons. This is the task of the two Prime
Ministers.
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I then said that if the Soviets do not participate intensively in such agreement to be
reached, I do not see any possibility of concluding an agreement. 1 had suggested an
exchange of views with Groza to Puskin in writing, but have received no answer. Anyhow it
is too late now, as we have only two weeks before the beginning of the Peace Conference.

D. agreed that the time was too short.

I added that in any case I did not see any possibility to reach an agreement. If Groza
renounces one square kilometer of territory before elections, he would cause himself great
damage politically. The Hungarian Government would be accused of having lost a
possibility of obtaining a much better result, if it had not yielded in the discussions with
Groza. Responsibility is so large that neither of the two Governments can undertake it.
Already in the case of the Czechoslovak negotiations we agreed with Clementis that
regardless of the goodwill of both of us in the cardinal questions, the political problems
involved are such that they can be solved only by an international decision.

I told D. that my idea was to submit to the Peace Conference our maximum demand,
as Groza will evidently also submit his maximum demand of the whole Transylvanian
territories. Both Tatarescu and Groza have declared publicly that they consider the present
boundaries as definitive. In my opinion Groza would suffer no harm if we submit the
maximum proposal. If we submitted a proposition which would be accepted immediately by
the Allies, it might mean a defeat for Groza, but if we come with a proposition and in this
connection Groza obtains a certain success this position is even better. If we see that the
maximum demand does not meet the understanding of the Allies, we have still the smaller
plan as a reserve.

D. only said that the Roumanian Armistice Agreement applies to the annexation to
Roumania of Transylvania or of a large part of Transylvania. I then said that our maximum
demand did not represent more than one fifth of Transylvania. D. did not make any comment
to this.

In the long and lively interview I was unable to ascertain the Soviet opinion on the
matter. D. then asked whether the Hungarian Delegation at the Peace Conference was
already appointed. I told him that there was a plan under which the delegation would be
composed of the Foreign Minister, the representatives of the parties and the experts but that
this plan had not yet been finally discussed.

(pp. 121 - 123)
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THE FOREIGN SERVICE OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA*

SECRET AMERICAN LEGATION
Budapest, Hungary, April 23, 1946.

Dear Jimmie:

Supplementing my letter of yesterday, I now enclose translation of Notes by the
Hungarian Foreign Minister, Dr. Gyongyosi, of a conversation on April 15, 1946 at Moscow
between members of the Hungarian Delegation and Foreign Minister Molotov.

[ also enclose translation of excerpts from the toast delivered by Stalin at a dinner for
the Hungarian Delegation on April 16, 1946.

I enclose two extra copies of these two papers and would ask you to be so kind as to
turn them over to Mr. Reber for the Department's files. I sent him duplicate copies of my
letter of April 22, 1946 to you before I knew he would be with you in Paris, as | gather from
today's radio bulletin.

With best regards, | am,

Very sincerely yours,
H. F. Arthur Schoenfeld

American Minister
Enclosures: (2) (In triplicate)

1. Translation of Notes by Hungarian Foreign Minister dated April 15, 1946.
2. Translation of excerpts from toast delivered by Stalin on April 16, 1946.
The Honorable

James C. Dunn,

American Deputy to the
Council of Foreign Ministers,
Paris, France.

*Box 100, RG-43, N.A.

(p. 124)




TRANSLATION OF NOTES KEPT BY THE
HUNGARIAN FOREIGN MINISTER REGARDING
CONVERSATIONS WITH SOVIET REPRESENTATIVES
DURING THE VISIT TO MOSCOW OF THE
HUNGARIAN PRIME MINISTER

April 15,1946.
April 15.

Prime Minister, Foreign Minister, Molotov, Pushkin, Kemeny Secretary of Legation,
Grigorjev Secr. of Legation

Molotov replying to the questions raised in Moscow by the Hungarian delegation,
first spoke about the Czechoslovak and Roumanian problems. In his opinion these questions
should be settled by negotiations directly with the countries concerned. In connection with
Roumania he emphasized the fact that it would not be advisable to submit the question to the
Peace Conference, without having it first discussed with Roumania.

Gyongyosi said — after the Prime Minister stated that Hungary agrees with
Molotov's suggestion and will attempt to realize it — that the plan involves difficulties. He
indicated that both CSR and Roumania will have elections soon and their governments would
have difficulties with public opinion if they agreed prior to elections with any proposal which
might be unpopular. This circumstance also affected the Prague negotiations, as although the
negotiators could have agreed on many points, they were handicapped by politics. This is
indicated also by the protocol of the Prague negotiations by the sentence that any problems
which cannot be solved through negotiations will be submitted internationally. Hungary has
already had elections but the public opinion represented by the majority party is just as
difficult to handle as in Rournania. If direct negotiations do not lead to a positive result, the
Government will be accused of having made an error and that it would have been better to
submit the question to the Peace Conference. Therefore, Hungary is able to negotiate the
matter directly only if the Soviet Union is ready to initiate these discussions.

The Prime Minister interrupted and said that he believes it is desirable to have a
mutual agreement between the two interested countries and in his opinion, if the countries do
not agree, they must be made to agree.

Gyongyosi then asked in connection with Roumania which of the two countries
should propose to start negotiations. Molotov said that it was only natural that the
proposition should come from the country which has more interest in the matter, in this case
Hungary. Gyongyosi then asked whether the Soviet Union would approve of such an
initiative. Molotov gave an affirmative answer. The Prime Minister then said that all South
Eastern democracies have troubles and that Hungary understands the difficult position of the
Groza government and that it is in Hungary's interest to have Groza remain on his post.
However, it is natural that Hungary is most interested in her own troubles. Molotov smiled
in a manner which looked understanding.

Gyongyosi said that according to press news, the Roumanian delegation had already
been invited to the conference and it has arrived in Paris, accompanied by a substantial
documentation. Molotov said this was just a sensational report on the part of correspondents
and that Hungary will be also invited and that Roumania will not be in a more favorable




situation than Roumania at the Peace Conference (sic). Prime Minister said he heard that the
Roumanians had taken to Paris two carloads of documents. Molotov said smiling that it is
not the quantity of documents which will influence decisions in Paris. Prime Minister said
that at the Peace Conference they will not even read 2 kilos of documents and that if
decisions could be affected by the weight of underlying documents, Hungary would have
difficulties due to her shortage in transportation.

On reparations, Molotov said that the Soviet Union agrees to extend the term of 6
years to 8 years. The term for the wool and cotton processing shall also be extended until the
middle of next year. He is willing to permit returning home of sick PWs and correspondence
with their families will also be permitted. Details will have to be discussed separately.

As regards railroad transportation problems, these shall be discussed by the
competent ministries of the two countries.

Thanking for the concessions made by the Soviet Union as regards the question of
PWs, the Prime Minister said that he would like to raise a concrete question in this
connection. Molotov interrupted and said that the delegation would have another opportunity
to see Stalin and on this occasion they may mention any further question which has not been
discussed heretofore. The Prime Minister thanked him and said that the Red Army have
made prisoners many people, who were not members of fighting units and who were not
even soldiers. This is not a large percentage of the Hungarian PWs, they do not exceed
10.000, but as many are farmers and they are required for cultivation in Spring, the
Hungarian Government would like them to be released exceptionally.

Molotov said he had not heard of this before and he wants to obtain information but
in principle is in favor of the proposed solution, which must however first be discussed.

Pushkin interrupted and said that this matter had been mentioned in Budapest, he had
asked for lists but the Legation has never received these lists.

Gyongyosi said that these lists were progressively forwarded to the Legation.
Molotov interrupted and said that he would do his best to obtain a favorable solution of the
matter.

Then Molotov said that the communique should be worded in common and that it
should contain only generalities although satisfying Hungarian and Soviet public opinion.
Then, technical details regarding the communique were discussed, especially as regards
inclusion of the concession on the reparation term.

The Prime Minister thanked Molotov for Hungary having been able to obtain an
important success on all matters dependent on the decision of the Soviet Union.




TRANSLATION OF EXCERPTS FROM THE TOAST
DELIVERED BY STALIN AT A DINNER FOR THE
HUNGARIAN DELEGATION ON APRIL 16,1946

At present it seems that many medium and small countries are afraid of the Soviets. This
fear is unjustified. Lenin stated that all nations, large or small, have their particular value and
importance from the point of view of humanity. This principle still rules in Soviet policy.
More than half of the Soviet population is non Russian, and consists of many nationalities.
These nationalities enjoy complete autonomy and freedom.

The Soviets have always had sympathy for Hungary and always wanted to be on
friendly terms with her. This was true even when the Hungarian regime was not democratic.
Stalin then spoke about the Hungarian flags of 1849 which had been returned to Hungary by
the Soviets in 1941. At that time, declarations made by Hungarians induced the Soviet to
believe that Hungary was a real friend. In their simplicity the Soviet leaders did not know
that this was only a fake. A few months after the flags had been returned, Hungary declared
war on Russia. The fight was long and bloody. Horthy later was prepared to make an
Armistice, but he had no character and energy. Szalasi continued the fight. Under such
circumstances the Red Army could do nothing else than to fight too.

The Russian people have a debt towards Hungary. The Armies of the Czar helped the
Austrians in 1849 to defeat the revolutionary Hungarian army. However, the Soviet Union,
who executed the last Czar, Nicholas II, is not responsible for the sins of the Czarist regime.

He is now glad to know that the leaders of the Hungarian Nation are democrats and
that they have come to Moscow. He emphasizes the fact that the Soviet Union always
wanted friendship with Hungary, regardless of the latter's Government.

He then emptied his glass to the health of the friendly relations between Russia and
Hungary.
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BUDAPEST* April 25, 5 pm 1946
SECRET 100 .
Secret April 27,4 am

From reliable source it is learned that at Foreign Affairs Committee of Assembly yesterday
Gyongyosi stated Soviets had approved return of part of Transylvania to Hungary. At
meeting with British MPs today Gyongyosi asked them to support this Hungarian claim. In
reply they inquired what Great Britain could expect in return to which Gyongyosi could not
provide satisfactory answer....

Schoenfeld

*Box 96, RG-43, N.A.
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Record of 1. V. Stalin’s Conversation
with the Hungarian Governmental Delegation
regarding Economic Issues and the Situation of Hungarians in Slovakia.

Moscow April 10, 1946
21:00
SECRET

PRESENT: V.M. Molotov, G. M. Pushkin, B. Ya. Grigoriev (USSR Ministry of Foreign
Affairs), Prime Minister Nagy Ferents, Deputy Prime Minister Sakashich
Arpad, Minister of Foreign Affairs Diendeshi Janos, Minister of
Transportation Gero Erno, and Hungarian Envoy Sekfu Dula.

Nagy says that on April 4 they celebrated first anniversary of Hungary’s liberation
from the Nazi rule. Hungary was liberated thanks to the heroic Red Army and
Generalissimus Stalin. The Hungarian government understood that one year after the
liberation they had to visit Generalissimus Stalin in order to express their gratitude for the
liberation of Hungary, for freedom of the Hungarian political life, and for independence of
the Hungarian motherland. According to Nagy, the Hungarian government must not only
express its gratitude, but also report on how the Hungarians use the freedom granted to them
thanks to Generalissimus Stalin’s good will. Nagy asks for permission to briefly describe the
situation in Hungary. He says that Hungary makes its policies by coalition, because the
political parties that won the right to take part in the governing want to be equally responsible
for the future of the Hungarian democracy. All the political parties accepted all the
requirements of democracy. The Hungarian coalition rests on a wide political base, and that
wide base gave it an opportunity to implement extensive reforms. They have implemented
the land reform. The ruling elite was changed twice. The Hungarian Government has
punished and continues to punish war criminals. The consolidation of the economic life is
being carried out on the basis of the program of the left. The mines are being nationalized,
and the big industries are being transferred under the state control. The National Bank and
the largest banks of the country are also under the state control. They developed an
economic plan, created the Department for Distribution of Raw Materials. The Hungarian
government does everything in its capacity in order to put the liberated Hungarian people up
on its feet in the economic sense. The Hungarian national policy is the most modern one,
which has already been implemented in the Soviet Union and in Yugoslavia. The reaction is
constantly attacking the Hungarian democracy. The government undertakes everything
possible in order not to allow the reaction to organize. The economic bases of the reaction
are being liquidated. The Hungarian democracy is still going to face struggle in the future,
but this struggle will be successful. The invincibility of the Hungarian democracy will be
ensured by reeducating the Hungarian people.

From the moment of Hungarian liberation Hungary’s official foreign policy has been
a pro-Russian policy. By educating people in this direction, the government strengthens
democracy. This foreign policy — one of the sincere and profound friendship with the Soviet
Union -- is being incorporated into the soul of the Hungarian people. Apart from the feeling
of gratitude, Hungary is obliged to pursue a realistic policy determined by its geographical
and ethnic situation. The direction of this realistic policy leads toward the Soviet Union.
Nagy says that precisely because of this realization he can inform Generalissimus Stalin with
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joint ventures in bauxite and petroleum production, and that they had concluded agreements
on civil aviation and navigation even earlier in order to further strengthen the economic ties
between the Soviet Union and Czechoslovakia.

Then Nagy says that the current leaders of the Hungarian policy were persecuted in
the past, and that they seriously believe in their political principles. These leaders learned a
lesson from the foreign policy, which was implemented by the reactionary Hungary. Nagy
emphasizes that Hungary fully trusts the Soviet Union and Generalissimus Stalin, and that
he, as Prime Minister of Hungary, made his short report on the occasion of the first
anniversary of the country’s liberation on the basis of this trust.

Comrade Stalin says that Prime Minister of Hungary does not have to report to him,
because the Soviet government considers Hungary an independent country, and, therefore,
the Soviet government considers what Mr. Prime Minister just has told us as information.
Comrade Stalin thanks Nagy for the information.

Comrade Stalin asks, what is the Hungarian government doing to stabilize the
Hungarian currency, and asks him whether the Soviet troops offend the Hungarian
population. Comrade Stalin suggests that Nagy should speak about it openly and sincerely.

Nagy says that he would like to respond to the last question of Generalissimus first.
In his words, the occupation army now does not experience any contradictions with the
Hungarian population. Nagy states that he can say with a sincere joy that in the recent past
there were only very rare incidents between the population and the occupation army. Often
dishonest Hungarians abuse the occupation army themselves. Nagy says that the stay of a
considerable number of the Red Army troops remains a serious burden for the Hungarian
economy. ‘

Comrade Stalin says that, according to Mr. Prime Minister’s words, the Hungarian
population cannot complain about the Red Army in moral terms.

Nagy confirms that the Hungarian population cannot complain about the Red Army in
a moral sense—they only experience some economic difficulties.

Then Nagy reports that the Hungarian government undertook a number of steps to
rebuild the economy. On April 7, the Hungarian government published its economic
program. The Hungarian government, however, does not expect to achieve a complete
improvement of the economic situation as a result of that program’s implementation, but
hopes to prevent further worsening of the economic life, and to create conditions for its
improvement. The first government’s action presupposes preparation of the state budget.
Autonomous administrative units will be obligated to work under a strict budget, and will not
be allowed to spend above the budget limits. This represents a beginning of big economy,
which will begin with a significant decrease in the staff of the state apparatus and the
Hungarian Army. This measure pursues not only economic goals but also aims at removing
the remaining reactionary elements from the state and administrative apparatus. The
Hungarian government anticipates serious benefits from transferring big plants working on
reparation supplies under the state control. Those enterprises are financed by the state and,
therefore, the control will be more effective.

Nagy says that currently in Hungary they are engaged in a serious struggle for
increasing the extraction of coal and increasing the production of steel. The workload of the
plants and the fulfillment of Hungary's obligations before the Soviet Union will depend on
how they manage this task.

a feeling of deep satisfaction that they have signed agreements on creating Soviet-Hungarian ‘




Comrade Stalin asks whether Hungary has sufficient amounts of coal.

Nagy says that Hungary is experiencing shortages of coal, and Mr. Gero adds that the
daily extraction of coal in Hungary is currently 22 thousand tons.

Nagy states that Hungary makes serious efforts in the area of agricultural production.
Hungary experiences serious shortages, does not have any reserves, and that determines the
deterioration of the Hungarian currency.

Comrade Stalin asks what reserves do they have in mind.

Nagy responds that there are shortages of consumer goods and raw materials. Then
Nagy says that the Hungarian government is hoping to stabilize the Hungarian currency
under the condition if they can get a good harvest, and if the equipment, various properties,
and gold, shipped by the Germans and the Salashists to the West, is returned to Hungary,
and, finally, if the Hungarian government manages to improve the foreign trade balance of
the country in order to provide the Hungarian industry with raw materials.

To Comrade Stalin’s question about the volume of Hungarian property shipped away
by the Germans and the Salashists, Nagy reports that according to the estimates of experts
and specialists, that property is valued approximately at two billion American dollars.
According to Nagy, this sum is getting smaller and smaller every day, because the Germans
and the Austrians are squandering that property.

Comrade Stalin asks where is the Hungarian property shipped away by the Germans
stored.

Nagy responds that the major part of the property is kept in the American occupation
zone, and partially in the French zone.

Comrade Stalin asks who is authorized to resolve the issue of returning the Hungarian
property.

Nagy reports that the American government decided to return an insignificant portion
of the Hungarian property, which was taken to the West, and as far as the remaining part of
the Hungarian property is concerned, they were told that the decision on that issue depended
on the Great Powers.

Comrade Stalin says that the Soviet government will not be against returning that
property to Hungary, and points out that not to return the Hungarian gold reserves would be
against the law. Comrade Stalin says that the Soviet government will try to raise this issue at
the conference of Foreign Ministers.

Nagy thanks Comrade Stalin for this statement.

Comrade Stalin says that part of Soviet troops will be gradually withdrawn from
Hungary, and points out that all the troops cannot be withdrawn at the same time. Comrade
Stalin states that some small number of troops will remain in Hungary and, therefore, part of
the burden would be removed from the Hungarian economy. Then Comrade Stalin says that
in order to improve the Hungarian economic situation, the Soviet government could prolong
the Hungarian reparation payments.

Nagy expresses his deep gratitude to Comrade Stalin for this statement. Then he says
that even small expenses could represent a serious burden for the Hungarian economy.
Nonetheless. Hungary is trying to fulfill its obligations before the Soviet Union, and at the
same time would be very grateful for any relief in these obligations.

Comrade Stalin asks if Hungary has iron ore.

Nagy informs Comrade Stalin that Hungary has a limited amount of iron ore.




To Comrade Stalin’s question about the percentage of iron in the ore, Minister Gero
says that the ore extracted in Hungary contains 32% of iron. .

Comrade Stalin notes that it is a lot.

Nagy points to the fact that Hungary has to produce predominately industrial goods in
order to fulfill its reparation obligations before the Soviet Union. In order to produce
industrial goods, Hungary needs raw materials, mainly coke and iron ore. Iron ore could be
supplied by the Soviet Union, Poland, Czechoslovakia and Yugoslavia. The same relates to
non-ferrous metals. The shortages of coke and metals complicates a production for
reparation supplies. Nagy states that last year Hungary was considerably behind in fulfilling
its reparation obligations before the Soviet Union, and thanks to the measures that they
undertook, the reparation supplies for the months of the current year have already surpassed
the total sum of deliveries of the last year. Nagy adds that in the sphere of the agricultural
deliveries, Hungary was able to do considerably more than in deliveries of industrial
products.

Then Nagy asks a permission to raise several economic questions before the
Generalissimus. He says that last year the Soviet Union and Hungary concluded an
agreement on exchange of goods. Cotton is the major part of deliveries from the Soviet
Union. Hungary is willing to pay for it with finished textile products. The Hungarian
government is asking the Soviet government to postpone the deadlines for deliveries of
finished textile products by half a year.

Comrade Stalin says that he will talk to his colleagues about this question, and will
try to do everything possible.

Nagy says that the Hungarian government will be very grateful for this.

Gero reports that in August of the last year they concluded an agreement on railroad
communications. Under that agreement Hungary took on itself an obligation to pay for
railroad repairs and for the railroad cars, including the trophy cars. In this connection, the
Hungarian Minister of Transportation has recently received a bill for a big sum in American
dollars from the International Department of the Transportation Ministry of the USSR.

To Comrade Stalin’s’ question, what should Hungary pay for, Gero informs him that
the bill that they received was for the rebuilding of the Hungarian, Austrian, Yugoslavian and
Czechoslovak railroads, and even for one railroad that simply does not exist in the world.

Comrade Stalin asks who sent that bill.

Gero responds that the signature on the document was illegible, but the bill was
received from the International Department of the Ministry of Transportation of the USSR.

Comrade Stalin asks whether they had an agreement with the Hungarian government
on that issue.

Gero responds that last year temporary rules were introduced, and it was agreed that
in the future we would conclude an agreement on this issue. Then Gero informed Stalin that
the Hungarian industry has already rebuilt more than 10 thousand damaged and half-
destroyed railroad cars and more than 600 engines.

Comrade Stalin asks if Hungary has any engine-building plants.

Gero reports that they have the plants and the repair shops.

To Comrade Stalin’s question why they never spoke about it up until now, Gero
explains that the bill was received on March 13, 1946.

Comrade Stalin suggests that Gero should talk with the Ministry of Transportation of
the USSR on this issue and to put an end to this disorderly affair. Comrade Stalin says that
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we need to discuss it and to sign an agreement. The question should be settled in such a way
that Hungary would possess a sufficient number of railroad cars and engines. Comrade
Stalin notes that the trophy cars do not belong to Hungary, and that all these questions should
be decided and resolved here in Moscow. Comrade Stalin promises to help, so that this
question could be resolved, taking into account the interests of the Hungarian economy.

Nagy thanks Comrade Stalin for his support on this issue.

Then Nagy asks for permission to describe the views of the Hungarian government
regarding peaceful goals of Hungary to Generalissimus. Nagy states that the Hungarian
government understands that Hungary received its independence and freedom as a gift, and
first of all, as a gift from the Soviet Union. Nagy assures Comrade Stalin that Hungary is not
trying to achieve any chauvinistic or revisionist goals. The Hungarian government starts
from the following considerations, as far as the Peace Treaty is concerned. First of all, the
Peace Treaty should serve the Great Powers’ aspiration to establish a stable peace. Secondly,
the conditions of the Peace Treaty should ensure opportunities for development for the
Hungarian people. And thirdly, the peaceful results should assist in strengthening
democracy. The decisiveness of the Hungarian government to achieve not only good peace
for itself, but to gain good neighbors, is dictated by these considerations. To achieve these
goals, the Hungarian government asks for support of the Soviet government and
Generalissimus Stalin.

Nagy says that he can make a statement on behalf of the Hungarian government that
Hungary does not have any disputes with Yugoslavia. As far as two other neighbors of
Hungary--Czechoslovakia and Romania--are concerned, the Hungarian government is
concerned with the situation of the Hungarian population living in the territory of those
countries. Inregards to Romania, there is even a question that touches upon the future of
democracy. Then Nagy says that Generalissimus Stalin and Minister of Foreign Affairs
Molotov obviously noticed that Czechoslovakia wanted to wipe away the national minorities
with means so far unknown, and the Czechoslovak government was transferring thousands of
Hungarians to Hungary without any preliminary consultations with the Hungarian
government. 650 thousand Hungarians live in Czechoslovakia, and many hundreds of
thousands of them live along the Hungarian border as a compact enclave immediately close
to Trianon territory of Hungary.

The rest of the Hungarians live in separate villages, diminishing in number to the
North into Slovakia. The Hungarian government sees two possible solutions to the issue of
the fate of the Hungarian people living in Czechoslovakia. First, a Peace Treaty should
obligate Czechoslovakia to guarantee the Hungarian minority conditions of equality, under
which the Hungarians would be able to live and develop freely, as it was done in Yugoslavia,
and in accordance with how the nationality question was resolved in the Soviet Union.
However, taking into account the fact that many responsible Czechoslovak state leaders
repeatedly made statements to the effect that the Czechoslovaks intended to get rid of the
Hungarian minority, the Hungarian government is forced to raise the issue about two
alternatives. The second possible solution would involve possible return of a part of purely
Hungarian districts compactly populated by Hungarians, so that if the Czechoslovaks further
aspire to get rid of ethnic minorities, they would have an opportunity to resettle those people.
Nagy states that a correct implementation of either of these options would pacify the
Hungarians, and create a basis for good neighborly relations between Hungary and
Czechoslovakia.

(93]
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Comrade Stalin asks if the Hungarians want to choose the method of population
exchanges. Comrade Stalin says that if you choose to exchange populations, then
quantitative equality is not essential. Poland signed a treaty with Ukraine and Lithuania on
population exchange. The Poles who desire to return to Poland do not have any problems in
doing so, and the Lithuanians who wanted to move from Poland to Lithuania should also
have assistance in doing that. There might be up to 200 thousand Poles who wish to move,
and only 20 thousand Lithuanians. Comrade Stalin says that the number does not play any
role. Whoever wants to return to their Motherland can return there, and whoever wants to
stay -- should be able to use the freedoms and the rights.

Comrade Stalin explains that the Czechs want to satisfy all the requests of the
Slovaks, who only reluctantly decided to remain in a part of Czechoslovakia. The Slovaks
want to get rid of the Hungarians, and the Czechs do not interfere with that. This is unfair
that the Hungarian population is not given any rights, or schools, etc. Exchange of
population could be done, doing so would be analogous to the solution of this issue between
Poland and Lithuania. Comrade Stalin says that it would be better for Hungary to receive the
Hungarians from Czechoslovakia, otherwise they would be denationalized. Therefore, from
the point of view of the nationalities policy, it is more expedient to take back those
Hungarians. Comrade Stalin asks how the Hungarian government feels about such a
solution, and adds that he does not know what the Czechoslovaks think about it. Comrade
Stalin asks whether they practice the exchange of population.

Diendeshi informs Stalin that an agreement on this issue was achieved between
Hungary and Czechoslovakia, and that they did everything in order to resolve this issue to
both sides’ satisfaction on their part. The agreement involves exchange of population on a
voluntary basis and on the principle of parity. The Slovaks entertain great hopes that
between 150 and 200 thousand Slovaks would want to voluntarily move from Hungary to
Slovakia. Currently, they are trying to register those Slovaks. On April 14, the propaganda
campaign, undertaken by the Czechoslovak commission, will be completed, but even from
the preliminary information, one could expect that no more than 50 to 60 thousand Slovaks
would agree to move to Czechoslovakia. The rest of them do not want to leave Hungary,
because they are more loyal to their land than to their language. These Slovaks are already
assimilated to a significant degree. After the exchange of population about 600 thousand
Hungarians will remain in Czechoslovakia. The Czechoslovaks would like to grant
Czechoslovak citizenship to 200 thousand Hungarians on the condition if those Hungarians
called themselves Slovaks, and would cite the Slovak origins, even in cases where they do
not know the Slovak language. The Hungarian government cannot approve of such a
measure. On top of that, approximately 200 thousand more Hungarians would still remain in
Czechoslovakia, and the Czechoslovaks plan to relocate them to Hungary. Those Hungarians
represent ancient inhabitants of that territory, on which they initially settled and have lived
for over a thousand years already. Also, it would be difficult to compensate the Hungarian
population, which is subject to relocation. The density of population in Hungary is very high
for an agrarian country. Hungary would be able to accept such a large number of people only
if its industry develops with considerable success, or if it is able to guarantee appropriate
economic opportunities for this population. The essence of the problem is in being able to
guarantee civil rights for the Hungarian minority. In this case there would be no disputes
between Hungary and Czechoslovakia. However, if Czechoslovakia intends to relocate the
Hungarians to Hungary, in such a case it would be necessary to provide for their living




conditions, which could be only achieved by transferring part of the territory to Hungary, and
by economic compensation for those people who are going to be relocated.

Sakashich, on his part, adds that each nation should aspire to increase its population.
In his opinion, if 650 thousand Hungarians remain in Czechoslovakia, and if they do not
enjoy any rights, and if the economic conditions for them are not be provided, then those
Hungarians will become carriers of irredentism and revisionism, as it has already happen in
Transylvania and in other regions alienated from Hungary. If Hungary had good economic
conditions, then the Hungarian government would not even think twice about these questions
and accept this population from Czechoslovakia, because the workforce is the most valuable
resource.

Comrade Stalin states that it follows that the Hungarians would like to include the
issue of the Hungarian national minority into the Peace Treaty.

Nagy says that the trust that Hungary feels toward the Soviet Union obligates the
Hungarian government to raise this issue before the Soviet government.

Comrade Stalin notes that consequently, they were not able to resolve this issue with
Czechoslovakia.

Diendeshi reports that negotiations between these two countries are going on, but the
results seem questionable, because Hungary cannot agree with the Czechoslovak position on
this issue, and the Czechoslovak government cannot accept the Hungarian proposals, because
of the internal political difficulties.

Nagy appeals to Comrade Stalin and comrade Molotov asking that the Soviet
government devote attention to this issue.

Comrade Stalin states that the desire to ensure civil rights for the Hungarian national
minority is the correct position, and expresses his opinion that the Czechoslovaks would not
agree to give the territory to Hungary. Comrade Stalin promises that the Soviet government
would try to settle this affair. Comrade Stalin points to the fact that the Czechs are afraid of
the Slovaks, and make concessions to them on all issues, including this one. Comrade Stalin
repeats once again that the Soviet government will try to assist in resolving this dispute.

Nagy thanks Comrade Stalin for his statement.

Comrade Stalin notes that he cannot promise success, but that measures would be
taken in order to settle this issue.

Nagy states that in regard to Romania, the problem is even more important and
significant than in regard to Czechoslovakia. The Romanian and the Hungarian nations do
not have ethnic ties with other peoples. To establish peace between these two nations, would
be the most important factor of peace in South-Eastern Europe. We should not leave any
reason for contradictions that might lead to the emergence of factions in any of these peoples.
As a result of the last World War, Romania received Transylvania, and part of Banat and
Partsium, as a result of which more than 1.600 thousand Hungarians found themselves under
the Romanian rule. This number later became smaller, because approximately 200 thousand
Hungarians ran away from Transylvania, and then the number of the Hungarian population
increased again. Therefore, there are approximately a million and a half Hungarians living
currently in Transylvania. The situation is made more difficult by the fact that purely
Hungarian settlements -- Sekler settlements — are located deep in the Eastern part of
Transylvania, near the territory of old Romania and far from the Hungarian borders. In all of
Transylvania, there are no compact ethnic settlements, except for the Sekler ones. There is a
small territory with the Hungarian minority along the Hungarian and Romanian border.
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However, you cannot establish a border, even in this region, which would resolve the entire

Hungarian problem. Nagy states that the Hungarian government does not want to weaken .
the Romanian democracy and the Groza government by raising this issue. At the same time,
to completely abandon the territorial claims toward Romania would represent an unbearable
burden for the Hungarian democracy. The Hungarian government puts the question of
territorial rearrangement between Hungary and Romania in a direct fashion, but only to the
extent to which it would not be a threat to the cause of democracy in both countries.

Comrade Stalin asks what is the essence of the question.

Nagy responds that in the opinion of the Hungarian government, part of the
Transylvanian territory should be returned to Hungary, so that the territorial settlement in the
Peace Treaty could calm the Hungarian people.

Comrade Stalin asks how was the question of Transylvania formulated in the
armistice agreement, which was concluded with Romania.

Comrade Molotov responds that that agreement specified that all or major part of
Transylvania should belong to Romania.

Comrade Stalin notes that that phrase gives some grounds for Hungary to be able to
receive something, but what exactly, which part — this remains to be seen. Comrade Stalin
says that this question is currently being discussed in London by Deputy Foreign Ministers.
Comrade Stalin explains that in the armistice agreement, which was signed with Romania by
three Great Powers, it was stipulated that all or most of Transylvania should be transferred to
Romania. That phrase gives Hungary an opportunity to get a part of Transylvania. This
question will be discussed. Comrade Stalin informs Nagy that comrade Molotov would go to
Paris for the conference of Foreign Ministers, which would take place on April 25, and says
that this question will be raised and discussed at that conference.

Nagy thanks Comrade Stalin for his response and says that this answer gives the
Hungarian government hope that the conditions of the Peace Treaty will answer the concerns
of the Hungarian people.

Diendeshi shows Comrade Stalin a map of Transylvania, which shows new borders in
accordance with the Hungarian proposals. Diendeshi explains that under such territorial
settlement 18 thousand square kilometers of the Transylvanian territory will remain in
Romania and 22 thousand square kilometers would be transferred to Hungary. Also, the map
specifically defines a territory of 11.800 square kilometers, on which the Hungarian
population outnumbers the rest with the total number of 960 thousand people. 52 percent of
them are Hungarians, 48 percent — Romanians. In the territory of 22 thousands square
kilometers, which could be transferred to Hungary, the overall population is 1.550 thousand
people, and 850 thousand people are Romanians. Diendeshi says that when this proposal was
being developed by the Hungarian side, they were trying to divide the Transylvanian territory
in such a way that there would be the same number of Romanians in Hungary, as there are
Hungarians in the Romanian part of Transylvania. Such a settlement would create a balance
between the national minorities. In the situation if the Hungarian and Romanian
governments would not be able to resolve the issues of national minorities under the
proposed territorial division, then both countries would be able to negotiate on the exchange
on population, and Hungary would have an opportunity to relocate the Hungarian population
to this territory, which would be transferred from the Romanian part of Transylvania.
Diendeshi adds that apart from the considerations of ethnic character. they also took into
account the economic issues, where the natural resources of the territory, which was marked




for transfer to Hungary, could substantially help the Hungarian economy. In particular, there
are non-ferrous metals and sulfur around Nadban; besides, there are forests in this part of
Partsium, which are in short supply in Trianon Hungary. Diendeshi says that the Hungarian
proposals are not based only on the ethnic principle, but are also directed at resolving the
Romanian-Hungarian dispute over Transylvania.

Comrade Stalin expresses his opinion that the Romanians would not agree to such a
territorial concession to Hungary, and notes that no government that made such a concession
would be able to stay in power, and the Romanian King could resign.

Diendeshi says that the Hungarian government also takes huge responsibility upon
itself, and shows courage, because it would not stay in power, if it does not present certain
territorial claims to Romania. In Diendeshi’s opinion, the Hungarian government would take
big responsibility upon itself under such a solution of the issue, because in a situation of
exchange of population, the Hungarian population would be transferred to the Hungarian part
of Transylvania, and Hungary would lose the opportunity to raise the question of revision of
borders forever.

Nagy points to the fact that the Hungarian government would not have any regrets if
the Romanian King resigned, and says that Romania should also establish a Republic.

Comrade Stalin explains that the Soviet Union and Poland exchanged population, and
Poland received more than a million of Poles, while only 400 thousands Ukrainians and
Belorussians returned from Poland to the USSR, because there were no more of them in
Poland. Comrade Stalin notes that this was also a courageous step, and probably there is no
government in the world that would agree to such a resolution of the issue.

Diendeshi says that he would like to ask whether the Hungarian proposals regarding
the return of a part of Transylvania to Hungary contradict the interests of the Soviet Union.

Nagy and also Sakashich propose that Diendeshi should not raise this issue before the
Soviet government.

Then Nagy asks Comrade Stalin to inform them if the Hungarian prisoners of war,
imprisoned in the Soviet Union, could engage in correspondence with their relatives.

Comrade Stalin says that there is such a possibility.

Nagy asks Comrade Stalin to allow him to begin negotiations on this issue with the
Soviet authorities.

Comrade Stalin responds affirmatively.

Nagy says that Comrade Stalin inquired about the perspectives for stabilization of the
Hungarian currency. In this connection, Nagy asks Comrade Stalin to tell them whether the
Soviet Union could send one or two big specialists-experts to Hungary, who would be able to
study the Hungarian economy and to give the Hungarian government advice for the purpose
of improving the financial system.

Comrade Stalin says that he will think about it. Regarding the prisoners of war,
Comrade Stalin proposes that the Hungarian government begin negotiations with the Foreign
Ministry of the USSR.

Gero says that in accordance with the armistice agreement, the Romanians arrested
the enemy’s property, including the Hungarian property. There are significant Hungarian
investments in Transylvania, in particular in the coal mines of Petroshani, located in
Southern Transylvania, in the sum of approximately 30-50 American dollars.!®® Gero asks
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Hungarian reparation obligations. The stock packet of coal mines is kept in Budapest. Gero
explains that they extract coking coal of high quality in Petroshani.

Comrade Stalin states that the Soviet government will think about the proposal
regarding the coal mines of Petroshani, and says that comrade Molotov will inform them
about the answer of the Soviet government on this issue.

Before leaving, Nagy expresses his hope that he would have another opportunity to be
received by Comrade Stalin.

whether they could propose these investments to the Soviet Union as a part of payment of the I
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Record of the Conversation of Comrade L.V. Stalin with
Rasmussen, Denmark Minster of Foreign Affairs, and
Prince Axel, Chief of the [Danish] Trade Delegation
Secret
6 June, 1946 9:00 PM
Present: V.M. Molotov, V.N. Pavlov (USSR Ministry of Foreign Affairs)

Axel declares that, first of all, he would like to express his condolences to Generalissimo
Stalin concerning the death of M.1. Kalinin, one of the greatest Russians.

Comrade Stalin thanks him.

Comrade Stalin asks if Axel and Rasmussen were able to have a look around Moscow, and if
they liked it.

Axel answers that he was able to see a little bit of Moscow, in particular various museum
collections. He, Axel, is in Moscow for the first time.

Comrade Stalin says that he was in Copenhagen in 1906, and that Copenhagen is a beautiful
and nice city.

Rasmussen expresses the hope that Stalin will once again be in Copenhagen sometime.

Comrade Stalin says that he would like to travel, but that his affairs do not permit him to do
this.

Axel declares that he believes that Generalissimo Stalin would receive as good a welcome in
Copenhagen as the Danish delegation enjoyed in Moscow.

Axel says the Danish delegation is very satisfied with the progress of the trade negotiations
in Moscow.

Comrade Stalin remarks that this is quite good.

Axel says that he hopes that the trade agreements will be structured for mutual interests.

Comrade Stalin says that this is the only way that firm trade links can be forged between both
countries.

Comrade Molotov says that now, after the war is over, it is possible to develop widespread
trade relations, and that no one can hinder this.




Axel notes that, possibly, the volume of Danish trade with the Soviet Union appears small to
[the USSR, while] for Denmark [this volume] is quite large.

Rasmussen notes that before the war the per capita trade turnover between Denmark and
other countries was quite substantial. One of the difficulties [experienced by] Denmark is
that it possesses no metal or coal. Nevertheless, Denmark was able to create a quite
considerable machine-building industry.

Comrade Stalin notes that if there is meat, fat, and fish, there will be metal, [and] metal will
come of its own.

Axel says that bacon is better than money.

Comrade Stalin remarks that bacon is gold.

Comrade Stalin asks whether Denmark maintained extensive trade ties with Germany before
the war.

Rasmussen answers that before the war Denmark traded mainly with Germany and Great
Britain.

Axel says that Denmark had economic ties with almost all countries. Denmark, in particular,
had substantial economic interests in Siam.

Rasmussen says that trade relations between Denmark and the USSR before the war were not
as extensive as they should have been.

Comrade Stalin says that now the Soviet Union can maintain parity in trade relations with
Denmark [lit. “has the possibility to maintain an equivalent in trade relations with
Denmark™]. Before the war there were fewer possibilities for this, but now they will
increase.

Axel says that this will be good.
Rasmussen remarks that Denmark is a country with a mechanized agricultural [sector].

Comrade Stalin says that Denmark is a developed country; that it was, relative to, say,
Albania, wealthy, and that it can once again become wealthy.

Comrade Stalin asks if Denmark had economic ties with Sweden.
Rasmussen answers that Denmark traded and [continues to] trade with Sweden, but not to the
same degree as with larger countries, since Sweden doesn’t need Danish agricultural

products. But Denmark builds ships for Sweden and Norway in its shipyards.

Comrade Stalin asks if Denmark builds only civilian ships or if it also builds warships.




Axel answers that Denmark only builds merchant ships for other countries. It only builds
warships for itself.

Comrade Stalin remarks that in the past Denmark had a sufficiently large war fleet.

Rasmussen says that Denmark still has a relatively large merchant fleet, but that it incurred
major losses during the war.

Comrade Stalin asks if Denmark’s allies returned the Danish fleet that they borrowed [lit.
“used”] during the war.

Axel answers that the Allies returned Denmark’s fleet, paid for its use, and compensated
[Denmark] for its losses. But during the war, Axel says, Denmark succeeded in building
several merchant ships. True, their construction was not finished during the German
occupation, since the Danish did not want the Germans to utilize these ships.

Comrade Stalin asks if Denmark needs orders for ships from abroad.

Axel answers that Denmark needs such orders, but that it cannot accept them within the next
two years.

Rasmussen says that before the war Denmark built ships for Poland and Rumania.

Comrade Stalin asks whether Denmark maintains economic ties with Poland.

Rasmussen answers that Denmark has resumed economic [relations] with Poland, from
which it obtains coal. However, economic ties with Poland are still not sufficiently broad.

Comrade Stalin asks if Axel and Rasmussen are convinced that the trade negotiations in
Moscow between Denmark and the Soviet Union concluded on a good note [lit. “well’] and
will yield results.

Axel answers that the Danish delegation optimistically assesses the negotiations and is trying
to do everything possible so that they will be successful. In truth, there were times [lit.
“cases”’] when the Soviet side asked for more that Denmark is in a position to provide.

Comrade Stalin says that it would be good if the negotiations conclude successfully and ask